

EDITED BY: U. Krishna Samavedam, Ralf J. Ludwig, Kyle T. Amber, Jens Y. Humrich and Paul Smith PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Medicine









Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-112-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-112-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

CYTOKINES AND THEIR SIGNALING IN CHRONIC INFLAMMATORY DISEASES AND BEYOND

Topic Editors:

U. Krishna Samavedam, United States Ralf J. Ludwig, University of Lübeck, Germany Kyle T. Amber, Rush University, United States Jens Y. Humrich, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany Paul Smith, Connect Biopharma, United States

Citation: Samavedam, U. K., Ludwig, R. J., Amber, K. T., Humrich, J. Y., Smith, P., eds. (2022). Cytokines and Their Signaling in Chronic Inflammatory Diseases and Beyond. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-112-8

Table of Contents

04 Case Report: A Case of Intestinal Behçet's Disease Exhibiting Enhanced Expression of IL-6 and Forkhead Box P3 mRNA After Treatment With Infliximab

Keisuke Yoshikawa, Tomohiro Watanabe, Ikue Sekai, Ryutaro Takada, Akane Hara, Masayuki Kurimoto, Yasuhiro Masuta, Yasuo Otsuka, Tomoe Yoshikawa, Sho Masaki, Ken Kamata, Kosuke Minaga, Yoriaki Komeda, Takaaki Chikugo and Masatoshi Kudo

- HMGB1 Activates Myeloid Dendritic Cells by Up-Regulating mTOR Pathway in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus
 Xinghui Song, Hui Zhang, Yun Zhao, Yuanzhen Lin, Qiya Tang, Xiu Zhou and Xiaoning Zhong
- 20 STAT3 but Not STAT5 Contributes to the Protective Effect of Electroacupuncture Against Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury in Mice

Hui-Hui Guo, Xin-Yue Jing, Hui Chen, Hou-Xi Xu and Bing-Mei Zhu

- **36** *Autoantibody-Specific Signalling in Pemphigus* Thomas Schmitt and Jens Waschke
- 62 Bruton Tyrosine Kinase Inhibition and Its Role as an Emerging Treatment in Pemphigus

Aikaterini Patsatsi and Dedee F. Murrell

67 Topical Application of the PI3Kβ-Selective Small Molecule Inhibitor TGX-221 Is an Effective Treatment Option for Experimental Epidermolysis Bullosa Acquisita

Hannah Zillikens, Anika Kasprick, Colin Osterloh, Natalie Gross, Michael Radziewitz, Cindy Hass, Veronika Hartmann, Martina Behnen-Härer, Nancy Ernst, Katharina Boch, Gestur Vidarsson, Remco Visser, Tamás Laskay, Xinhua Yu, Frank Petersen, Ralf J. Ludwig and Katja Bieber

83 SOCS Proteins in Immunity, Inflammatory Diseases, and Immune-Related Cancer

Mohamed Luban Sobah, Clifford Liongue and Alister C. Ward

106 Gene Expression Analysis in Four Dogs With Canine Pemphigus Clinical Subtypes Reveals B Cell Signatures and Immune Activation Pathways Similar to Human Disease

Haya S. Raef, Cesar Piedra-Mora, Neil B. Wong, Diana Junyue Ma, Clement N. David, Nicholas A. Robinson, Ramón M. Almela and Jillian M. Richmond

- Human CLA⁺ Memory T Cell and Cytokines in Psoriasis
 Carmen de Jesús-Gil, Lídia Sans-de San Nicolàs, Irene García-Jiménez, Marta Ferran, Ramon M. Pujol and Luis F. Santamaria-Babí
- **123** Crosstalk Between ER Stress, Autophagy and Inflammation Sandhya Chipurupalli, Unni Samavedam and Nirmal Robinson
- 132 mmu-miR-145a-5p Accelerates Diabetic Wound Healing by Promoting Macrophage Polarization Toward the M2 Phenotype
 Yanhui Hao, Leilei Yang, Ying Liu, Yumeng Ye, Jiayu Wang, Chao Yu, Hua Yan, Yuan Xing, Zhaoqian Jia, Cuicui Hu, Hongyan Zuo and Yang Li





Case Report: A Case of Intestinal Behçet's Disease Exhibiting Enhanced Expression of IL-6 and Forkhead Box P3 mRNA After Treatment With Infliximab

Keisuke Yoshikawa¹, Tomohiro Watanabe^{1*}, Ikue Sekai¹, Ryutaro Takada¹, Akane Hara¹, Masayuki Kurimoto¹, Yasuhiro Masuta¹, Yasuo Otsuka¹, Tomoe Yoshikawa¹, Sho Masaki¹, Ken Kamata¹, Kosuke Minaga¹, Yoriaki Komeda¹, Takaaki Chikugo² and Masatoshi Kudo¹

¹ Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Kindai University Faculty of Medicine, Osaka, Japan, ² Department of Diagnostic Pathology, Kindai University Hospital, Osaka, Japan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ralf J. Ludwig, University of Lübeck, Germany

Reviewed by:

Haner Direskeneli, Marmara University, Turkey Keith David Rochfort, Dublin City University, Ireland Kamel Hamzaoui, Tunis El Manar University, Tunisia

*Correspondence:

Tomohiro Watanabe tomohiro@med.kindai.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 11 March 2021 Accepted: 20 April 2021 Published: 14 May 2021

Citation:

Yoshikawa K, Watanabe T, Sekai I, Takada R, Hara A, Kurimoto M, Masuta Y, Otsuka Y, Yoshikawa T, Masaki S, Kamata K, Minaga K, Komeda Y, Chikugo T and Kudo M (2021) Case Report: A Case of Intestinal Behçet's Disease Exhibiting Enhanced Expression of IL-6 and Forkhead Box P3 mRNA After Treatment With Infliximab. Front. Med. 8:679237. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.679237 Behçet's disease (BD) is a rare inflammatory condition characterized by oral and genital ulcers, skin lesions, as well as ophthalmological, neurological, and gastrointestinal manifestations. BD involving the gastrointestinal tract is known as intestinal BD. The mucosa of the gastrointestinal tract of patients with intestinal BD exhibits enhanced levels of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α . These proinflammatory cytokines play pathogenic roles in the development of BD, as evidenced by the fact that biologics targeting these cytokines effectively induce BD remission. It should be noted, however, that the molecular mechanisms by which the blockade of these cytokines suppresses chronic inflammatory responses in BD are poorly understood. Herein, we report a case of intestinal BD resistant to prednisolone that was successfully treated with infliximab (IFX). The induction of remission by IFX was accompanied by a marked elevation of IL-6 and forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) at mRNA level. This case suggests that induction of remission by IFX is mediated not only by the suppression of TNF- α -mediated signaling pathways, but also by the promotion of IL-6 expression and accumulation of regulatory T cells expressing FOXP3.

Keywords: intestinal Behçet's disease, IL-6, Foxp3, infliximab, regulatory T cells

INTRODUCTION

Behçet's disease (BD) is a rare inflammatory condition characterized by oral and genital ulcers, skin lesions, and patients with BD exhibit ophthalmological, neurological, and gastrointestinal manifestations (1). Approximately 5–15% of patients with BD are diagnosed with intestinal BD, and they usually present with abdominal pain and diarrhea (1, 2). A typical endoscopic finding in patients with intestinal BD is a giant, oval-shaped, deep punched-out ulcer in the ileocecal area (1). The active phase of BD is characterized by high T helper 17 (Th17)/regulatory T cell (Treg) ratio (3, 4). In addition to the involvement of Th17 and Treg cells, increased levels of the proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α , underlie the immunopathogenesis of BD, including that of intestinal

4

BD (1, 5). This idea is supported by the clinical success of biologics targeting proinflammatory cytokines in patients with BD (1, 5, 6). For example, administration of infliximab (IFX) and anakinra, which neutralize TNF- α and IL-1 β , respectively, led to remission even in patients with BD refractory to prednisolone (PSL) (1, 5, 6). It should be noted, however, that the molecular mechanisms underlying the suppression of chronic inflammatory responses in intestinal BD are poorly understood. It is possible that the blockade of proinflammatory cytokines is not limited to the suppression of signaling pathways specific to each cytokine. Indeed, the neutralization of TNF- α by IFX or adalimumab does not always suppress TNF-α-mediated signaling pathways, but also promote the accumulation of Tregs expressing forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) (7, 8). Herein, we report a case of intestinal BD refractory to PSL that was successfully treated with IFX. The induction of remission by IFX in this case was accompanied by a marked elevation of IL-6 and FOXP3.

CASE DESCRIPTION

A 69-year old man was admitted for further examination of bloody diarrhea, appetite loss, and high-grade fever (>38°C), that persisted \sim 1 month. He was diagnosed with uveitis and treated at the Department of Ophthalmology. On admission, he developed periodic fever accompanied by bloody diarrhea. Physical examination revealed oral aphthous ulcers without genital ulcers or erythema nodosum. Leukocytosis (white blood cell count: 10,200/µL) and anemia (hemoglobin: 9.1 g/dL) were detected in complete blood cell counts. Although, the liver and kidney function parameters were within normal limits, severe hypoalbuminemia (albumin: 1.7 g/dL, normal range 4.1-5.1) was seen. Serum concentrations of C-reactive protein (8.717 mg/dL, normal range <0.14) and IgG (2,492 mg/dL, normal range 861-1,747) were elevated. The patient's human leukocyte antigen was B54, and neither anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody nor anti-nuclear antibody was positive. No pathogenic bacteria were detected in blood or stool cultures.

DIAGNOSTIC ASSESSMENT

Whole body computed tomography was performed to identify the causes of bloody diarrhea and periodic fever. Diffuse wall thickening of the ascending and transverse colon was detected on abdominal computed tomography. Deep, punched-out, oval-shaped, and semi-circumferential ulcers were observed in the cecum and sigmoid colon, respectively, during colonoscopy (Figure 1A). Pathological examination revealed destruction of the crypt architecture and massive accumulation of lymphocytes and granulocytes in the colonic lamina propria (Figure 1B). Granuloma formation or crypt abscesses were not observed. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) tests for the detection of tuberculosis or cytomegalovirus using colonic biopsy samples were negative. These endoscopic and pathological findings were not consistent with Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis. Based on the presence of uveitis, oral ulcers, and intestinal symptoms, the patient was diagnosed with intestinal BD according to the international diagnostic criteria for BD (2).

biopsy samples Colonic were subjected to immunohistochemical analysis, as previously described (9, 10). Briefly, deparaffinized sections were incubated with rabbit anti-human CD3 monoclonal antibody (mAb, clone 2GV6, Roche Diagnostics), mouse anti-human CD20 mAb (clone L26, Roche Diagnostics), rabbit anti-human polyclonal myeloperoxidase (MPO)⁺ Ab (#518-114428, Roche Diagnostics) and mouse anti-human CD68 mAb (clone KP-1, Agilent Technology) followed by visualization of protein expression by Dako EnVision⁺ System (Agilent Technology). Primary Ab dilution was done according to the recommendation of the manufacturers. Immunohistochemical photographs were captured by microscopy (Biozero, BZ-8100, Keyence). As shown in Figure 1B, the colonic mucosa was characterized by massive accumulation of CD3⁺ T cells, CD68⁺ macrophages, and MPO⁺ granulocytes, but not of CD20⁺ B cells (data not shown).

The initial treatment with oral colchicine (1.5 mg/day) based on the diagnosis of intestinal BD was unsuccessful. The patient was then treated with oral PSL (40 mg/day) with a tapering schedule as shown in the clinical course (**Figure 2A**), which again failed to improve his symptoms. As shown in **Figure 2B** (top panel), active ulcers were still present in the cecum and sigmoid colon. IFX (5 mg/kg) was then administered to induce remission. Five injections of IFX, which was tolerable without adverse events, led to complete remission in this case, as indicated by the complete disappearance of colonic ulcers through colonoscopy, and by improvement of the patient's symptoms (**Figure 2B**, bottom panel). Thus, this case of intestinal BD was successfully treated with IFX.

QUANTITATIVE PCR ANALYSES

Total mRNA was isolated from colonic biopsy samples during colonoscopy and subjected to quantitative PCR (qPCR) analyses as previously described (10). mRNA was isolated from colonic biopsy samples by using Monarch Total RNA Miniprep kit (New England Biolabs) and then was reverse transcribed into cDNA by High-Capacity RNA to cDNA kit (Applied Biosystems). The mRNA level for each target gene was determined by SYBR Green-based qPCR using a Step One Plus system (Applied Biosystems) and Quantitect primer assays (Qiagen) followed by the normalization using β -actin as a reference gene. Each PCR primer for Quantitect primer assays was purchased from Qiagen as follows; β-actin (#QT00095431), TNF-α (#QT00029162), (#QT000203763), IFN-γ (#QT00000525), IL-6 IFN-β (#QT00083720), IL-9 (#QT00000630), IL-12 (#QT00000364), IL-13 (#QT00000511), IL-33 (#QT00041559), C-C chemokine ligand 17 (CCL17, #QT00096866), CCL26 (#QT00023135), FOXP3 (#QT00048286), C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 9 (CXCL9, #QT00013461), and CXCL10 (#QT01003065). In some experiments, custom made primers were obtained from Invitrogen. Primer sequences were as follows; IL-1ß (sense; GGACAAGCTGAGGAAGATGC, antisense; TCGTTATCCC



FIGURE 1 Colonoscopic and pathological findings in a patient with intestinal Bençer's disease before the treatment. (A) Colonoscopy revealed punched-out, deep and semi-circumferential ulcers in the cecum (top), and sigmoid colon (bottom), respectively. (B) Colonic biopsy samples were subjected to hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining and immunohistochemical analysis to visualize CD3⁺ T cells, CD68⁺ macrophages, and myeloperoxidase (MPO)⁺ granulocytes. Accumulation of immune cells and destruction of crypt architecture were observed in tissues stained by H&E. Colonic mucosa of this patient with intestinal Behçet's disease was characterized by the infiltration of CD3⁺ T cells, CD68⁺ macrophages, and MPO⁺ granulocytes. Scale bar, 100 μm.



ATGTGTCGAA), IL-5 (sense; TGAGGATGCTTCTGCA TTTG, antisense; GCAGTGCCAAGGTCTCTTTC), IL-17 (sense; CATGAACTCTGTCCCCATCC, antisense; CCCAC GGACACCAGTATCTT), IL-23 (sense; TCTCCTTCTCCGCTT CAAAA, antisense; TTAGGGACTCAGGGTTGCTG). Quality of RNA and cDNA was checked by NanoDrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Annealing temperature was optimized and the specificity of the reaction was confirmed by the presence of a sharp single peak in melting curve analyses. mRNA expression levels of target genes were normalized by that of β -actin mRNA by using Ct method. Thus, qPCR analyses were performed in accordance with the MIQE guidelines.

The levels of mRNAs encoding proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines were compared in samples isolated before treatment (Day 7), after treatment with PSL (Day 42), and after three injections of IFX (Day 98). qPCR analyses revealed that the colonic mucosa before treatment was characterized by elevated mRNA expression levels of IL-17, IL-23, CXCL9,

CXCL10, and IFN- β (Figure 3A). Although, treatment with PSL led to a marked decrease in all proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines at mRNA level, remission was not achieved. Notably, successful induction of remission by IFX was accompanied by elevated mRNA expression levels of CXCL9, CXCL10, IFN-β, IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-33 as compared with those after PSL treatment. IL-6 mRNA expression was particularly strongly induced by IFX, suggesting that IL-6 may be involved in the improvement of chronic inflammation in this case. Expression of colitogenic pro-inflammatory cytokines at mRNA level, such as IL-17, IL-23, and TNF- α were suppressed by both PSL and IFX treatments, compared to their levels before treatment. We also examined the mRNA expression of FOXP3 and found that treatment with IFX markedly increased its levels in the colonic mucosa (Figure 3B). Thus, increased expression of IL-6 and FOXP3 and decreased expression of TNF-α at mRNA level might be key factors in the resolution of severe inflammation in this case of intestinal BD.

DISCUSSION

Here, we report a case of intestinal BD that was successfully treated with IFX. This case was diagnosed as intestinal BD according to the international diagnostic criteria for BD (2). Our qPCR analyses of colonic biopsy samples revealed that the colonic mucosa of this patient was characterized by increased expression levels of IL-17, IL-23, TNF- α , IFN- β , CXCL9, and CXCL10 before treatment. Treatment with PSL decreased cytokine and chemokine expression levels in our qPCR analyses, which, however, did not result in the induction of remission. Interestingly, treatment switch from PSL to IFX led to complete remission of intestinal BD. The induction of complete remission by IFX was likely related to the marked increase in the expression levels of IL-6 and FOXP3 mRNA caused by this biologic drug, which was concomitant with the suppressed expression of IL-17, IL-23, and TNF- α mRNA.

Given that activation of IL-6-mediated signaling pathways underlies the immunopathogenesis of various autoimmune diseases, the increase in IL-6 expression by IFX was paradoxical (11). Indeed, serum concentrations of IL-6 are higher in patients with BD than in healthy controls (5). In this regard, Rakoff-Nahoum et al. (12) showed that regeneration of the intestinal epithelium depends upon the activation of IL-6mediated signaling pathways in an experimental model of colitis. In this case, regeneration of the intestinal epithelium was promoted soon after treatment with IFX. Therefore, we hypothesize that the induction of IL-6 expression contributed to the remission of BD by promoting epithelial regeneration. However, we need to have a thorough understanding regarding the exact role played by IL-6 in BD, because tocilizumab, an anti-IL-6 receptor Ab, is effective in a significant fraction of patients with refractory uveitis associated with BD (13). Further, studies addressing molecular mechanisms accounting for the link between IL-6 and remission are therefore required to determine the beneficial roles of IL-6 in patients with BD.

Another important feature observed in our qPCR analyses was the increased expression of FOXP3, a critical transcription factor in Tregs (14). Activation of FOXP3⁺ Tregs suppresses chronic inflammatory reactions (14). IFX treatment was accompanied by elevated FOXP3 expression in the colonic mucosa. Given the fact that Tregs expressing FOXP3 suppress colonic inflammatory responses, it is likely that induction of remission was partially achieved by the accumulation of Tregs in this case of intestinal BD (14). In agreement with this notion, neutralization of TNF- α by IFX or adalimumab led to increased expression of FOXP3 and accumulation of Tregs (7, 8). In this regards, augmented IL-33 responses induced by IFX treatment might be also involved in the FOXP3 expression since this cytokine has the ability to promote differentiation of Tregs in the gastrointestinal tract (15). All-trans retinoic acid, a metabolite of Vitamin A, induces differentiation of Tregs in the gastrointestinal tract (16). Therefore, Vitamin A in the diet might promote Treg differentiation. However, the relationship between Vitamin A uptake and BD pathogenesis has been poorly defined.

In contrast to the results of the IFX treatment, the treatment with PSL markedly reduced expression levels of all cytokines and chemokines in our qPCR analyses. Furthermore, PSL treatment decreased FOXP3 mRNA expression, indicating that PSL suppressed a broad range of immune responses. Consistent with these data, Ogawa et al. (17) provided evidence that PSL inhibits nuclear translocation of nuclear factor kB and interferon regulatory factors, thereby suppressing the production of cytokines and chemokines. In addition to the suppression of typical colitogenic cytokines such as IL-17, IL-23, and TNF-α (18), treatment with PSL notably diminished type I IFN responses (IFN-β, CXCL9, and CXCL10). Given that type I IFN cytokines and chemokines constitute a part of mucosal host defense against gut microorganisms, the failure of PSL to induce remission might be partially explained by the impaired mucosal host defenses due to the impaired activation of type I IFN responses (19). Thus, mechanisms of action differ between PSL and IFX, in that the latter promotes the expression of IL-6 and FOXP3, whereas, the former suppresses almost all immune responses. Such differences likely explain the observation that IFX was able to successfully induce remission, whereas, PSL lacked this therapeutic ability.

Treatment with IFX led to enhanced expression of IL-6 and FOXP3 at mRNA level, but not protein level. Thus, we have not confirmed expression of IL-6 or FOXP3 at protein level. Given that IL-6 and FOXP3 are subjected to post-transcriptional and post-translational processes, it is possible that increased expression of IL-6 and FOXP3 at mRNA level does not lead to functional expression at protein level. We have to be cautious regarding the interpretation of increased expression of IL-6 and FOXP3 at mRNA level. Therefore, further studies addressing expression of IL-6 and FOXP3 at protein level are absolutely required to verify our idea that enhanced expression of IL-6 and FOXP3 is associated with the induction of remission of intestinal BD by IFX. In addition, we cannot completely exclude a possibility that cytokines other than IL-6, e.g., TGF-β1 and IL-10, might play beneficial roles in the resolution of chronic intestinal inflammation in this case (14, 16).



In conclusion, we described a case of intestinal BD that was successfully treated with IFX. Our extensive qPCR analyses of colonic biopsy samples before and after treatment with PSL or IFX revealed alterations in the expression levels of cytokines and chemokines. Increased mRNA expression of IL-6 and FOXP3 was associated with the remission induced by IFX in this case with intestinal BD. Thus, treatment with IFX has dual roles in the suppression of chronic inflammation in BD. First, IFX treatment might promote regeneration of the epithelium through the induction of IL-6 expression (12). Second, IFX treatment might suppress inflammation through the activation of FOXP3⁺ Tregs (7, 8). Alterations in IL-6 and FOXP3 mRNA expression levels seen in this case partially explain the molecular mechanisms by which IFX suppresses autoimmune reactions in intestinal BD. Future, studies utilizing a large number of patients with intestinal BD are required to verify this hypothesis.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because this is a case report and a dataset has not been generated. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to tomohiro@med.kindai.ac.jp.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Kindai University Faculty of Medicine. The

patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this report.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KY, IS, RT, AH, MKur, YM, YO, SM, and YK took care of the patient. KY and TW drafted the manuscript and performed the experiments. TY, KK, KM, and MKud edited and revised the manuscript. TC performed pathological analyses. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by a grant from the Yakult BioScience Foundation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Ms. Yukiko Ueno for her secretarial support.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.679237/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Hisamatsu T, Naganuma M, Matsuoka K, Kanai T. Diagnosis and management of intestinal Behcet's disease. *Clin J Gastroenterol.* (2014) 7:205– 12. doi: 10.1007/s12328-014-0488-0
- Kiafar M, Faezi ST, Kasaeian A, Baghdadi A, Kakaei S, Mousavi SA, et al. Diagnosis of Behcet's disease: clinical characteristics, diagnostic criteria, and differential diagnoses. *BMC Rheumatol.* (2021) 5:2. doi: 10.1186/s41927-020-00172-1
- Kaabachi W, Bouali E, Berraies A, Dhifallh IB, Hamdi B, Hamzaoui K, et al. Interleukin-26 is overexpressed in Behcet's disease and enhances Th17 related -cytokines. *Immunol Lett.* (2017) 190:177–84. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017.08.008
- Liu X, Li W, Liu X, Luo J, Gao C, Li X. Low-dose IL-2 effectively restored decreased regulatory T cells in patients with Behcet's disease. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* (2020). [Epub ahead of print].
- Salmaninejad A, Zamani MR, Shabgah AG, Hosseini S, Mollaei F, Hosseini N, et al. Behcet's disease: an immunogenetic perspective. *J Cell Physiol.* (2019) 234:8055–74. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27576
- Arida A, Sfikakis PP. Anti-cytokine biologic treatment beyond anti-TNF in Behcet's disease. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* (2014) 32:S149–55.
- Ricciardelli I, Lindley KJ, Londei M, Quaratino S. Anti tumour necrosis-alpha therapy increases the number of FOXP3 regulatory T cells in children affected by Crohn's disease. *Immunology*. (2008) 125:178–83. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02839.x
- Nguyen DX, Ehrenstein MR. Anti-TNF drives regulatory T cell expansion by paradoxically promoting membrane TNF-TNF-RII binding in rheumatoid arthritis. J Exp Med. (2016) 213:1241–53. doi: 10.1084/jem.20151255
- Watanabe T, Yamashita K, Arai Y, Minaga K, Kamata K, Nagai T, et al. Chronic fibro-inflammatory responses in autoimmune pancreatitis depend on IFNalpha and IL-33 produced by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* (2017) 198:3886–96. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700060
- Watanabe T, Minaga K, Kamata K, Sakurai T, Komeda Y, Nagai T, et al. RICK/RIP2 is a NOD2-independent nodal point of gut inflammation. *Int Immunol.* (2019) 31:669–83. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxz045
- Choy EH, De Benedetti F, Takeuchi T, Hashizume M, John MR, Kishimoto T. Translating IL-6 biology into effective treatments. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2020) 16:335–45. doi: 10.1038/s41584-020-0419-z
- 12. Rakoff-Nahoum S, Paglino J, Eslami-Varzaneh F, Edberg S, Medzhitov R. Recognition of commensal microflora by toll-like receptors is required

for intestinal homeostasis. Cell. (2004) 118:229-41. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004. 07.002

- Atienza-Mateo B, Calvo-Rio V, Beltran E, Martinez-Costa L, Valls-Pascual E, Hernandez-Garfella M, et al. Anti-interleukin 6 receptor tocilizumab in refractory uveitis associated with Behcet's disease: multicentre retrospective study. *Rheumatology*. (2018) 57:856–64. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kex480
- Mikami N, Kawakami R, Sakaguchi S. New treg cell-based therapies of autoimmune diseases: towards antigen-specific immune suppression. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2020) 67:36–41. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2020.07.004
- Schiering C, Krausgruber T, Chomka A, Frohlich A, Adelmann K, Wohlfert EA, et al. The alarmin IL-33 promotes regulatory T-cell function in the intestine. *Nature*. (2014) 513:564–8. doi: 10.1038/nature13577
- Benson MJ, Pino-Lagos K, Rosemblatt M, Noelle RJ. All-trans retinoic acid mediates enhanced T reg cell growth, differentiation, and gut homing in the face of high levels of co-stimulation. J Exp Med. (2007) 204:1765– 74. doi: 10.1084/jem.20070719
- Ogawa S, Lozach J, Benner C, Pascual G, Tangirala RK, Westin S, et al. Molecular determinants of crosstalk between nuclear receptors and toll-like receptors. *Cell.* (2005) 122:707–21. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.06.029
- Strober W, Fuss IJ. Proinflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology*. (2011) 140:1756– 67. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.02.016
- Watanabe T, Asano N, Fichtner-Feigl S, Gorelick PL, Tsuji Y, Matsumoto Y, et al. NOD1 contributes to mouse host defense against Helicobacter pylori *via* induction of type I IFN and activation of the ISGF3 signaling pathway. *J Clin Invest.* (2010) 120:1645–62. doi: 10.1172/JCI39481

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Yoshikawa, Watanabe, Sekai, Takada, Hara, Kurimoto, Masuta, Otsuka, Yoshikawa, Masaki, Kamata, Minaga, Komeda, Chikugo and Kudo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





HMGB1 Activates Myeloid Dendritic Cells by Up-Regulating mTOR Pathway in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

Xinghui Song^{1,2}, Hui Zhang¹, Yun Zhao¹, Yuanzhen Lin¹, Qiya Tang¹, Xiu Zhou¹ and Xiaoning Zhong^{1*}

¹ Department of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, The First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University, Nanning, China, ² Department of Rheumatism and Immunology, The Fourth Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University, Liuzhou, China

Research has shown that HMGB1 can activate dendritic cells (DCs), but its molecular mechanisms are not clear. In this study, we reported that the myeloid dendritic cells (mDCs) were activated in the peripheral blood of SLE patients, and the activation of mDCs was associated with the up-regulation of HMGB1 and mTOR. After stimulated by HMGB1, expression of mTOR and its substrates P70S6K and 4EBP1 in dendritic cells increased considerably (P < 0.01). The expression of HLA-DR, CD40, and CD86 on dendritic cells also significantly increased following these stimuli (P < 0.01). In addition, stimulation with HMGB1 enhanced cytokine (IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF-a) production in dendritic cells. In contrast, the HMGB1-mediated expression of HLA-DR, CD40, and CD86 on dendritic cells and production of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α were reduced by rapamycin. Rapamycin can inhibit HMGB1-induced activation of mDCs and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines. These findings indicated that HMGB1activates mDCs by up-regulating the mTOR pathway in SLE.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Paul Smith,

Paul Smith, Incyte, United States

Reviewed by:

Wang-Dong Xu, Southwest Medical University, China Cheng-De Yang, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China

*Correspondence:

Xiaoning Zhong xnzhong101@sina.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 01 December 2020 Accepted: 15 March 2021 Published: 07 June 2021

Citation:

Song X, Zhang H, Zhao Y, Lin Y, Tang Q, Zhou X and Zhong X (2021) HMGB1 Activates Myeloid Dendritic Cells by Up-Regulating mTOR Pathway in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Front. Med. 8:636188. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.636188 Keywords: dendritic cells, HMGB1, signal transduction pathway, systemic lupus erythematosus, mTOR inhibitor

INTRODUCTION

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a severe, debilitating autoimmune disease that affects multiple organs and body systems. The prevalence of SLE worldwide is estimated to be as high as 150 per 100,000 individuals (1). The disease is characterized by autoantibodies against nuclear antigens (ANA), which result from immune system deregulation (2). Although research has been done, the pathogenesis of SLE is not yet fully understood.

Dendritic cells (DCs) play an essential role in bridging the innate and adaptive immune systems. DCs are antigen-presenting cells displaying the unique capability to activate naïve T cells. DCs can also respond to encounter pathogens by producing inflammatory mediators, including proinflammatory cytokines (3). Because of these complex roles, an imbalance in DC functions can cause a defective or exaggerated immune response and tissue damage. Research has shown that HMGB1, a non-histone nuclear protein, can induce immune responses and inflammatory responses that are relevant for the pathogenesis of SLE (4). For example, recent evidence indicates that HMGB1 is responsible for producing proinflammatory cytokines, which is a well-established damage associated molecular pattern (DAMP) (5–7). HMGB1 is likely to be released from

10

activated immune cells such as dendritic cells (DCs) in inflammation or injury (8). When released, HMGB1 participates in the secretion of downstream proinflammatory cytokines *via* binding to cell surface receptors such as receptor of advanced glycation end products (RAGE), TLR2, and TLR4, contributing to the occurrence and development of diverse inflammatory diseases and autoimmune diseases (9–14).

One signaling pathway that has been the subject of current research in SLE is the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR). Recent studies have found that activation of mTOR in both the immune system (15, 16) and non-traditional parenchymal organs (e.g., the liver) precedes the onset of disease and represents early manifestations of pathogenesis (17). A common finding in T cells, B cells, macrophages, hepatocytes, and renovascular cells is mTOR activation (18). But little research has been done on mTOR activation in dendritic cells in SLE. Therefore, this study aimed to assess the potential role of mTOR in the activation of myeloid dendritic cells (mDCs) triggered by HMGB1 in patients with SLE.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design

The study used a case-control design to examine whether HMGB1 can contribute to the up-regulation of the mTOR pathway of dendritic cells in patients with SLE. We collected peripheral blood samples from patients with SLE and healthy controls (HCs). We quantified the level of HMGB1 with ELISA and analyzed mDCs from peripheral blood with flow cytometry. Next, we stimulated mDCs from SLE with HMGB1. The expression of mTOR and its substrates, HLA-DR, costimulatory molecules of dendritic cells, and cytokine synthesis were measured. These indexes were measured again after blocking the mTOR pathway with rapamycin.

Participants

We recruited 35 patients with SLE, who fulfilled the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) revised criteria for the classification of SLE (19), and 20 healthy controls. SLE disease activity index 2000 (SLEDAI-2K) (20) was determined in the blood sampling. Patients with SLE were recruited from the Department of Rheumatism and Immunology, the First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University. All patients were newly diagnosed and did not receive any corticosteroids or immunosuppressive treatment at the time of the blood collection. Healthy adults matched for age and sex were enrolled from blood donors. The study was approved by the Medical Ethical Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University (NO.2017-KY-国基-111) and the Medical Ethical Committee of the Fourth Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University (NO. KY2018083), China. All subjects signed the informed consent.

Quantitation of HMGB1

HMGB1 in serum samples of 35 SLE patients and 20 healthy controls were analyzed with ELISA kits (CUSABIO) according to the manufactural protocol. Plates were read at an absorbance of 450 nm (A450) using a Sunrise microplate reader. All measurements were carried out in duplicate.

Analysis mDCs From Peripheral Blood of SLE With Flow Cytometry

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated from the peripheral blood samples of SLE patients by using LymphoprepTM (STEMCELL). Freshly isolated PBMCs were stained for surface marker FITC anti-human Lineage Cocktail (CD3, CD14, CD19, CD20, CD56) (BD Pharmingen), PerCp anti-human HLA-DR (BD Pharmingen), PE anti-human CD11c (BD Pharmingen), APC anti-human CD40 (BD Pharmingen) or APC anti-human CD86 (BD Pharmingen). After surface staining, cells were fixed/permeabilized with fixation/permeabilization solution (Cytofix/CytopermTM; BD Pharmingen), and stained with p-mTOR-Alexa 647 (BD Pharmingen) for 30 min at 4°C. Cells were then washed with 1 × Perm/Wash Buffer (BD Pharmingen) and resuspended in PBS + 2% FBS for flow cytometric analysis. Flow cytometry was performed on a BD FACS Canto II (BD Biosciences) and data were analyzed using FCS Express 4 software (De Novo Software, Los Angeles, CA).

Preparation and Stimulation of mDCs

Whole blood samples from 20 patients with SLE were collected using ACD tubes (BD Vacutainer). Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated using LymphoprepTM (STEMCELL). Cells were cultured in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% FBS at a density of 2×10^6 cells/ml in 6-well tissue culture plates. After PBMC were cultured for 3 h, the liquid in the containers was discarded. Then RPMI-1640 was added for further culture, supplemented with 10% FBS, recombinant human GM-CSF (100 ng/ml; PeproTech), and recombinant human IL-4 (100 ng/ml; PeproTech). On days 2 and 4 of culture, the supernatant was removed and replaced with fresh medium containing hGM-CSF and hIL-4. All cultures were incubated at 37°C in 5% humidified CO2. After seven days of culture, more than 95% of the cells expressed CD11c +, the characteristic DC-specific markers, as determined by FACS (Supplementary Figure 1).

To determine the effect of HMGB1 on mDC activation, primary mDCs were stimulated with HMGB1 (1 ug/ml; Peprotech) on Day 6 of culture. Cells were then collected after 24 h.

To block the mTOR pathway, we added different concentrations of rapamycin (10, 20, and 40 ng/ml) to primary mDCs on Day 5 of culture, and then stimulated with HMGB1 as described above.

Measurement of Cytokine Production and Surface Molecules of mDCs

Levels of various cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α) in the supernatant of mDCs cultures were quantified using ELISA analysis (BD Biosciences).

Abbreviations: DCs, dendritic cells; SLE, Systemic lupus erythematosus; mDCs, myeloid dendritic cells; HMGB1, high-mobility group box protein-1; mTOR, mechanistic target of rapamycin; HLA-DR, human leukocyte antigen DR; DAMP, damage associated molecular pattern; RAGE, receptor of advanced glycation end products; ACR, American College of Rheumatology; PBMC, Peripheral blood mononuclear cells; Rapa, rapamycin; HCs, healthy controls.

the standard procedures.

The surface molecules on dendritic cells were measured (Fig by flow cytometry. Cultured mDCs were stained for surface markers PerCp anti-human HLA-DR, PE anti-human CD11c, APC anti-human CD40, or APC anti-human CD86. All antibodies and isotype control were purchased from BD high

The Expression of mTOR in mDCs by RT-PCR

Pharmingen. Cell surface staining was performed according to

Total cellular RNAs were isolated from DCs using AxyPrep Multisource Total RNA Miniprep Kit (Axygen), and RNA samples were transformed into complementary DNA (cDNA) using RevertAid First-strand cDNA Synthesis kit (Thermo) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Quantitative PCR was performed on selected targets (mTOR, P70S6K, and 4EBP1) using pre-developed primers and probes (Sangon Biotech) on the QuantStudio (TM) real-time PCR software System. β-actin was used as an internal control. Primer sequences were the following: β -ACTIN, 5'-CCT GGC ACC CAG CAC AAT-3' and 5' -GGG CCG GAC TCG TCA TAC-3'; mTOR, 5'-ACT GGA GGC TGA TGG ACA CA-3' and 5'-GGC TCT CCA AGT TCC ACA CC-3'; P70S6K, 5'-CAT CGG CAC CAC TTC CAA TA-3' and 5'-TTC ATA CGC AGG TGC TCT GG-3'; 4EBP1, 5'-TCG GAA CTC ACC TGT GAC CA-3' and 5'-GCT CAT CAC TGG AAG GGC TG-3'. Expression of mTOR, P70S6K, and 4EBP1 were calculated as described by the manufacturer.

Statistical Analysis

Graph Pad Prism version 7 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) was used to perform comparisons between different groups and to generate figures. Calculations were based on a 95% confidence interval (CI). *P*-values <0.05 were considered significant. All data were expressed as the mean \pm SD. Student's *t*-test was used for continuous variables that were normally distributed. The Mann–Whitney *U*-test was used for continuous variables that were not normally distributed.

RESULT

We included 35 subjects with SLE and 20 healthy controls. All patients were newly diagnosed with SLE and did not receive any corticosteroids or immunosuppressive treatment at the time of the blood draw. Most patients with SLE were women (29/35, 83%), with a mean age of 40 ± 13.27 years. They had a SLEDAI score of 9.9 ± 4 . Common disease activity at the time of inclusion was renal (66%). Healthy controls (HCs) consisted of 20 healthy individuals matched for sex and age. Other characteristics of the patients are summarized in **Supplementary Table 1**.

mDCs Were Activated in the Peripheral Blood of SLE Patients, and the mDCs Activation Was Associated With the Up-Regulation of HMGB1 and mTOR

Compared to healthy controls (HCs), mDC in the peripheral blood of SLE patients expressed more CD40 and CD86

(Figures 1A–C). The levels of CD40 and CD86 were positively correlated with levels of HMGB1 and p-mTOR in mDCs (Figure 1D).

Mean serum level of HMGB1 in SLE patients was significantly higher than that in healthy controls (HCs) (66.570 \pm 17.995 pg/ml vs. 53.265 \pm 8.727 pg/ml, p < 0.001). HMGB1 levels were positively correlated with SLEDAI scores (r = 0.817, p < 0.001, **Figure 2E**).

The expression of p-mTOR in mDCs increased significantly in SLE patients (**Figures 2A–D**). The levels of p-mTOR in mDCs were positively correlated with SLEDAI scores (r = 0.943, p < 0.001, **Figure 2F**) and the levels of HMGB1 in peripheral blood (r = 0.805, p < 0.001, **Figure 2G**), respectively.

HMGB1 Activated Myeloid Dendritic Cells and Up-Regulated mTOR Pathways in mDCs From SLE Patients

The mDCs from 20 SLE patients were isolated and induced to mature with cytokines, then stimulated with HMGB1. Compared to the healthy control group, mDCs stimulated by HMGB1 expressed more HLA-DR, CD40, and CD86 in SLE patients (**Figure 3**) and produced significantly more TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β (**Figure 4**). Moreover, HMGB1 induced up-regulation of mTOR and its substrates (P70S6K, 4EBP1) in mDCs (**Figure 5**). Therefore, HMGB1 can induce activation of mDCs from patients with SLE and up-regulate mTOR pathway in mDCs.

Activation of mDCs Could Be Inhibited by Blocking the mTOR Pathway With Rapamycin

We inhibited the mTOR pathway with different concentrations of rapamycin (Rapa). The mRNA expression of mTOR and its substrate P70S6K and 4EBP1 in mDCs was considerably decreased through Rapa intervention by RT-PCR (**Figure 6** and **Supplementary Table 2**). These results suggested that rapamycin can inhibit the activation of the mTOR pathway in mDCs induced by HMGB1. Furthermore, rapamycin can inhibit increased expression of HLA-DR, CD40, CD86 (**Figure 7** and **Supplementary Table 3**) and increased secretion of TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 induced by HMGB1 (**Figure 8** and **Supplementary Table 4**), respectively. Overall, these results suggested that HMGB1-induced activation of mDCs could be affected by blocking the mTOR pathway with rapamycin.

DISCUSSION

SLE, a systemic autoimmune disease, is a potentially fatal disease characterized by immune complex deposition and the subsequent inflammation that contribute to severe tissue damage (21). Recent reports show that HMGB1 might be involved in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, including SLE (22–24). Previous studies and our results revealed that the level of HMGB1 was positively correlated with SLEDAI score in SLE patients, implying that the critical role of HMGB1 in the pathogenesis of SLE.







(B) The level of p-mTOR in DCs from healthy controls (HCs); (C) The merged figure of A with B; (D) The level of p-mTOR in DCs from SLE patients was higher than HCs (50.35 \pm 0.696% vs. 26.43 \pm 0.565%, P = 0.027); *P < 0.05. (E) The correlation between serum HMGB1 concentrations and SLE disease activity index score (SLEDAI) in SLE patients. In peripheral blood, HMGB1 levels were positively correlated with SLEDAI scores (r = 0.817, p < 0.001). (F) The correlation between the SLEDAI and p-mTOR in mDCs in peripheral blood of SLE patients. Levels of p-mTOR in mDCs were positively correlated with the SLEDAI (r = 0.417, p < 0.0128). (G) The correlation between the levels of HMGB1 and p-mTOR in mDCs in peripheral blood of SLE patients. Levels of p-mTOR in mDCs positively correlated with the levels of P-mTOR in mDCs positively correlated with the levels of P-mTOR in mDCs positively correlated with the levels of HMGB1 in peripheral blood (r = 0.446, p < 0.0072).

Recent studies indicated that HMGB1, a well-established DAMP, is responsible for triggering inflammatory responses (7). HMGB1 is likely to be released from activated immune cells such as macrophages in the area of inflammation or injury (12, 13). In this study, we found that mDCs were activated in SLE. The levels of CD40 and CD86 were positively correlated with SLEDAI scores, and the activation of mDCs was associated with upregulation of HMGB1 and mTOR. The expression of mTOR in mDCs increased in SLE, and the levels of mTOR in mDCs were positively correlated with SLEDAI scores and the levels of HMGB1 in peripheral blood, respectively. These findings implied

that HMGB1 might induce activation of mDCs in patients with SLE and up-regulation of the mTOR pathway.

In this study, the results indicated that HMGB1 can activate dendritic cells and induce more proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β). These results were consistent with previous studies (25). Persistent elevation of proinflammatory cytokines could lead to immune deregulation followed by local inflammatory processes and tissue damage (26, 27). In another study (28), the surface level of CD86 on monocytes in SLE was comparable with that in HCs. CD163 is an anti-inflammatory marker, whereas HLA-DR is a proinflammatory marker. These



FIGURE 3 | HMGB1 promoted activation of mDCs from SLE patients. Flow cytometry analysis of HLA-DR, CD40, and CD86, surface expression on each group mDCs from SLE patients. The expression of HLA-DR ($79.27 \pm 10.78\%$ vs. $50.77 \pm 10.14\%$, t = 7.455, P = 0.00), CD40 ($38.42 \pm 5.10\%$ vs. $21.41 \pm 6.33\%$, t = 8.102, P = 0.000) and CD86 ($75.63.42 \pm 9.80\%$ vs. $61.07 \pm 11.48\%$, t = 3.735, P = 0.001) were up-regulated on mDCs after stimulation with HMGB1.**P < 0.001.



FIGURE 4 Cytokine production following stimulation of HMGB1 measured by ELISA. When stimulated with HMGB1, the mDCs from systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients produced significantly more IL-1 β (**A**), IL-6 (**B**), and TNF- α (**C**) than the Blank. Data are presented as the median and interquartile range (IL-1 β : 21745 ± 1632.45pg/ml vs. 9282.6 ± 723.68 pg/ml, *t* = 6.979, *P* = 0.000; IL-6: 248.01 ± 5.81 pg/ml vs. 154.41 ± 8.39 pg/ml, *t* = 9.167, *P* = 0.000; TNF- α : 514.41 ± 23.90 pg/ml vs. 321.78 ± 10.09 pg/ml, *t* = 7.423, *P* = 0.000) ** ρ < 0.001. IL, interleukin; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.

data demonstrated the downregulation of proinflammatory surface markers but the upregulation of anti-inflammatory markers in SLE, which was different from the presumptive results. This discrepancy might be due to an existing negative feedback to maintain monocyte homeostasis in SLE. mTOR plays a crucial role in the relationship among HMGB1, activation of mDCs, and autoimmunity in SLE. In this study, when stimulated by HMGB1, mDCs expressed increased mTOR and its substrates (P70S6K, 4EBP1) compared to the healthy control group. When the mTOR pathway



FIGURE 5 | mRNA expression of mTOR and its substrates P70S6K and 4EBP1 on mDCs measured by RT-PCR. Application of the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method. The expression of mTOR (**A**), P70S6K (**B**), and 4EBP1 (**C**) were up-regulated in mDCs after stimulation with HMGB1. (mTOR: 1.039 ± 0.0651 vs. 3.428 ± 0.2315, t = 9.935, P = 0.000; P70S6K: 1.042 ± 0.06223 vs. 1.763 ± 0.09726, t = 6.245, P = 0.000 4EBP1: 1.021 ± 0.066 vs. 2.078 ± 0.08861, t = 9.546, P < 0.000.) ***P < 0.001.



was blocked with different concentrations of rapamycin (Rapa), HMGB1-induced mDC expression of HLA-DR, CD40, and CD86, and proinflammatory cytokines secretion was decreased. All these results implied that HMGB1 may induce activation of mDCs through the up-regulated mTOR pathway, but further research is needed to confirm this hypothesis.

It is well-known that mTOR signaling senses extracellular stimulations and regulates many biological processes including inflammation (29). Activation of mTOR delivers an obligatory signal for the proper activation and differentiation of mDCs in our present study. Therefore, the activation of mTOR signaling pathway is a potentially significant factor contributing to the pathogenesis of SLE. A recent study found that mTOR signaling activation caused hyperpolarization of mitochondria, resulting in necrosis tendency of T cells, promoting the generation of anti-nuclear antibodies, activation of dendritic cells, and the occurrence of inflammation (30).

In the present study, we intended to study upstream regulators of the mTOR pathway and its function in mDCs. Our data showed that rapamycin can inhibit HMGB1-induced activation of mDCs and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines.

The next question would be to clarify the pathophysiological functions of mTOR in SLE and investigate targeted drugs. Given the general importance of the mTOR signaling pathway and considering the ubiquitous expression of HMGB1, the newly uncovered regulation is expected to have a broad impact. It includes an impact on metabolic programs and cell fate decisions in other immune and non-immune cells under homeostasis, when faced with an environmental challenge, and during the development of the autoimmune disease.

Therefore, blocking mTOR signaling pathway becomes a new target for the treatment of SLE. Rapamycin, a widely recognized blocker of the mTOR pathway, has a promising prospect in treating SLE. Rapamycin can not only inhibit the signal transduction downstream of mTOR, but also negatively regulate the PI3K/AKT /mTOR pathway. The monotherapy of rapamycin can completely prevent nephritis in mice and significantly improve the condition. Gu's study (31) demonstrated that RAPA alleviated the clinical symptoms of lupus nephritis and prolonged survival in MRL/lpr mice. This result is consistent with our previous research (32).







FIGURE 8 | Cytokine production through Rapa intervention. mDCs from systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients were blocked by different concentrations of rapamycin, and production of IL-1 β (**A**), IL-6 (**B**), and TNF- α (**C**) were measured by ELISA. Different concentrations of rapamycin (Rapa-10: 10 ng/ml; Rapa-20: 20 ng/ml; Rapa-40: 40 ng/ml) were added into cultures of primary mDCs. Data are presented as the median and interrogative range. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01. IL, interleukin; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.

There are some limitations to our research. First, all the patients in the study had moderate severity of SLE. Thus, the findings may not be generalizable to patients with mild SLE. Second, we used HMGB1 to stimulate myeloidderived dendritic cells (mDCs). However, mature mDCs cannot be separated directly from peripheral blood. Instead, PBMCs were isolated and induced to mature mDCs with the cytokine. The mDCs in this study shared some similar characteristics with those in peripheral blood. The degree of similarity between these mDCs cultured in vitro and those in vivo warrants further investigation. Lastly, the effect of HMGB1- activated dendritic cells on T cells was not evaluated, which is needed further investigation. However, HLA-DR and costimulatory molecules of dendritic cells and cytokine synthesis were measured to estimate the activation of dendritic cells.

In summary, our study found that the mDCs were activated in the peripheral blood of SLE. HMGB1 induces dendritic cell activation and up-regulate the mTOR pathway in SLE. Rapamycin can inhibit HMGB1-induced activation of mDCs and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines. These findings indicate that targeting mTOR pathway could be a novel therapeutic approach to SLE.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical Ethical Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XS, HZ, YZ, YL, and QT conducted the study and collected the data. XS, XiaZ, and HZ were involved in study design, data analyses, and writing and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 81770041, 81860298).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the technical support provided by Professor Chen Zhao, Professor Kai-Jiang Tang, Rheumatology and Immunology Department, The First Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University and Rheumatology and Immunology Department, The Fourth Affiliated Hospital of Guangxi Medical University.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.636188/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | CD11c + DC purity tests before and after cell culture. (A: CD11c + DC purity tests before cell culture; B: CD11c + DC purity tests before cell culture).

 $\label{eq:superior} \begin{array}{l} \textbf{Supplementary Table 1} \mbox{ | } Characteristics of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) \\ patients and healthy control subjects. \end{array}$

Supplementary Table 2 | mTOR and its substrate P70S6K and 4 ebp1 mRNA expression on dendritic cells through Rapa intervention.

Supplementary Table 3 | HLA-DR, CD40, and CD86 in dendritic cells supernatant through Rapa intervention (%).

 $\label{eq:superior} \begin{array}{l} \textbf{Supplementary Table 4 | } Cytokines in dendritic cells supernatant through Rapa intervention (pg/ml). \end{array}$

REFERENCES

- Pons-Estel GJ, Alarcón GS, Scofield L, Reinlib L, Cooper GS. Understanding the epidemiology and progression of systemic lupus erythematosus. Semin Arthritis Rheum. (2010) 39:257–68. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2008.10.007
- 2. Dema B, Charles N. Advances in mechanisms of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Discov Med.* (2014) 17:247–55.
- Steinman RM. Decisions about dendritic cells: past, present, and future. Ann Rev Immunol. (2012) 30:1–22. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-100311-102839
- Urbonaviciute V, Fürnrohr BG, Meister S, Munoz L, Heyder P, De Marchis F, et al. Induction of inflammatory and immune responses by HMGB1nucleosome complexes: implications for the pathogenesis of SLE. *J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:3007–18. doi: 10.1084/jem.20081165
- Dumitriu IE, Baruah P, Manfredi AA, Bianchi ME, Rovere-Querini P. HMGB1: guiding immunity from within. *Trends Immunol.* (2005) 26:381–7. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2005.04.009
- Harris HE, Raucci A. Alarmin(g) news about danger: workshop on innate danger signals and HMGB1. *EMBO Rep.* (2006) 7:774–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.7400759
- Bianchi ME. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J Leukoc Biol. (2007) 81:1–5. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0306164
- Zhu XM, Yao YM, Liang HP, Xu S, Dong N, Yu Y, et al. The effect of high mobility group box-1 protein on splenic dendritic cell maturation in rats. J Interferon Cytokine Res. (2009) 29:677–86. doi: 10.1089/jir.2008.0104
- Park JS, Svetkauskaite D, He Q, Kim JY, Strassheim D, Ishizaka A, et al. Involvement of toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in cellular activation by high mobility group box 1 protein. J Biol Chem. (2004) 279:7370–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M306793200
- Kokkola R, Andersson A, Mullins G, Ostberg T, Treutiger CJ, Arnold B, et al. RAGE is the major receptor for the proinflammatory activity of HMGB1 in rodent macrophages. *Scand J Immunol.* (2005) 61:1–9. doi: 10.1111/j.0300-9475.2005.01534.x
- Tian J, Avalos AM, Mao SY, Chen B, Senthil K, Wu H, et al. Toll-like receptor 9-dependent activation by DNA-containing immune complexes is mediated by HMGB1 and RAGE. *Nat Immunol.* (2007) 8:487–96. doi: 10.1038/ni1457
- Yang H, Hreggvidsdottir HS, Palmblad K, Wang H, Ochani M, Li J, et al. A critical cysteine is required for HMGB1 binding to Toll-like receptor 4 and activation of macrophage cytokine release. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:11942–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1003893107
- Naglova H, Bucova M. HMGB1 and its physiological and pathological roles. Bratisl Lek Listy. (2012) 113:163–71. doi: 10.4149/BLL_2012_039
- Andersson U, Erlandsson-Harris H, Yang H, Tracey KJ. HMGB1 as a DNAbinding cytokine. J Leukoc Biol. (2002) 72:1084–91.
- Caza TN, Fernandez DR, Talaber G, Oaks Z, Haas M, Madaio MP, et al. HRES-1/Rab4-mediated depletion of Drp1 impairs mitochondrial homeostasis and represents a target for treatment in SLE. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2014) 73:1888–97. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203794
- Fernandez DR, Telarico T, Bonilla E, Li Q, Banerjee S, Middleton FA, et al. Activation of mammalian target of rapamycin controls the loss of TCRzeta in lupus T cells through HRES-1/Rab4-regulated lysosomal degradation. *J Immunol (Baltimore, Md.: 1950).* (2009) 182:2063–73. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803600
- Oaks Z, Winans T, Caza T, Fernandez D, Liu Y, Landas SK, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction in the liver and antiphospholipid antibody production precede disease onset and respond to rapamycin in lupus-prone mice. *Arthritis Rheumatol (Hoboken, NJ)*. (2016) 68:2728–39. doi: 10.1002/art.39791
- Hidalgo LG. Inhibition of the mTORC pathway in the antiphospholipid syndrome. N Engl J Med. (2014) 371:1554. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1410247

- Hochberg MC. Updating the American College of Rheumatology revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* (1997) 40:1725. doi: 10.1002/art.1780400928
- Gladman DD, Ibañez D, Urowitz MB. Systemic lupus erythematosus disease activity index 2000. J Rheumatol. (2002) 29:288–91.
- Tsokos GC. Systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med. (2011) 365:2110–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1100359
- Li J, Kokkola R, Tabibzadeh S, Yang R, Ochani M, Qiang X, et al. Structural basis for the proinflammatory cytokine activity of high mobility group box 1. *Mol Med (Cambridge, Mass.)*. (2003) 9:37–45. doi: 10.1007/BF03402105
- 23. Ma CY, Jiao YL, Zhang J, Yang QR, Zhang ZF, Shen YJ, et al. Elevated plasma level of HMGB1 is associated with disease activity and combined alterations with IFN- α and TNF- α in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatol Int.* (2012) 32:395–402. doi: 10.1007/s00296-010-1636-6
- Zickert A, Palmblad K, Sundelin B, Chavan S, Tracey KJ, Bruchfeld A, et al. Renal expression and serum levels of high mobility group box 1 protein in lupus nephritis. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2012) 14:R36. doi: 10.1186/ar3747
- Lu M, Yu S, Xu W, Gao B, Xiong S. HMGB1 promotes systemic lupus erythematosus by enhancing macrophage inflammatory response. *J Immunol Res.* (2015) 2015:946748. doi: 10.1155/2015/946748
- Yap DY, Lai KN. Cytokines and their roles in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus: from basics to recent advances. J Biomed Biotechnol. (2010) 2010:365083. doi: 10.1155/2010/365083
- Yap DY, Lai KN. The role of cytokines in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus—from bench to bedside. *Nephrology (Carlton, Vic.)*. (2013) 18:243–55. doi: 10.1111/nep.12047
- Zhu H, Hu F, Sun X, Zhang X, Zhu L, Liu X, et al. CD16+ monocyte subset was enriched and functionally exacerbated in driving T-cell activation and Bcell response in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:512. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00512
- Thomson AW, Turnquist HR, Raimondi G. Immunoregulatory functions of mTOR inhibition. Nat Rev Immunol. (2009) 9:324–37. doi: 10.1038/nr i2546
- Perl A, Hanczko R, Lai ZW, Oaks Z, Kelly R, Borsuk R, et al. Comprehensive metabolome analyses reveal N-acetylcysteine-responsive accumulation of kynurenine in systemic lupus erythematosus: implications for activation of the mechanistic target of rapamycin. *Metabolomics*. (2015) 11:1157–74. doi: 10.1007/s11306-015-0772-0
- 31. Gu Z, Tan W, Ji J, Feng G, Meng Y, Da Z, et al. Rapamycin reverses the senescent phenotype and improves immunoregulation of mesenchymal stem cells from MRL/lpr mice and systemic lupus erythematosus patients through inhibition of the mTOR signaling pathway. *Aging.* (2016) 8:1102–14. doi: 10.18632/aging.100925
- 32. Song X, Gao J, Liu H, Liu X, Tang K. Rapamycin alleviates renal damage in mice with systemic lupus erythematosus through improving immune response and function. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2021) 137:111289. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2021.111289

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Song, Zhang, Zhao, Lin, Tang, Zhou and Zhong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





STAT3 but Not STAT5 Contributes to the Protective Effect of Electroacupuncture Against Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury in Mice

Hui-Hui Guo^{1†}, Xin-Yue Jing^{1†}, Hui Chen², Hou-Xi Xu¹ and Bing-Mei Zhu^{3*}

¹ Key Laboratory of Acupuncture and Medicine Research of Ministry of Education, Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, Nanjing, China, ² Rehabilitation Medicine Department, YE DA Hospital of Yantai, Yantai, China, ³ Regenerative Medicine Research Center, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Ralf J. Ludwig, University of Lübeck, Germany

Reviewed by: Gerd Heusch.

Gerd Heusch, University of Duisburg-Essen, Germany Zequan Yang, University of Virginia, United States

> *Correspondence: Bing-Mei Zhu zhubm64@hotmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Translational Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 05 February 2021 Accepted: 13 May 2021 Published: 09 July 2021

Citation:

Guo H-H, Jing X-Y, Chen H, Xu H-X and Zhu B-M (2021) STAT3 but Not STAT5 Contributes to the Protective Effect of Electroacupuncture Against Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury in Mice. Front. Med. 8:649654. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.649654

Electroacupuncture (EA) can help reduce infarct size and injury resulting from myocardial ischemia/reperfusion (I/R); however, the underlying molecular mechanism remains unknown. We previously reported that STAT5 plays a critical role in the cardioprotective effect of remote ischemic preconditioning (RIPC). Here, we assessed the effects of electroacupuncture pretreatment (EAP) on myocardial I/R injury in the presence and/or absence of Stat5 in mice and investigated whether EAP exerts its cardioprotective effects in a STAT5-dependent manner. Adult Stat5^{fl/fl} and Stat5-cKO mice were exposed to EAP at Neiguan (PC6) for 7 days before the induction of I/R injury by left anterior descending (LAD) coronary artery ligation. The myocardial infarct size (IS), area at risk, and apoptotic rate of cardiomyocytes were detected. RT-gPCR and western blotting were used to measure gene and protein expression, respectively, in homogenized heart tissues. RNA-seg was used to identify candidate genes and pathways. Our results showed that EAP decreased IS and the rate of cardiomyocyte apoptosis. We further found that STAT5 was activated by EAP in Stat5^{fl/fl} mice but not in Stat5-cKO mice, whereas the opposite was observed for STAT3. Following EAP, the levels of the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-xL, Bcl-2, and p-AKT were increased in the presence of Stat5, while that of interleukin 10 (IL-10) was increased in both Stat5^{fl/fl} and Stat5-cKO. The gene expression profile in heart tissues was different between Stat5^{fl/fl} and the Stat5-cKO mice with EAP. Importantly, the top 30 DEGs under EAP in the Stat5-cKO mice were enriched in the IL-6/STAT3 signaling pathway. Our results revealed for the first time that the protective effect of EAP following myocardial I/R injury was attributable to, but not dependent on, STAT5. Additionally, we found that EAP could activate STAT3 signaling in the absence of the Stat5 gene, and could also activate antiapoptotic, survival, and anti-inflammatory signaling pathways.

Keywords: myocardial ischemia reperfusion, STAT5, STAT3, electro-acupuncture, cardioprotection

INTRODUCTION

Electroacupuncture (EA) is based on acupuncture, a key component of traditional Chinese medicine. Numerous studies have demonstrated that EA is effective as an alternative protective treatment against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury via electrical stimulation at specific acupoints (1–7). Recently, a clinical trial was undertaken to assess the effect of acupuncture treatment on a total of 1,651 patients with chronic stable angina. The results indicated that acupuncture, used as adjunctive therapy, could alleviate pain, reduce anxiety and depression, and improve the quality of life of the patients (5). Additionally, several studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of EA in treating cardiovascular diseases, and revealed some of the mechanisms underlying its effects. These include improving neurological function, modulating humor states (3, 8-11), regulating apoptosis (12-15), reducing calcium overload and antioxidative stress (16-19), activating anti-inflammatory pathways (12, 20), promoting angiogenesis (21), and regulating energy metabolism (22). However, the fundamental molecular mechanisms involved in the cardioprotective effect of EA have yet to be identified.

There is evidence that EAP can protect the ischemic myocardium against I/R injury (7, 14, 22, 23). While RIPC has been applied as one of common cardioprotective strategies against I/R injury (4, 24, 25), EAP is considered functionally similar to transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) and RIPC (4, 26). Studies on ischemic conditioning have been undertaken using different species, such as mice, rats, pigs, and humans (27-34). The most practical model of myocardial ischemia involves coronary occlusion, leading to the partial or complete obstruction of blood flow in a coronary artery, which mimics the clinical signs of coronary heart disease. Ideally, RIPC or EA pretreatment experiments on treating heart disease should be carried out using big animals or human patients as models (35, 36), whereas mechanistic studies are better performed on small animals, especially when a knockout model is needed. Additionally, evidence from both human patients and mice has indicated that STAT5 plays an important role in RIPC (27, 33, 37). Given that there are many similarities between EAP and RIPC, we therefore use the Stat5-knockout mice model to study the protection of EAP from myocardial I/R injury and its underlying mechanism.

We established a myocardial I/R mouse model using cardiomyocyte-specific *Stat5*-knockout (*Stat5*-cKO) mice. EA was applied to the mice 7 days before surgery to induce I/R injury. We also undertook genome-wide gene profiling to identify candidate genes involved in the cardioprotective role of EAP, and detected some functional pathways.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

Stat5-floxed mice ($Stat5^{fl/fl}$), generated as previously described (37), were a kind gift from Dr. Hennighausen (NIDDK, NIH). *Tnnt2*-Cre male mice (*Tnnt2Cre*) were a gift from Bin Zhou (Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences of the Chinese

Academy of Sciences). *Stat5*-cKO mice were generated by crossing these two genotypes. Doxycycline hyclate (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to the drinking water of mice at a concentration of 2 mg/mL and administered for 7 days. Genotyping was performed as previously described (37).

Study Groups

The mice were randomly divided into the following four groups: $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ +I/R, $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ +EA+I/R, Stat5-cKO+I/R, and Stat5-cKO+EA+I/R. The $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ +I/R and Stat5-cKO+I/R mice were exposed to LAD coronary artery occlusion for 30 min, and then reperfused for 180 min, while the $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ +EA+I/R and Stat5-cKO+EA+I/R mice were subjected to EAP treatment 7 days before LAD artery ligation. All animal studies were carried out according to Chinese and international guidelines for the experimental use of animals. All experiments were approved by the Institute for Animal Care and Use Committee at Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine.

In vivo Experiments

EA was performed at bilateral PC6 (also called Neiguan) acupoints in the Stat5^{fl/fl}+EA+I/R and Stat5-cKO+EA+I/R mice as previously described (12). The PC6 acupoints are located in the anteromedial aspect of the forelimb between the radius and ulna, 3-mm proximal to the wrist joints (12, 38). Anesthesia was induced with 5% isoflurane and maintained with 1-2% isoflurane in pure oxygen. Sterilized disposable stainless steel acupuncture needles (0.18 mm \times 13 mm, Beijing Zhongyan Taihe Medical Instruments Factory, Beijing, China) were inserted into the muscle layer \sim 1–2 mm below bilateral PC6 simultaneously using Han's EA instrument (Han Acuten, WQ1002F, Beijing, China). The frequency was 2/15 Hz (alternating dense and disperse mode) and the intensity was 0.5-1.0 mA. Stimulation was applied for 20 min once a day for a total of 7 days. The mice in the *Stat5*^{*fl/fl*}+I/R and the *Stat5*-cKO+I/R groups were restrained for 20 min without EA stimulation. The Stat5^{fl/fl}+I/R and Stat5cKO+I/R mice (control groups) were also anesthetized daily for 7 days before I/R surgery.

The I/R operation was performed according to a previously described protocol (12, 37). Briefly, all the mice were anesthetized by 5% isoflurane and anesthesia was then maintained with 2% isoflurane in a mixture of 70% N₂O and 30% O₂. Under anesthesia, the mice were subjected to a left thoracotomy and LAD artery ligation. Ischemia was confirmed by myocardium blanching, as well as ST-segment elevation and widening of the QRS complex in ECG (37). After 30 min, reperfusion was performed by quickly releasing and removing the suture continuously for 3 h. In the sham-operation group, the same procedure was performed except for the LAD artery ligation. Mice were euthanized by cervical dislocation and the heart specimens were harvested.

Determination of Infarct Size

After harvesting, the hearts were injected for 1-2 min with 0.2 mL of 2% Evans blue dye into the ventricle as previously described (39, 40). The excised and frozen hearts were quickly

sliced into five pieces, placed in 2 mL of 1% TTC (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and incubated at 37°C for 15 min. After incubating, the sections were placed in 4% (ν/ν) paraformaldehyde at 4°C for 12 h. Unaffected myocardial tissue was stained blue, while the area at risk (AAR) and the infarcted area were unstained and showed as red or white. The infarcted area, AAR, and total left ventricular (LV) area were quantified using Image-Pro Plus 6.0 software (NIH, USA). The infarct size (IS) and AAR percentages were calculated using the following formulas: IS (%) = IS/AAR × 100; AAR (%) = AAR/total LV area × 100 (39, 40).

Apoptosis Measurements

TUNEL staining was used to detect cell apoptosis in cardiac tissue in each group. All the protocols were performed as previously described (37). Heart tissues were harvested and embedded in optimal cutting temperature (OCT) compound (Thermo Scientific, USA). Then, $8-\mu$ m-thick tissues were subjected to TUNEL staining according to the instructions of the manufacturer (Cat no. 11684817910, Roche Diagnostics, Lewes, UK). Ten sections were randomly selected from at least 3 animals per group and visualized using a fluorescence microscope (Nikon, Japan). DNase-I served as the positive control labeling solution as the negative control.

Western Blotting

Whole-ventricle samples were lysed with RIPA buffer containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors based on the Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (100X) (Thermo Scientific, USA). Homogenates were centrifuged at 14,000 \times g for 10 min at 4° C, and the collected supernatants were stored at -80° C until further use. Protein concentrations were determined using a BCA protein assay (Pierce, Thermo Scientific, USA). Protein was mixed with 5× Laemmli loading buffer and heated at 95°C for 10 min. Equal amounts of protein were subjected to SDS-PAGE and transferred to polyvinylidene fluoride membranes. The samples were incubated with primary antibodies against Bcl-xL (1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, #2762), Bcl-2 (1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, #3498), Cyt c (1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, #4280), phospho-STAT5 (1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, #4322), STAT5 (1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, #94205), phospho-STAT3 (1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, #4093), STAT3 (1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, #4904), phospho-AKT (1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, #4060), AKT (1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, #4298), IL-10 (1:1,000, Abcam, #ab192271), VEGFA (1:1,000, Abcam, #ab46154), beta-actin (1:1,000, Abcam, #ab8226), or GAPDH (1:1,000, Cell Signaling Technology, #2118) overnight at 4°C, and then with a secondary antibody for 2 h at room temperature. Immunoreactive bands were revealed using SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce) and quantified using the ChemiDoc Imaging System (Bio-Rad).

Quantitative Reverse Transcription PCR

Total RNA was extracted from heart tissue using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Mannheim, Germany), and reverse-transcribed to cDNA using reverse transcriptase and random primers (11121ES60, Yeasen Biotech Co., Ltd., China). Target genes were amplified on a MX3000P thermocycler (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA, USA) using SYBR Green (Q431-02, Vazyme Co., China). Gene expression was quantified using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. The primer sequences were as follows: *Il6*, GACTTCACAGAGGATAC CACCC (forward) and GACTTCACAGAGGATACCACCC (reverse); *gp130*, GAGCTTCGAGCCATCCGGGC (forward) and AAGTTCGAGCCGCGCTGGAC (reverse); beta-actin, GGTGAAGACGCCAGTAGAC (forward) and TGCTGGAAG GTGGACAGTGA (reverse).

RNA Sequencing Analysis

RNA-seq for mouse heart tissues was performed using the Illumina Hiseq 2500 and 2000 platform (Illumina, USA) as described in our previous study (41). Data analysis was performed as previously described (41). The quality of the raw sequencing data was assessed by FastQC. The Cufflinks and Cuffdiff programs were used to assemble individual transcripts and for differential transcript expression analysis, respectively. The pathways were analyzed using DAVID Bioinformatics Resources. Genes with fewer than 1.0 fragments per kilobase of exon per million fragments mapped (FPKM) were filtered out. Log2 fold change (FC) $\geq |\pm 1|$ and P < 0.05 were used as thresholds for identifying upregulated and downregulated genes.

Statistical Analysis

Data analyses and treatment conditions were double-blinded. SPSS 18.0 software was used for statistical analysis. All data were expressed as means \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). A two-tailed unpaired Student's *t*-test was used for comparisons between two groups. For comparisons between multiple groups, one-way or two-way ANOVA was used followed by the Bonferroni *post-hoc* test when equal variances were assumed. *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

EAP Reduced Myocardial Infarct Size and Attenuated Cardiomyocytic Apoptosis to the Same Extent in Both *Stat5*^{fl/fl} and *Stat5*-cKO Mice

EAP had no effect on the daily behavior or cardiac performance of mice of either genotype. After myocardial I/R surgery, we harvested the heart tissues and measured myocardial infarct areas and AARs (**Figure 1**). We found that EAP significantly reduced infarct size in both *Stat5*^{*fl*/*fl*} mice (55.2 ± 10.8% without EAP vs. 28.6 ± 4.1% with EAP, *P* < 0.01) and *Stat5*-cKO mice (65.5 ± 5.3% without EAP vs. 29.6 ± 9.6% with EAP, *P* < 0.01). No significant difference in AAR was seen between the *Stat5*^{*fl*/*fl*}+EA+I/R and the *Stat5*-cKO+EA+I/R mice.

TUNEL staining was performed to detect apoptosis in myocardial cells. As shown in Figure 2, mice in the



Stat5^{*fl*/*fl*}+EA+I/R group had fewer TUNEL-positive cells compared with those in the *Stat5*^{*fl*/*fl*}+I/R group (1.85 ± 0.26% vs. 5.62 ± 0.56%, *P* < 0.01). Similarly, the number of apoptotic myocardial cells was significantly lower in mice of the *Stat5*-cKO+EA+I/R group than in those of the *Stat5*-cKO+I/R group (1.85 ± 0.32 vs. 5.83 ± 0.35%, *P* < 0.01).

EAP Activated STAT5 in *Stat5^{fl/fl}* Mice, but Not in *Stat5*-cKO Mice, Following Myocardial I/R Surgery

To further explore whether the myocardial protective effect of EAP against I/R injury is STAT5-dependent, we examined the expression of p-STAT5 in heart tissues by western blotting. EAP markedly increased the protein levels of p-STAT5/GAPDH in $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ mice compared with those in $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ mice subjected to I/R; however, EAP did not affect STAT5 activation in the hearts of Stat5-cKO mice (**Figures 3A,B**). This suggested that STAT5 may be involved in the EAP-mediated protective effects against myocardial I/R injury.

EAP Activated IL-6/gp130/STAT3 Signaling in the Absence of *Stat5*

Given that STAT3 might compensate for the loss of STAT5, we then evaluated the STAT3 and p-STAT3 protein expression levels

in the heart tissues of both $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ and Stat5-cKO mice. The results showed that the expression of p-STAT3 was increased in Stat5-cKO+EA+I/R mice compared with that in mice of the Stat5-cKO+I/R group; however, this was not observed in $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ mice (**Figure 4A**). To understand the mechanism by which STAT3 was activated in this process, we further assessed the expression levels of genes acting upstream of STAT3. We found that the mRNA expression of Il6 and gp130 was greatly increased in Stat5-cKO+I/R mice; however, these effects were not observed in the presence of Stat5. This suggested that, in the absence of the Stat5 gene, EAP may activate the IL-6/gp130/STAT3 pathway at the mRNA level when the heart is exposed to myocardial I/R injury (**Figure 4B**).

Genome-Wide Analysis Revealed the Gene Expression Profiles in Both *Stat5*^{fl/fl} and *Stat5*-cKO Mice With or Without EAP Followed by Myocardial I/R Injury

To identify genes that may have a role in EAP-mediated protection against myocardial I/R injury, RNA was extracted from the heart tissues for RNA-seq analysis. The Cufflinks package was used to filter out the top 30 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between the $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ +I/R and $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ +EA+I/R



groups and the *Stat5*-cKO+I/R and *Stat5*-cKO+EA+I/R groups (**Tables 1A,B**). Venn diagrams were drawn based on the list of filtered DEGs among these four groups (**Figure 5**). The results showed that 1,052 genes were differentially expressed between the $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ +I/R and $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ +EA+I/R groups, while 1,039 genes were found to be differentially expressed between the $Stat5^{fl/fl}$

cKO+I/R and *Stat5*-cKO+EA+I/R groups; of these DEGs, 133 overlapped between these two clusters (**Figure 5**). Among the four groups, only two genes, *Hspa1a* and *Pttg1*, were found to be differentially expressed in all the groups (**Table 1**).

To further understand the potential pathways involved in the regulation of STAT5-related DEGs and that of EAP-related DEGs

TABLE 1 | The top 30 differentially expressed genes with a log2 (FC) > $|\pm 1|$ and q < 0.05.

Up-regulated in EA against I/R				Down-regulated in EA against I/R			
Gene name	Value_1	Value_2	log2 (fold_change)	Gene name	Value_1	Value_2	log2 (fold_change)
A . The top 30 diffe	rentially expressed	genes obtained fro	om comparing Stat5 ^{fl/fl} +EA	+I/R vs. Stat5 ^{fl/fl} +I/R			
Fosb	0.181422	27.5826	7.24827	Hbb-bt	35.5975	1.35656	-4.71375
Retnlg	1.26857	106.281	6.38853	Tcf15	53.5841	3.7788	-3.82581
Crisp1	1.13838	82.4984	6.17931	Ccn5	6.67781	0.624545	-3.4185
Fos	1.59922	114.642	6.16363	Myl4	60.998	5.99943	-3.34586
Cxcl5	0.375871	21.1825	5.81649	Scand1	105.37	11.7828	-3.16071
Selp	0.314312	16.2764	5.69443	Zhx2	1.93407	0.220615	-3.13204
Cxcl1	1.96399	95.2442	5.59977	Nrtn	43.6184	5.0225	-3.11846
S100a8	5.82634	256.694	5.46131	Tnfrsf25	3.90054	0.503182	-2.95452
Atf3	2.46681	106.299	5.42933	Pttg1	33.8997	4.94227	-2.77803
Ptx3	0.51755	19.8976	5.26476	Zfp771	19.5158	3.02169	-2.69122
Vr4a3	0.472838	17.3526	5.19767	Fzd2	3.1422	0.491571	-2.6763
Sele	0.190666	6.83815	5.16449	Fxyd3	3.78128	0.621019	-2.60617
Socs3	2.33823	83.0272	5.1501	Aplnr	15.2807	2.89142	-2.40186
gr1	3.52759	122.674	5.12	Cited4	17.5033	3.57884	-2.29006
S100a9	11.0427	381.325	5.10986	Eva1b	18.5641	3.80599	-2.28617
18rap	0.0722091	2.21294	4.93764	Msx1	3.34857	0.6924	-2.27387
hbs1	1.59068	41.5123	4,70582	Dkk3	5.70321	1.21389	-2.23213
Rdh12	0.122831	3.01114	4.61557	Rnaset2a	22.5668	4.88218	-2.2086
Ispa1b	2.40171	58.418	4,60428	lfi27l2a	180.402	39.5256	-2.19036
Ispa1a	1.99294	44.6613	4.48606	Nrarp	11.2641	2.52363	-2.15815
vdam8	0.400678	8.43168	4.39531	Kctd15	2.65098	0.611701	-2.11563
Ch25h	0.769351	15.8707	4.36658	Hic1	7.47804	1.74196	-2.10195
lts	0.799365	15.3258	4,26096	Gas1	16.0842	3.82293	-2.07289
itm6	1.20354	22.6423	4.23367	Oas1a	3.5286	0.843947	-2.06387
gr2	0.16011	3.01005	4.23265	Dynll1	78.6361	18.9174	-2.05548
rc	1.14086	20.7638	4.18587	Trim47	26.4865	6.40037	-2.04903
gt	1.55521	27.442	4.1412	Tmsb10	110.513	26.7491	-2.04665
Ind1	0.793702	12.8902	4.02154	B3gnt3	2.39685	0.580215	-2.046648
dk4	35.6426	578.857	4.02153	Myo7a	2.29499	0.574977	-1.99691
'laur	1.59226	25.5567	4.00455	Fam181b	3.87361	0.976908	-1.98738
			om comparing Stat5-cKO+			0.97 0900	-1.90750
Eno1b	0.503646	6.53728	3.69821	Olfr1033	855.24	3.24857	-8.04038
	1.11668		3.69299		221.558	1.31604	
Dynlt1b		14.442		Gm45551			-7.39534
H2-Q1	0.264109 0.99792	3.03007	3.52015	Gm38271	30.2569	0.353232	-6.4205
mem181c-ps		11.1342	3.47994	Psg16 Gm3365	2.41103	0.0719611	-5.06629
3m4737	0.445121	4.58914	3.36595		7.26917	0.262255	-4.79275
610005L07Rik	1.25086	12.1968	3.28551	Sugct	11.7515	0.52977	-4.47133
àm14421	0.377049	3.17075	3.072	Gm43197	55.389	3.11501	-4.15229
1mp3	0.379936	3.17412	3.06253	Gm15280	32.1097	2.05499	-3.96581
am42887	0.544175	4.41682	3.02087	CAAA01147332.1	97.5278	7.86365	-3.63254
lbb	35.8823	290.433	3.01686	Zfp729a	6.97773	0.621896	-3.48801
lba-a2	44.9947	363.254	3.01315	Adgra3	25.8651	3.26536	-2.98569
mem191c	0.28056	2.17679	2.95582	Fmod	3.18759	0.452927	-2.81512
adnf	0.160275	1.21115	2.91776	Dpy19l3	2.2277	0.347531	-2.68034
lpl3-ps1	3.02696	22.6124	2.90117	Gm37324	1.86878	0.299513	-2.64141
tbd1	0.465139	3.32577	2.83795	Gm48274	72.516	11.6454	-2.63854
dh6b	0.422625	3.00224	2.82859	Pilra	3.10358	0.507	-2.61387
lba-a1	78.1547	542.904	2.79629	Prc1	1.51292	0.247267	-2.6132
olr2l	6.80429	43.8946	2.68952	Clec4e	6.2329	1.08171	-2.52658
1yh7	174.331	1091.89	2.64692	Spp1	3.08682	0.543414	-2.506
iapdh	603.792	3577.93	2.567	Rac2	14.0493	2.49669	-2.49241
ttg1	5.6626	32.9153	2.53922	Oxnad1	117.772	21.1786	-2.47532
c3h3	0.178519	1.03346	2.53333	Fggy	4.18537	0.772849	-2.4371
am6472	5.6958	31.1981	2.45349	Gm44215	2.03074	0.376049	-2.43301
Cys1	0.799506	4.37525	2.45218	Lars2	129.273	25.3961	-2.34774
gtp2	0.951374	5.16733	2.44134	Zfp975	3.23415	0.636673	-2.34476
Sps6	94.127	497.199	2.40114	Bace2	8.13204	1.6647	-2.28836
Ispa1a	20.8766	109.614	2.39248	Suds3	101.31	22.7191	-2.1568
Eif3j2	0.89728	4.63881	2.37012	Tesk1	11.7699	2.74535	-2.10004
am8116	1.05436	5.39728	2.35587	Insig2	86.0597	20.4798	-2.07113
				-			
Gm15459	34.4931	176.148	2.35241	Pnkp	30.3154	7.36189	-2.0419



ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison test, n = 6.

under conditions of I/R injury, we then carried out a pathway analysis for these DEGs using DAVID Bioinformatics Resources. The top 20 pathways are outlined in **Figure 6**.

KEGG pathway analysis suggested that, in the presence of *Stat5*, EAP-activated genes were mainly enriched in the JAK/STAT, TNF, IL-17, NF-κB, and MAPK signaling pathways, as well as in cytokine–cytokine receptor interaction (**Figure 6A**). In contrast, in the *Stat5*-cKO mice, the DEGs associated with EAP-mediated myocardial protection were mainly concentrated in ribosome pathways, thermogenesis, and the oxidative phosphorylation pathway (**Figure 6B**). We also analyzed the top 20 KEGG pathways associated with the 133 overlapping genes (**Figure 6C**) and found that some of the EAP-regulated, STAT5independent DEGs were mainly linked with inflammationrelated pathways such as the IL-7 signaling pathway, human T-cell leukemia virus 1 infection, antigen processing and presentation, and the TNF signaling pathway.

EAP Influenced Apoptotic and Survival Signaling Only in the Presence of STAT5

The genome-wide profiling data indicated that EAP can activate antiapoptotic and survival signaling in mice with I/R injury. To further validate these findings, we investigated the expression of apoptosis- and survival-related proteins in the myocardial tissue of *Stat5*^{*fl/fl*} and *Stat5*-cKO mice following EAP. The results showed that the expression levels of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL were significantly increased in the *Stat5*^{*fl/fl*}+EA+I/R group compared with those in the *Stat5*^{*fl/fl*}+I/R group (P < 0.05), whereas the expression of Cyt c did not differ between these groups (**Figures 7A,B**). In contrast, no marked changes were observed in the expression levels of these proteins in the hearts of *Stat5*cKO mice either with or without EAP, suggesting that STAT5 is essential for the EAP-mediated activation of antiapoptotic signaling in the I/R injury condition. We then measured the level of IL-10, an important cytokine in cardioprotection,



PIGURE 4 The expression of IL-o/gp150/S1A13 axis-related molecules. (A) The protein expression of S1A13 and p-S1A13 was assessed by western blotting. P < 0.01 compared with the $Stat5^{n/n} + I/R$ group; $^{\#}P < 0.01$ compared with the $Stat5^{n/n} + I/R$ group; $^{\&\&P} < 0.01$ compared with the $Stat5^{n/n} + I/R$ group; $^{\&\&P} < 0.01$ compared with the $Stat5^{n/n} + I/R$ group; $^{\&e}P < 0.01$ compared with the $Stat5^{n/n} + I/R$ group; $^{\&e}P < 0.05$ compared with the $Stat5^{n/n} + I/R$ group; $^{\&e}P < 0.05$ compared with the $Stat5^{-cKO+I/R}$, n = 4. (B) and p = 130 mRNA was measured by RT-qPCR. Data are presented as means \pm SEM of at least three independent experiments. $^{*}P < 0.05$, $^{**P} < 0.01$ compared with the $Stat5^{n/n} + I/R$ group; $^{\&e}P < 0.05$ compared with the $Stat5^{-cKO+I/R}$ group. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison test, n = 3-5.

and that of its related proteins PI3K, AKT, and p-AKT (Figures 8A,B). The results showed that EAP increased the levels of p-AKT in the presence, but not absence, of STAT5; however, under the same condition, IL-10 was upregulated

in the hearts of both *Stat5*^{fl/fl} and *Stat5*-cKO mice. These findings suggested that the EAP-induced activation of survival signaling to protect against myocardial I/R injury was partially STAT5-dependent.



DISCUSSION

Ischemic heart disease remains the leading cause of premature mortality and disability worldwide (34, 42). Although early coronary reperfusion, a clinically effective method against myocardial I/R injury, can reduce infarct size, reperfusion by revascularization initiates a chain reaction that can promote and amplify post-ischemic injury (43, 44). Pretreatment with EA or RIPC represents a valid method of reducing the risk of myocardial injury (3, 6, 45, 46). In our previous study, we found that STAT5 has a significant impact on RIPCmediated late cardioprotection through regulating antiapoptotic signaling and the PI3K/AKT survival pathway (37). Similar to RIPC, EAP at acupoint PC6 can also help protect the myocardium under certain disease conditions by stimulating multiple functional pathways.

In the present study, we explored the role of STAT5 in EAP-mediated myocardial protection against I/R by employing cardiomyocyte-specific *Stat5*-cKO mice. Surprisingly, we observed that EAP could reduce the infarct size and the levels of myocardial cell apoptosis in both $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ and Stat5-cKO mice (**Figures 1, 2**), suggesting that STAT5 is not indispensable for the cardioprotective effect of EAP against myocardial I/R injury. However, EAP activated STAT5 to promote antiapoptotic and AKT-dependent survival signaling in the presence, but not absence, of *Stat5* (**Figures 7A, 8A**). This was confirmed by the

RNA-seq results for the I/R-injured heart tissues, which showed that STAT5-dependent genes and EAP-regulated genes belonged to different categories (Table 1, Figure 6). Many of the genes regulated by EAP in the presence of Stat5 (Stat5^{fl/fl}+I/R group vs. the Stat5^{fl/fl}+EA+I/R group), such as Fosb, Fos, cxcl1, Cxcl5, Egr1, Egr2, Nr4a3, Socs3, Ccn5, Myl4, Zhx2, Dkk3, and Dynll1, have been reported to play a protective role against myocardial I/R injury, cardiac hypertrophy, or hypoxic insult (47-64). Moreover, in the presence of functional STAT5, many of these genes are known to play antiapoptotic, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidative roles, while some are also involved in STAT3/5 signaling (Table 1A). These DEGs act in many functional pathways, such as the JAK/STAT, TNF, apoptotic, or NF-KB signaling pathways (Figure 6A). Additionally, we found that among the top 30 genes identified as being differentially expressed between the Stat5-cKO+EA+I/R and the Stat5cKO+I/R groups when the Stat5 gene was absent, Rps6, Mmp3, Pttg1, and Rac2 were closely associated with the IL-6/STAT3 signaling pathway, as previously reported (65-74) (Table 1B). Matrix metallopeptidase 3 (Mmp3) encodes an extracellular matrix-degrading enzyme (MMP-3) that is closely linked with tissue remodeling, wound repair, and the progression of atherosclerosis (65). Recent findings have indicated that STAT3 binds to the Mmp3 promoter and promotes its transcription following IL-6 stimulation (75). Pituitary tumor transforming 1 (Pttg1) was originally cloned from rat pituitary tumor cells



and was reported to function as an oncogene (76). Huang et al. (70) demonstrated that Pttg1 expression is regulated by IL-6 via the binding of activated STAT3 to the PTTG1 promoter in LNCa P cells. Rac2, a Rac family member, is mainly expressed in hematopoietic cells. Lai et al. detected that Rac can enhance STAT3 activation and regulate the expression of HIF-2 α and VEGF, thereby promoting angiogenesis. The same authors also found that the activation of STAT3, but not STAT5, was reduced in Rac-depleted glioblastoma cells. High levels of intracellular galectin-3 expression are essential for the transcriptional activation of osteopontin [OPN; also known as secreted phosphoprotein 1 (Spp1)] in STAT3-mediated macrophage M2 polarization after myocardial infarction (67, 71). The phosphorylation sites on ribosomal protein S6 (Rps6) have been mapped to five clustered residues, which play an important role in protein synthesis in cardiac myocytes, as well as in cardiac function (66, 72-74). Our KEGG pathway analysis indicated that the DEGs activated by EAP in Stat5-cKO mice act mainly in ribosome-related, thermogenesis-related, and oxidative phosphorylation-related pathways (Figure 6). Genes involved in the ribosome-related pathway, such as *Rps6* and *Rpl3-ps1*, were markedly upregulated by EAP in mice lacking *Stat5*. Rps6 was reported to be closely related to the IL-6/STAT3 signaling pathway (77, 78). Notably, this pathway has also been linked with mitochondrial function, which is important in cardioprotection (79–81). RNA-seq profiling indicated that the mechanisms underlying the protective effect of EAP against myocardial I/R injury differed between *Stat5*^{*fl/fl*} and *Stat5*-cKO mice. Combined with our molecular biological data, these results supported that EAP can activate STAT3 in the absence of *Stat5* and help protect against I/R injury.

Multiple studies have demonstrated that in the absence of a given STAT member, receptors will recruit other STAT members instead (82–87). STAT3 and STAT5 show high homology in their functional domains, and have different effects and underlying mechanisms through binding to distinct loci and regulating specific target genes (88). STAT3 and STAT5 proteins can also bind to the same regulatory oncogenic loci, resulting in compensatory or antagonistic signaling (89, 90). Despite the large number of STAT3/STAT5-related studies, the roles of these two





proteins in myocardial I/R injury have not been investigated. Studies have indicated that their roles in cardioprotection may be species-specific (27, 32, 33, 79).

Interestingly, in our study, the level of p-STAT3 was significantly increased in the *Stat5*-cKO+EA+I/R group compared with that in the *Stat5*^{fl/fl}+EA+I/R group (**Figure 4**), suggesting that EAP activates STAT3, and that this contributed to the protective effect of EAP against myocardium I/R injury in *Stat5*-cKO mice. Furthermore, EAP increased the mRNA expression levels of *gp130* and *Il6* only in *Stat5*-cKO mice (**Figure 4B**), supporting that IL-6/gp130/STAT3 signaling may

be activated to compensate for the loss of *Stat5* following myocardial I/R injury.

Growing evidence has demonstrated the protective role of STAT3 in the heart (30, 32, 79, 91–93). STAT3 helps mitigate cardiac I/R injury by reducing apoptosis or increasing antiapoptotic signaling, upregulating the expression of cardioprotective proteins, decreasing ROS generation, and inhibiting autophagy (92). In addition, the activation of STAT3 is known to enhance mitochondrial function by regulating the transcription of genes encoding proteins such as Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, and VEGF (30, 79, 80, 91). Consistent with these



Stat5-cKO+I/R group. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison test, n = 4.

observations, we found that EAP promoted the expression of Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, and p-AKT in $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ +I/R mice, which was associated with the activation of IL-6/STAT3 signaling. Notably, IL-10 protein expression was increased in both the $Stat5^{fl/fl}$ and the Stat5-cKO mice when EAP was applied followed by I/R injury. IL-10 is an important anti-inflammatory cytokine that can be produced by most cell types, and can affect the growth and differentiation of various hematopoietic cells, as

well as increase cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and immune evasion (94, 95). We have previously shown that RIPC can activate the expression of IL-10, p-AKT, Bcl-2, and Bcl-xL, thereby protecting the myocardium (37). Recently, Takahashi et al. (96) showed that IL-22, a member of the IL-10 cytokine family, can activate the myocardial STAT3 signaling pathway and protect against myocardial I/R injury in mice. Other studies have also shown that members of the IL-6 and IL-10 families of cytokines can activate the JAK/STAT3 signaling pathway and induce the transcription of genes involved in cell survival and proliferation (92, 97). In this study, EAP altered the expression of the *Mmp3*, *Ubb*, and *Myh7* genes, which are closely related to the STAT3 pathway, in Stat5-cKO mice with myocardial I/R injury (Table 1B). This suggested that STAT3 may have played a vital cardioprotective role by controlling the expression of these genes, and may also have activated the functions of macrophages and mononuclear phagocytes in its role as a transcriptional regulator of anti-inflammatory-related genes (98-101). Angiogenesis is an indicator of cardioprotection and STAT3 can promote the expression of VEGF, a key angiogenic factor (102, 103). In our study, the expression of VEGFA did not differ among the four groups (Supplementary Figure 1), suggesting that the activation of STAT3 by EAP may not be enough to promote angiogenesis in Stat5-cKO mice. Further investigation is needed to clarify this observation.

This study had several limitations. We found that, with EAP, IL-6/gp130/STAT3 signaling was activated in the absence of *Stat5* following I/R injury; however, we did not determine the levels of the associated proteins. Additionally, we did not assess the influence of EAP on mitochondrial function, instead of presenting the apoptotic data alone. The sample size in some experiments was also too small to draw firm conclusions owing to the limited border zone of the heart tissue, even though we pooled 2–3 samples for mRNA extraction to ensure biological duplication. Finally, whole western blots should be presented and not the cut-off pieces.

In summary, in the present study, we demonstrated that EAP can protect against myocardial I/R injury by reducing the myocardial infarct area and activating antiapoptotic, antiinflammatory, and survival signaling pathways. Although STAT5 is involved in this process, the protective effect of EAP is not STAT5-dependent. STAT3 may compensate for the function of STAT5 in the absence of the *Stat5* gene. Our results suggested that EAP can mimic RIPC but is more effective at protecting the heart against I/R injury.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original RNA-seq data in our study are publicly available. This data can be found at the sequence

REFERENCES

- Tsou MT, Huang CH, Chiu JH. Electroacupuncture on PC6 (Neiguan) attenuates ischemia/reperfusion injury in rat hearts. *Am J Chin Med.* (2004) 32:951–65. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X04002557
- Gao J, Fu W, Jin Z, Yu X. A preliminary study on the cardioprotection of acupuncture pretreatment in rats with ischemia and reperfusion: involvement of cardiac beta-adrenoceptors. *J Physiol Sci.* (2006) 56:275– 9. doi: 10.2170/physiolsci.RP006606
- Redington KL, Disenhouse T, Li J, Wei C, Dai X, Gladstone R, et al. Electroacupuncture reduces myocardial infarct size and improves post-ischemic recovery by invoking release of humoral, dialyzable, cardioprotective factors. J

read archive (SRA) in NCBI under the accession number PRJNA738960.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Institute for Animal Care and Use Committee at Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

B-MZ and X-YJ conceived and supervised experiments. H-HG, X-YJ, and B-MZ wrote and edited the manuscript. HC and H-HG performed the experiments and analyzed the data. H-XX carried out the bioinformatic analyses for RNA-seq. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was funded by the National Key R&D Program of China (No. 2019YFC1709003), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81870224), and the Open Projects of the Discipline of Chinese Medicine of Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine Supported by the Subject of Academic priority discipline of Jiangsu Higher Education Institutions (ZYX03KF015).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Wanxin Liu (Washington, DC, USA) for language editing.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.649654/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 The protein expression of VEGFA. Western blotting analysis was used to determine the level of VEGFA in each group. Data are presented as means \pm SEM. No differences were found among the four groups. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison test, n = 4.

Physiol Sci. (2013) 63:219–23. doi: 10.1007/s12576-013-0259-6

- Kleinbongard P, Skyschally A, Heusch G. Cardioprotection by remote ischemic conditioning and its signal transduction. *Pflugers Arch.* (2017) 469:159–81. doi: 10.1007/s00424-016-1922-6
- Zhao L, Li D, Zheng H, Chang X, Cui J, Wang R, et al. Acupuncture as adjunctive therapy for chronic stable angina: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2019) 179:1388– 97. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.2407
- Gao J, Fu W, Jin Z, Yu X. Acupuncture pretreatment protects heart from injury in rats with myocardial ischemia and reperfusion via inhibition of the beta(1)-adrenoceptor signaling pathway. *Life Sci.* (2007) 80:1484– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2007.01.019

- Xiao N, Li Y, Shao ML, Cui HF, Zhang CY, Kong SP, et al. Jiaji (EX-B2)-based electroacupuncture preconditioning attenuates early ischaemia reperfusion injury in the rat myocardium. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* (2020) 2020:8854033. doi: 10.1155/2020/8854033
- Liao JM, Lin CF, Ting H, Chang CC, Lin YJ, Lin TB. Low and high frequency electroacupuncture at Hoku elicits a distinct mechanism to activate sympathetic nervous system in anesthetized rats. *Neurosci Lett.* (1998) 247:155–8. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(98)00298-5
- Chao DM, Shen LL, Tjen-A-Looi S, Pitsillides KF, Li P, Longhurst JC. Naloxone reverses inhibitory effect of electroacupuncture on sympathetic cardiovascular reflex responses. *Am J Physiol.* (1999) 276:H2127–34. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.1999.276.6.H2127
- Longhurst J. Acupuncture's cardiovascular actions: a mechanistic perspective. *Med Acupunct*. (2013) 25:101–13. doi: 10.1089/acu.2013.0960
- Zhang J, Yong Y, Li X, Hu Y, Wang J, Wang YQ, et al. Vagal modulation of high mobility group box-1 protein mediates electroacupunctureinduced cardioprotection in ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:15503. doi: 10.1038/srep15503
- Huang Y, Lu SF, Hu CJ, Fu SP, Shen WX, Liu WX, et al. Electro-acupuncture at Neiguan pretreatment alters genome-wide gene expressions and protects rat myocardium against ischemia-reperfusion. *Molecules*. (2014) 19:16158– 78. doi: 10.3390/molecules191016158
- Zeng Q, He H, Wang XB, Zhou YQ, Lin HX, Tan ZP, et al. Electroacupuncture preconditioning improves myocardial infarction injury via enhancing AMPK-dependent autophagy in rats. *Biomed Res Int.* (2018) 2018:1238175. doi: 10.1155/2018/1238175
- Lu SF, Huang Y, Wang N, Shen WX, Fu SP, Li Q, et al. Cardioprotective effect of electroacupuncture pretreatment on myocardial ischemia / reperfusion injury via antiapoptotic signaling. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* (2016) 2016:4609784. doi: 10.1155/2016/4609784
- Tsai CF, Su HH, Chen KM, Liao JM, Yao YT, Chen YH, et al. Paeonol protects against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion-induced injury by mediating apoptosis and autophagy crosstalk. *Front Pharmacol.* (2021) 11:586498. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.586498
- Zhang HX, Liu LG, Huang GF, Zhou L, Wu WL, Zhang TF, et al. Protective effect of electroacupuncture at the Neiguan point in a rabbit model of myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Can J Cardiol.* (2009) 25:359–63. doi: 10.1016/s0828-282x(09)70095-9
- Ji C, Song F, Huang G, Wang S, Liu H, Liu S, et al. The protective effects of acupoint gel embedding on rats with myocardial ischemiareperfusion injury. *Life Sci.* (2018) 211:51–62. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018. 09.010
- Chen J, Luo Y, Wang S, Zhu H, Li D. Roles and mechanisms of SUMOylation on key proteins in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Mol Cell Cardiol. (2019) 134:154–64. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2019.07.009
- Dai QF, Gao JH, Xin JJ, Liu Q, Jing XH, Yu XC. The role of adenosine A2b receptor in mediating the cardioprotection of electroacupuncture pretreatment via influencing Ca key regulators. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* (2019) 2019:6721286. doi: 10.1155/2019/6721286
- Zhang T, Yang WX, Wang YL, Yuan J, Qian Y, Sun QM, et al. Electroacupuncture preconditioning attenuates acute myocardial ischemia injury through inhibiting NLRP3 inflammasome activation in mice. *Life Sci.* (2020) 248:117451. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117451
- Fu SP, He SY, Xu B, Hu CJ, Lu SF, Shen WX, et al. Acupuncture promotes angiogenesis after myocardial ischemia through H3K9 acetylation regulation at VEGF gene. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e94604. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0094604
- Zhang J, Zhu L, Li H, Tang Q. Electroacupuncture pretreatment as a novel avenue to protect heart against ischemia and reperfusion injury. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* (2020) 2020:9786482. doi: 10.1155/2020/9786482
- 23. Xiao Y, Chen W, Zhong Z, Ding L, Bai H, Chen H, et al. Electroacupuncture preconditioning attenuates myocardial ischemiareperfusion injury by inhibiting mitophagy mediated by the mTORC1-ULK1-FUNDC1 pathway. *Biomed Pharmacother.* (2020) 127:110148. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110148
- Heusch G, Bøtker HE, Przyklenk K, Redington A, Yellon D. Remote ischemic conditioning. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2015) 65:177–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.10.031

- Heusch G. Molecular basis of cardioprotection: signal transduction in ischemic pre-, post-, remote conditioning. *Circ Res.* (2015) 116:674– 99. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.305348
- 26. Merlocco AC, Redington KL, Disenhouse T, Strantza SC, Gladstone R, Wei C, et al. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation as a novel method of remote preconditioning: *in vitro* validation in an animal model and first human observations. *Basic Res Cardiol.* (2014) 109:406. doi: 10.1007/s00395-014-0406-0
- Heusch G, Musiolik J, Kottenberg E, Peters J, Jakob H, Thielmann M. STAT5 activation and cardioprotection by remote ischemic preconditioning in humans: short communication. *Circ Res.* (2012) 110:111–5. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.259556
- Skyschally A, Gent S, Amanakis G, Schulte C, Kleinbongard P, Heusch G. Across-species transfer of protection by remote ischemic preconditioning with species-specific myocardial signal transduction by reperfusion injury salvage kinase and survival activating factor enhancement pathways. *Circ Res.* (2015) 117:279–88. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.306878
- Hausenloy DJ, Barrabes JA, Bøtker HE, Davidson SM, Di Lisa F, Downey J, et al. Ischaemic conditioning and targeting reperfusion injury: a 30 year voyage of discovery. *Basic Res Cardiol.* (2016) 111:70. doi: 10.1007/s00395-016-0588-8
- Hildebrandt HA, Kreienkamp V, Gent S, Kahlert P, Heusch G, Kleinbongard P. Kinetics and signal activation properties of circulating factor(s) from healthy volunteers undergoing remote ischemic pre-conditioning. *JACC Basic Transl Sci.* (2016) 1:3–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jacbts.2016.01.007
- Lieder HR, Kleinbongard P, Skyschally A, Hagelschuer H, Chilian WM, Heusch G. Vago-splenic axis in signal transduction of remote ischemic preconditioning in pigs and rats. *Circ Res.* (2018) 123:1152– 63. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.313859
- 32. Skyschally A, Kleinbongard P, Lieder H, Gedik N, Stoian L, Amanakis G, et al. Humoral transfer and intramyocardial signal transduction of protection by remote ischemic preconditioning in pigs, rats, and mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2018) 315:H159–72. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00152. 2018
- 33. Wu Q, Wang T, Chen S, Zhou Q, Li H, Hu N, et al. Cardiac protective effects of remote ischaemic preconditioning in children undergoing tetralogy of fallot repair surgery: a randomized controlled trial. *Eur Heart J.* (2018) 39:1028–37. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx030
- Heusch G. Myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury and cardioprotection in perspective. Nat Rev Cardiol. (2020) 17:773–89. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-0403-y
- Milani-Nejad N, Janssen PM. Small and large animal models in cardiac contraction research: advantages and disadvantages. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2014) 141:235–49. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.10.007
- Heusch G, Gersh BJ. The pathophysiology of acute myocardial infarction and strategies of protection beyond reperfusion: a continual challenge. *Eur Heart* J. (2017) 38:774–84. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw224
- Chen H, Jing XY, Shen YJ, Wang TL, Ou C, Lu SF, et al. Stat5-dependent cardioprotection in late remote ischemia preconditioning. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2018) 114:679–89. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvy014
- Ye Y, Birnbaum Y, Widen SG, Zhang Z, Zhu S, Bajaj M, et al. Acupuncture reduces hypertrophy and cardiac fibrosis, and improves heart function in mice with diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther.* (2020) 34:835– 48. doi: 10.1007/s10557-020-07043-4
- Gao E, Boucher M, Chuprun JK, Zhou RH, Eckhart AD, Koch WJ. Darbepoetin alfa, a long-acting erythropoietin analog, offers novel and delayed cardioprotection for the ischemic heart. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2007) 293:H60–8. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00227.2007
- Gao E, Lei YH, Shang X, Huang ZM, Zuo L, Boucher M, et al. A novel and efficient model of coronary artery ligation and myocardial infarction in the mouse. *Circ Res.* (2010) 107:1445–53. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110. 223925
- Fu SP, Hong H, Lu SF, Hu CJ, Xu HX, Li Q, et al. Genome-wide regulation of electro-acupuncture on the neural Stat5-loss-induced obese mice. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0181948. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181948
- 42. Gupta R, Wood DA. Primary prevention of ischaemic heart disease: populations, individuals, health professionals. *Lancet.* (2019) 394:685– 96. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31893-8

- Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. Myocardial reperfusion injury. N Engl J Med. (2007) 357:1121–35. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra071667
- 44. Binder A, Ali A, Chawla R, Aziz HA, Abbate A, Jovin IS. Myocardial protection from ischemia-reperfusion injury post coronary revascularization. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* (2015) 13:1045–57. doi: 10.1586/14779072.2015.1070669
- 45. Hausenloy DJ, Kharbanda RK, Møller UK, Ramlall M, Aarøe J, Butler R, et al. Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning on clinical outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction (CONDI-2/ERIC-PPCI): a single-blind randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2019) 394:1415–24. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32039-2
- Kepler T, Kuusik K, Lepner U, Starkopf J, Zilmer M, Eha J, et al. Remote ischaemic preconditioning attenuates cardiac biomarkers during vascular surgery: a randomised clinical trial. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg.* (2020) 59:301– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2019.09.502
- 47. Alam MJ, Gupta R, Mahapatra NR, Goswami SK. Catestatin reverses the hypertrophic effects of norepinephrine in H9c2 cardiac myoblasts by modulating the adrenergic signaling. *Mol Cell Biochem.* (2020) 464:205–19. doi: 10.1007/s11010-019-03661-1
- Alfonso-Jaume MA, Bergman MR, Mahimkar R, Cheng S, Jin ZQ, Karliner JS, et al. Cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury induces matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression through the AP-1 components FosB and JunB. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. (2006) 291:H1838–46. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00026.2006
- Udoko AN, Johnson CA, Dykan A, Rachakonda G, Villalta F, Mandape SN, et al. Early regulation of profibrotic genes in primary human cardiac myocytes by Trypanosoma cruzi. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2016) 10:e0003747. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003747
- Sulston R, Kelly V, Walker BR, Porter KE, Chapman KE, Gray GA. 11β-HSD1 suppresses cardiac fibroblast CXCL2, CXCL5 and neutrophil recruitment to the heart post MI. J. Endocrinol. (2017) 233, 315–327. doi: 10.1530/JOE-16-0501
- Tang Y, Wang Y, Park KM, Hu Q, Teoh JP, Broskova Z, et al. MicroRNA-150 protects the mouse heart from ischaemic injury by regulating cell death. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2015) 106:387–97. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvv121
- 52. Jiang Y, Feng YP, Tang LX, Yan YL, Bai JW. The protective role of NR4A3 in acute myocardial infarction by suppressing inflammatory responses via JAK2-STAT3/NF-βB pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2019) 517:697–702. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.07.116
- Saddic LA, Howard-Quijano K, Kipke J, Kubo Y, Dale EA, Hoover D, et al. Progression of myocardial ischemia leads to unique changes in immediateearly gene expression in the spinal cord dorsal horn. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2018) 315:H1592–601. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00337.2018
- Bos JM, Subramaniam M, Hawse JR, Christiaans I, Rajamannan NM, Maleszewski JJ, et al. TGFβ-inducible early gene-1 (TIEG1) mutations in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *J Cell Biochem.* (2012) 113:1896– 903. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24058
- Oba T, Yasukawa H, Hoshijima M, Sasaki K, Futamata N, Fukui D, et al. Cardiac-specific deletion of SOCS-3 prevents development of left ventricular remodeling after acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 59:838–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.10.887
- 56. Stobdan T, Zhou D, Ao-Ieong E, Ortiz D, Ronen R, Hartley I, et al. Endothelin receptor B, a candidate gene from human studies at high altitude, improves cardiac tolerance to hypoxia in genetically engineered heterozygote mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:10425–30. doi: 10.1073/pnas.15074 86112
- El-Magd MA, Abdo WS, El-Maddaway M, Nasr NM, Gaber RA, El-Shetry ES, et al. High doses of S-methylcysteine cause hypoxiainduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis accompanied by engulfment of mitochondria by nucleus. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2017) 94:589–97. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.07.100
- Wu JB, Zhou Y, Liang CL, Zhang XJ, Lai JM, Ye SF, et al. Cyclovirobuxinum D alleviates cardiac hypertrophy in hyperthyroid rats by preventing apoptosis of cardiac cells and inhibiting the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. *Chin J Integr Med.* (2017) 23:770– 8. doi: 10.1007/s11655-015-2299-7

- Wang XT, Wu XD, Lu YX, Sun YH, Zhu HH, Liang JB, et al. Egr-1 is involved in coronary microembolization-induced myocardial injury via Bim/Beclin-1 pathway-mediated autophagy inhibition and apoptosis activation. *Aging*. (2018) 10:3136–47. doi: 10.18632/aging.101616
- 60. Zhai CG, Xu YY, Tie YY, Zhang Y, Chen WQ, Ji XP, et al. DKK3 overexpression attenuates cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis in an angiotensin-perfused animal model by regulating the ADAM17/ACE2 and GSK-3β/β-catenin pathways. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* (2018) 114:243–52. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2017.11.018
- Kubota A, Suto A, Suzuki K, Kobayashi Y, Nakajima H. Matrix metalloproteinase-12 produced by Ly6C macrophages prolongs the survival after myocardial infarction by preventing neutrophil influx. J Mol Cell Cardiol. (2019) 131:41–52. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2019.04.007
- Ma P, Li Y, Wang S, Wang G, Yan C, Li Z. SOCS3 promotes myocardial cell apoptosis in myocardial ischemia reperfusion rats via JAK/STAT signaling pathway. *Minerva Cardioangiol.* (2020) 68:164– 6. doi: 10.23736/S0026-4725.19.05046-1
- Sun S, Cui Z, Yan T, Wu J, Liu ZH. CCN5 inhibits proliferation and promotes apoptosis of oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. *Cell Biol Int.* (2020) 44:998–1008. doi: 10.1002/cbin.11296
- Tian X, Wang Y, Li S, Yue W, Tian H. ZHX2 inhibits proliferation and promotes apoptosis of human lung cancer cells through targeting p38MAPK pathway. *Cancer Biomark*. (2020) 27:75–84. doi: 10.3233/CBM-190514
- Abilleira S, Bevan S, Markus HS. The role of genetic variants of matrix metalloproteinases in coronary and carotid atherosclerosis. J Med Genet. (2006) 43:897–901. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2006.040808
- 66. Calamaras TD, Lee C, Lan F, Ido Y, Siwik DA, Colucci WS. The lipid peroxidation product 4-hydroxy-trans-2-nonenal causes protein synthesis in cardiac myocytes via activated mTORC1-p70S6K-RPS6 signaling. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2015) 82:137–46. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2015.01.007
- Wen Y, Feng D, Wu H, Liu W, Li H, Wang F, et al. Defective initiation of liver regeneration in osteopontin-deficient mice after partial hepatectomy due to insufficient activation of IL-6/Stat3 pathway. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2015) 11:1236–47. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.12118
- Lai YJ, Tsai JC, Tseng YT, Wu MS, Liu WS, Lam HI, et al. Small G protein Rac GTPases regulate the maintenance of glioblastoma stem-like cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Oncotarget. (2017) 8:18031–49. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14949
- Zhu XM, Sun WF. Association between matrix metalloproteinases polymorphisms and ovarian cancer risk: a meta-analysis and systematic review. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0185456. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0185456
- 70. Huang S, Liu Q, Liao Q, Wu Q, Sun B, Yang Z, et al. Interleukin-6/signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 promotes prostate cancer resistance to androgen deprivation therapy via regulating pituitary tumor transforming gene 1 expression. *Cancer Sci.* (2018) 109:678– 87. doi: 10.1111/cas.13493
- 71. Shirakawa K, Endo J, Kataoka M, Katsumata Y, Yoshida N, Yamamoto T, et al. IL (Interleukin)-10-STAT3-galectin-3 axis is essential for osteopontin-producing reparative macrophage polarization after myocardial infarction. *Circulation*. (2018) 138:2021–35. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.035047
- 72. Sharma S, Mazumder AG, Rana AK, Patial V, Singh D. Spontaneous recurrent seizures mediated cardiac dysfunction via mTOR pathway upregulation: a putative target for SUDEP management. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. (2019) 18:555–65. doi: 10.2174/1871527318666190801112027
- Dern K, Burns TA, Watts MR, van Eps AW, Belknap JK. Influence of digital hypothermia on lamellar events related to IL-6/gp130 signalling in equine sepsis-related laminitis. *Equine Vet J.* (2020) 52:441–8. doi: 10.1111/evj.13184
- 74. Wu RM, Jiang B, Li H, Dang WZ, Bao WL, Li HD, et al. A network pharmacology approach to discover action mechanisms of Yangxinshi Tablet for improving energy metabolism in chronic ischemic heart failure. J Ethnopharmacol. (2020) 246:112227. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2019.112227
- Araki Y, Tsuzuki WT, Aizaki Y, Sato K, Yokota K, Fujimoto K, et al. Histone methylation and STAT-3 differentially regulate interleukin-6-induced matrix metalloproteinase gene activation in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2016) 68:1111–23. doi: 10.1002/art. 39563

- Asari Y, Kageyama K, Nakada Y, Tasso M, Takayasu S, Niioka K, et al. Inhibitory effects of a selective Jak2 inhibitor on adrenocorticotropic hormone production and proliferation of corticotroph tumor AtT20 cells. *Onco Targets Ther.* (2017) 10:4329–38. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S141345
- Meyuhas O. Ribosomal protein S6 phosphorylation: four decades of research. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol.* (2015) 320:41–73. doi: 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2015. 07.006
- Gopinath SD. Inhibition of Stat3 signaling ameliorates atrophy of the soleus muscles in mice lacking the vitamin D receptor. *Skelet Muscle.* (2017) 7:2. doi: 10.1186/s13395-017-0121-2
- Boengler K, Buechert A, Heinen Y, Roeskes C, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Heusch G, et al. Cardioprotection by ischemic postconditioning is lost in aged and STAT3-deficient mice. *Circ Res.* (2008) 102:131– 5. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.164699
- Lecour S. Activation of the protective Survivor Activating Factor Enhancement (SAFE) pathway against reperfusion injury: does it go beyond the RISK pathway? J Mol Cell Cardiol. (2009) 47:32–40. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2009.03.019
- Beak JY, Kang HS, Huang W, Myers PH, Bowles DE, Jetten AM, et al. The nuclear receptor RORα protects against angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2019) 316:H186–200. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00531.2018
- Hennighausen L, Robinson GW. Interpretation of cytokine signaling through the transcription factors STAT5A and STAT5B. *Genes Dev.* (2008) 22:711–21. doi: 10.1101/gad.1643908
- Hosui A, Kimura A, Yamaji D, Zhu BM, Na R, Hennighausen L. Loss of STAT5 causes liver fibrosis and cancer development through increased TGF-{beta} and STAT3 activation. J Exp Med. (2009) 206:819– 31. doi: 10.1084/jem.20080003
- 84. Yu JH, Zhu BM, Wickre M, Riedlinger G, Chen W, Hosui A, et al. The transcription factors signal transducer and activator of transcription 5A (STAT5A) and STAT5B negatively regulate cell proliferation through the activation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2b (Cdkn2b) and Cdkn1a expression. *Hepatology.* (2010) 52:1808–18. doi: 10.1002/hep. 23882
- Friedbichler K, Themanns M, Mueller KM, Schlederer M, Kornfeld JW, Terracciano LM, et al. Growth-hormone-induced signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 signaling causes gigantism, inflammation, and premature death but protects mice from aggressive liver cancer. *Hepatology*. (2012) 55:941–52. doi: 10.1002/hep.24765
- Valle-Mendiola A, Soto-Cruz I. Energy metabolism in cancer: the roles of STAT3 and STAT5 in the regulation of metabolism-related genes. *Cancers*. (2020) 12:124. doi: 10.3390/cancers12010124
- Hin Tang JJ, Thng DKH, Lim JJ, Toh TB. JAK/STAT signaling in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepat Oncol.* (2020) 7:HEP18. doi: 10.2217/hep-2020-0001
- Wingelhofer B, Neubauer HA, Valent P, Han X, Constantinescu SN, Gunning PT, et al. Implications of STAT3 and STAT5 signaling on gene regulation and chromatin remodeling in hematopoietic cancer. *Leukemia*. (2018) 32:1713– 26. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0117-x
- Walker SR, Nelson EA, Yeh JE, Pinello L, Yuan GC, Frank DA. STAT5 outcompetes STAT3 to regulate the expression of the oncogenic transcriptional modulator BCL6. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2013) 33:2879–90. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01620-12
- Walker SR, Xiang M, Frank DA. Distinct roles of STAT3 and STAT5 in the pathogenesis and targeted therapy of breast cancer. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2014) 382:616–21. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.03.010

- Heusch G, Musiolik J, Gedik N, Skyschally A. Mitochondrial STAT3 activation and cardioprotection by ischemic postconditioning in pigs with regional myocardial ischemia/reperfusion. *Circ Res.* (2011) 109:1302– 8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.255604
- Harhous Z, Booz GW, Ovize M, Bidaux G, Kurdi M. An update on the multifaceted roles of STAT3 in the heart. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2019) 6:150. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2019.00150
- Nakao S, Tsukamoto T, Ueyama T, Kawamura T. STAT3 for cardiac regenerative medicine: involvement in stem cell biology, pathophysiology, and bioengineering. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:1937. doi: 10.3390/ijms21061937
- 94. Hodge DR, Hurt EM, Farrar WL. The role of IL-6 and STAT3 in inflammation and cancer. *Eur J Cancer.* (2005) 41:2502–12. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2005.08.016
- Zhang Z, Yao L, Yang J, Wang Z, Du G. PI3K/Akt and HIF-1 signaling pathway in hypoxia-ischemia (review). *Mol Med Rep.* (2018) 18:3547– 54. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2018.9375
- 96. Takahashi J, Yamamoto M, Yasukawa H, Nohara S, Nagata T, Shimozono K, et al. Interleukin-22 directly activates myocardial STAT3 (Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription-3) signaling pathway and prevents myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury. J Am Heart Assoc. (2020) 9:e014814. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.014814
- Huynh J, Etemadi N, Hollande F, Ernst M, Buchert M. The JAK/STAT3 axis: a comprehensive drug target for solid malignancies. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2017) 45:13–22. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.06.001
- Donnelly RP, Dickensheets H, Finbloom DS. The interleukin-10 signal transduction pathway and regulation of gene expression in mononuclear phagocytes. J Interferon Cytokine Res. (1999) 19:563–73. doi: 10.1089/107999099313695
- Lang R. Tuning of macrophage responses by Stat3-inducing cytokines: molecular mechanisms and consequences in infection. *Immunobiology*. (2005) 210:63–76. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2005.05.001
- Murray PJ. Understanding and exploiting the endogenous interleukin-10/STAT3-mediated anti-inflammatory response. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2006) 6:379–86. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2006.01.010
- Schmetterer KG, Pickl WF. The IL-10/STAT3 axis: Contributions to immune tolerance by thymus and peripherally derived regulatory T-cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2017) 47:1256–65. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646710
- 102. Funamoto M, Fujio Y, Kunisada K, Negoro S, Tone E, Osugi T, et al. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 is required for glycoprotein 130-mediated induction of vascular endothelial growth factor in cardiac myocytes. J Biol Chem. (2000) 275:10561–6. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.14.10561
- Osugi T, Oshima Y, Fujio Y, Funamoto M, Yamashita A, Negoro S, et al. Cardiac-specific activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 promotes vascular formation in the heart. J Biol Chem. (2002) 277:6676– 81. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M108246200

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Guo, Jing, Chen, Xu and Zhu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Autoantibody-Specific Signalling in Pemphigus

Thomas Schmitt[†] and Jens Waschke^{*†}

Ludwig-Maximilian-Universität München, Anatomische Anstalt, Lehrstuhl Anatomie I – Vegetative Anatomie, Munich, Germany

Pemphigus is a severe autoimmune disease impairing barrier functions of epidermis and mucosa. Autoantibodies primarily target the desmosomal adhesion molecules desmoglein (Dsg) 1 and Dsg 3 and induce loss of desmosomal adhesion. Strikingly, autoantibody profiles in pemphigus correlate with clinical phenotypes. Mucosal-dominant pemphigus vulgaris (PV) is characterised by autoantibodies (PV-IgG) against Dsg3 whereas epidermal blistering in PV and pemphigus foliaceus (PF) is associated with autoantibodies against Dsg1. Therapy in pemphigus is evolving towards specific suppression of autoantibody formation and autoantibody depletion. Nevertheless, during the acute phase and relapses of the disease additional treatment options to stabilise desmosomes and thereby rescue keratinocyte adhesion would be beneficial. Therefore, the mechanisms by which autoantibodies interfere with adhesion of desmosomes need to be characterised in detail. Besides direct inhibition of Dsg adhesion, autoantibodies engage signalling pathways interfering with different steps of desmosome turn-over. With this respect, recent data indicate that autoantibodies induce separate signalling responses in keratinocytes via specific signalling complexes organised by Dsg1 and Dsg3 which transfer the signal of autoantibody binding into the cell. This hypothesis may also explain the different clinical pemphigus phenotypes.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Kyle T. Amber, Rush University, United States

Reviewed by: Detlef Zillikens,

University of Lübeck, Germany Marian Dmochowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences. Poland

*Correspondence:

Jens Waschke jens.waschke@med.uni-muenchen.de

[†]ORCID:

Thomas Schmitt orcid.org/0000-0003-3781-7236 Jens Waschke orcid.org/0000-0003-1182-5422

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Dermatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 28 April 2021 Accepted: 08 July 2021 Published: 09 August 2021

Citation:

Schmitt T and Waschke J (2021) Autoantibody-Specific Signalling in Pemphigus. Front. Med. 8:701809. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.701809 Keywords: adhesion, pemphigus, signalling, autoantibodies, autoimmune blistering disease

INTRODUCTION

Pemphigus is a severe autoimmune blistering skin disease disrupting desmosomes and thereby affecting the epidermis of the skin and the mucosa (1, 2). Desmosomes are important epithelial cell-cell contacts providing high mechanical stability (3-5). Disruption of desmosomes causes the cells to detach from each other, leading to acantholysis. The desmosomal transmembrane cadherins comprise desmogleins (Dsg) 1-4 and desmocollins (Dsc) 1-3 (3). They are connected to the plaque proteins plakoglobin (PG), plakophilin (PKP) 1-3, and desmoplakin (DP). The plaque anchors the desmosomes to the keratin filament cytoskeleton (6-11). The composition of desmosomes varies within tissues and different layers of the epidermis which is relevant since Dsg isoforms differ in their function to regulate signalling pathways in pemphigus. Dsg2, which is ubiquitously expressed throughout other epithelia, can only be found in the basal layer of neonatal epidermis but is absent in adult epidermis outside of hair follicles (12-14). In contrast, Dsg1 and Dsc1 expression increase whereas the amount of Dsg3 and Dsc3 decrease towards superficial epidermal layers with Dsg3 being absent in the stratum granulosum. Dsg4 on the other hand is missing from basal cells, described to be only found in the granular layer and hair follicles (13). Starting from the granular layer, corneodesmosine starts additionally linking cadherins together in the extracellular space (13). This shift in composition marks the stepwise maturation of the adaptable desmosomes towards stable corneodesmosomes found in the cornified layer. In mucosal epithelium, the situation is

36

Autoantibody-Specific Signalling in Pemphigus

slightly different. Dsg2 is found in the basal layers only (15). Dsg1 is less predominant and particularly absent in the basal layer of mucosa whereas Dsg3 is present in all layers (15). Dsg4 can also be found in all layers above the basal layer. In contrast, Dsc1 is not present in oral mucosa while Dsc2 and 3 are present in all layers (3). The expression patterns of desmosomal cadherins in the mucosa are thus more homogeneous compared to epidermis. In neonatal mouse skin, it was shown, that the more ubiquitous distribution of Dsg3 without a distinct enrichtment of Dsg1 in the upper epidermal layers (16).

All pemphigus variants are rather rare and here we focus on the two main variants of the disease pemphigus vulgaris (PV) and pemphigus foliaceus (PF). Incidence and prevalence of PV vary profoundly in different geographical regions as well as ethnicities. In Germany, the prevalence for PV in 2014 was 94.8 per one million population (pmp) (17). It was shown that some genetic variations particularly of the HLA class II (18–24) but also non-HLA genes (23, 25–37), including *DSG3* (38) play a role. Especially, different expression of the transcription factor ST18, which alters signalling pathways including ERK and is associated with apoptosis, was found tocorrelate with increased prevalence in of PV (22, 32, 39, 40). Of course, environmental risk factors might be of importance as well.

For PF, the prevalence was 10.01 pmp (17), with an estimated incidence rate of <1 pmp in the USA and Europe. PF can manifest sporadically, usually at a middle age. It was shown, that genetic-HLA (41–45) and non-HLA markers (28, 46) are relevant as well. However, there are also more frequent endemic PF variants, e.g., in some subtropical areas of Brazil with incidence rates as high as 3–5% and an onset often at a relatively young age (47–52). Other regions such as Tunisia (53) or Colombia (54) show similar variants.

In most cases, PV initially shows mucosal erosions sometimes spreading to the oesophagus, the airways, the anogenital mucosa (2, 55) and in rare cases even the conjunctiva (56) (**Figure 1**). In about half of the cases after mucosal erosions additional epidermal lesions develop (57). In contrast, PF affects the more superficial layers of the epidermis only and is less severe (2, 58, 59), however a spread to deeper layers as well as the mucosa and thus progression to PV is possible (60).

For diagnosis of pemphigus, the specific histology with separation at the suprabasal layer for PV and at the granular layer for PF is important (3, 61) (**Figure 1**). The second specific diagnostic marker are the circulating auto-antibodies against Dsg1 and Dsg3 and in some cases against Dsc3 (57, 61–66), Dsc1 (65), or Dsc2 (66, 67) as well as the accumulation of auto-antibodies in perilesional skin (55, 57). Auto-antibody titers often correlate with disease severity (57, 61, 68, 69).

Pemphigus is a very severe disease with a mortality of around 71% if untreated. Secondary infections due to the disruption of the skin barrier are the most severe problem (58, 70). All treatment strategies aim to reduce the levels of circulating pathogenic autoantibodies. With the introduction of systemic corticosteroid therapy for unspecific immunosuppression, the mortality rate was significantly improved to about 21% (71). However, especially under long-time therapy, these medications cause many side effects including increased infection tendency,



FIGURE 1 | The clinical phenotype and histology of PV and PF. (a) mPV. (b) mPV. (c) mcPV. (d) PF. (e) mcPV. (f) PF.

osteoporosis, low blood sugar, weight gain arterial hypertonia, cataracts, and glaucoma. These side effects can be reduced or delayed by combination therapy with other immune-suppressive agents or antibodies such as Rituximab, which depletes pathogenic B cells, to reduce the steroid dose (72–75). Current combination therapies reduce the mortality to about 5–10% with death mostly resulting from adverse drug side effects (76). These agents usually show less severe but nonetheless considerable side effects including liver toxicity, anaemia, neutropenia, increased infection risk, cold-like symptoms, increased thirst and urination or in some rare worst cases neurological symptoms reaching from sight loss to impaired movement or speech. Patients might also develop an insensitivity to many of these agents (73, 77).

Novel therapy options are for example intravenous injection of high doses of IgG of healthy donors (78, 79), competitively blocking Fc-receptors of inflammatory cells, reducing B-cell response and inducing autoantibody catabolism (80). Another successful concept is plasmapheresis, where the patient's pathogenic autoantibodies are removed (76). In recent years, plasmapheresis is replaced by immunoapheresis, depleting the patient's own autoantibodies by protein A immunoadsorbtion and thus causing less side-effects (81, 82). However, all these therapies have their own drawbacks, including the high costs (83), availability of donor IgG (84) and the need for regular long treatment sessions. Currently the treatment with corticosteroids in combination with immune suppressive agents and Rituximab is still the standard method (72, 85, 86). Furthermore, it is known that not all patients respond to these therapy concepts.

There are some experimental therapy approaches including humanised anti-CD20 antibodies other than Rituximab, designed

to be more specific, more potent and/or less immunogenic (87-89). Antibodies directed against targets other than CD20 are also in development (90-92). A similar approach is targeting B-cell signalling and crosstalk with specific inhibitors (93, 94). Furthermore, IgE signalling via IL-4 on Th2 cells which are involved in pemphigus pathology are a novel target (95-97). Targeting Abl-thyrosine kinase-mediated extravasation of autoantibodies into the skin seems to be a promising approach, too (98-100). Another target impacting the autoantibody function are Fc receptors, which prevent IgG degradation and increase autoantibody halflife (101-103). Another approach is to restore Dsg tolerance (104, 105) by transferring Foxp3expressing regulatory T cells which were shown to be markedly reduced in pemphigus (95). A different emerging option is the therapy with chimeric antigen receptor T-cells (CAR-T)/chimeric autoantibody T-cells (CAA-T) which target a specific antigen and kill the target cell. They could thus deplete autoreactive B-cells (106-108).

For all therapy approaches to reduce autoantibody formation one limitation is that time is required until patients benefit. Therefore, for the acute phase of disease as well as for patients suffering from relapses additional therapeutic options directly stabilising keratinocyte desmosomal adhesion would fulfil an unmet medical need. Directly interfering with keratinocyte signalling to stabilise desmosomes and to induce desmosome assembly could thus be a very promising therapeutic target.

THE ROLE OF AUTOANTIBODIES

Pathogenic autoantibodies in pemphigus are mostly directed against Dsg1 and Dsg3. Antibodies against other desmosomal and non-desmosomal proteins are also found. However, whilst it was shown that anti-Dsg1 and anti-Dsg3 antibodies are pathogenic, the role of most other antibodies for the pathology of pemphigus is not clear (2, 58, 105-112). One rare exception are the autoantibodie against Dsc isoforms such as Dsc3 which induce a pathology similar to anti-Dsg antibodies (57, 61-67). Nevertheless, it is likely that some of these auto-antibodies may cause additive effects which affect the clinical phenotype (109). To address this possibility, the so-called "multiple hit hypothesis" postulates that for the actual disease to occur the cumulative effects of several of these antibodies against desmosomal and non-desmosomal antigens are needed (110, 111). However, AK23, which is a Dsg3-specific antibody from an active mouse model, and monoclonal autoantibodies targeting Dsg1 isolated from PF patients have been shown to induce pemphigus-typical acantholysis (112, 113). This demonstrates that autoantibodies against Dsg molecules are sufficient to cause pemphigus, at least under experimental conditions.

Pathogenic pemphigus autoantibodies targeting Dsg1 and Dsg3 are mostly directed against EC1 and 2, while antibodies directed for example against EC5 are reported to be non-pathogenic (23, 114). It is theorised that pathogenic pemphigus autoantibodies can evolve from the nonpathogenic antibodies *via* epitope spreading. It is known that non-pathogenic Dsg1 autoantibodies are increased in unaffected individuals of high incidence endemic populations (23, 45, 115, 116). In endemic PF, the subtype of IgG usually was found to be IgG4 whereas antibodies in unaffected individuals were almost exclusively IgG2 (117). However, non-pathogenic and pathogenic antibodies often share the same light and heavy chains (114), providing credence to this theory (23, 95, 114). Epitope spreading from Dsg3 to Dsg1 is described in the relatively frequent transformation from mucosal-dominant (anti-Dsg3-IgG only) to mucocutaneous PV (anti-Dsg1and anti-Dsg3-IgG). The same is true for a less frequent transformation from PF (anti-Dsg1-IgG only) to PV (anti-Dsg1and anti-Dsg3-IgG) (58, 70). Similarly, autoantibodies against plaque proteins or Dsc isoforms also support this hyposthesis (95). A further piece of evidence is the observation that the introduction of a single Dsg3-reactive T-cell was sufficient to induce the expression of polyclonal anti-Dsg3 IgG in mice in vivo (118).

The importance of these most prevalent pemphigus autoantigens is demonstrated further by models to deplete the expression of the corresponding proteins. It was shown that knockout of Dsg3 in mice alone is sufficient to cause a pemphigus-like phenotype (119–121). Similar results were observed for deletion of Dsc3 (122), the autoantigen of atypical pemphigus (123). Similar results were observed in an active Dsc3 mouse model producing autoantibodies against Dsc3 *in vivo* (124). In contrast, Dsg1 K.O. mice show a complete abrasion of the superficial epidermis comparable to the histology in PF during normal birth and are not viable (125).

PATHOGENESIS INDUCED BY AUTOANTIBODIES TARGETING Dsg1 AND Dsg3 AS REVEALED BY EXPERIMENTAL MODELS

Under experimental conditions, autoantibodies against Dsg1 and Dsg3 have been demonstrated to disturb the amount and localisation of the respective desmosomal cadherins as well as to induce reorganisation of the cytoskeleton. anti-Dsg3-IgGs cause reorganisation and depletion of Dsg3 from the cell surface (126, 127). In the skin of PV patients less Dsg3 compared to healthy individuals was detectable (128). Both PV-IgG (126, 129) and the monoclonal antibody AK23 reduced membranous Dsg3 in vitro (130) in human skin ex vivo (127) and in neonatal mice in vivo (127). Starting at a reduction by about 50%, cell adhesion in vitro was significantly reduced (130). For mice injected with PF-IgG a reduction of Dsg1 by about 30% was enough to cause blistering (128). In line with this, blister formation in neonatal mice was inhibited under conditions which blocked the depletion of Dsg3 (127). The internalisation of Dsg3 occurs via endocytosis in a complex with PG. Following the internalisation, the proteins are degraded in the lysosome (126).

Despite the well-established importance of Dsg3 depletion in pemphigus pathogenesis it is yet unclear if this is an early or late mechanism (3). Furthermore, it was shown that different Dsg3 fractions exist which behave differently in terms of depletion (129–132). This is important since localisation of desmosomal cadherins is not limited to the desmosomes (133, 134). Rather, extradesmosomal Dsg molecules (135-137) linked to the actin cytoskeleton (138) are reported as well. It was observed that the extradesmosomal Dsg3 is depleted relatively rapidly following exposure to pemphigus autoantibodies whereas it takes much longer until the Dsg3 integrated in desmosomes is notably impacted by pathogenic IgG (129-131, 139). Since it was observed that acantholysis is actually initiated in the spaces between the desmosomes (140, 141) while keratinocytes stay connected punctually via the desmosomes (142) which are disrupted later (143-145), it is hypothesised that the exradesmosomal Dsg3 complexes represent desmosome precursors, which are later integrated into desmosomes (135, 146). This process could possibly be disrupted by pathogenic autoantibodies leading to endocytosis and degradation of these precursors (129, 135, 139). Since desmosomes are dependent on a dynamic equilibrium and are constantly remodelled under high molecular fluctuation (147, 148) this would prevent desmosome formation and cause disassembly of existing desmosomes (135, 149). A different hypothesis proposes a membrane-receptor-like function for non-desmosomal Dsg3 (59, 144, 150) suggesting that extradesmosomal and desmosomal cadherins may have distinct roles.

Together with the disorganisation of the desmosome a retraction of keratin filaments from the cell surface occurs (151–153). During this process, keratin filaments detach from the desmosomes (142, 143, 145, 154) and concentrate around the nucleus (141, 153–156). It was shown that the retraction of keratin filaments starts even before the internalisation of Dsg3 and correlates with the time the cell dissociation starts. Keratin filaments show a clear association with Dsg3 reorganisation at the membrane, preceding endocytosis (153) and turnover after PV-IgG treatment (151). This mechanism is thus proposed to play an important role in pemphigus pathogenesis and especially the time of onset before desmosome disassembly suggest keratin filament retraction to be a primary pathogenic mechanism (153). The actin cytoskeleton was also shown to be affected by PV-IgG which may interfere with desmosome assembly (129, 157).

MECHANISMS CAUSING ACANTHOLYSIS IN PEMPHIGUS

Meanwhile it is widely accepted that the mechanisms underlying loss of cell adhesion in pemphigus comprise both direct inhibition of Dsg interaction by bound autoantibodies and signalling mechanisms regulating keratinocyte adhesion triggered by autoantibody binding (158). In the pioneering studies on pathologic mechanisms direct inhibition of Dsg3 adhesion by steric hindrance was very suggestive to be causal for acantholysis (159) whereas signalling such as PLC-induced Ca^{2+} release (156, 160) was regarded more as secondary bystander effect.

Meanwhile, there are some studies available on steric hindrance of Dsg1 and Dsg3 adhesion, which for technical reasons are mostly carried out under cell-free conditions *in vitro* using bead assays or single-molecule atomic force microscopy

(161) but rarely were performed in cultured keratinocytes (**Table 1**). However, studies using *in vivo* models or human organ culture are lacking which makes it hard to decide whether effects of autoantibodies on recombinant extracellular domains of Dsg1 and Dsg3 can be transferred to the situation in intact skin where desmosomes are formed in a complex multi-step process. In contrast, there is ample evidence for the role of signalling pathways in the regulation of desmosomal adhesion in PV from studies not only performed in cultured cells but also using *in vivo* mouse models and *ex-vivo* human epidermis whereas data for PF are still limited (**Table 2**).

DIRECT INHIBITION OF DESMOGLEIN ADHESION VS. CELLULAR SIGNALLING

The cadherins were reported to undergo homo- as well as heterophilic Ca²⁺-dependent interactions via their extracellular domains (3). The outermost extracellular domain EC1 domain seems to be most important for Dsg adhesion (1, 27, 162-164). As discussed above, the pathogenic autoantibodies found in pemphigus mostly bind to this domain (27, 162, 165, 166). At first glance, it appears obvious that the binding of a large protein like an antibody to this region would cause steric hindrance by directly inhibiting the Dsg binding and thus cell adhesion. For Dsg3 it was possible to show the occurrence of such a direct inhibition by PV-IgG in vitro, both under cellfree conditions and for adhesion to the cell-surface (151, 167) (Table 1). A PV-mouse-model did also show possible indications of direct inhibition of Dsg3 adhesion (165). The finding that the monoclonal anti-Dsg3-antibody AK23, which causes a PVlike phenotype in mice (112), also causes direct inhibition of homophilic Dsg3 interaction under cell-free conditions supports this hypothesis (152, 168). Homophilic Dsc3 and heterophilic Dsc3-Dsg1 were reported to be important for adhesion in keratinocytes as well. Direct inhibition of these interactions greatly reduced the adhesive strength (64). However, another study reported heterophilic interactions between Dsg1 and Dsc1 and Dsg3 and Dsc3 to be the fundamental adhesive unit of desmosomes. In a cell-free assay, mixtures of Dsg1 and Dsc1 or Dsg3 and Dsc3 ectodomains formed large aggregates while Dsg1 or Dsg3 as well as Dsc1 or Dsc3 alone only formed minor to no aggregates. Autoantibodies where effective to directly inhibit binding of Dsg1 to Dsc1 and Dsg3 to Dsc3 beads (169). Direct inhibition has thus to be considered to play a role in PV pathology (150, 167, 170). However, direct inhibition alone is not adequate to cause a complete loss of keratinocyte adhesion. This is highlighted by the fact that impairing cellular signalling but not direct inhibition by incubating the cells at 4 °C did prevent PV-IgG induced loss of cohesion (126). Moreover, inhibition of p38MAPK rescued cell adhesion although direct inhibition of Dsg3 binding by PV-IgG was still detectable which demonstrates that modulation of autoantibody-induced signalling is sufficient to outbalace effects of steric hindrance (137). For PF, the intracellular signalling seems to be even more important since no direct inhibition of Dsg1 interaction was observed in several studies (151, 152, 168, 171).

TABLE 1	Studies on direct inhibition of Dsg1 and	Dsg3 interaction in pemphigus

PV	In vitro (cell-free)	In vitro (cultured cells)	In vivo (mice)	Ex vivo (human)
Dsg1	No inhibition (homophilic): AFM – Heupel, JI 2008 – Walter, Sci Rep 2017 (heterophilic Dsc3): AFM – Spindler, JBC 2009 Inhibition (heterophilic Dsc1): beads – Ishii, JID 2020 No inhibition (homophilic): AFM – Walter, SR 2017	No Data	No Data	No Data
Dsg3	Inhibition (homophilic): AFM – Heupel, JI 2008 – Heupel, JBC 2009 – Spindler, JCI 2013 – Walter, SR 2017 Inhibition (heterophilic Dsc3): beads – Ishii, JID 2020	Inhibition (homo/heterophilic): AFM – Vielmuth, JID 2015	Inhibition No Data	No Data
PF	In vitro (cell-free)	In vitro (cultured cells)	<i>In vivo</i> (mice)	<i>Ex vivo</i> (human)
Dsg1	No inhibition (homophilic): AFM – Waschke, JCI 2005 Inhibition (heterophilic Dsc1): – Ishii, JID 2020 No inhibition (homophilic): AFM – Walter, SR 2017	No inhibition (homo/heterophilic): beads – Waschke, JCI 2005 No inhibition (homo/heterophilic): AFM – Vielmuth, Frontiers Immunol 2018	No Data	No Data

Over time, several signalling pathways have been identified to be essential for the pathology of pemphigus (59, 152, 171– 173) (**Table 2**). The focus of current research is to integrate all the different pathways and to define their role in pemphigus pathogenesis. Especially, the chronology of many steps is not clear at present.

THE PATHOLOGY OF PATIENTS' LESIONS IDENTIFIES THE UNDERLYING MECHANISMS INTERFERING WITH DESMOSOME TURN-OVER

Microscopic evaluation of skin lesions in pemphigus revealed that the pathogenic mechanisms involved cannot be simple. Rather, the different clinical phenotypes in PV and PF are defined by characteristic histology and ultrastructural alterations of desmosomes, which only can be explained by severe impairment of desmosome turn-over, have been established as hallmarks of the disease.

In PV, deep epidermal blisters and mucosal erosions typically separate supra-basal keratinocytes in the blister roof from tombstone-like cells of the basal layer in the blister bottom (174, 175) (**Figure 1**). In contrast, superficial erosions in PF tear of granular

and apical spinous cell layers. Since Dsg3 is the predominant desmosomal cadherin in oral mucosa whereas Dsg1 is sparsely expressed, it is conceivable why in PF mucosal erosions usually are absent. Similarly, because in the granular layer Dsg1 and Dsc1 are the main desmosomal cadherins expressed, superficial blistering in PF can be explained by the Dsg compensation hypothesis (176). Supporting this, it was reported, that in neonatal mouse skin, the more ubiquitous distribution of Dsg3 without a distinct enrichtment of Dsg1 in the upper epidermal layers provided a protective effect against PF-IgG (16). However, the morphology of epidermal lesions in PV does not reflect the distribution patterns of Dsg1 and Dsg3 which in human skin broadly overlap. Thus, desmoglein compensation cannot explain a sharp supra-basal cleavage plain as found in PV (3, 150). Also, morphologic alterations typical for apoptosis usually are not present on histologic or ultrastructural levels in patients' lessons demonstrating that apoptotic cell death is not a major cause for acantholysis (154, 177, 178).

It has been shown that Dsg3 clustering in the absence of epidermal blistering correlates with the presence of autoantibodies against Dsg3 in patients with mucosal-dominant PV (149, 178, 179). Similarly, inter-desmosomal widening in PV and PF was present in unaffected epidermis suggesting that these events are not sufficient to cause skin blistering. Rather,

TABLE 2 | Studies on signalling pathways in pemphigus.

PV	Activation	Pathogenic <i>In vitro</i> (cultured cells)	Pathogenic <i>In vivo</i> (mice)	Pathogenic <i>Ex vivo</i> (human)
р38 МАРК	 Berkowitz, JBC 2005 Berkowitz, PNAS 2006 Chernyavsky, JBC 2007 Berkowitz, JID 2008 Lee, JBC 2009 Marchenko, JBC 2010 Spindler, JI 2010 Mao, JBC 2011 Bektas, JBC 2013 Spindler JCl 2013 Mao, JID 2014 Spindler, JID 2014 Hariton, ED 2017 Walter, Sci Rep 2017 Vielmuth, FI 2018 Jin, BA 2021 	 Berkowitz, JBC 2005 Chernyavsky, JBC 2007 Lee, JBC 2009 Mao, JBC 2011 Bektas, JBC 2013 Spindler JCI 2013 Mao, JID 2014 Rötzer, JBC 2014 Spindler, JID 2014 Walter, Sci Rep 2017 Vielmuth, FI 2018 Burmester, BJP 2020 	– Berkowitz, PNAS 2006 – Spindler JCI 2013 – Mao, JID 2014	– Saito, PO 2012 – Egu, BJD 2017 – Burmester, BJP 2020
MK2	– Mao, JID 2014 – Egu, BJD 2019	– Mao, JID 2014	– Mao, JID 2014	No data
HSP25/27	 Berkowitz, JBC 2005 Berkowitz, JID 2008 Bektas, JBC 2013 Mao, JID 2014 	No data	No data	No data
RhoA	– Waschke, JCB 2006 – Jin, BA 2021	 Waschke, JCB 2006 Spindler, AJP 2007 Gliem, AJP 2010 Jin, BA 2021 	No data	– Waschke, JCB 2006
Adducin	– Rötzer, JBC 2014	No data	No data	No data
Ca ²⁺	 Esaki, JID 1995 Seishima, JID 1995 Rötzer, JBC 2014 Walter, Sci Rep 2017 Schmitt, BJD 2021 	 Esaki, JID 1995 Arredondo, AJP 2005 Rötzer, JBC 2014 Walter, Fl 2019 Schmitt, BJD 2021 	No data	– Schmitt, BJD 2021
PI4K	No data	– Schmitt, BJD 2021	No data	No data
PLC	– Seishima, JID 1995 – Schmitt, BJD 2021	– Esaki, JID 1995 – Schmitt, BJD 2021	- Sanchez-Carpintero, BJD 2004	- Schmitt, BJD 2021
P3R	No Data	– Schmitt, BJD 2021	No data	 Schmitt, BJD 2021
CRAC	No Data	– Schmitt, BJD 2021	No data	No data
PKC	– Osada, JID 1997 – Kitajima, JID 1999 – Rötzer, JBC 2014	– Kitajima, JID 1999 – Cirillo, J Cell P 2010 – Spindler, AJP 2011 – Walter, Sci Rep 2017	 Sanchez-Carpintero, BJD 2004 Spindler, AJP 2011 	– Egu, Frontiers 2019
cAMP/PKA	– Spindler, Jl 2010 – Walter, SR 2017	– Spindler, JI 2010	- Spindler, JI 2010	– Meier, 2020 Fl
Src	 Chernyavsky, JBC 2007 Pretel, ED 2009 Marchenko, JBC 2010 Gil, ED 2012 Tsang, JP 2012 Walter, Sci Rep 2017 Kugelmann, Fl 2019 	 Chernyavsky, JBC 2007 Cirillo, Al 2014 Walter, SR 2017 Kugelmann, Fl 2019 	– Pretel, ED 2009 – Gil, ED2012	Not protective
ADAM10	– Ivars, BJD 2020	– Ivars, BJD 2020	No data	No data
MMPs	– Grando, JDS 1992 – Cirillo, JCP 2007	No data	No data	No data
EGFR	 Frusić-Zlotkin, Al 2006 Chernyavsky, JBC 2007 Pretel, ED 2009 Marchenko, JBC 2010 Bektas, JBC 2013 	– Frusić-Zlotkin, Al 2006 – Bektas, JBC 2013 – Sayar, ED 2014 – Walter, Fl 2019	- Pretel, ED 2009	No data

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

PV	Activation	Pathogenic <i>In vitro</i> (cultured cells)	Pathogenic <i>In vivo</i> (mice)	Pathogenic <i>Ex vivo</i> (human)
	– Sayar, ED 2014 – Walter, Fl 2019			
PI3K	No data	– Burmester, BJP 2020	No data	– Burmester, BJP 2020
PDK1	No data	– Burmester, BJP 2020	No data	No data
mTor	– Pretel, ED 2009 – Gil, ED2012	No data	- Pretel, ED 2009	No data
AK	- Gil, ED2012	No data	– Gil, ED2012	No data
NOS	No data	No data	– Espana, ED 2013	No data
Casp3	 Arredondo, AJM 2005 Frusić-Zlotkin, Al 2006 Dusek, JBC 2006 Lee, JBC 2009 Marchenko, JBC 2010 Pacheco-Tovar, AD 2011 Gil, ED2012 Luyet, PO 2015 Horitan ED 2017 	 Arredondo, AJM 2005 Frusić-Zlotkin, Al 2006 Marchenko, JBC 2010 Pacheco-Tovar, AD 2011 Luyet, PO 2015 Schmitt, AJPhysiol 2009 	– Pretel, ED 2009 – Hariton, ED 2017	No data
20	- Hariton, ED 2017			No. data
Casp8	 Puviani, JID 2003 Arredondo, AJM 2005 Marchenko, JBC 2010 Lotti, Fl 2018 Sanath, JOMP 2018 	– Puviani, JID 2003 – Arredondo, AJM 2005 – Marchenko, JBC 2010	– Pretel, ED 2009	No data
Casp9	– Marchenko, JBC 2010 – Gil, ED2012	– Marchenko, JBC 2010	- Pretel, ED 2009	No data
с-Мус	– Williamson, EMBOJ 2006 – Williamson, JID 2007	No data	No data	No data
JNK	– Marchenko, JBC 2010	No data	No data	No data
-Jun	– Frusić-Zlotkin, Al 2006	No data	No data	No data
PG	No data	- Spindler, JID 2014	No data	No data
ERK/MEK	 Frusić-Zlotkin, Al 2006 Bektas, JBC 2013 Rötzer, JBC 2014 Walter, Sci Rep 2017 Radeva, Frontiers 2019 Walter, Fl 2019 	 Frusić-Zlotkin, Al 2006 Walter, Sci Rep 2017 Radeva, Frontiers 2019 Burmester, BJP 2020 	No data	– Egu, Fl 2019 – Burmester, BJP 2020
Calmodulin	No data	No data	- Sanchez-Carpintero, BJD 2004	No data
Calpain	– Arredondo, AJM 2005	No data	No data	No data
CytC	– Marchenko, JBC 2010		No data	No data
CETP	No data	– Burmester, BJP 2020	No data	No data
FAS	– Puviani, JID 2003 – Wang, Appt 2004 – Arredondo, AJM 2005 – Lotti, Fl 2018	– Puviani, JID 2003 – Wang, Appt 2004 – Marchenko, JBC 2010 – Lotti, Fl 2018	No data	No data
ELIP	– Arredondo, AJM 2005	No data	No data	No data
PLK1	No data	– Burmester, BJP 2020	No data	No data
īrkA	No data	– Burmester, BJP 2020	No data	– Burmester, BJP 2020
/EGFR2	No data	– Burmester, BJP 2020	No data	– Burmester, BJP 2020
PF	Activation	Pathogenic	Pathogenic	Pathogenic
		In vitro (cultured cells)	In vivo (mice)	<i>Ex vivo</i> (human)
D38 MAPK	 Berkowitz, JID 2008 Lee, JBC 2009 Walter, Sci Rep 2017 Victorither El 2012 	– Walter, Sci Rep 2017 – Yoshida, JDS 2017 – Vielmuth, Fl 2018	– Berkowitz, AJP 2008 – Lee, JBC 2009	– Yoshida, JDS 2017
HSP25/27	 Vielmuth, Fl 2018 Berkowitz, AJP 2008 Berkowitz, JID 2008 	No data	No data	No data

TABLE 2 | Continued

PF	Activation	Pathogenic <i>In vitro</i> (cultured cells)	Pathogenic <i>In vivo</i> (mice)	Pathogenic <i>Ex vivo</i> (human)
RhoA	– Waschke, JCB 2006	– Waschke, JCB 2006 – Spindler, AJP 2007	No data	– Waschke, JCB 2006
Src	– Walter, Sci Rep 2017	– Walter, Sci Rep 2017	No data	No data
с-Мус	– Williamson, EMBOJ 2006 – Williamson, JID 2007	No data	No data	No data
ERK/MEK	Walter, Sci Rep 2017Walter, Fl 2019	- Walter, Sci Rep 2017	No data	No data
EGFR	– Sayar, ED 2014 – Walter, Fl 2019	– Sayar, ED 2014 – Walter, Fl 2019	- Pretel, ED 2009	No data
Casp6	– Li, JI 2009	No data	No data	No data
Ca ²⁺	– Seishima, JID 1995 – Walter, Sci Rep 2017 – Walter, Fl 2019 – Schmitt, BJD 2021	– Walter, Fl 2019 – Schmitt, BJD 2021	No data	No data
PLC	– Seishima, JID 1995	No data	No data	No data
PKC	No data	 Walter, Sci Rep 2017 	No data	No data

epidermal blistering occurred when autoantibodies against Dsg1 were present in PV and PF, the number of desmosomes was reduced, desmosomes were smaller in size and keratin filament retraction from desmosomal plaques was identified by electron microscopy (145, 178, 180). Split desmosomes with partial or complete separation of the two desmosomal plaques from neighbouring cells and double-membrane structures, reflecting engulfment of membrane domains, were detected also. Thus, the best strategy to evaluate the relevance of the different mechanisms causing pemphigus pathology is to correlate mechanisms with the morphologic hallmarks of the disease. Direct inhibition of desmoglein binding by steric hindrance through bound autoantibodies would cause splitting of desmosomes but no alterations of desmosome ultrastructure. Indeed, mechanical shear has been demonstrated to cause split desmosomes (181) which therefore may be caused by steric hindrance. Since split desmosomes mostly were found to be smaller and displayed altered insertion of keratin filaments (15, 178, 181, 182), splitting of desmosomes most likely is a consequence of altered desmosome composition. Moreover, most desmosomes in ex vivo human skin models of pemphigus are not split but rather smaller and characterised by less opaque plaques, less dense desmoglea in the desmosomal intercellular space and shorter keratin filaments attached (15, 182). Taken together, the ultrastructural alterations can be explained only by impaired desmosome turn-over (178, 183).

Therefore, the major goal is to decipher which mechanisms shown to be induced by autoantibodies interfere with the distinct phases of desmosome assembly and dissasembly. The different steps of desmosome assembly have been characterised in detail (184). First, Dsg and Dsc molecules together with PG are transported to cell borders with preformed adherens junctions along microtubules and *via* kinesin. At the membrane, desmosomal cadherins associate with lipid rafts *via* Flotillin-1 and 2 which are required for proper desmosome assembly (185, 186). Here, intermediate junctions composed of Dsgs and adherens junction components including E-cadherin, PG and β -catenin are assembled in Src-dependent manner (138, 187, 188). In a next step, Dsg molecules are transferred to DP coupled to keratin filaments (9, 189). Actin binding proteins such as adducing, which is regulated *via* RhoA/Rho kinase, and cortactin are important for directed targeting of Dsg molecules during desmosome assembly (190–193). The assembly of Dsgs with DP is controlled by PKP3 in a Rap1-dependent manner (194), the latter of which is a GTPase activated by cAMP and EPAC1. Inside of desmosomes, Dsg isoforms including Dsg1 and Dsg3 in a Ca²⁺-dependent and most likely homo- and heterophilic manner interact with Dsc1 and Dsc3 *via* their extracellular domains (64, 168, 169, 171, 188, 195).

HYPERADHESION AS A STATE OF INCREASED DESMOSOME STABILITY

Finally, the desmosomal components are locked inside of desmosomes by signalling mechanisms which control the anchorage of DP to keratin filaments and thereby induce a hyperadhesive state (196). This indicates that once a desmosome is established it is remarkably stable but the protein exchange of desmosomal components is regulated on the molecular level resulting in low half-life of desmosomal components (147, 196, 197). This paradigm allows desmosome disassembly when the net exchange by molecules diffusing out of desmosomes outbalances the assembly process as described above in processes like wound healing and migration (198–200). Also, this explains why uptake of entire desmosomes in double-membrane structures as observed under pathologic conditions in pemphigus *ex vivo* models is rarely observed in intact epidermis (182).

Interestingly, under hyperadhesive conditions the binding properties of desmogleins change dramatically. For instance, in hyperdahesive keratinocytes oligomerization of Dsg3 but not Dsg1 is enhanced and the Ca²⁺-dependency of desmosome integrity is abolished (196, 198, 201-203). Rather, if trans-interaction between Dsg3 molecules was maintained desmosomes were preserved under Ca²⁺-depletion although the ordered array of the Dsg3 extracellular domains in desmosomes was lost (196). This indicates that Ca²⁺-dependency of Dsg3 interaction may get lost when adhesion molecules and plaque proteins in desmosomes are locked by cytoskeletal anchorage. Moreover, since it was shown that Dsg1 interaction can be rescued after re-substitution of Ca²⁺ whereas Dsg3 cadherin order was not re-established (171, 196, 204), it is also possible that the roles of Dsg1 and Dsg3 in hyperadhesion are different. This can be concluded from the observation that in intact human epidermis, in which the majority of desmosomes is assumed to be hyperadhesive (198, 201, 202, 205), immunostaining of Dsg1 but not of Dsg3 was drastically altered by Ca2+ depletion indicating that Dsg3 in the epidermis indeed loses its Ca^{2+} dependency (206). In line with this, the molecular binding strength of Dsg3 but not of Dsg1 was increased when keratinocytes were hyperadhesive.

As the underlying molecular mechanism regulating hyperadhesion, PKC-mediated phosphorylation of DP under control of PKP1 has been shown to result in decreased cytoskeletal anchorage and thus to revert the hyperadhesive state in order to allow desmosome reorganisation (196, 197, 199-201, 207, 208). To allow this adaption, PKC was shown to be sequestered to desmosomes via the adaptor-protein RACK1 in DP-dependent manner and is regulated by keratins (170, 208, 209). However, since in cultured cardiomyocytes and cardiac slice cultures besides inhibition of PKC a hyperadhesive state can also be induced by PKA activation and p38MAPK inhibition, it is likely that other signalling mechanisms involved in the assembly of the desmosomal plaque and its anchorage to keratin filaments are also important for hyperadhesion (210-212). Other targets besides DP appear to be relevant as well because hyperadhesion can be abolished when expression of desmosomal components such as Dsg3 or PKP1 and PKP3 is disturbed (203, 213), which is also similar to cardiomyocytes where depletion of Dsg2, PG, or PKP2 abrogated hyperadhesion (214).

An open question, which also has relevance to identify the central molecular mechanisms impairing desmosome turn-over in pemphigus remains: whether the hyper-adhesive state can be recognised on the level of desmosome ultrastructure. It has been proposed that a dense midline in the desmosome intercellular space where extracellular domains of neighbouring cells transinteract would be a hallmark of hyperadhesion (198). Indeed, in intact epidermis most desmosomes exhibit dense midlines which is not the case in the vicinity to epidermal blisters or where the desmosome ultrastructure is altered in *ex vivo* human pemphigus skin models (182, 215). However, in cultured keratinocytes under hyperadhesive conditions desmosomes were lacking midlines completely (196). This indicates that the hyperadhesive state cannot be concluded for a specific

desmosome from its ultrastructure in cultured cells. On the other hand it can be assumed that in the epidermis desmosomes with altered morphology and lacking midlines most likely are not hyperadhesive and thus PKC is likely to participate in pemphigus pathology by reverting hyperadhesion of desmosomes.

AUTOANTIBODIES AGAINST Dsg1 AND Dsg3 INDUCE SPECIFIC SIGNALLING PATHWAYS IN PEMPHIGUS

As summarised above a vast set of signalling pathways has been associated with pemphigus pathogenesis (Figures 2-5 and Table 2). Before we try to allocate the different mechanisms to the steps of desmosome assembly and disassembly, we introduce the concept that the signalling pathways activated by a specific autoantibody are defined by the signalling complexes organised by Dsg1 and Dsg3. It was an important observation that signalling responses in keratinocytes are not a consequence of loss of cell adhesion but rather signalling molecules are associated with Dsg isoforms. This was shown first for Dsg3, which was found to form a complex with activated p38MAPK, a process enhanced by pemphigus autoantibodies (216). This adhesion receptor was regulated in adhesion-dependent manner because reduced Dsg3 adhesion by specific autoantibodies or peptides or tryptophan caused p38MAPK activation whereas stabilisation of Dsg3 binding by cross-linking peptides reduced p38MAPK activity (216, 217). This process is regulated by PG because depletion of PG also caused p38MAPK activation. In contrast, depletion of DP or PKP1 and PKP3, which also cause a profound loss of keratinocyte adhesion, did not enhance p38MAPK activity (203, 218, 219).

The signalling complexes organised by Dsg molecules appear to be both isoform- and cell type-specific because Dsg2 in contrast to Dsg3 and Dsg1 does not associate with p38MAPK (14, 220, 221). Nevertheless, in enterocytes Dsg2 regulates p38MAPK activity (222). In contrast, Dsg2 has been shown to bind and to control EGFR in enterocytes in fashion similar to Dsg3 in keratinocytes (187, 223).

All of this led us to propose that Dsg molecules form cell-type specific signalling complexes which serve as adhesion-dependent signalling receptors and regulate complex functions such as keratinocyte migration and wound healing (59, 224). Most recently, we observed that Dsg1 also forms signalling complexes which are at least in part different to Dsg3. The majority of signalling molecules involved in pemphigus pathogenesis analysed so far including p38MAPK, PLC, and PKC were associated with both Dsg1 and Dsg3. However, PI4K acting upstream of the PLC/Ca²⁺/PKC pathway was found exclusively to interact with Dsg1 (220). The fact that p38MAPK binds to both Dsg1 and Dsg3 is compatible with the observation that blister formation in vivo caused by PV-IgG and PF-IgG is blocked by inhibition of p38MAPK (225, 226) and that both PV-IgG and PF-IgG reduced activity of RhoA in p38MAPK-dependent manner (127, 227).

Moreover, these findings are in line with the observation that autoantibody fractions including antibodies targeting Dsg1 in



PV and PF induce a different signalling response compared to antibodies against Dsg3. Most striking, PLC activation and Ca²⁺ influx was found only when Dsg1 autoantibodies were present in PV-IgG and PF-IgG fractions but not induced by mucosaldominant PV-IgG or AK23 (152, 220, 228). Similarly, ERK activation was detectable after incubation with PF-IgG and PV-IgG only when Dsg1 antibodies were present and similar to Ca²⁺ influx activation was preserved in Dsg3-deficient keratinocytes. In contrast, EGFR activation was found to be dependent on Src and caused by AK23 and mucosal-dominant PV-IgG and thus in the absence of autoantibodies against Dsg1 (152, 228). Similarly, Src- and ADAM10-dependent EGFR activation has been found in response to PV-IgG including autoantibodies against Dsg1/3 whereas blister formation with additional autoantibodies against Dsc2/3 was ADAM10-independent (66).

For PKC it is not clear whether the different isoforms are regulated *via* Dsg1 or Dsg3. PKC was found to associate with both Dsg1 and Dsg3 and inhibition of PKC ameliorated loss of cell adhesion in response to PF-IgG and PV-IgG independent of the presence of autoantibodies against Dsg1 (152, 220). Also, PKC was found to be involved in Dsg3 depletion *in vivo* (127). On the other hand, at least for Ca²⁺-dependent PKC isoforms activation *via* autoantibodies against Dsg1 can be assumed (220).

Taken together, the studies on composition of signalling complexes on one hand and evaluation of signalling pathways on the other hand suggest that besides p38MAPK activation autoantibodies against Dsg3 in PV cause SRC-dependent EGFR activation whereas autoantibodies against Dsg1 in PV and PF activate both ERK and the PI4K/PLC/Ca2+ pathway. The hypothesis that the signalling pattern orchestrated by Dsg1 and Dsg3 in pemphigus are to some extent different also helps to explain why blister formation in pemphigus requires antibodies against Dsg1. In this line of thoughts, some pathologic effects such as clustering and depletion of Dsg3 molecules in unaffected skin of mucosal-dominant PV patients (149, 179) can be induced by signalling pathways such as p38MAPK, Src/EGFR and PKC. However, clustering of Dsg1 as well as shrinkage and loss of desmosomes which finally cause epidermal blistering (149, 179, 182) require ERK and PLC/Ca²⁺ signalling in addition to p38MAPK. This third line of evidence that the relative contribution of various signalling pathways for skin blistering in pemphigus is different comes from studies in human skin ex vivo where inhibition of p38MAPK, ERK, and PLC activity as well as of Ca²⁺ influx were sufficient to abrogate skin blistering whereas inhibition of Src and PKC was not (182, 191, 215, 220, 229).



Another important aspect is that inhibition of p38MAPK is effective to abolish PV-IgG-induced epidermal blistering in ex vivo human skin models whereas antibodies against Dsg3 such as AK23 or in mucosal-dominant PV-IgG fractions are not sufficient to induce skin blistering, although they activate p38MAPK (152, 182). This suggests that p38MAPK for epidermal blistering is required but not sufficient. In a mucosa model, inhibition of p38MAPK did not block blistering although AK23 in mucosa activated p38MAPK indicating that the relevance of signalling pathways in pemphigus is also tissue-specific (15). All these results indicate that the clinical phenotype of PV with mucosal erosions and deep epidermal blistering on one hand and PF characterised by superficial acantholysis on the other hand are unlikely to be caused by different expression pattern of Dsg3 and Dsg1 alone as suggested by the Dsg compensation hypothesis. Rather, the mechanisms regulating cell adhesion in mucosa and epidermal layers appear to be different and to be regulated by Dsg3 and Dsg1 (3, 150).

Finally, it has to be noted that the observation of Dsg3 and Dsg1 to regulate keratinocyte adhesion and function *via* different mechanisms is also in line with the different phenotypes of mouse models deficient for these molecules. Dsg3-deficient mice besides hair-loss display rather mild erosions in the

skin with PV-typical histology, which have been observed to spontaneously heal within several days, but also suffer from eye involvement in conjunctiva and cornea (56, 119, 224). The phenotype may be explained by the observation that in both affected and unaffected skin p38MAPK activity was upregulated, which was found to be required for wound healing (224). This shows that Dsg3 supports epidermal integrity at least in part *via* regulation of signalling pathways controlling cell adhesion. In contrast, Dsg1-deficient mice lose their superficial epidermis during birth and all die within 24 h due to complete loss of epidermal barrier properties (125). Because TJ morphology was altered in heterozygous mice, it is likely that the function of Dsg1 *via* Erbin to control EGFR-mediated TJ assembly in the superficial epidermis is involved also (230–232) (**Figures 2–5**).

THE CENTRAL ROLE OF p38MAPK TO REGULATE DESMOSOME TURN-OVER

For some signalling pathways the role in pemphigus pathogenesis and the mechanisms underlying loss of desmosomal adhesion became clearer during the last two decades.



An important molecule contributing to pathogenesis of pemphigus is p38MAPK, a protein involved mostly in the reaction to external stressors, including oxidative (233, 234), thermal and chemical stress (234, 235) but can also be activated by growth factors (236). Upon activation by phosphorylation at threonine residue 180 and tyrosine 182 (225, 237–239) p38MAPK activates other kinases further downstream and finally impacts cell growth, differentiation (240), migration as well as wound healing (224) possibly also modulating gene expression (235) and was also reported to directly phosphorylate keratins in keratinocytes and enterocytes (241–243).

p38MAPK is activated by PV-IgG (225, 237) as well by PF -IgG (226) in keratinocytes *in vitro* and in mouse skin *in vivo*. p38MAPK is associated with both intra- as well as extradesmosomal Dsg3 (187) and is phosphorylated in a protein complex with Dsg3 and PG (216). p38MAPK then *via* MAPKAPK2 (56, 244) activates HSP27 (225, 237, 245). In skin biopsies of PV and PF patients, activation of p38MAPK (238), MAKAPK2 (244) as well as HSP27 (238) were confirmed also. HSP27 regulates both actin (236) as well as intermediary filament (246) dynamic restructuring. Moreover, p38MAPK is associated with the keratin cytoskeleton (151, 161, 216, 237).

To delineate the role of p38MAPK in pemphigus pathogenesis it was shown that specific inhibition of p38MAPK or its downstream target MAPKAPK2 are sufficient to reduce loss of adhesion in keratinocytes *in vitro* (221, 247), depletion of both extra- and intradesmosomal Dsg3 (132, 233, 244) from both the soluble and insoluble fractions (132) and the activation of and reorganisation of the cytoskeleton by HSP27 (237) upon PV-IgG treatment. In murine skin *in vivo*, p38MAPK inhibition was sufficient to prevent skin blistering and activation of HSP25, the murine analogue to human HSP27, in the skin (225, 226) upon PV- or PF-IgG treatment. In human skin *ex-vivo*, inhibition of p38MAPK ameliorated the pathogenic effects of PV-IgG, including skin blistering, Dsg3 fragmentation, reduction of desmosome number and size, membrane detachment and keratin retraction (182). In contrast, inhibition of p38MAPK was protective against Dsg1 clustering but did not prevent acantholysis induced by PF-IgG (113).

However, it is currently unclear how exactly p38MAPK is activated after antibody binding to Dsg1 and Dsg3. One study reported activation with two peaks in activity at different points in time, which was different *in vivo* vs. *in vitro* as well as between PV- and PF-IgG. It was proposed that both peaks would most likely cause different cellular responses (248). In other experiments, different peaking patterns were reported (249) or experiments were only performed at specific time points (233) making it impossible to directly compare many of these results (**Figures 2, 5**).



Rho A/ADDUCIN-MEDIATED DESMOSOME ASSEMBLY

One pathway by which p38MAPK could deplete Dsg3 from intraand extradesmosomal pools is interference with RhoA/adducingmediated assembly of desmosomes. Reorganisation of the actin cytoskeleton was observed upon treatment with both PV-IgG and PF-IgG (171, 237). RhoA was shown to induce reorganisation of the actin cytoskeleton (157) and is inactivated following PV-IgG and PF-IgG treatment (227). This mechanism appears to be important in pemphigus because pharmacologic activation of RhoA inhibited epidermal blistering in response to PV-IgG and PF-IgG in human skin ex vivo and inactivation of Rho-GTPases induced epidermal splitting similar to autoantibodies (227, 250). It was demonstrated that inhibition of p38MAPK abolished RhoA inactivation after PV-IgG treatment identifying RhoA as another downstream target of p38MAPK (127, 227). PKP2 was shown to prevent the localisation of RhoA to cellular interfaces having similar effects as RhoA inactivation (190). RhoA activity was furthermore linked to possible apoptotic signalling in pemphigus (251). The effects of RhoA inactivation include reduced incorporation of DP into the desmosomal plaque (190), reduced anchorage of the desmosomes to the keratin cytoskeleton (227) and depletion of Dsg3 and Dsg1 finally leading to loss of cell adhesion (250, 252-254).

All these effects can be explained by the fact that RhoA *via* Rho kinase regulates the actin binding protein adducin (192). Adducin is essential for cell adhesion in keratinocytes by controlling the incorporation of Dsg3 into desmosomes (193). Other actin binding proteins such as cortactin, which have been shown to be involved in pemphigus pathogenesis, also bind to extra-desmosomal Dsg3 and thus may participate in desmosome assembly (191). Thus, it is possible that inhibition of desmosome assembly *via* p38MAPK-mediated inactivation of Rho family GTPases and actin binding proteins is a general paradigm in pemphigus pathogenesis (**Figures 2**, **5**).

PLAKOGLOBIN ACTS AS SIGNAL TRANSDUCER AND TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR IN PEMPHIGUS

As described above, PG is essential for the assembly of desmosomes (255–257) and cellular adhesion (8, 256, 258) e.g., as part of the Dsg3-PG complex (187). This complex is later incorporated into the desmosomes and becomes insoluble *via* interaction with Dsg1 (259). It was shown, that PV-IgG impairs the distribution of PG (260–262) and its association with Dsg3 (263). As described this is a result of PG endocytosis (218, 260). It was shown that the composition of the desmosomes and cellular adhesion and keratin filament integrity is largely dependent on PG (218, 261). Loss of PG activated p38MAPK as discussed above (218). However, PG was reported to contribute to both desmosomes and adherents junctions (255, 256) but is also found free at the cell membrane as well as in the cytosole (130) and even in the nucleus (218) of keratinocytes. It is thus most likely displaying an even broader range of functions. The

localisation of PG is regulated by phosphorylation via GSK3β and thus inhibitors of this pathway were shown to be protective against PV-IgG-induced skin blistering in vivo (264). By its relocalization to the nucleus, PG also regulates gene expression in pemphigus patients. This role is distinct from its function as a plaque protein (218). PG increases expression of urokinase-type plasminogen-activator receptor (uPAR) at the cell membrane. uPAR was described to be involved in wound healing and cellular reorganisation at the cell membrane (262). Nuclear PG also increased expression of the proto-oncogene c-Myc, which ultimately leads to hyperproliferation, reduced cell adhesion and eventually skin blistering in pemphigus patients (264, 265). This increase of nuclear c-Myc is characteristic for PV and is not observed for other skin diseases including PF, again highlighting that for both variants of pemphigus different signalling pathways are activated. It was observed that c-Myc activity is already increased very early in the pathogenesis and does correlate with disease severity (265). Very recently, inhibitors against the signalling cascade PI3K/PDK1/Akt, which regulate GSK3β, have been shown to be protective against skin blistering in vivo and ex vivo human skin and also inhibition of the down-stream molecule mTOR was shown to protective in mice (229, 266). Therefore, it is possible that this signalling pathway regulates desmosome turn-over also by mechanisms different from PG (Figures 3, 5).

THE Src/ADAM10/EGFR RECEPTOR PATHWAY IN PEMPHIGUS

Src activated rapidly and in a Dsg3-dependent manner (267) after PV-IgG treatment (249). Src activity was reported to cause loss of Dsg3 from the membrane, phosphorylation of PKP3, thereby destabilising the desmosomal plaque (268) and to induce keratin retraction (249). These changes cause loss of adhesion in vitro (191, 268) and skin blistering in mice in vivo (66, 172, 191, 266). In peri-lesional skin of pemphigus patients an increased Src activity was observed. In contrast to that, in lesional skin its activity was notably reduced, indicating an activation of Src before akantholysis (267). However, in human skin Src inhibition was not completely effective to prevent acantholysis caused by PV-IgG fractions including higher anti-Dsg1 IgG concentrations. Because Src was no longer activated after 24 h and Src inhibition was only protective during timeframes when Src was active (191), it can be assumed that Src plays a less central role in pemphigus pathogenesis and likely contributes during the initial phase only when the extradesmosomal Dsg3 is depleted. In addition to its pathogenic role, Src is also essential for the Ca²⁺-dependent incorporation of Dsg3 into desmosomes by stabilising the complex of E-cadherin together with Dsg3, potentially via cortactin (187, 191). Thus, Src seems to play an interesting dual role by stimulating desmosome formation under basal conditions but causing desmosome disassembly under pathogenic conditions.

One target molecule of Src in pemphigus pathogenesis appears to be EGFR which was shown to interact with (8, 269) and to be activated *via* Src (228, 249, 270). EGFR inhibition was shown to be protective against effects induced by PV-IgG and PF-IgG *in vitro* and *in vivo* (228, 271–273). EGFR is an important central molecule of a complex network of signalling pathways (269) and can be activated by ligands like the EGF or TGF but also in a ligand-independent manner *via* phosphorylation by p38MAPK and formation of intracellular signalling complexes (269, 270, 272, 274). EGFR was shown to regulate cellular adhesion and inhibiting it's basal activity promotes localisation of PG and DP to the desmosomal plaque and strengthens cellular adhesion (272, 275). Furthermore, it was demonstrated to be involved in pemphigus signalling (249, 272, 273) but not to be crucial because EGFR-independent loss of keratinocyte adhesion after incubation with PV-IgG has been observed as well (217). EGFR activity leads to endocytosis of Dsg3 and PG causing loss of adhesion (272, 273).

EGFR downstream signalling is broad and the exact mechanisms involved in acantholysis are not perfectly clear but may involve PI3K and ERK which recently were associated with pemphigus pathogenesis (152, 215, 229). PI3K, acting *via* PDK1/Akt/mTOR/GSK3 β on nuclear localisation of PG may cause hyper-proliferation and loss of adhesion (269, 276, 277). Similarly, the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway is involved in the regulation of cell proliferation vs. differentiation and causes loss of adhesion as well (228, 230, 269, 278–281). Another possible target is JNK1 impacting cell proliferation and migration (269, 282, 283).

Besides direct activation of EGFR by phosphorylation at Y845, Src is also involved in the release of activating EGFR ligands in response to pemphigus autoantibodies (66, 228). In this context, metalloproteinases (MMPs) are involved which can cleave cellular proteins and thus convert proteins to active forms, release second messengers or cleave and inactive proteins. They are well-known to be involved in the pathology of bullous pemphigoid (284). It was furthermore reported that in PV and bullous pemphigoid levels of serin proteinases activity were increased in patients' serum and blister exudates whereas MMP inhibitors were reduced (285). MMP9 was reported to be significantly upregulated in PV model in vivo and in vitro (286). Recently, ADAM10 was reported to be directly involved in pemphigus pathogenesis (66). ADAM10 is activated downstream of Src thereby modulating EGFR activation via release of EGF and Betacellulin (BTC). Interestingly, the activation of ADAM10 is dependent on the autoantibody profile and restricted to antibodies targeting Dsg1 and Dsg3. In contrast, additional autoantibodies against Dsc2 and 3 triggered a more severe and earlier acantholysis independent of ADAM10 (66) (Figures 3, 5).

Dsg1 REGULATES EGFR SIGNALLING TOWARDS ERK WHICH MAY BE INVOLVED IN PEMPHIGUS

Dsg1 is a very important antagonist of EGFR signalling. EGFR promotes cell migration and proliferation in the basal layer of the epidermis. In contrast, Dsg1 expression in superficial epidermis shifts the gears more towards keratinocyte differentiation. This antagonistic role is a result of at least one shared pathway. While

EGFR is known to activate ERK1/2, Dsg1 is a known suppressor of this signalling pathway (215, 228, 230, 279-281, 287). This suppression is mediated via the Dsg1-Erbin-SHOC2-complex which interferes with EGFR-induced activation of MEK1/2 and ERK1/2 (228, 279-281). Therefore, this pathway represents a very important crossing point between Dsg3- and Dsg1-dependent signalling and a protective role of Dsg1 against signalling induced by anti-Dsg3 autoantibodies in pemphigus can explain why in mucosal PV the epidermis is not affected although Dsg3 distribution is severely altered (149, 178, 179). In this line of thoughts, anti-Dsg1 antibodies in PV would shut off the inherent suppression on ERK via Erbin-SHOC2 and thereby activate ERK in the absence of EGFR activation as observed following incubation with PV-IgG and PF-IgG (152, 228). This hypothesis is also in line with the inefficiency to prevent loss of adhesion by EGFR suppression in presence of higher concentrations of anti-Dsg1 autoantibodies, which releases the suppression of Erk1/2 signalling (217) (Figures 3, 5).

Dsg1-MEDIATED Ca²⁺-SIGNALLING IS IMPORTANT FOR EPIDERMAL BLISTERING IN PEMPHIGUS

Relatively early in pemphigus research, PV-IgG treatment was demonstrated to induce activation of PLC and Ca²⁺-influx via IP3R (156, 160). More recently, direct interaction of DSG1 and PI4K (220, 288, 289), an upstream kinase of PLC (290), was reported. For PLC, an interaction with both Dsg1 and Dsg3 was shown (220). Activated PLC generates the second messengers IP3 and DAG (156, 172) which leads to a release of Ca^{2+} from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to the cytoplasm (291). Stim1 and Orail are two ubiquitously expressed proteins, which together form the so-called CRAC (Ca²⁺-release-activated-channel). Stim 1 is located at the membrane of the ER (292) where it serves as a sensor for the Ca²⁺ concentration. Upon low Ca²⁺, Stim1 contacts Orai1, located at the plasma membrane, and both together from a Ca²⁺-specific channel causing Ca²⁺ influx and replenishing the Ca^{2+} stores of the ER (293–298). In line with this, inhibition of Ca²⁺ signalling *via* inhibition of either PI4K, PLC, IP3R or CRAC was sufficient to ameliorate pathogenic effects of pemphigus autoantibodies in vitro and inhibition of PLC and IP3R abrogated skin blistering in human skin ex vivo (220).

DAG and Ca²⁺ released by these mechanisms are activators of PKC (195, 299), causing its redistribution to cell contacts (200, 299). PV-IgG was demonstrated to induce PKC activation as well (127, 152, 172, 208, 300). The exact mechanism of action of PKC is yet unknown, however, it was observed that PKC interacts with the keratin filaments (161, 208, 301) and is regulated by PKP1 (207). PKC was furthermore shown to phosphorylate DP which causes destabilisation of the desmosomal plaque (197, 208, 209). Inhibition of PKC reduces the PV-IgG-induced depletion of Dsg3 (127), keratin retraction (208) and loss of cell adhesion (127, 152) *in vitro* and *in vivo* (127, 172) and skin blistering in mice *in vivo* (127, 172). PKC thus clearly plays a role in pemphigus pathogenesis. However, since it was reported that inhibition of

PKC was not sufficient to prevent skin blistering in human skin *ex vivo* (215), PKC is probably not the only downstream target of the PLC/Ca²⁺ pathway. Furthermore, it needs to be noted that there are three types of PKCs with various isoforms, activated by different sets of second messengers. More specific, DAG and cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ activate Ca²⁺-dependent PKC (cPKC), DAG activates novel PKC (nPKC) and translocation activates atypical PKC (aPKC) isoforms, respectively (299). At least cPKCs and nPKCs are downstream targets of PLC and thus may be activated in response to autoantibodies in pemphigus (**Figures 4, 5**).

PRE-APOPTOTIC CASPASE SIGNALLING REDUCING Dsg1 AND Dsg3 IN PEMPHIGUS

Several receptor-induced signalling cascades can initiate signalling associated with apoptosis. The caspase protein family plays a central role for this signalling. Caspases cleave certain cellular proteins (154) causing morphologic changes such as condensation of the nucleus, fragmentation of the DNA, cell shrinkage (302) and degradation of the cytoskeleton (303, 304). Amongst the proteins which are cleaved by caspases are the desmosomal cadherins and the plaque proteins causing degradation of desmosomes and cytoskeleton (305). The possibility that these apoptotic pathways can be active in pemphigus was demonstrated in several studies (79, 154, 302, 306–310). Apoptosis can occur in the skin (307, 309, 311, 312) as well as the mucosa (308) of pemphigus patients. However, in acantholytic areas apoptotic cell death is not typically observed (154, 177, 178).

It was shown that PV-IgG increases the activity of proapoptotic and decreases that of anti-apoptotic proteins in keratinocytes in vitro (309, 311, 313) and mice in vivo (266, 306, 307). Caspase3 seems to be the most relevant in this context (306, 307, 314). Caspase signalling may be activated by PV-IgG in several ways. Increased amounts of soluble Fas receptor ligands were found in pemphigus patients' sera and in mice after injection of PV-IgG. These induce activation of caspase8 which causes cleavage of Dsg molecules. Inhibition of Fas receptors and depletion of soluble Fas ligand were also shown to be protective in keratinocytes in vitro and mouse skin in vivo (309, 315). Activation via caspase8 was reported as well (316). In some patients anti-mitochondrial autoantibodies were found and it was shown that they can penetrate into mitochondria. These antibodies were reported to cause JNK activation and via caspases may induce degradation of Dsg3 (317, 318). Similarly, Dsg1 was also identified as a caspase3 target (319). The activation via c-Jun is also supported by the observation that inhibition of p38MAPK signalling, which causes c-Jun activation via EGFR, was sufficient to block caspase3 activation after PV-IgG treatment (248). Furthermore, EGFR was reported to induce caspase signalling and apoptosis (273). Thus, signalling by antibodies against Dsg3 may use this Src/EGFR signalling axis to activate caspases via PI3K/PDK1/Akt/GSK3β and nNOS/mTOR/FAK suggestive because inhibitors against this pathway have been shown to be protective against skin blistering (229, 266, 320, 321).

Moreover, caspase signalling could also be induced *via* the Ca^{2+} pathway. In this context, a mechanism was described which links the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} specific channel VDAC1 to IP3R *via* so-called mitochondria-associated membranes (MAM). The resulting Ca^{2+} flux was reported to lead to mitochondrial swelling and induction of apoptosis-related signals (322–326). Caspase3 activity can further be linked to p38MAPK, c-Myc (318), and RhoA activity (251). In line with this, several studies demonstrated that activation of p38MAPK, cell dissociation, and keratin retraction in keratinocytes *in vitro* (318) and skin blistering in mice *in vivo* (79, 266, 306, 307, 318) were significantly ameliorated under pharmacological inhibition of caspase activity.

However, the relevance of apoptosis for the pathology of pemphigus is controversly discussed and often attributed to be a secondary effect caused by acantholysis (111, 154). It was demonstrated that acantholysis takes place independent of apoptosis in keratinocytes in vitro (154, 318, 327, 328) as well as in pemphigus patient skin (154, 177, 318, 328). One group reported a slight increase of caspase3 in vitro and in vivo before the appearance of lesions but without any other sings of apoptosis (318). Taken together, all studies indicate a possible role of caspases for acantholysis independent of apoptotic cell death (306, 318). Since it was already found that caspases also influence several processes including proliferation, differentiation and cell cycle regulation (329), it can be concluded that caspases activate secondary pathways which contribute to skin blistering (154, 302). The fact that both Dsg1 and Dsg3 can be cleaved by caspase3 also would provide a mechanism how apoptotic signalling is directly interfering with desmosome turnover (Figures 3, 5).

RESCUE PATHWAYS IN PEMPHIGUS SUCH AS Dsg2 AND cAMP UPREGULATION

Most interestingly, autoantibodies in pemphigus not only cause pathogenic effects leading to loss of keratinocyte adhesion but also induce rescue pathways. One compensatory mechanism is up-regulation of Dsg2 expression in PV patients' lesions (330). It was demonstrated that forced expression of Dsg2 in the upper skin layers of transgenic mice was protective against PF-IgGinduced skin lesions (331). Moreover, in cultured keratinocytes it was shown that expression of Dsg2 (221) similar to Dsg1 (332) was protective against anti-Dsg3-antibody-induced loss of adhesion. Because Dsg2 can undergo heterophilic interaction with Dsg3, which is less sensitive to direct inhibition of autoantibodies targeting Dsg3, it is possible that Dsg2 upregulation is supporting to maintain cell adhesion in PV (333).

Another protective pathway is dependent on the second messenger cAMP. Increased levels of cAMP were observed after incubation with PV-IgG and a pharmacological increase in cAMP blocked the effects of PV-IgG *in vitro* and skin blistering in mice *in vivo* (334). It was demonstrated that cAMP was protective against activation of p38MAPK which may involve PKA activation (334). This mechanism may be related to a

phenomenon referred to as positive adhesiotropy by which adrenergic signalling in the heart strengthens cardiomyocyte adhesion *via* PKA-mediated PG phosphorylation (210, 212, 214). Recently, a case of a pemphigus patient was reported who was treated with Apremilast, a phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitor which enhances intracellular cAMP levels. Treatment ameliorated the symptoms and led to a decrease in autoantibody titers (335). Thus, the protective effect was attributed to changes in immune cell signalling rather than modulation of keratinocyte signalling.

Most recently it was reported, that mechanical stimulation also plays a very important role for the resistance against pemphigus-IgG-induced effects. Stretching of cells reportedly induced activation of RohA, strengthening the cortical acting network and its crosslinking, leading to increased cell contractility. This was shown to reduce pemphigus IgG induced effects, indicating, that activation of RhoA in pemphigus might represent an insufficient rescue pathway (336) (**Figures 2, 5**).

CONCLUSION: HOW TO ELUCIDATE A FEASIBLE APPROACH TO STABILISE DESMOSOMAL ADHESION FOR PEMPHIGUS THERAPY?

From this review it can be concluded that some signalling pathways such as p38MAPK, ERK and PLC/Ca²⁺ appear to be more relevant for skin blistering in pemphigus than others. This is supported by a recent study using an unbiased approach by testing a library of 141 small molecule inhibitors in different experimental models of pemphigus which found that inhibition of ERK and p38MAPK signalling was effective to ameliorate PV-IgG-induced loss of cell adhesion (229).

On the other hand, inhibition of p38MAPK in clinical studies was not beneficial for pemphigus patients (271). This maybe explained in part by the fact that inhibition of a central signalling pathway involved in many different functions (234) is associated with severe side effects. It can be envisaged that the situation is not different for approaches modulating ERK or PLC/Ca²⁺ signalling indicating that at least systemic therapy using inhibitors of these pathways are most likely not feasible. Nevertheless, since topical application of Dsg-crosslinking peptides or drugs to increase cAMP were effective in pemphigus mouse models *in vivo* (216, 334) it may also

REFERENCES

- Kasperkiewicz M, Ellebrecht CT, Takahashi H, Yamagami J, Zillikens D, Payne AS, et al. Pemphigus. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2017) 3:17026. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.26
- Schmidt E, Kasperkiewicz M, Joly P. Pemphigus. Lancet. (2019) 394:882–94. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31778-7
- Waschke J. The desmosome and pemphigus. *Histochem Cell Biol.* (2008) 130:21–54. doi: 10.1007/s00418-008-0420-0
- Getsios S, Huen AC, Green KJ. Working out the strength and flexibility of desmosomes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2004) 5:271–81. doi: 10.1038/nrm1356
- Price AJ, Cost A-L, Ungewiß H, Waschke J, Dunn AR, Grashoff C. Mechanical loading of desmosomes depends on the magnitude

be possible to reduce side-effects by site-specific application of modulators of signalling pathways in the future. Therefore, it is very encouraging that topical application of selumetinib to inhibit MEK1, which is the kinase up-stream of ERK1/2, was protective in the human skin organ culture model (229).

Moreover, identification of signalling mechanisms critical for pemphigus pathology allows to focus on the molecular targets of the associated signalling molecules. Because PKC downstream of PLC/Ca²⁺ has been shown to regulate desmosome stability via phosphorylation of DP, the modulation of DP cytoskeletal anchorage may be a promising target for therapy. Similarly, given that p38MAPK induces pathogenic effects via inhibition of RhoA, which via Rho kinase and adducin phosphorylation is important for desmosome assembly (190, 192, 193, 227), therapeutic approaches to stimulate desmosome assembly should be characterised in more detail. Finally, since the small inhibitor library helped to identify a role in keratinocyte adhesion regulation for VEGFR2, TrkA, PI3K, and PDK1 (Table 2), new candidates for treatment options have been elucidated as well (229). Therefore, we believe that studies on agents for additional treatment of patients suffering from the acute phase of pemphigus or facing relapses are of high importance in the future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TS: concept, original draft, figure design, and revision. JW: concept and revision. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the DFG FOR2497 (PEGASUS) grant to JW.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We cordially thank Prof. Dr. Flaig and Prof. Dr. Gerd Plewig (Dermatology Department, LMU Munich) as well as Prof. Dr. Thomás Cunha and Prof. Dr. Michael Hertl (Dermatology Department, University of Marburg) for contribution of images showing clinics and histology of pemphigus.

and orientation of external stress. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:7523. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07523-0

- Hatzfeld M, Haffner C, Schulze K, Vinzens U. The function of plakophilin 1 in desmosome assembly and actin filament organization. *J Cell Biol.* (2000) 149:209–22. doi: 10.1083/jcb.149.1.209
- Bonné S, Gilbert B, Hatzfeld M, Chen X, Green KJ, van Roy F. Defining desmosomal plakophilin-3 interactions. J Cell Biol. (2003) 161:403–16. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200303036
- Cirillo N, Prime SS. Desmosomal interactome in keratinocytes: a systems biology approach leading to an understanding of the pathogenesis of skin disease. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2009) 66:3517–33. doi: 10.1007/s00018-009-0139-7
- 9. Godsel LM, Hsieh SN, Amargo EV, Bass AE, Pascoe-McGillicuddy LT, Huen AC, et al. Desmoplakin assembly dynamics in four dimensions: multiple

phases differentially regulated by intermediate filaments and actin. *J Cell Biol.* (2005) 171:1045–59. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200510038

- Chen X, Bonne S, Hatzfeld M, van Roy F, Green KJ. Protein binding and functional characterization of plakophilin 2. Evidence for its diverse roles in desmosomes and beta -catenin signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2002) 277:10512–22. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M108765200
- 11. Smith EA, Fuchs E. Defining the interactions between intermediate filaments and desmosomes. *J Cell Biol.* (1998) 141:1229–41. doi: 10.1083/jcb.141.5.1229
- 12. Wu H, Stanley JR, Cotsarelis G. Desmoglein isotype expression in the hair follicle and its cysts correlates with type of keratinization and degree of differentiation. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2003) 120:1052–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.2003.12234.x
- Berika M, Garrod D. Desmosomal adhesion in vivo. Cell Commun Adhes. (2014) 21:65–75. doi: 10.3109/15419061.2013.876018
- Hartlieb E, Kempf B, Partilla M, Vigh B, Spindler V, Waschke J. Desmoglein 2 is less important than desmoglein 3 for keratinocyte cohesion. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e53739. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053739
- Egu DT, Sigmund AM, Schmidt E, Spindler V, Walter E, Waschke J, et al. New *ex vivo* human oral mucosa model reveals that p38MAPK inhibition is not effective in preventing autoantibody-induced mucosal blistering in pemphigus. *Br J Dermatol.* (2019) 182:987–94. doi: 10.1111/bjd.18237
- Wu H, Wang ZH, Yan A, Lyle S, Fakharzadeh S, Wahl JK, et al. Protection against pemphigus foliaceus by desmoglein 3 in neonates. N Engl J Med. (2000) 343:31–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200007063430105
- Hübner F, Recke A, Zillikens D, Linder R, Schmidt E. Prevalence and age distribution of pemphigus and pemphigoid diseases in Germany. J Invest Dermatol. (2016) 136:2495–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2016.07.013
- Yan L, Wang J-M, Zeng K. Association between HLA-DRB1 polymorphisms and pemphigus vulgaris: a meta-analysis. Br J Dermatol. (2012) 167:768–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2012.11040.x
- Zivanovic D, Bojic S, Medenica L, Andric Z, Popadic D. Human leukocyte antigen class II (DRB1 and DQB1) alleles and haplotypes frequencies in patients with pemphigus vulgaris among the Serbian population. *HLA*. (2016) 87:367–74. doi: 10.1111/tan.12796
- Ahmed AR, Yunis EJ, Khatri K, Wagner R, Notani G, Awdeh Z, et al. Major histocompatibility complex haplotype studies in Ashkenazi Jewish patients with pemphigus vulgaris. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1990) 87:7658–62. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.19.7658
- Shams S, Amirzargar AA, Yousefi M, Rezaei N, Solgi G, Khosravi F, et al. HLA class II (DRB, DQA1 and DQB1) allele and haplotype frequencies in the patients with pemphigus vulgaris. *J Clin Immunol.* (2009) 29:175–9. doi: 10.1007/s10875-008-9244-x
- 22. Vodo D, Sarig O, Sprecher E. The genetics of pemphigus vulgaris. *Front Med.* (2018) 5:226. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00226
- Kridin K. Pemphigus group: overview, epidemiology, mortality, and comorbidities. *Immunol Res.* (2018) 66:255–70. doi: 10.1007/s12026-018-8986-7
- Lee CW, Yang HY, Kim SC, Jung JH, Hwang JJ. HLA class II allele associations in Korean patients with pemphigus. *Dermatology*. (1998) 197:349–52. doi: 10.1159/000018030
- Gibson WT, Walter MA, Ahmed AR, Alper CA, Cox DW. The immunoglobulin heavy chain and disease association: application to pemphigus vulgaris. *Hum Genet.* (1994) 94:675–83. doi: 10.1007/BF00206963
- Zitouni M, Martel P, Ben Ayed M, Raux G, Gilbert D, Joly P, et al. Pemphigus is not associated with allotypic markers of immunoglobulin kappa. *Genes Immun.* (2002) 3:50–2. doi: 10.1038/sj.gene.6363817
- Di Zenzo G, Di Lullo G, Corti D, Calabresi V, Sinistro A, Vanzetta F, et al. Pemphigus autoantibodies generated through somatic mutations target the desmoglein-3 cis-interface. *J Clin Invest.* (2012) 122:3781–90. doi: 10.1172/JCI64413
- Ishii K, Lin C, Siegel DL, Stanley JR. Isolation of pathogenic monoclonal anti-desmoglein 1 human antibodies by phage display of pemphigus foliaceus autoantibodies. J Invest Dermatol. (2008) 128:939–48. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5701132
- Collins AM, Sewell WA, Edwards MR. Immunoglobulin gene rearrangement, repertoire diversity, and the allergic response. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2003) 100:157–70. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2003.07.002

- Yamagami J, Kacir S, Ishii K, Payne AS, Siegel DL, Stanley JR. Antibodies to the desmoglein 1 precursor proprotein but not to the mature cell surface protein cloned from individuals without pemphigus. J Immunol. (2009) 183:5615–21. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901691
- Payne AS, Ishii K, Kacir S, Lin C, Li H, Hanakawa Y, et al. Genetic and functional characterization of human pemphigus vulgaris monoclonal autoantibodies isolated by phage display. *J Clin Invest.* (2005) 115:888–99. doi: 10.1172/JCI24185
- 32. Sarig O, Bercovici S, Zoller L, Goldberg I, Indelman M, Nahum S, et al. Population-specific association between a polymorphic variant in ST18, encoding a pro-apoptotic molecule, and pemphigus vulgaris. J Invest Dermatol. (2012) 132:1798–805. doi: 10.1038/jid.2012.46
- 33. Javor J, Chmurova N, Parnicka Z, Ferencik S, Grosse-Wilde H, Buc M, et al. TNF-alpha and IL-10 gene polymorphisms show a weak association with pemphigus vulgaris in the Slovak population. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* (2010) 24:65–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2009.03260.x
- Mosaad YM, Fathy H, Fawzy Z, El-Saied MA. Tumor necrosis factor-α-308 GA and interleukin-6-174 GC promoter polymorphisms and pemphigus. *Hum Immunol.* (2012) 73:560-5. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2012.02.001
- Eberhard Y, Burgos E, Gagliardi J, Vullo CM, Borosky A, Pesoa S, et al. Cytokine polymorphisms in patients with pemphigus. Arch Dermatol Res. (2005) 296:309–13. doi: 10.1007/s00403-004-0528-6
- 36. Slomov E, Loewenthal R, Korostishevsky M, Goldberg I, Brenner S, Gazit E. Pemphigus vulgaris is associated with the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) system. *Hum Immunol.* (2005) 66:1213–22. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2005.11.004
- Tanasilovic S, Popadic S, Medenica L, Popadic D. Pemphigus vulgaris and pemphigus foliaceus determined by CD86 and CTLA4 polymorphisms. *Clin Dermatol.* (2017) 35:236–41. doi: 10.1016/j.clindermatol.2016.05.021
- Capon F, Bharkhada J, Cochrane NE, Mortimer NJ, Setterfield JF, Reynaert S, et al. Evidence of an association between desmoglein 3 haplotypes and pemphigus vulgaris. *Br J Dermatol.* (2006) 154:67–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2005.06882.x
- Assaf S, Malki L, Mayer T, Mohamad J, Peled A, Pavlovsky M, et al. ST18 affects cell-cell adhesion in pemphigus vulgaris in a tumor necrosis factor-αdependent fashion. Br J Dermatol. (2020) 2020:19679. doi: 10.1111/bjd.19679
- Radeva MY, Walter E, Stach RA, Yazdi AS, Schlegel N, Sarig O, et al. ST18 enhances PV-IgG-induced loss of keratinocyte cohesion in parallel to increased ERK activation. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:770. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00770
- 41. Sena Nogueira Maehara L de, De-Souza-Santana FC, Porro AM, Marcos EV, Ura S, Nolte IM, et al. HLA class II alleles of susceptibility and protection in Brazilian and Dutch pemphigus foliaceus. *Br J Dermatol.* (2018) 178:e212–4. doi: 10.1111/bjd.16022
- Lombardi ML, Mercuro O, Ruocco V, Lo Schiavo A, Lombari V, Guerrera V, et al. Common human leukocyte antigen alleles in pemphigus vulgaris and pemphigus foliaceus Italian patients. *J Invest Dermatol.* (1999) 113:107–10. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.1999.00626.x
- Loiseau P, Lecleach L, Prost C, Lepage V, Busson M, Bastuji-Garin S, et al. HLA class II polymorphism contributes to specify desmoglein derived peptides in pemphigus vulgaris and pemphigus foliaceus. J Autoimmun. (2000) 15:67–73. doi: 10.1006/jaut.2000.0388
- 44. del Mar Sáez-de-Ocariz M, Vega-Memije ME, Zúñiga J, Salgado N, Ruíz J, Balbuena A, et al. HLA-DRB1*0101 is associated with foliaceous pemphigus in Mexicans. *Int J Dermatol.* (2005) 44:350. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2005.02038.x
- 45. Abida O, Zitouni M, Kallel-Sellami M, Mahfoudh N, Kammoun A, Ben Ayed M, et al. Tunisian endemic pemphigus foliaceus is associated with the HLA-DR3 gene: anti-desmoglein 1 antibody-positive healthy subjects bear protective alleles. *Br J Dermatol.* (2009) 161:522–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2009.09207.x
- Ben Jmaa M, Abida O, Bahloul E, Toumi A, Khlif S, Fakhfakh R, et al. Role of FOXP3 gene polymorphism in the susceptibility to Tunisian endemic Pemphigus Foliaceus. *Immunol Lett.* (2017) 184:105–11. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017.02.005
- Hans-Filho G, Aoki V, Bittner NR, Bittner GC. Fogo selvagem: endemic pemphigus foliaceus. An Bras Dermatol. (2018) 93:638–50. doi: 10.1590/abd1806-4841.20188235

- Diaz LA, Sampaio SA, Rivitti EA, Martins CR, Cunha PR, Lombardi C, et al. Endemic pemphigus foliaceus (fogo selvagem). I Clinical features and immunopathology. J Am Acad Dermatol. (1989) 20:657–69. doi: 10.1016/S0190-9622(89)70079-7
- Empinotti JC, Aoki V, Filgueira A, Sampaio SA, Rivitti EA, Sanches JA, et al. Clinical and serological follow-up studies of endemic pemphigus foliaceus (fogo selvagem) in Western Parana, Brazil (2001-2002). Br J Dermatol. (2006) 155:446–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2006.07302.x
- Aoki V, Rivitti EA, Diaz LA. Update on fogo selvagem, an endemic form of pemphigus foliaceus. J Dermatol. (2015) 42:18–26. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.12675
- Diaz LA, Arteaga LA, Hilario-Vargas J, Valenzuela JG Li N, Warren S, et al. Anti-desmoglein-1 antibodies in onchocerciasis, leishmaniasis and Chagas disease suggest a possible etiological link to Fogo selvagem. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2004) 123:1045–51. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-202X.2004.23438.x
- Culton DA, Qian Y, Li N, Rubenstein D, Aoki V, Filhio GH, et al. Advances in pemphigus and its endemic pemphigus foliaceus (Fogo Selvagem) phenotype: a paradigm of human autoimmunity. J Autoimmun. (2008) 31:311–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2008.08.003
- 53. Bastuji-Garin S, Souissi R, Blum L, Turki H, Nouira R, Jomaa B, et al. Comparative epidemiology of pemphigus in Tunisia and France: unusual incidence of pemphigus foliaceus in young Tunisian women. J Invest Dermatol. (1995) 104:302–5. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12612836
- Robledo MA, Prada S, Jaramillo D, Leon W. South American pemphigus foliaceus: study of an epidemic in El Bagre and Nechi, Colombia 1982 to 1986. Br J Dermatol. (1988) 118:737–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.1988.tb02590.x
- Kneisel A, Hertl M. Autoimmune bullous skin diseases. Part 1: clinical manifestations. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. (2011) 9:844–56. doi: 10.1111/j.1610-0387.2011.07793.x
- Vielmuth F, Rötzer V, Hartlieb E, Hirneiß C, Waschke J, Spindler V. Pemphigus autoantibodies induce blistering in human conjunctiva. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* (2016) 57:4442–9. doi: 10.1167/iovs.16-19582
- Schmidt E, Goebeler M, Hertl M, Sárdy M, Sitaru C, Eming R, et al. S2k-Leitlinie zur Diagnostik des Pemphigus vulgaris/foliaceus und des bullösen Pemphigoids. J Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft. (2015) 13:713–27. doi: 10.1111/ddg.40_12612
- Joly P, Litrowski N. Pemphigus group (vulgaris, vegetans, foliaceus, herpetiformis, brasiliensis). *Clin Dermatol.* (2011) 29:432–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clindermatol.2011.01.013
- Waschke J, Spindler V. Desmosomes and extradesmosomal adhesive signaling contacts in pemphigus. *Med Res Rev.* (2014) 34:1127–45. doi: 10.1002/med.21310
- Pigozzi B, Peserico A, Schiesari L, Alaibac M. Pemphigus foliaceus evolving into pemphigus vulgaris: a probable example of 'intermolecular epitope spreading' confirmed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay study. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venerol. (2008) 22:242–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2007.02298.x
- 61. Kneisel A, Hertl M. Autoimmune bullous skin diseases. Part 2: diagnosis and therapy. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. (2011) 9:927–47. doi: 10.1111/j.1610-0387.2011.07809.x
- Mao X, Nagler AR, Farber SA, Choi EJ, Jackson LH, Leiferman KM, et al. Autoimmunity to desmocollin 3 in pemphigus vulgaris. *Am J Pathol.* (2010) 177:2724–30. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.100483
- Rafei D, Müller R, Ishii N, Llamazares M, Hashimoto T, Hertl M, et al. IgG autoantibodies against desmocollin 3 in pemphigus sera induce loss of keratinocyte adhesion. *Am J Pathol.* (2011) 178:718–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.10.016
- 64. Spindler V, Heupel W-M, Efthymiadis A, Schmidt E, Eming R, Rankl C, et al. Desmocollin 3-mediated binding is crucial for keratinocyte cohesion and is impaired in pemphigus. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:30556–64. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.024810
- 65. Müller R, Heber B, Hashimoto T, Messer G, Müllegger R, Niedermeier A, et al. Autoantibodies against desmocollins in European patients with pemphigus. *Clin Exp Dermatol.* (2009) 34:3241. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2230.2009.03241.x
- Ivars M, España A, Alzuguren P, Pelacho B, Lasarte JJ, López-Zabalza MJ. The involvement of ADAM10 in acantholysis in mucocutaneous pemphigus

vulgaris depends on the autoantibody profile of each patient. *Br J Dermatol.* (2020) 182:1194–204. doi: 10.1111/bjd.18382

- Geller S, Gat A, Zeeli T, Hafner A, Eming R, Hertl M, et al. The expanding spectrum of IgA pemphigus: a case report and review of the literature. *Br J Dermatol.* (2014) 171:650–6. doi: 10.1111/bjd.12940
- Lenz P, Amagai M, Volc-Platzer B, Stingl G, Kirnbauer R. Desmoglein 3-ELISA: a pemphigus vulgaris-specific diagnostic tool. *Arch Dermatol.* (1999) 135:143–8. doi: 10.1001/archderm.135.2.143
- 69. Ishii K, Amagai M, Hall RP, Hashimoto T, Takayanagi A, Gamou S, et al. Characterization of autoantibodies in pemphigus using antigenspecific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays with baculovirus-expressed recombinant desmogleins. *J Immunol.* (1997) 159:2010–7.
- Hammers CM, Stanley JR. Mechanisms of disease: pemphigus and bullous pemphigoid. *Annu Rev Pathol.* (2016) 11:175–97. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-012615-044313
- Carson PJ, Hameed A, Ahmed AR. Influence of treatment on the clinical course of pemphigus vulgaris. J Am Acad Dermatol. (1996) 34:645–52. doi: 10.1016/S0190-9622(96)80066-1
- Eming R. Pemphigus. Modellerkrankung für zielgerichtete Therapien Hautarzt. (2015) 66:574–82. doi: 10.1007/s00105-015-3656-3
- 73. Hooten JN, Hall RP, Cardones AR. Updates on the management of autoimmune blistering diseases. *Skin Therapy Lett.* (2014) 19:1–6.
- Herrmann G, Hunzelmann N, Engert A. Treatment of pemphigus vulgaris with anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (rituximab). Br J Dermatol. (2003) 148:602–3. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2003.05209_10.x
- Müller R, Hunzelmann N, Baur V, Siebenhaar G, Wenzel E, Eming R, et al. Targeted immunotherapy with rituximab leads to a transient alteration of the IgG autoantibody profile in pemphigus vulgaris. *Dermatol Res Pract.* (2010) 2010:321950. doi: 10.1155/2010/321950
- Mazzi G, Raineri A, Zanolli FA, Da Ponte C, Roia D de, Santarossa L, et al. Plasmapheresis therapy in pemphigus vulgaris and bullous pemphigoid. *Transfus Apher Sci.* (2003) 28:13–8. doi: 10.1016/S1473-0502(02)00095-2
- Lunardon L, Payne AS. Inhibitory human antichimeric antibodies to rituximab in a patient with pemphigus. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2012) 130:800–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.03.022
- Eming R, Sticherling M, Hofmann SC, Hunzelmann N, Kern JS, Kramer H, et al. S2k-Leitlinie zur Therapie des Pemphigus vulgaris/foliaceus und des bullösen Pemphigoid. J Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft. (2015) 13:833–45. doi: 10.1111/ddg.140_12606
- Arredondo J, Chernyavsky AI, Karaouni A, Grando SA. Novel mechanisms of target cell death and survival and of therapeutic action of IVIg in pemphigus. *Am J Pathol.* (2005) 167:1531–44. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)61239-4
- Getsios S, Waschke J, Borradori L, Hertl M, Müller EJ. From cell signaling to novel therapeutic concepts: international pemphigus meeting on advances in pemphigus research and therapy. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2010) 130:1764–8. doi: 10.1038/jid.2010.111
- Shimanovich I, Herzog S, Schmidt E, Opitz A, Klinker E, Bröcker E-B, et al. Improved protocol for treatment of pemphigus vulgaris with protein A immunoadsorption. *Clin Exp Dermatol.* (2006) 31:768–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2230.2006.02220.x
- Schmidt E, Klinker E, Opitz A, Herzog S, Sitaru C, Goebeler M, et al. Protein A immunoadsorption: a novel and effective adjuvant treatment of severe pemphigus. *Br J Dermatol.* (2003) 148:1222–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2003.05302.x
- Baum S, Scope A, Barzilai A, Azizi E, Trau H. The role of IVIg treatment in severe pemphigus vulgaris. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venerol.* (2006) 20:548–52. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2006.01540.x
- Bayry J, Kazatchkine MD, Kaveri SV. Erratum: shortage of human intravenous immunoglobulin—reasons and possible solutions. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2008) 4:405. doi: 10.1038/ncpneuro0856
- Kridin K, Ahmed AR. The evolving role of rituximab in the treatment of pemphigus vulgaris: a comprehensive state-of-the-art review. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* (2021) 21:443–54. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2021.1874915
- Maho-Vaillant M, Perals C, Golinski M-L, Hébert V, Caillot F, Mignard C, et al. Rituximab and corticosteroid effect on desmoglein-specific Bcells and desmoglein-specific T-follicular-helper-cells in pemphigus. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2021). doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2021.01.031

- Du FH, Mills EA, Mao-Draayer Y. Next-generation anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies in autoimmune disease treatment. *Auto Immun Highlights*. (2017) 8:12. doi: 10.1007/s13317-017-0100-y
- Rapp M, Pentland A, Richardson C. Successful treatment of pemphigus vulgaris with ofatumumab. J Drugs Dermatol. (2018) 17:1338–9.
- Reddy V, Klein C, Isenberg DA, Glennie MJ, Cambridge G, Cragg MS, et al. Obinutuzumab induces superior B-cell cytotoxicity to rituximab in rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus patient samples. *Rheumatology*. (2017) 56:1227–37. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kex067
- Stohl W. Inhibition of B cell activating factor (BAFF) in the management of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Expert Rev Clin Immunol. (2017) 13:623–33. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2017.1291343
- 91. Musette P, Bouaziz JD. B cell modulation strategies in autoimmune diseases: new concepts. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:622. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00622
- Kaul A, Gordon C, Crow MK, Touma Z, Urowitz MB, van Vollenhoven R, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2016) 2:16039. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.39
- Crofford LJ, Nyhoff LE, Sheehan JH, Kendall PL. The role of Bruton's tyrosine kinase in autoimmunity and implications for therapy. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2016) 12:763–73. doi: 10.1586/1744666X.2016.1152888
- Corneth OB, Klein Wolterink RG, Hendriks RW. BTK signaling in B cell differentiation and autoimmunity. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2016) 393:67–105. doi: 10.1007/82_2015_478
- Amber KT, Staropoli P, Shiman MI, Elgart GW, Hertl M. Autoreactive T cells in the immune pathogenesis of pemphigus vulgaris. *Exp Dermatol.* (2013) 22:699–704. doi: 10.1111/exd.12229
- Eming R, Hennerici T, Bäcklund J, Feliciani C, Visconti KC, Willenborg S, et al. Pathogenic IgG antibodies against desmoglein 3 in pemphigus vulgaris are regulated by HLA-DRB1*04:02-restricted T cells. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:4391–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401081
- Nagel A, Lang A, Engel D, Podstawa E, Hunzelmann N, Pita O de, et al. Clinical activity of pemphigus vulgaris relates to IgE autoantibodies against desmoglein 3. *Clin Immunol.* (2010) 134:320–30. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2009.11.006
- Chen W-S, Chen Y-J, Yang C-S, Juan C-K. Pemphigus foliaceus associated with imatinib therapy in a patient with gastrointestinal stromal tumor. *Int J Dermatol.* (2018) 57:e93–5. doi: 10.1111/ijd.14142
- Sood A, Sinha P, Raman DK, Sinha A. Imatinib-induced IgA pemphigus: subcorneal pustular dermatosis type. *Indian Dermatol Online J.* (2018) 9:331–3. doi: 10.4103/idoj.IDOJ_331_17
- 100. Ono S, Egawa G, Nomura T, Kitoh A, Dainichi T, Otsuka A, et al. Abl family tyrosine kinases govern IgG extravasation in the skin in a murine pemphigus model. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-12232-3
- Ward ES, Ober RJ. Targeting FcRn to generate antibody-based therapeutics. Trends Pharmacol Sci. (2018) 39:892–904. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2018.07.007
- 102. Goebl NA, Babbey CM, Datta-Mannan A, Witcher DR, Wroblewski VJ, Dunn KW. Neonatal Fc receptor mediates internalization of Fc in transfected human endothelial cells. *Mol Biol Cell.* (2008) 19:5490–505. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e07-02-0101
- 103. Sesarman A, Vidarsson G, Sitaru C. The neonatal Fc receptor as therapeutic target in IgG-mediated autoimmune diseases. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2010) 67:2533–50. doi: 10.1007/s00018-010-0318-6
- 104. Yokoyama T, Matsuda S, Takae Y, Wada N, Nishikawa T, Amagai M, et al. Antigen-independent development of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells suppressing autoantibody production in experimental pemphigus vulgaris. *Int Immunol.* (2011) 23:365–73. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxr020
- 105. Amber KT, Maglie R, Solimani F, Eming R, Hertl M. Targeted therapies for autoimmune bullous diseases: current status. *Drugs*. (2018) 78:1527–48. doi: 10.1007/s40265-018-0976-5
- 106. Vafia K, Groth S, Beckmann T, Hirose M, Dworschak J, Recke A, et al. Pathogenicity of autoantibodies in anti-p200 pemphigoid. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e41769. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041769
- 107. Eshhar Z, Waks T, Gross G, Schindler DG. Specific activation and targeting of cytotoxic lymphocytes through chimeric single chains consisting of antibody-binding domains and the gamma or zeta subunits of the immunoglobulin and T-cell receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1993) 90:720–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.2.720

- Wegner A. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for the treatment of cancer and the future of preclinical models for predicting their toxicities. *Immunotherapy*. (2017) 9:669–80. doi: 10.2217/imt-2017-0028
- Kalantari-Dehaghi M, Anhalt GJ, Camilleri MJ, Chernyavsky AI, Chun S, Felgner PL, et al. Pemphigus vulgaris autoantibody profiling by proteomic technique. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e57587. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057587
- 110. Grando SA, Pittelkow MR, Shultz LD, Dmochowski M, Nguyen VT. Pemphigus: an unfolding story. J Investig Dermatol. (2001) 117:990–5. doi: 10.1046/j.0022-202x.2001.01489.x
- 111. Pan M, Liu X, Zheng J. The pathogenic role of autoantibodies in pemphigus vulgaris. *Clin Exp Dermatol.* (2011) 36:703–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2230.2011.04092.x
- 112. Tsunoda K, Ota T, Aoki M, Yamada T, Nagai T, Nakagawa T, et al. Induction of pemphigus phenotype by a mouse monoclonal antibody against the amino-terminal adhesive interface of desmoglein 3. J Immunol. (2003) 170:2170–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.4.2170
- 113. Yoshida K, Ishii K, Shimizu A, Yokouchi M, Amagai M, Shiraishi K, et al. Non-pathogenic pemphigus foliaceus (PF) IgG acts synergistically with a directly pathogenic PF IgG to increase blistering by p38MAPK-dependent desmoglein 1 clustering. *J Dermatol Sci.* (2017) 85:197–207. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2016.12.010
- 114. Di Zenzo G, Amber KT, Sayar BS, Müller EJ, Borradori L. Immune response in pemphigus and beyond: progresses and emerging concepts. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2016) 38:57–74. doi: 10.1007/s00281-015-0541-1
- 115. Abida O, Masmoudi A, Rebaï A, Ben Ayed M, Mahfoudh N, Kallel-Sellami M, et al. The familial feature of Tunisian endemic pemphigus foliaceus. Br J Dermatol. (2009) 161:951–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2009.09386.x
- 116. Joly P, Mokhtar I, Gilbert D, Thomine E, Fazza B, Bardi R, et al. Immunoblot and immunoelectronmicroscopic analysis of endemic Tunisian pemphigus. *Br J Dermatol.* (1999) 140:44–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.1999.02605.x
- 117. Kallel Sellami M, Ben Ayed M, Mouquet H, Drouot L, Zitouni M, Mokni M, et al. Anti-desmoglein 1 antibodies in Tunisian healthy subjects: arguments for the role of environmental factors in the occurrence of Tunisian pemphigus foliaceus. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2004) 137:195–200. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02493.x
- 118. Takahashi H, Kuwana M, Amagai M, A. single helper T cell clone is sufficient to commit polyclonal naive B cells to produce pathogenic IgG in experimental pemphigus vulgaris. J Immunol. (2009) 182:1740–5. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.3.1740
- Koch PJ, Mahoney MG, Ishikawa H, Pulkkinen L, Uitto J, Shultz L, et al. Targeted disruption of the pemphigus vulgaris antigen (desmoglein 3) gene in mice causes loss of keratinocyte cell adhesion with a phenotype similar to pemphigus vulgaris. *J Cell Biol.* (1997) 137:1091–102. doi: 10.1083/jcb.137.5.1091
- 120. Amagai M, Tsunoda K, Suzuki H, Nishifuji K, Koyasu S, Nishikawa T. Use of autoantigen-knockout mice in developing an active autoimmune disease model for pemphigus. J Clin Invest. (2000) 105:625–31. doi: 10.1172/JCI8748
- 121. Baron S, Hoang A, Vogel H, Attardi LD. Unimpaired skin carcinogenesis in desmoglein 3 knockout mice. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:50024. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050024
- 122. Chen J, Den Z, Koch PJ. Loss of desmocollin 3 in mice leads to epidermal blistering. *J Cell Sci.* (2008) 121:2844–9. doi: 10.1242/jcs.031518
- 123. Kamiya K, Aoyama Y, Wakashima C, Kudo T, Nakajima K, Sano S, et al. Atypical pemphigus with immunoglobulin G autoantibodies against desmoglein 3 and desmocollin 3. J Dermatol. (2016) 43:429–31. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.13086
- 124. Lotti R, Atene CG, Marconi A, Di Rocco G, Reggiani Bonetti L, Zanocco Marani T, et al. Development of a desmocollin-3 active mouse model recapitulating human atypical pemphigus. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1387. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01387
- Kugelmann D, Radeva MY, Spindler V, Waschke J. Desmoglein 1 deficiency causes lethal skin blistering. J Invest Dermatol. (2019) 139:1596–9.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2019.01.002
- 126. Calkins CC, Setzer SV, Jennings JM, Summers S, Tsunoda K, Amagai M, et al. Desmoglein endocytosis and desmosome disassembly are coordinated responses to pemphigus autoantibodies. J Biol Chem. (2006) 281:7623–34. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M512447200

- 127. Spindler V, Endlich A, Hartlieb E, Vielmuth F, Schmidt E, Waschke J. The extent of desmoglein 3 depletion in pemphigus vulgaris is dependent on Ca²⁺-induced differentiation. Am J Pathol. (2011) 179:1905–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.06.043
- 128. Shu E, Yamamoto Y, Aoyama Y, Kitajima Y. Intraperitoneal injection of pemphigus vulgaris-IgG into mouse depletes epidermal keratinocytes of desmoglein 3 associated with generation of acantholysis. *Arch Dermatol Res.* (2007) 299:165–7. doi: 10.1007/s00403-007-0754-9
- 129. Jennings JM, Tucker DK, Kottke MD, Saito M, Delva E, Hanakawa Y, et al. Desmosome disassembly in response to pemphigus vulgaris IgG occurs in distinct phases and can be reversed by expression of exogenous Dsg3. J Invest Dermatol. (2011) 131:706–18. doi: 10.1038/jid.2010.389
- 130. Yamamoto Y, Aoyama Y, Shu E, Tsunoda K, Amagai M, Kitajima Y. Antidesmoglein 3 (Dsg3) monoclonal antibodies deplete desmosomes of Dsg3 and differ in their Dsg3-depleting activities related to pathogenicity. *J Biol Chem.* (2007) 282:17866–76. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M607963200
- 131. Aoyama Y, Kitajima Y. Pemphigus vulgaris-IgG causes a rapid depletion of desmoglein 3 (Dsg3) from the Triton X-100 soluble pools, leading to the formation of Dsg3-depleted desmosomes in a human squamous carcinoma cell line, DJM-1 cells. *J Invest Dermatol.* (1999) 112:67–71. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.1999.00463.x
- 132. Jolly PS, Berkowitz P, Bektas M, Lee H-E, Chua M, Diaz LA, et al. p38MAPK signaling and desmoglein-3 internalization are linked events in pemphigus acantholysis. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:8936–41. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.087999
- Wolff K, Schreiner E. Ultrastructural localization of pemphigus autoantibodies within e epidermis. *Nature*. (1971) 229:59–61. doi: 10.1038/229059a0
- Jones JC, Yokoo KM, Goldman RD. A cell surface desmosome-associated component: identification of tissue-specific cell adhesion molecule. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1986) 83:7282–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.19.7282
- 135. Sato M, Aoyama Y, Kitajima Y. Assembly pathway of desmoglein 3 to desmosomes and its perturbation by pemphigus vulgaris-IgG in cultured keratinocytes, as revealed by time-lapsed labeling immunoelectron microscopy. *Lab Invest.* (2000) 80:1583–92. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3780168
- 136. Bédane C, Prost C, Thomine E, Intrator L, Joly P, Caux F, et al. Binding of autoantibodies is not restricted to desmosomes in pemphigus vulgaris: comparison of 14 cases of pemphigus vulgaris and 10 cases of pemphigus foliaceus studied by western immunoblot and immunoelectron microscopy. *Arch Dermatol Res.* (1996) 288:343–52. doi: 10.1007/BF02507101
- Vielmuth F, Waschke J, Spindler V. Loss of desmoglein binding is not sufficient for keratinocyte dissociation in pemphigus. J Invest Dermatol. (2015) 135:3068–77. doi: 10.1038/jid.2015.324
- 138. Tsang SM, Brown L, Lin K, Liu L, Piper K, O'Toole EA, et al. Non-junctional human desmoglein 3 acts as an upstream regulator of Src in E-cadherin adhesion, a pathway possibly involved in the pathogenesis of pemphigus vulgaris. J Pathol. (2012) 227:81–93. doi: 10.1002/path.3982
- Mao X, Choi EJ, Payne AS. Disruption of desmosome assembly by monovalent human pemphigus vulgaris monoclonal antibodies. J Invest Dermatol. (2009) 129:908–18. doi: 10.1038/jid.2008.339
- 140. Takahashi Y, Patel HP, Labib RS, Diaz LA, Anhalt GJ. Experimentally induced pemphigus vulgaris in neonatal BALB/c mice: a time-course study of clinical, immunologic, ultrastructural, and cytochemical changes. *J Investig Dermatol.* (1985) 84:41–6. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12274679
- 141. Hu CH, Michel B, Schiltz JR. Epidermal acantholysis induced *in vitro* by pemphigus autoantibody. An ultrastructural study. *Am J Pathol.* (1978) 90:345–62.
- 142. Diercks GF, Pas HH, Jonkman MF. The ultrastructure of acantholysis in pemphigus vulgaris. Br J Dermatol. (2009) 160:460–1. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08971.x
- Bystryn J-C, Grando SA. A novel explanation for acantholysis in pemphigus vulgaris: the basal cell shrinkage hypothesis. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2006) 54:513–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2005.12.003
- 144. Spindler V, Waschke J. Desmosomal cadherins and signaling: lessons from autoimmune disease. *Cell Commun Adhes*. (2014) 21:77–84. doi: 10.3109/15419061.2013.877000

- Wilgram GF, Caulfield JB, Lever WF. An electron microscopic study of acantholysis in pemphigus vulgaris. J Invest Dermatol. (1961) 36:373–82. doi: 10.1038/jid.1961.58
- 146. Cirillo N, Femiano F, Gombos F, Lanza A. Serum from pemphigus vulgaris reduces desmoglein 3 half-life and perturbs its *de novo* assembly to desmosomal sites in cultured keratinocytes. *FEBS Lett.* (2006) 580:3276–81. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2006.04.089
- 147. Windoffer R, Borchert-Stuhlträger M, Leube RE. Desmosomes: interconnected calcium-dependent structures of remarkable stability with significant integral membrane protein turnover. J Cell Sci. (2002) 115:1717–32. doi: 10.1242/jcs.115.8.1717
- 148. Gloushankova NA, Wakatsuki T, Troyanovsky RB, Elson E, Troyanovsky SM. Continual assembly of desmosomes within stable intercellular contacts of epithelial A-431 cells. *Cell Tissue Res.* (2003) 314:399–410. doi: 10.1007/s00441-003-0812-3
- 149. Oktarina DA, van der Wier G, Diercks GF, Jonkman MF, Pas HH. IgGinduced clustering of desmogleins 1 and 3 in skin of patients with pemphigus fits with the desmoglein non-assembly depletion hypothesis. *Br J Dermatol.* (2011) 165:552–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10463.x
- Spindler V, Waschke J. Pemphigus-a disease of desmosome dysfunction caused by multiple mechanisms. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:136. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00136
- 151. Vielmuth F, Walter E, Fuchs M, Radeva MY, Buechau F, Magin TM, et al. Keratins regulate p38MAPK-dependent desmoglein binding properties in pemphigus. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:528. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00528
- 152. Walter E, Vielmuth F, Rotkopf L, Sárdy M, Horváth ON, Goebeler M, et al. Different signaling patterns contribute to loss of keratinocyte cohesion dependent on autoantibody profile in pemphigus. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:3579. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03697-7
- 153. Schlögl E, Radeva MY, Vielmuth F, Schinner C, Waschke J, Spindler V. Keratin retraction and desmoglein3 internalization independently contribute to autoantibody-induced cell dissociation in pemphigus vulgaris. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:858. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00858
- 154. Schmidt E, Waschke J. Apoptosis in pemphigus. Autoimmun Rev. (2009) 8:533-7. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2009.01.011
- 155. Cirillo N, Femiano F. Dell'Ermo A, Arnese P, Gombos F, Lanza A. A novel method to investigate pemphigus-induced keratinocyte dysmorphisms through living cell immunofluorescence microscopy. *Virchows Arch.* (2007) 450:683–90. doi: 10.1007/s00428-007-0410-y
- 156. Esaki C, Seishima M, Yamada T, Osada K, Kitajima Y. Pharmacologic evidence for involvement of phospholipase C in pemphigus IgGinduced inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate generation, intracellular calcium increase, and plasminogen activator secretion in DJM-1 cells, a squamous cell carcinoma line. *J Invest Dermatol.* (1995) 105:329–33. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12319948
- Gliem M, Heupel W-M, Spindler V, Harms GS, Waschke J. Actin reorganization contributes to loss of cell adhesion in pemphigus vulgaris. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* (2010) 299:C606–13. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00075.2010
- Spindler V, Eming R, Schmidt E, Amagai M, Grando S, Jonkman MF, et al. Mechanisms causing loss of keratinocyte cohesion in pemphigus. J Invest Dermatol. (2018) 138:32–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.06.022
- 159. Amagai M, Klaus-Kovtun V, Stanley JR. Autoantibodies against a novel epithelial cadherin in pemphigus vulgaris, a disease of cell adhesion. *Cell.* (1991) 67:869–77. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90360-B
- 160. Seishima M, Esaki C, Osada K, Mori S, Hashimoto T, Kitajima Y. Pemphigus IgG, but not bullous pemphigoid IgG, causes a transient increase in intracellular calcium and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate in DJM-1 cells, a squamous cell carcinoma line. *J Invest Dermatol.* (1995) 104:33–7. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12613469
- Vielmuth F, Spindler V, Waschke J. Atomic force microscopy provides new mechanistic insights into the pathogenesis of pemphigus. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:485. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00485
- 162. Sekiguchi M, Futei Y, Fujii Y, Iwasaki T, Nishikawa T, Amagai M. Dominant autoimmune epitopes recognized by pemphigus antibodies map to the Nterminal adhesive region of desmogleins. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:5439–48. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.9.5439

- Tselepis C, Chidgey M, North A, Garrod D. Desmosomal adhesion inhibits invasive behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1998) 95:8064–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.14.8064
- Runswick SK, O'Hare MJ, Jones L, Streuli CH, Garrod DR. Desmosomal adhesion regulates epithelial morphogenesis and cell positioning. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2001) 3:823–30. doi: 10.1038/ncb0901-823
- 165. Shimizu A, Ishiko A, Ota T, Tsunoda K, Amagai M, Nishikawa T. IgG binds to desmoglein 3 in desmosomes and causes a desmosomal split without keratin retraction in a pemphigus mouse model. J Investig Dermatol. (2004) 122:1145–53. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-202X.2004.22426.x
- 166. Shimizu H, Masunaga T, Ishiko A, Kikuchi A, Hashimoto T, Nishikawa T. Pemphigus vulgaris and pemphigus foliaceus sera show an inversely graded binding pattern to extracellular regions of desmosomes in different layers of human epidermis. *J Investig Dermatol.* (1995) 105:153–9. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12316695
- 167. Vielmuth F, Hartlieb E, Kugelmann D, Waschke J, Spindler V. Atomic force microscopy identifies regions of distinct desmoglein 3 adhesive properties on living keratinocytes. *Nanomedicine*. (2015) 11:511–20. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2014.10.006
- Heupel W-M, Zillikens D, Drenckhahn D, Waschke J. Pemphigus vulgaris IgG directly inhibit desmoglein 3-mediated transinteraction. J Immunol. (2008) 181:1825–34. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.3.1825
- 169. Ishii K, Yoshida K, Stanley JR, Yamagami J, Amagai M, Ishiko A. Pemphigus vulgaris and foliaceus IgG autoantibodies directly block heterophilic transinteraction between desmoglein and desmocollin. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2020). doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2020.02.010
- 170. Vielmuth F, Wanuske M-T, Radeva MY, Hiermaier M, Kugelmann D, Walter E, et al. Keratins regulate the adhesive properties of desmosomal cadherins through signaling. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2018) 138:121–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.08.033
- 171. Waschke J, Bruggeman P, Baumgartner W, Zillikens D, Drenckhahn D. Pemphigus foliaceus IgG causes dissociation of desmoglein 1-containing junctions without blocking desmoglein 1 transinteraction. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:3157–65. doi: 10.1172/JCI23475
- 172. Sánchez-Carpintero I, España A, Pelacho B, López Moratalla N, Rubenstein DS, Diaz LA, et al. *In vivo* blockade of pemphigus vulgaris acantholysis by inhibition of intracellular signal transduction cascades. *Br J Dermatol.* (2004) 151:565–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2004.06147.x
- 173. Schmidt E, Spindler V, Eming R, Amagai M, Antonicelli F, Baines JF, et al. Meeting report of the pathogenesis of pemphigus and pemphigoid meeting in Munich, September 2016. J Invest Dermatol. (2017) 137:1199– 203. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.01.028
- 174. Lever WF. Pemphigus. *Medicine*. (1953) 32:1-123. doi: 10.1097/00005792-195302000-00001
- 175. Ohata C, Ishii N, Furumura M. Locations of acantholysis in pemphigus vulgaris and pemphigus foliaceus. J Cutan Pathol. (2014) 41:880–9. doi: 10.1111/cup.12384
- 176. Udey MC, Stanley JR. Pemphigus–diseases of antidesmosomal autoimmunity. *JAMA*. (1999) 282:572–6. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.6.572
- 177. Janse IC, van der Wier G, Jonkman MF, Pas HH, Diercks GF. No evidence of apoptotic cells in pemphigus acantholysis. J Invest Dermatol. (2014) 134:2039–41. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.60
- 178. Sokol E, Kramer D, Diercks GF, Kuipers J, Jonkman MF, Pas HH, et al. Large-scale electron microscopy maps of patient skin and mucosa provide insight into pathogenesis of blistering diseases. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2015) 135:1763–70. doi: 10.1038/jid.2015.109
- 179. van dW, Pas HH, Kramer D, Diercks GF, Jonkman MF. Smaller desmosomes are seen in the skin of pemphigus patients with anti-desmoglein 1 antibodies but not in patients with anti-desmoglein 3 antibodies. J Invest Dermatol. (2014) 134:140. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.140
- 180. Wilgram GF, Caulfield JB, Madgic EB. An electron microscopic study of acantholysis and dyskeratosis in pemphigus foliaceus. With a special note on peculiar intracytoplasmic bodies. *J Investig Dermatol.* (1964) 43:287–99. doi: 10.1038/jid.1964.159
- 181. Stahley SN, Warren MF, Feldman RJ, Swerlick RA, Mattheyses AL, Kowalczyk AP. Super-resolution microscopy reveals altered desmosomal protein organization in tissue from patients with pemphigus vulgaris. J Invest Dermatol. (2016) 136:59–66. doi: 10.1038/JID.2015.353

- 182. Egu DT, Walter E, Spindler V, Waschke J. Inhibition of p38MAPK signalling prevents epidermal blistering and alterations of desmosome structure induced by pemphigus autoantibodies in human epidermis. *Br J Dermatol.* (2017) 177:1612–8. doi: 10.1111/bjd.15721
- 183. Kitajima Y. 150(th) anniversary series: desmosomes and autoimmune disease, perspective of dynamic desmosome remodeling and its impairments in pemphigus. *Cell Commun Adhes.* (2014) 21:943397. doi: 10.3109/15419061.2014.943397
- Nekrasova O, Green KJ. Desmosome assembly and dynamics. Trends Cell Biol. (2013) 23:537–46. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2013.06.004
- 185. Stahley SN, Saito M, Faundez V, Koval M, Mattheyses AL, Kowalczyk AP. Desmosome assembly and disassembly are membrane raft-dependent. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e87809. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087809
- 186. Völlner F, Ali J, Kurrle N, Exner Y, Eming R, Hertl M, et al. Loss of flotillin expression results in weakened desmosomal adhesion and Pemphigus vulgaris-like localisation of desmoglein-3 in human keratinocytes. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:28820. doi: 10.1038/srep28820
- 187. Rötzer V, Hartlieb E, Vielmuth F, Gliem M, Spindler V, Waschke J. Ecadherin and Src associate with extradesmosomal Dsg3 and modulate desmosome assembly and adhesion. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2015) 72:4885–97. doi: 10.1007/s00018-015-1977-0
- Shafraz O, Rübsam M, Stahley SN, Caldara AL, Kowalczyk AP, Niessen CM, et al. E-cadherin binds to desmoglein to facilitate desmosome assembly. *Elife*. (2018) 7:37629. doi: 10.7554/eLife.37629
- 189. Bass-Zubek AE, Hobbs RP, Amargo EV, Garcia NJ, Hsieh SN, Chen X, et al. Plakophilin 2: a critical scaffold for PKC alpha that regulates intercellular junction assembly. *J Cell Biol.* (2008) 181:jcb.200712133. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200712133
- 190. Godsel LM, Dubash AD, Bass-Zubek AE, Amargo EV, Klessner JL, Hobbs RP, et al. Plakophilin 2 couples actomyosin remodeling to desmosomal plaque assembly via RhoA. Mol Biol Cell. (2010) 21:2844–59. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e10-02-0131
- 191. Kugelmann D, Rötzer V, Walter E, Egu DT, Fuchs MT, Vielmuth F, et al. Role of Src and cortactin in pemphigus skin blistering. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:626. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00626
- Rötzer V, Breit A, Waschke J, Spindler V. Adducin is required for desmosomal cohesion in keratinocytes. J Biol Chem. (2014) 289:14925–40. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.527127
- 193. Hiermaier M, Kliewe F, Schinner C, Stüdle C, Maly IP, Wanuske MT, et al. The actin-binding protein α-adducin modulates desmosomal turnover and plasticity. J Invest Dermatol. (2020). doi: 10.1101/787846
- 194. Todorovic V, Koetsier JL, Godsel LM, Green KJ. Plakophilin 3 mediates Rap1-dependent desmosome assembly and adherens junction maturation. *Mol Biol Cell.* (2014) 25:3749–64. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e14-05-0968
- 195. Nie Z, Merritt A, Rouhi-Parkouhi M, Tabernero L, Garrod D. Membraneimpermeable cross-linking provides evidence for homophilic, isoformspecific binding of desmosomal cadherins in epithelial cells. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:2143–54. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.192245
- 196. Bartle EI, Rao TC, Beggs RR, Dean WF, Urner TM, Kowalczyk AP, et al. Protein exchange is reduced in calcium-independent epithelial junctions. J Cell Biol. (2020) 219:6153. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201906153
- Hobbs RP, Green KJ. Desmoplakin regulates desmosome hyperadhesion. J Invest Dermatol. (2012) 132:482–5. doi: 10.1038/jid.2011.318
- Garrod D, Kimura TE. Hyper-adhesion: a new concept in cell-cell adhesion. Biochem Soc Trans. (2008) 36:195–201. doi: 10.1042/BST0360195
- 199. Garrod D. Desmosomes in vivo. Dermatol Res Pract. (2010) 2010:212439. doi: 10.1155/2010/212439
- 200. Wallis S, Lloyd S, Wise I, Ireland G, Fleming TP, Garrod D. The alpha isoform of protein kinase C is involved in signaling the response of desmosomes to wounding in cultured epithelial cells. *Mol Biol Cell.* (2000) 11:1077–92. doi: 10.1091/mbc.11.3.1077
- 201. Kimura TE, Merritt AJ, Garrod DR. Calcium-independent desmosomes of keratinocytes are hyper-adhesive. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2007) 127:775–81. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5700643
- Cirillo N, Lanza A, Prime SS. Induction of hyper-adhesion attenuates autoimmune-induced keratinocyte cell-cell detachment and processing of adhesion molecules *via* mechanisms that involve PKC. *Exp Cell Res.* (2010) 316:580–92. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2009.10.005

- 203. Fuchs M, Foresti M, Radeva MY, Kugelmann D, Keil R, Hatzfeld M, et al. Plakophilin 1 but not plakophilin 3 regulates desmoglein clustering. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2019) 76:3465–76. doi: 10.1007/s00018-019-03083-8
- 204. Waschke J, Menendez-Castro C, Bruggeman P, Koob R, Amagai M, Gruber HJ, et al. Imaging and force spectroscopy on desmoglein 1 using atomic force microscopy reveal multivalent Ca(2+)-dependent, low-affinity transinteraction. J Membr Biol. (2007) 216:83–92. doi: 10.1007/s00232-007-9037-9
- 205. Garrod DR, Berika MY, Bardsley WF, Holmes D, Tabernero L. Hyperadhesion in desmosomes: its regulation in wound healing and possible relationship to cadherin crystal structure. J Cell Sci. (2005) 118:5743–54. doi: 10.1242/jcs.02700
- Fuchs M, Sigmund AM, Waschke J, Vielmuth F. Desmosomal hyperadhesion is accompanied with enhanced binding strength of desmoglein 3 molecules. *Biophys J.* (2020) 119:1489–500. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2020.09.008
- 207. Tucker DK, Stahley SN, Kowalczyk AP. Plakophilin-1 protects keratinocytes from pemphigus vulgaris IgG by forming calciumindependent desmosomes. J Invest Dermatol. (2014) 134:1033–43. doi: 10.1038/jid.2013.401
- Dehner C, Rötzer V, Waschke J, Spindler V, A. desmoplakin point mutation with enhanced keratin association ameliorates pemphigus vulgaris autoantibody-mediated loss of cell cohesion. *Am J Pathol.* (2014) 184:2528– 36. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.05.016
- 209. Kröger C, Loschke F, Schwarz N, Windoffer R, Leube RE, Magin TM. Keratins control intercellular adhesion involving PKC-αmediated desmoplakin phosphorylation. J Cell Biol. (2013) 201:681–92. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201208162
- 210. Schinner C, Vielmuth F, Rötzer V, Hiermaier M, Radeva MY, Co TK, et al. Adrenergic signaling strengthens cardiac myocyte cohesion. *Circ Res.* (2017) 120:1305–17. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.309631
- Schinner C, Erber BM, Yeruva S, Waschke J. Regulation of cardiac myocyte cohesion and gap junctions via desmosomal adhesion. Acta Physiol. (2019) 226:e13242. doi: 10.1111/apha.13242
- 212. Shoykhet M, Trenz S, Kempf E, Williams T, Gerull B, Schinner C, et al. Cardiomyocyte adhesion and hyperadhesion differentially require ERK1/2 and plakoglobin. *JCI Insight*. (2020) 5:140066. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.140066
- 213. Keil R, Rietscher K, Hatzfeld M. Antagonistic regulation of intercellular cohesion by plakophilins 1 and 3. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2016) 136:2022–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2016.05.124
- 214. Yeruva S, Kempf E, Egu DT, Flaswinkel H, Kugelmann D, Waschke J. Adrenergic signaling-induced ultrastructural strengthening of intercalated discs via plakoglobin is crucial for positive adhesiotropy in murine cardiomyocytes. Front Physiol. (2020) 11:430. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00430
- 215. Egu DT, Kugelmann D, Waschke J. Role of PKC and ERK signaling in epidermal blistering and desmosome regulation in pemphigus. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2883. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02883
- 216. Spindler V, Rötzer V, Dehner C, Kempf B, Gliem M, Radeva M, et al. Peptide-mediated desmoglein 3 crosslinking prevents pemphigus vulgaris autoantibody-induced skin blistering. J Clin Invest. (2013) 123:800–11. doi: 10.1172/JCI60139
- 217. Heupel W-M, Müller T, Efthymiadis A, Schmidt E, Drenckhahn D, Waschke J. Peptides targeting the desmoglein 3 adhesive interface prevent autoantibody-induced acantholysis in pemphigus. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:8589–95. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M808813200
- Spindler V, Dehner C, Hübner S, Waschke J. Plakoglobin but not desmoplakin regulates keratinocyte cohesion via modulation of p38MAPK signaling. J Invest Dermatol. (2014) 134:1655–64. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.21
- Wanuske M-T, Brantschen D, Schinner C, Stüdle C, Walter E, Hiermaier M, et al. Clustering of desmosomal cadherins by desmoplakin is essential for cell-cell adhesion. *Acta Physiol.* (2021) 231:e13609. doi: 10.1111/apha.13609
- 220. Schmitt T, Egu DT, Walter E, Sigmund AM, Eichkorn R, Yazdi A, et al. Ca2+ signalling is critical for autoantibody-induced blistering of human epidermis in pemphigus. *Br J Dermatol.* (2021) 2021:bjd.20091. doi: 10.1111/bjd.20091
- 221. Hartlieb E, Rötzer V, Radeva M, Spindler V, Waschke J. Desmoglein 2 compensates for desmoglein 3 but does not control cell adhesion *via* regulation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in keratinocytes. *J Biol Chem.* (2014) 289:17043–53. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.489336
- 222. Ungewiß H, Vielmuth F, Suzuki ST, Maiser A, Harz H, Leonhardt H, et al. Desmoglein 2 regulates the intestinal epithelial barrier

via p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:6329. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-06713-y

- 223. Ungewiß H, Rötzer V, Meir M, Fey C, Diefenbacher M, Schlegel N, et al. Dsg2 via Src-mediated transactivation shapes EGFR signaling towards cell adhesion. Cell Mol Life Sci. (2018) 75:2869. doi: 10.1007/s00018-018-2869-x
- 224. Rötzer V, Hartlieb E, Winkler J, Walter E, Schlipp A, Sardy M, et al. Desmoglein 3-dependent signaling regulates keratinocyte migration and wound healing. J Invest Dermatol. (2016) 136:301–10. doi: 10.1038/JID.2015.380
- 225. Berkowitz P, Hu P, Warren S, Liu Z, Diaz LA, Rubenstein DS. p38MAPK inhibition prevents disease in pemphigus vulgaris mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2006) 103:12855–60. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0602973103
- 226. Berkowitz P, Chua M, Liu Z, Diaz LA, Rubenstein DS. Autoantibodies in the autoimmune disease pemphigus foliaceus induce blistering *via* p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase-dependent signaling in the skin. *Am J Pathol.* (2008) 173:1628–36. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2008.080391
- Waschke J, Spindler V, Bruggeman P, Zillikens D, Schmidt G, Drenckhahn D. Inhibition of Rho A activity causes pemphigus skin blistering. *J Cell Biol.* (2006) 175:721–7. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200605125
- 228. Walter E, Vielmuth F, Wanuske M-T, Seifert M, Pollmann R, Eming R, et al. Role of Dsg1- and Dsg3-mediated signaling in pemphigus autoantibodyinduced loss of keratinocyte cohesion. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1128. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01128
- 229. Burmester IA, Flaswinkel S, Thies C-S, Kasprick A, Kamaguchi M, Bumiller-Bini V, et al. Identification of novel therapeutic targets for blocking acantholysis in pemphigus. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2020) 177:5114–30. doi: 10.1111/bph.15233
- 230. Getsios S, Simpson CL, Kojima S, Harmon R, Sheu LJ, Dusek RL, et al. Desmoglein 1-dependent suppression of EGFR signaling promotes epidermal differentiation and morphogenesis. J Cell Biol. (2009) 185:1243– 58. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200809044
- 231. Rübsam M, Mertz AF, Kubo A, Marg S, Jüngst C, Goranci-Buzhala G, et al. E-cadherin integrates mechanotransduction and EGFR signaling to control junctional tissue polarization and tight junction positioning. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:1250. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01170-7
- 232. Cohen-Barak E, Godsel LM, Koetsier JL, Hegazy M, Kushnir-Grinbaum D, Hammad H, et al. The role of desmoglein 1 in gap junction turnover revealed through the study of SAM syndrome. J Invest Dermatol. (2020) 140:556–67.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2019.08.433
- Mao X, Sano Y, Park JM, Payne AS. p38 MAPK activation is downstream of the loss of intercellular adhesion in pemphigus vulgaris. *J Biol Chem.* (2011) 286:1283–91. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.172874
- Han J, Lee JD, Bibbs L, Ulevitch RJ. A MAP kinase targeted by endotoxin and hyperosmolarity in mammalian cells. *Science*. (1994) 265:808–11. doi: 10.1126/science.7914033
- 235. Tan Y, Rouse J, Zhang A, Cariati S, Cohen P, Comb MJ, et al. and stress regulate CREB and ATF-1 *via* a pathway involving p38 MAP kinase and MAPKAP kinase-2. *EMBO J.* (1996) 15:4629–42. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1996.tb00840.x
- 236. Guay J, Lambert H, Gingras-Breton G, Lavoie JN, Huot J, Landry J. Regulation of actin filament dynamics by p38 map kinase-mediated phosphorylation of heat shock protein 27. J Cell Sci. (1997) 110:357–68. doi: 10.1242/jcs.110.3.357
- 237. Berkowitz P, Hu P, Liu Z, Diaz LA, Enghild JJ, Chua MP, et al. Desmosome signaling. Inhibition of p38MAPK prevents pemphigus vulgaris IgGinduced cytoskeleton reorganization. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:23778–84. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M501365200
- Berkowitz P, Diaz LA, Hall RP, Rubenstein DS. Induction of p38MAPK and HSP27 phosphorylation in pemphigus patient skin. J Invest Dermatol. (2008) 128:738–40. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5701080
- Nahas N, Molski TF, Fernandez GA, Sha'afi RI. Tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of a new mitogen-activated protein (MAP)-kinase cascade in human neutrophils stimulated with various agonists. *Biochem J.* (1996) 318:247–53. doi: 10.1042/bj3180247
- Wang XZ, Ron D. Stress-induced phosphorylation and activation of the transcription factor CHOP (GADD153) by p38 MAP Kinase. *Science*. (1996) 272:1347–9. doi: 10.1126/science.272.5266.1347

- 241. Sawant M, Schwarz N, Windoffer R, Magin TM, Krieger J, Mücke N, et al. Threonine 150 phosphorylation of keratin 5 is linked to epidermolysis bullosa simplex and regulates filament assembly and cell viability. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2018) 138:627–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.10.011
- 242. Meir M, Burkard N, Ungewiß H, Diefenbacher M, Flemming S, Kannapin F, et al. Neurotrophic factor GDNF regulates intestinal barrier function in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Clin Invest.* (2019) 129:2824–40. doi: 10.1172/JCI120261
- 243. Wöll S, Windoffer R, Leube RE. p38 MAPK-dependent shaping of the keratin cytoskeleton in cultured cells. J Cell Biol. (2007) 177:795–807. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200703174
- 244. Mao X, Li H, Sano Y, Gaestel M, Mo Park J, Payne AS, et al. kinase 2 (MK2)dependent and -independent models of blister formation in pemphigus vulgaris. J Invest Dermatol. (2014) 134:68–76. doi: 10.1038/jid.2013.224
- 245. Larsen JK, Yamboliev IA, Weber LA, Gerthoffer WT. Phosphorylation of the 27-kDa heat shock protein *via* p38 MAP kinase and MAPKAP kinase in smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol.* (1997) 273:L930–40. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.1997.273.5.L930
- 246. Perng MD, Cairns L, van den IJssel P, Prescott A, Hutcheson AM, Quinlan RA. Intermediate filament interactions can be altered by HSP27 and alphaB-crystallin. *J Cell Sci.* (1999) 112:2099–112. doi: 10.1242/jcs.112.13.2099
- 247. Saito M, Stahley SN, Caughman CY, Mao X, Tucker DK, Payne AS, et al. Signaling dependent and independent mechanisms in pemphigus vulgaris blister formation. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e50696. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050696
- 248. Lee HE, Berkowitz P, Jolly PS, Diaz LA, Chua MP, Rubenstein DS. Biphasic activation of p38MAPK suggests that apoptosis is a downstream event in pemphigus acantholysis. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:12524–32. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M808204200
- 249. Chernyavsky AI, Arredondo J, Kitajima Y, Sato-Nagai M, Grando SA. Desmoglein versus non-desmoglein signaling in pemphigus acantholysis: characterization of novel signaling pathways downstream of pemphigus vulgaris antigens. *J Biol Chem.* (2007) 282:13804–12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M611365200
- Spindler V, Drenckhahn D, Zillikens D, Waschke J. Pemphigus IgG causes skin splitting in the presence of both desmoglein 1 and desmoglein 3. Am J Pathol. (2007) 171:906–16. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.070028
- 251. Liang J, Zeng X, Halifu Y, Chen W, Hu F, Wang P, et al. Blocking RhoA/ROCK inhibits the pathogenesis of pemphigus vulgaris by suppressing oxidative stress and apoptosis through TAK1/NOD2mediated NF-κB pathway. *Mol Cell Biochem.* (2017) 436:151–8. doi: 10.1007/s11010-017-3086-x
- 252. Hall A, Nobes CD. Rho GTPases: molecular switches that control the organization and dynamics of the actin cytoskeleton. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B, Biol Sci.* (2000) 355:965–70. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2000.0632
- Lee SH, Dominguez R. Regulation of actin cytoskeleton dynamics in cells. Mol Cells. (2010) 29:311–25. doi: 10.1007/s10059-010-0053-8
- 254. Parsons JT, Horwitz AR, Schwartz MA. Cell adhesion: integrating cytoskeletal dynamics and cellular tension. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2010) 11:633–43. doi: 10.1038/nrm2957
- Lewis JE, Wahl JK, Sass KM, Jensen PJ, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ. Crosstalk between adherens junctions and desmosomes depends on plakoglobin. J Cell Biol. (1997) 136:919–34. doi: 10.1083/jcb.136.4.919
- 256. Yin T, Getsios S, Caldelari R, Godsel LM, Kowalczyk AP, Müller EJ, et al. Mechanisms of plakoglobin-dependent adhesion: desmosome-specific functions in assembly and regulation by epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:40355–63. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M5066 92200
- 257. Al-Amoudi A, Castaño-Diez D, Devos DP, Russell RB, Johnson GT, Frangakis AS. The three-dimensional molecular structure of the desmosomal plaque. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:6480–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1019469108
- Marcozzi C, Burdett ID, Buxton RS, Magee AI. Coexpression of both types of desmosomal cadherin and plakoglobin confers strong intercellular adhesion. *J Cell Sci.* (1998) 111:495–509. doi: 10.1242/jcs.111.4.495
- 259. Pasdar M, Li Z, Chlumecky V. Plakoglobin: kinetics of synthesis, phosphorylation, stability, and interactions with desmoglein and E-cadherin. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton*. (1995) 32:258–72. doi: 10.1002/cm.970320403

- 260. Caldelari R, Bruin A de, Baumann D, Suter MM, Bierkamp C, Balmer V, et al. A central role for the armadillo protein plakoglobin in the autoimmune disease pemphigus vulgaris. J Cell Biol. (2001) 153:823–34. doi: 10.1083/jcb.153.4.823
- 261. Bruin A de, Caldelari R, Williamson L, Suter MM, Hunziker T, Wyder M, et al. Plakoglobin-dependent disruption of the desmosomal plaque in pemphigus vulgaris. *Exp Dermatol.* (2007) 16:468–75. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0625.2007.00557.x
- 262. Lo Muzio L, Pannone G, Staibano S, Mignogna MD, Rubini C, Farronato G, et al. Strict correlation between uPAR and plakoglobin expression in pemphigus vulgaris. J Cutan Pathol. (2002) 29:540–8. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0560.2002.290906.x
- Aoyama Y, Owada MK, Kitajima Y. A pathogenic autoantibody, pemphigus vulgaris-IgG, induces phosphorylation of desmoglein 3, and its dissociation from plakoglobin in cultured keratinocytes. *Eur J Immunol.* (1999) 29:2233–40. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199907)29:07<2233::AID-IMMU2233>3. 0.CO;2-4
- 264. Williamson L, Raess NA, Caldelari R, Zakher A, Bruin A de, Posthaus H, et al. Pemphigus vulgaris identifies plakoglobin as key suppressor of c-Myc in the skin. *EMBO J.* (2006) 25:3298–309. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601224
- Williamson L, Hunziker T, Suter MM, Müller EJ. Nuclear c-Myc: a molecular marker for early stage pemphigus vulgaris. J Invest Dermatol. (2007) 127:1549–55. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5700735
- 266. Pretel M, España A, Marquina M, Pelacho B, López-Picazo JM, López-Zabalza MJ. An imbalance in Akt/mTOR is involved in the apoptotic and acantholytic processes in a mouse model of pemphigus vulgaris. *Exp Dermatol.* (2009) 18:771–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2009.00893.x
- 267. Tsang SM, Brown L, Gadmor H, Gammon L, Fortune F, Wheeler A, et al. Desmoglein 3 acting as an upstream regulator of Rho GTPases, Rac-1/Cdc42 in the regulation of actin organisation and dynamics. *Exp Cell Res.* (2012) 318:2269–83. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.07.002
- Cirillo N, AlShwaimi E, McCullough M, Prime SS. Pemphigus vulgaris autoimmune globulin induces Src-dependent tyrosine-phosphorylation of plakophilin 3 and its detachment from desmoglein 3. *Autoimmunity*. (2014) 47:134–40. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2013.866100
- Oda K, Matsuoka Y, Funahashi A, Kitano H. A comprehensive pathway map of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling. *Mol Syst Biol.* (2005) 1:2005.0010. doi: 10.1038/msb4100014
- 270. Biscardi JS, Maa MC, Tice DA, Cox ME, Leu TH, Parsons SJ. c-Src-mediated phosphorylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor on Tyr845 and Tyr1101 is associated with modulation of receptor function. *J Biol Chem.* (1999) 274:8335–43. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.12.8335
- 271. Sayar BS, Rüegg S, Schmidt E, Sibilia M, Siffert M, Suter MM, et al. EGFR inhibitors erlotinib and lapatinib ameliorate epidermal blistering in pemphigus vulgaris in a non-linear, V-shaped relationship. *Exp Dermatol.* (2014) 23:33–8. doi: 10.1111/exd.12290
- 272. Bektas M, Jolly PS, Berkowitz P, Amagai M, Rubenstein DS, A. pathophysiologic role for epidermal growth factor receptor in pemphigus acantholysis. J Biol Chem. (2013) 288:9447–56. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.438010
- 273. Frusić-Zlotkin M, Raichenberg D, Wang X, David M, Michel B, Milner Y. Apoptotic mechanism in pemphigus autoimmunoglobulins-induced acantholysis-possible involvement of the EGF receptor. *Autoimmunity*. (2006) 39:563–75. doi: 10.1080/08916930600971836
- Hackel PO, Zwick E, Prenzel N, Ullrich A. Epidermal growth factor receptors: critical mediators of multiple receptor pathways. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* (1999) 11:184–9. doi: 10.1016/S0955-0674(99)80024-6
- 275. Lorch JH, Klessner J, Park JK, Getsios S, Wu YL, Stack MS, et al. Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition promotes desmosome assembly and strengthens intercellular adhesion in squamous cell carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem. (2004) 279:37191–200. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M405123200
- Duda P, Akula SM, Abrams SL, Steelman LS, Martelli A, Cocco L, et al. Targeting GSK3 and associated signaling pathways involved in cancer. *Cells*. (2020) 9:51110. doi: 10.3390/cells9051110
- 277. Freudlsperger C, Burnett JR, Friedman JA, Kannabiran VR, Chen Z, van Waes C. EGFR-PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas: attractive targets for molecular-oriented therapy. *Expert Opin Ther Targets.* (2011) 15:63–74. doi: 10.1517/14728222.2011.541440

- Doma E, Rupp C, Baccarini M. EGFR-Ras-Raf signaling in epidermal stem cells: roles in hair follicle development, regeneration, tissue remodeling and epidermal cancers. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2013) 14:19361–84. doi: 10.3390/ijms141019361
- 279. Valenzuela-Iglesias A, Burks HE, Arnette CR, Yalamanchili A, Nekrasova O, Godsel LM, et al. Desmoglein 1 regulates invadopodia by suppressing EGFR/Erk signaling in an erbin-dependent manner. *Mol Cancer Res.* (2019) 17:1195–206. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-18-0048
- Hammers CM, Stanley JR. Desmoglein-1, differentiation, and disease. J Clin Invest. (2013) 123:1419–22. doi: 10.1172/JCI69071
- Harmon RM, Simpson CL, Johnson JL, Koetsier JL, Dubash AD, Najor NA, et al. Desmoglein-1/Erbin interaction suppresses ERK activation to support epidermal differentiation. J Clin Invest. (2013) 123:1556–70. doi: 10.1172/JCI65220
- Li G, Gustafson-Brown C, Hanks SK, Nason K, Arbeit JM, Pogliano K, et al. c-Jun is essential for organization of the epidermal leading edge. *Dev Cell.* (2003) 4:865–77. doi: 10.1016/S1534-5807(03)00159-X
- Clarke N, Arenzana N, Hai T, Minden A, Prywes R. Epidermal growth factor induction of the c-jun promoter by a Rac pathway. *Mol Cell Biol.* (1998) 18:1065–73. doi: 10.1128/MCB.18.2.1065
- 284. Hiroyasu S, Turner CT, Richardson KC, Granville DJ. Proteases in pemphigoid diseases. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1454. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01454
- Grando SA. Decompensation in proteinase-inhibitor system and application of proteinase inhibitors in pemphigus and pemphigoid. J Dermatol Sci. (1992) 4:95–7. doi: 10.1016/0923-1811(92)90065-J
- Cirillo N, Lanza M, Rossiello L, Gombos F, Lanza A. Defining the involvement of proteinases in pemphigus vulgaris: evidence of matrix metalloproteinase-9 overexpression in experimental models of disease. *J Cell Physiol.* (2007) 212:36–41. doi: 10.1002/jcp.20997
- 287. Sumigray KD, Lechler T. Cell adhesion in epidermal development and barrier formation. *Curr Top Dev Biol.* (2015) 112:383–414. doi: 10.1016/bs.ctdb.2014.11.027
- Huttlin EL, Bruckner RJ, Paulo JA, Cannon JR, Ting L, Baltier K, et al. Architecture of the human interactome defines protein communities and disease networks. *Nature*. (2017) 545:505–9. doi: 10.1038/nature22366
- Sowa ME, Bennett EJ, Gygi SP, Harper JW. Defining the human deubiquitinating enzyme interaction landscape. *Cell.* (2009) 138:389–403. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.042
- Balla T. Phosphoinositides: tiny lipids with giant impact on cell regulation. *Physiol Rev.* (2013) 93:1019–137. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00028.2012
- 291. Streb H, Irvine RF, Berridge MJ, Schulz I. Release of Ca2+ from a nonmitochondrial intracellular store in pancreatic acinar cells by inositol-1,4,5trisphosphate. *Nature*. (1983) 306:67–9. doi: 10.1038/306067a0
- 292. Hewavitharana T, Deng X, Wang Y, Ritchie MF, Girish GV, Soboloff J, et al. Location and function of STIM1 in the activation of Ca²⁺ entry signals. *J Biol Chem.* (2008) 283:26252–62. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M802239200
- 293. Soboloff J, Rothberg BS, Madesh M, Gill DL. STIM proteins: dynamic calcium signal transducers. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2012) 13:549–65. doi: 10.1038/nrm3414
- 294. Putney JW. Capacitative calcium entry revisited. *Cell Calcium*. (1990) 11:611–24. doi: 10.1016/0143-4160(90)90016-N
- 295. Hoth M, Penner R. Depletion of intracellular calcium stores activates a calcium current in mast cells. *Nature*. (1992) 355:353–6. doi: 10.1038/355353a0
- 296. Nguyen NT, Han W, Cao W-M, Wang Y, Wen S, Huang Y, et al. Storeoperated calcium entry mediated by ORAI and STIM. *Compr Physiol.* (2018) 8:981–1002. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c170031
- 297. Zhang SL, Yeromin AV, Zhang XH-F, Yu Y, Safrina O, Penna A, et al. Genome-wide RNAi screen of Ca(2+) influx identifies genes that regulate Ca(2+) release-activated Ca(2+) channel activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:9357–62. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0603161103
- 298. Bird GS, Hwang S-Y, Smyth JT, Fukushima M, Boyles RR, Putney JW. STIM1 is a calcium sensor specialized for digital signaling. *Curr Biol.* (2009) 19:1724–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2009.08.022
- 299. Osada K, Seishima M, Kitajima Y. Pemphigus IgG activates and translocates protein kinase C from the cytosol to the particulate/cytoskeleton

fractions in human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol. (1997) 108:482-7. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12289726

- 300. Kitajima Y, Aoyama Y, Seishima M. Transmembrane signaling for adhesive regulation of desmosomes and hemidesmosomes, and for cellcell datachment induced by pemphigus IgG in cultured keratinocytes: involvement of protein kinase C. J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc. (1999) 4:137–44. doi: 10.1038/sj.jidsp.5640197
- Loschke F, Homberg M, Magin TM. Keratin isotypes control desmosome stability and dynamics through PKCα. J Invest Dermatol. (2016) 136:202–13. doi: 10.1038/JID.2015.403
- Bektas M, Jolly P, Rubenstein DS. Apoptotic pathways in pemphigus. Dermatol Res Pract. (2010) 2010:456841. doi: 10.1155/2010/456841
- 303. Sokolowski JD, Gamage KK, Heffron DS, Leblanc AC, Deppmann CD, Mandell JW. Caspase-mediated cleavage of actin and tubulin is a common feature and sensitive marker of axonal degeneration in neural development and injury. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2014) 2:16. doi: 10.1186/2051-5960-2-16
- 304. Vakifahmetoglu-Norberg H, Norberg E, Perdomo AB, Olsson M, Ciccosanti F, Orrenius S, et al. Caspase-2 promotes cytoskeleton protein degradation during apoptotic cell death. *Cell Death Dis.* (2013) 4:e940. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.463
- 305. Weiske J, Schöneberg T, Schröder W, Hatzfeld M, Tauber R, Huber O. The fate of desmosomal proteins in apoptotic cells. J Biol Chem. (2001) 276:41175–81. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M105769200
- 306. Li N, Zhao M, Wang J, Liu Z, Diaz LA. Involvement of the apoptotic mechanism in pemphigus foliaceus autoimmune injury of the skin. J Immunol. (2009) 182:711–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.182.1.711
- 307. Pacheco-Tovar D, López-Luna A, Herrera-Esparza R, Avalos-Díaz E. The caspase pathway as a possible therapeutic target in experimental pemphigus. *Autoimmune Dis.* (2011) 2011:563091. doi: 10.4061/2011/563091
- 308. Sanath AK, Devy AS, Aithal S, Kumar GS, Prasad BG, Pradeep PS. Caspase cascade pathways of apoptosis in oral pemphigus: an immunohistochemical study. J Oral Maxillofac Pathol. (2018) 22:48–53. doi: 10.4103/jomfp.JOMFP_79_17
- Puviani M, Marconi A, Cozzani E, Pincelli C. Fas ligand in pemphigus sera induces keratinocyte apoptosis through the activation of caspase-8. J Investig Dermatol. (2003) 120:164–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.2003.12014.x
- 310. Sayama K, Yonehara S, Watanabe Y, Miki Y. Expression of Fas antigen on keratinocytes *in vivo* and induction of apoptosis in cultured keratinocytes. J Investig Dermatol. (1994) 103:330–4. doi: 10.1111/1523-1747.ep12394858
- 311. Wang X, Brégégère F, Frusić-Zlotkin M, Feinmesser M, Michel B, Milner Y. Possible apoptotic mechanism in epidermal cell acantholysis induced by pemphigus vulgaris autoimmunoglobulins. *Apoptosis*. (2004) 9:131–43. doi: 10.1023/B:APPT.0000018795.05766.1f
- 312. Cuevas-Gonzalez JC, Vega-Memíje ME, García-Vázquez FJ, Aguilar-Urbano MA. Detection of apoptosis in pemphigus vulgaris by TUNEL technique. An Bras Dermatol. (2016) 91:296–9. doi: 10.1590/abd1806-4841.20164598
- Pelacho B, Natal C, España A, Sánchez-Carpintero I, Iraburu MJ, López-Zabalza MJ. Pemphigus vulgaris autoantibodies induce apoptosis in HaCaT keratinocytes. FEBS Lett. (2004) 566:6–10. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2004.03.107
- 314. Hariton WV, Galichet A, Vanden Berghe T, Overmiller AM, Mahoney MG, Declercq W, et al. Feasibility study for clinical application of caspase-3 inhibitors in Pemphigus vulgaris. *Exp Dermatol.* (2017) 26:1274–7. doi: 10.1111/exd.13458
- Lotti R, Shu E, Petrachi T, Marconi A, Palazzo E, Quadri M, et al. Soluble Fas ligand is essential for blister formation in pemphigus. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:370. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00370
- 316. Lotti R, Marconi A, Truzzi F, Dallaglio K, Gemelli C, Borroni RG, et al. A previously unreported function of $\beta(1)B$ integrin isoform in caspase-8dependent integrin-mediated keratinocyte death. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2010) 130:2569–77. doi: 10.1038/jid.2010.195
- 317. Marchenko S, Chernyavsky AI, Arredondo J, Gindi V, Grando SA. Antimitochondrial autoantibodies in pemphigus vulgaris: a missing link in disease pathophysiology. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:3695–704. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.081570
- Luyet C, Schulze K, Sayar BS, Howald D, Müller EJ, Galichet A. Preclinical studies identify non-apoptotic low-level caspase-3 as

therapeutic target in pemphigus vulgaris. PLoS ONE. (2015) 10:e0119809. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119809

- 319. Dusek RL, Getsios S, Chen F, Park JK, Amargo EV, Cryns VL, et al. The differentiation-dependent desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 1 is a novel caspase-3 target that regulates apoptosis in keratinocytes. *J Biol Chem.* (2006) 281:3614–24. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M508258200
- 320. Gil MP, Modol T, España A, López-Zabalza MJ. Inhibition of FAK prevents blister formation in the neonatal mouse model of pemphigus vulgaris. *Exp Dermatol.* (2012) 21:254–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2012.01441.x
- 321. España A, Mòdol T, Gil MP, López-Zabalza MJ. Neural nitric oxide synthase participates in pemphigus vulgaris acantholysis through upregulation of Rous sarcoma, mammalian target of rapamycin and focal adhesion kinase. *Exp Dermatol.* (2013) 22:125–30. doi: 10.1111/exd.12088
- 322. Tomasello F, Messina A, Lartigue L, Schembri L, Medina C, Reina S, et al. Outer membrane VDAC1 controls permeability transition of the inner mitochondrial membrane in cellulo during stress-induced apoptosis. *Cell Res.* (2009) 19:1363–76. doi: 10.1038/cr.2009.98
- 323. Magrì A, Reina S, Pinto V de. VDAC1 as pharmacological target in cancer and neurodegeneration: focus on its role in apoptosis. *Front Chem.* (2018) 6:108. doi: 10.3389/fchem.2018.00108
- 324. Tomasello MF, Guarino F, Reina S, Messina A, Pinto V de. The voltage-dependent anion selective channel 1 (VDAC1) topography in the mitochondrial outer membrane as detected in intact cell. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e81522. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081522
- 325. Shoshan-Barmatz V, Shteinfer-Kuzmine A, Verma A. VDAC1 at the intersection of cell metabolism, apoptosis, and diseases. *Biomolecules*. (2020) 10:111485. doi: 10.3390/biom10111485
- 326. Yang Z, Schumaker LM, Egorin MJ, Zuhowski EG, Guo Z, Cullen KJ. Cisplatin preferentially binds mitochondrial DNA and voltage-dependent anion channel protein in the mitochondrial membrane of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: possible role in apoptosis. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2006) 12:5817–25. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1037
- 327. Farb RM, Dykes R, Lazarus GS. Anti-epidermal-cell-surface pemphigus antibody detaches viable epidermal cells from culture plates by activation of proteinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1978) 75:459–63. doi: 10.1073/pnas.75.1.459
- Schmidt E, Gutberlet J, Siegmund D, Berg D, Wajant H, Waschke J. Apoptosis is not required for acantholysis in pemphigus vulgaris. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. (2009) 296:C162–72. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00161.2008
- 329. Schwerk C, Schulze-Osthoff K. Non-apoptotic functions of caspases in cellular proliferation and differentiation. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2003) 66:1453–8. doi: 10.1016/S0006-2952(03)00497-0
- 330. Iwatsuki K, Han GW, Fukuti R, Ohtsuka M, Kikuchi S, Akiba H, et al. Internalization of constitutive desmogleins with the subsequent induction

of desmoglein 2 in pemphigus lesions. Br J Dermatol. (1999) 140:35-43. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.1999.02604.x

- 331. Brennan D, Hu Y, Medhat W, Dowling A, Mahoney MG. Superficial dsg2 expression limits epidermal blister formation mediated by pemphigus foliaceus antibodies and exfoliative toxins. *Dermatol Res Pract.* (2010) 2010:410278. doi: 10.1155/2010/410278
- 332. Ishii K, Harada R, Matsuo I, Shirakata Y, Hashimoto K, Amagai M. In vitro keratinocyte dissociation assay for evaluation of the pathogenicity of anti-desmoglein 3 IgG autoantibodies in pemphigus vulgaris. J Investig Dermatol. (2005) 124:939–46. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-202X.2005.2 3714.x
- 333. Sigmund AM, Steinert LS, Egu DT, Bayerbach FC, Waschke J, Vielmuth F. Dsg2 upregulation as a rescue mechanism in pemphigus. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:581370. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.581370
- 334. Spindler V, Vielmuth F, Schmidt E, Rubenstein DS, Waschke J. Protective endogenous cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate signaling triggered by pemphigus autoantibodies. J Immunol. (2010) 185:6831–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002675
- Meier K, Holstein J, Solimani F, Waschke J, Ghoreschi K. Case report: apremilast for therapy-resistant pemphigus vulgaris. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:588315. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.588315
- 336. Jin X, Rosenbohm J, Kim E, Esfahani AM, Seiffert-Sinha K, Wahl JK, et al. Modulation of mechanical stress mitigates anti-Dsg3 antibodyinduced dissociation of cell-cell adhesion. *Adv Biol.* (2021) 5:e2000159. doi: 10.1002/adbi.202000159

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Schmitt and Waschke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Bruton Tyrosine Kinase Inhibition and Its Role as an Emerging Treatment in Pemphigus

Aikaterini Patsatsi^{1*} and Dedee F. Murrell²

¹ Autoimmune Bullous Diseases Unit, 2nd Dermatology Department, Aristotle University School of Medicine, Thessaloniki, Greece, ² Department of Dermatology, St George Hospital, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Bruton Tyrosine Kinase (BTK) has a key role in multiple pathways involved in inflammation and autoimmunity. Therefore, BTK has become a new therapeutic target for a group of hematologic and autoimmune disorders. The pharmaceutical industry has invested in the clinical development of BTK inhibitors during the last decade. Ibrutinib, for example, which was the first BTK inhibitor to be used in clinical trials, has two approved indications, mantle cell lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and remains under evaluation for additional indications. Rillzabrutinib (PRN1008) is a new, highly potent and selective inhibitor of BTK. Early studies performed in canine pemphigus demonstrated effectiveness. A proof-of-concept, multicenter, phase 2 trial has recently showed the efficacy and safety of oral rilzabrutinib in pemphigus vulgaris. In this mini review, we present evidence regarding the mechanisms affected by BTK inhibition and the concept of BTK inhibition as an emerging new treatment in pemphigus.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ralf J. Ludwig, University of Lübeck, Germany

Reviewed by:

Khalaf Kridin, Rambam Health Care Campus, Israel Daisuke Tsuruta, Osaka City University, Japan Christoph M. Hammers, University of Lübeck, Germany

> *Correspondence: Aikaterini Patsatsi katerinapatsatsi@gmail.com; apatsats@auth.gr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Dermatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 11 May 2021 Accepted: 19 July 2021 Published: 10 August 2021

Citation:

Patsatsi A and Murrell DF (2021) Bruton Tyrosine Kinase Inhibition and Its Role as an Emerging Treatment in Pemphigus. Front. Med. 8:708071. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.708071 Keywords: Bruton's tyrosine kinase, rilzabrutinib, BTK inhibition, Pemphigus vulgaris, pemphigus foliaceus

Bruton Tyrosine Kinase (BTK) has a key role in multiple pathways involved in inflammation and autoimmunity. Therefore, BTK has become a new therapeutic target for a group of hematologic and autoimmune disorders. The pharmaceutical industry has invested in the clinical development of BTK inhibitors during the last decade. Ibrutinib, for example, which was the first BTK inhibitor to be used in clinical trials, has two approved indications, mantle cell lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and remains under evaluation for additional indications (1).

In this mini review, we present evidence regarding the mechanisms affected by BTK inhibition and the concept of BTK inhibition as an emerging new treatment in pemphigus.

WHAT IS BTK

Bruton tyrosine kinase (BTK) is an enzyme with a major role in both the innate and the adaptive immune responses. It is part of the signaling pathway of most white blood cells, apart from T cells and plasma cells. BTK contributes significantly in the proliferation and differentiation of B-cells. It also has a role in myeloid cell inflammatory cytokine production. Thus, BTK is being investigated nowadays as a promising target for the treatment of immunological disorders and B-cell hematological malignancies.

DR. BRUTON

In 1952, the American pediatrician Dr. Ogden Bruton first described a case of an 8 year-old boy who presented with recurrent bacterial sepsis, osteomyelitis and otitis (2). The patient's failure

62

to produce antibodies was attributed to the lack of a gamma globulin fraction. This was the first case of X- linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA), a disease manifested by markedly decreased serum immunoglobulins and almost total absence of B cells in the peripheral blood. The defect in XLA was initially mapped in 1986 (3). In 1993, it was found that XLA was due to mutations in the gene encoding a cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase which was named Bruton tyrosine kinase (4). It is estimated that 1 in 150,000 males is born with this BTK gene deficiency.

A less severe X-linked immunodeficiency has been described in mice. An important observation was that these mice were resistant to acquiring lupus (5) and collagen induced arthritis (6).

AGAMMAGLOBULINAEMIA

X-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA) is an immunodeficiency typically presented with a failure to produce mature B lymphocytes and accompanied with a failure of Ig heavy chain rearrangement. The defect in XLA resides in Bruton tyrosine kinase (BTK), also known as B cell progenitor kinase (BPK) or agammaglobulinemia tyrosine kinase (ATK), a key regulator in B-cell development (7). There is a genetic heterogeneity in XLA. Most cases are caused by mutation in the SH3 Domain Containing Kinase Binding Protein 1 (SH3KBP1) gene on chromosome Xq22.

FAMILY OF TYROSINE KINASES

Tyrosine kinases are a large multigene protein family related to cancer and many diseases. More than 90 kinase genes have been identified in the human genome.

The tyrosine kinases are divided into two main classes, receptor and non-receptor tyrosine kinases.

The transmembrane receptor-linked kinases are 58 and distributed into 20 subfamilies. The non-receptor tyrosine kinases are 32 and placed in 10 subfamilies. This family of kinases function in multicellular pathways. Signals concerning cell differentiation, growth, adhesion, and death are transmitted through them and there is evidence that they play a role in cancer and in many diseases (8).

B-CELL MALIGNANCIES AND BTK INHIBITION

BTK acts as an essential kinase of B-cell–receptor signaling, intercedes actions within the tumor microenvironment and enhances the proliferation and survival of malignant cells. BTK is a driving factor for the activation of various active pathways of malignant cell viability, including the AKT, extracellular signal–regulated kinase (ERK), and nuclear factor kappa light-chain enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) pathways (1, 7).

Ibrutinib, an oral covalent BTK inhibitor, has substantiated clinical efficacy in newly diagnosed as well as relapsed lymphoma patients compared to traditional chemotherapy (9). The first paradigm of therapeutic benefit targeting BTK was the rapid approval of ibrutinib by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as a therapeutic option for chronic lymphocytic lymphoma/small lymphocytic lymphoma (CLL/SLL) and MCL (mantle cell lymphoma) in 2014 and 2013, respectively. It was subsequently approved as monotherapy in patients with lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (LPL)/ WM (Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia) and marginal zone lymphoma (MZL) in 2015 and 2017, respectively (10). Its safety profile has been a concern due to extended off-target kinase inhibition including Tec kinases, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and interleukin 2-inducible T cell kinase (ITK) (11). Associated side effects, such as atrial fibrillation, bleeding, infections, and arthralgias have led to treatment discontinuation in many patients with CLL.

The next generation of BTK inhibitors aimed to show less off-target inhibition and improved tolerability with comparable efficacy. Acalabrutinib, a selective covalent BTK inhibitor, was approved as a treatment option for CLL by the FDA in 2019 (12). Other next generation BTK inhibitors, such as zanubrutinib, tirabrutinib, vecabrutinib, and fenebrutinib, are currently studied (13).

PEMPHIGUS AND SIGNALING PATHWAYS

In pemphigus, in genetically susceptible individuals, an autoimmune reaction is driven by CD4 autoreactive T lymphocytes which are specific for Dsg molecules and induce the production of anti Dsg- antibodies by B lymphocytes (14).

In pemphigus vulgaris (PV) and pemphigus foliaceus (PF), target antigen specific autoantibodies induce keratinocyte detachment (acantholysis) and blister development.

Dsg1 is mainly expressed in the upper layers of the epidermis while Dsg3 is mostly expressed in the lower. The Dsg1/Dsg3 compensation theory explains why skin and mucosa are not equally affected by the target antigen specific autoantibodies in different pemphigus forms (15). In PV, for example, sera with Dsg3- specific IgG do not induce suprabasal acantholysis because Dsg1 is sufficiently expressed and compensates epidermal adhesion in the absence of Dsg3. Anti-Dsg3 IgG causes loss of adhesion in the mucous membranes as there is a low expression of Dsg1, which is insufficient to compensate disabled Dsg3 adhesion (15).

The exact cascade resulting in pemphigus acantholysis is still under research. Three major events following the binding of anti-Dsg IgG have been described. The direct interference with Dsg transinteraction through homophilic and heterophilic binding of Dsg molecules to Dsg and Dsc molecules on neighboring cells is a phenomenon termed steric hindrance. Dsg transinteraction via steric hindrance and altered outside-in-signaling by pemphigus autoantibodies leads to loss of desmosomal integrity and blister formation (14, 15).

Pemphigus is also known as a desmosome-remodeling disease because remodeling of Dsg expression on the cell surface results in internalization and depletion of Dsg. This depletion process of Dsg leads to acantholysis mainly induced by a direct interference of trans-interaction of Dsg. Desmosomes become fragile as they lose their adhesive properties at protein levels and are more susceptible for subsequent depletion processes (16).

Activation of keratinocyte intracellular signaling pathways is a crucial component of pemphigus IgG-mediated acantholysis. The signaling events impair the cytoskeletal architecture. These mechanisms don't apply equally for Dsg1 IgG- and Dsg3 IgGbinding. Upon targeting of Dsg1, Ca2+ influx is induced and therefore the extracellular-signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway is activated. On the other hand, after binding of Dsg3-specific IgG, signaling via p38MAPK occurs within the epidermis but not in mucosal tissues, and SRC family (nonreceptor tyrosine kinases) and EGFR pathways are activated (17). According to the current literature, it is debated whether non-Dsg antibodies contribute to pemphigus phenotype (18–20).

In studies where PV Dsg-3 autoantibodies were used to initiate desmosome signaling in human keratinocyte cell cultures, it has been observed that PV IgG binding to Dsg3 activates desmosomal signal transduction cascades resulting in p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and Heat Shock Protein—HSP27 phosphorylation and cytoskeletal reorganization. Both p38MAPK and HSP27 regulate components of the cytoskeleton including actin and intermediate filaments. These observations supported a mechanistic role for signaling in PV IgG-induced acantholysis. Consequently, it was suggested that targeting desmosome signaling via inhibition of p38MAPK and HSP27 phosphorylation may act as a novel targeted treatment for PV and other desmosome-related blistering diseases (21).

It was found also that PV IgG causes internalization of cellsurface Dsg3 into endosomes as early as 4 h. This cell-surface Dsg3 internalization and depletion was blocked by p38MAPK inhibition in pemphigus mouse models (22). The same authors demonstrated two peaks of p38MAPK activation in pemphigus keratinocyte tissue culture and mouse models. Examination of the temporal relationship of p38MAPK phosphorylation and apoptosis showed that apoptosis occurs at or after the second peak of p38MAPK activation. The ability of inhibitors of p38MAPK to block activation of the proapoptotic proteinase caspase-3 and the time course of p38MAPK activation and apoptotic markers suggest that activation of apoptosis is downstream to p38MAPK activation in pemphigus acantholysis. Therefore, blocking caspase-dependent Dsg degradation may augment cell-cell adherence and reduce the acantholytic effects of pathogenic IgG (23).

The activation of intracellular signaling events mediated by p38MAPK and HSP27 was also observed in pemphigus patient skin and was analogous to the increased phosphorylation of those two proteins (24). All the above autoantibody-triggered cellular signaling pathways are considered as pathogenic co-mechanisms in pemphigus but, none can solely induce acantholysis.

In pemphigus lesions dermal infiltrates contain interstitial and perivascular neutrophils and eosinophils evolving from innate immune response activation. Hence, not only adaptive but also innate immunological pathways may provide therapeutic targets.

The concept behind the employment of BTK inhibition in pemphigus is that a selective BTK inhibitor has the potential to focus on multiple pathways involved in autoimmunity, like modulation of BCR-mediated B-cell pathways, inhibition of Fc ϵ R-induced cytokine release from monocytes and macrophages, mediator release, neutrophil migration and Fc γ R-induced mast cell degranulation.

IBRUTINIB REPORT FOR A PARANEOPLASTIC (PNP) CASE

The effectiveness of BTK inhibition in pemphigus was first reported in a 51-year patient who suffered from chronic lymphocytic leukemia and developed paraneoplastic pemphigus (PNP). CLL disease control was achieved with ibrutinib and together there was a significant improvement of his pemphigus lesions. This was the first indication that ibrutinib may be added as a treatment option for pemphigus (25).

RILZABRUTINIB BIOLOGY

Rillzabrutinib (PRN1008) is a highly potent inhibitor of BTK with unique reversible covalent binding that has the potential to improve the safety profile compared with irreversible BTK inhibitors such as ibrutinib.

Rilzabrutinib binds in a covalent manner, enhancing selectivity by forming a chemical bond to a particular cysteine residue present in BTK. The addition of the covalent binding site increases the selectivity of rilzabrutinib for BTK vs. other kinases and reduces the dissociation rate to provide BTK binding dynamics that allow for convenient dosing. Reversible BTK binding allows rapid restoration of BTK function following rilzabrutinib withdrawal and reduces off-target effects (26).

A significant advantage of rilzabrutinib is that only short exposure is required to get a clinical benefit (27). Low systemic exposure reduces side effects, increases tolerability and promotes effectiveness and drug survival.

Rilzabrutinib acts on a range of immune cells. It inhibits B cell activation through inhibition of the BCR. However, it doesn't cause B cell depletion or cellular cytotoxicity.

This is a key difference from current therapies like rituximab because it doesn't provoke prolonged immune suppression. Additionally, rilzabrutinib rapidly inhibits Ab-mediated immune cell activation through Fc-receptor signaling. The activation of macrophages and monocytes via cross-linking of IgG and FcgR is a BTK dependent function; the ability of rilzabrutinib to prevent IgG mediated FcgR activation was illustrated in rodent models of lupus nephritis and immune thrombocytopenia (ITP). Rilzabrutinib has shown a unique dual Ab mechanistic approach over the standard treatments for immune-mediated diseases, based on its fast action on halting self-reactive Ab signaling and its longer-term impact on the formation of new autoantibodies (27).

Inhibition of BTK by rilzabrutinib also disrupts the signaling pathway for neutrophil recruitment. This alleviation of neutrophil recruitment may also be beneficial for patients with immune-mediated disorders, because of the reduced



improvement with rilzabrutinib dosing as monotherapy (n = 4 dogs). (C) BTK occupancy measurements ranged from 50 to 93% at the 4-h (peak) and 24-h (trough) timepoints [adopted by Langrish et al. (27)].

neutrophil—produced reactive oxygen species and associated tissue damage (28).

Rilzabrutinib does not affect the normal platelet aggregation and therefore, there is not an increased risk of bleeding as with irreversible BTKis, e.g., ibrutinib. Moreover, it isn't active on B cells which are stimulated via a non-BTK-mediated pathway or on T cells, keeping other receptors and signaling pathways that are vital for maintaining immunity, antiviral responses and lymphocyte counts in immune-compromised patients (27).

It is important that rilzabrutinib specifically suppresses inflammatory cellular activities in cells activated in immunemediated diseases like mast cells, basophils and neutrophils without killing them. This action is fast, as evidenced by rilzabrutinib's rapid efficacy in a mouse model of immune thrombocytopenia (ITP) and in rats with collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) (27).

In a phase 1 study in 62 healthy volunteers, rilzabrutinib was well-tolerated following oral administration. No severe adverse events occurred during the trial. The most common adverse events were mild and mainly were associated with the gastrointestinal system (29). Another BTK inhibitor-PRN473 showed a promising response in canine pemphigus foliaceus (PF) but had lower bioavailability in human than PRN1008 (30). In a Phase II canine pemphigus foliaceus study with PRN1008, all dogs showed reduction in lesions and canine PDAI score during the first 2 weeks of treatment and continued to achieve near complete remission by 20 weeks (31). Rilazabrutinib was granted Orphan Drug Designation by FDA for the treatment of patients with PV, after the encouraging results of a phase II open-label cohort study examining rilzabrutinib in adult patients with PV (Figure 1) (32).

The results of this proof-of-concept, multicenter, phase 2 trial examining the efficacy and safety of oral rilzabrutinib in PV were published recently (33). Rilzabrutinib alone, or in combination with low CS doses was safe with fast clinical response in PV patients (33). Following this proof-of-concept trial, a phase 3 pivotal study (PEGASUS; NCT03762265) of rilzabrutinib vs. placebo with CS taper is underway for PV.

CONCLUSION

BTK inhibitors offer a new paradigm for the treatment of autoimmune diseases and AIBD in particular, with pemphigus having the most compelling unmet need, since they potentially act much faster via the innate immune system, compared with rituximab. Early studies performed in canine pemphigus demonstrated effectiveness. A proof-of-concept, multicenter, phase 2 trial recently showed the efficacy and safety of oral rilzabrutinib in pemphigus vulgaris and a large phase III RCT of rilzabrutinib vs. placebo is currently underway.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed in conception, literature search, and writing.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

On-line access to this article was supported by Sanofi Genzyme.

REFERENCES

- Solouki S, August A, Huang W. Non-receptor tyrosine kinase signaling in autoimmunity and therapeutic implications. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2019) 201:39– 50. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2019.05.008
- 2. Bruton OC. Agammaglobulinemia. Pediatrics. (1952) 9:722-8.
- Conley ME, Brown P, Pickard AR, Buckley RH, Miller DS, Raskind WH, et al. Expression of the gene defect in X -linked agammaglobulinemia. *N Engl J Med.* (1986) 315:564–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198608283150907
- Vetrie D, Vorechovský I, Sideras P, Holland J, Davies A, Flinter F, et al. The gene involved in X-linked agammaglobulinaemia is a member of the src family of protein-tyrosine kinases. *Nature*. (1993) 361:226–33. doi: 10.1038/361226a0
- Steinberg BJ, Smathers PA, Frederiksen K, Steinberg AD. Ability of the xid gene to prevent autoimmunity in (NZB X NZW)F1 mice during the course of their natural history, after polyclonal stimulation, or following immunization with DNA. J Clin Invest. (1982) 70:587–97. doi: 10.1172/JCI110651
- Jansson L, Holmdahl R. Genes on the X chromosome affect development of collagen-induced arthritis in mice. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (1993) 94:459– 65. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.1993.tb08218.x
- Rawlings DJ, Witte ON. Bruton's tyrosine kinase is a key regulator in B-cell development. *Immunol Rev.* (1994) 138:105– 19. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.1994.tb00849.x
- Robinson DR, Wu YM, Lin SF. The protein tyrosine kinase family of the human genome. Oncogene. (2000) 19:5548–57. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1203957
- Byrd JC, Furman RR, Coutre SE, Flinn IW, Burger JA, Blum KA, et al. Targeting BTK with ibrutinib in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. (2013) 369:32–42. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215637
- Xue C, Wang X, Zhang L, Qu Q, Zhang Q, Jiang Y. Ibrutinib in B-cell lymphoma: single fighter might be enough? *Cancer Cell Int.* (2020) 20:467. doi: 10.1186/s12935-020-01518-y
- Stephens DM, Byrd JC. How I manage ibrutinib intolerance and complications in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood.* (2019) 133:1298–307. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-11-846808
- Fakhri B, Andreadis C. The role of acalabrutinib in adults with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Ther Adv Hematol.* (2021) 12:1–8. doi: 10.1177/2040620721990553
- Rhodes JM, Mato AR. Zanubrutinib (BGB-3111), a second-generation selective covalent inhibitor of Bruton's tyrosine kinase and its utility in treating chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Drug Des Devel Ther.* (2021) 15:919– 26. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S250823
- Schmidt E, Kasperkiewicz M, Joly P. Pemphigus. Lancet. (2019) 394:882– 94. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31778-7
- Pollmann R, Schmidt T, Eming R, Hertl M. Pemphigus: a comprehensive review on pathogenesis, clinical presentation and novel therapeutic approaches. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* (2018) 54:1–25. doi: 10.1007/s12016-017-8662-z
- Kitajima Y. 150th Anniversary series: desmosomes and autoimmune disease, perspective of dynamic desmosome remodeling and its impairments in pemphigus. *Cell Commun Adhes*. (2014) 21:269–80. doi: 10.3109/15419061.2014.943397
- Walter E, Vielmuth F, Wanuske MT, Seifert M, Pollmann R, Eming R, et al. Role of Dsg1- and Dsg3-mediated signaling in pemphigus autoantibodyinduced loss of keratinocyte cohesion. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1128. ddoi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01128
- Bieber K, Kridin K, Emtenani S, Boch K, Schmidt E, Ludwig RJ. Milestones in personalized medicine in pemphigus and pemphigoid. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 11:591971. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.591971
- Hammers CM, Stanley JR. Recent advances in understanding pemphigus and bullous pemphigoid. J Invest Dermatol. (2020) 140:733–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2019.11.005
- Hammers CM, Stanley JR. Mechanisms of disease: pemphigus and bullous pemphigoid. Annu Rev Pathol Mech Dis. (2016) 11:175–97. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-012615-044313
- Berkowitz P, Hu P, Liu Z, Diaz LA, Enghild JJ, Chua MP, et al. Desmosome signaling. Inhibition of p38MAPK prevents pemphigus vulgaris IgGinduced cytoskeleton reorganization. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:23778–84. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M501365200

- Jolly PS, Berkowitz P, Bektas M, Lee HE, Chua M, Diaz LA, et al. p38MAPK signaling and desmoglein-3 internalization are linked events in pemphigus acantholysis. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:8936–41. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.087999
- Lee HE, Berkowitz P, Jolly PS, Diaz LA, Chua MP, Rubenstein DS. Biphasic activation of p38MAPK suggests that apoptosis is a downstream event in pemphigus acantholysis. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:12524–32. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M808204200
- Berkowitz P, Diaz LA, Hall RP, Rubenstein DS. Induction of p38MAPK and HSP27 phosphorylation in pemphigus patient skin [5]. J Invest Dermatol. (2008) 128:738–40. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5701080
- 25. Lee A, Sandhu S, Imlay-Gillespie L, Mulligan S, Shumack S. Successful use of Bruton's kinase inhibitor, ibrutinib, to control paraneoplastic pemphigus in a patient with paraneoplastic autoimmune multiorgan syndrome and chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Australas J Dermatol.* (2017) 58:e240–2. doi: 10.1111/ajd.12615
- Bradshaw JM, McFarland JM, Paavilainen VO, Bisconte A, Tam D, Phan VT, et al. Prolonged and tunable residence time using reversible covalent kinase inhibitors. *Nat Chem Biol.* (2015) 11:525–31. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1817
- Langrish CL, Bradshaw JM, Francesco MR, Owens TD, Xing Y, Shu J, et al. Preclinical efficacy and anti-inflammatory mechanisms of action of the Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor rilzabrutinib for immune-mediated disease. J Immunol. (2021) 206:1454–68. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.2001130
- Mittal M, Siddiqui MR, Tran K, Reddy SP, Malik AB. Reactive oxygen species in inflammation and tissue injury. *Antioxidants Redox Signal*. (2014) 20:1126–67. doi: 10.1089/ars.2012.5149
- 29. Smith PF, Krishnarajah J, Nunn PA, Hill RJ, Karr D, Tam D, et al. A phase I trial of PRN1008, a novel reversible covalent inhibitor of Bruton's tyrosine kinase, in healthy volunteers. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2017) 83:2367–76. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13351
- Goodale EC, Varjonen KE, Outerbridge CA, Bizikova P, Borjesson D, Murrell DF, et al. Efficacy of a Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor (PRN-473) in the treatment of canine pemphigus foliaceus. *Vet Dermatol.* (2020) 31:291.e71. doi: 10.1111/vde.12841
- Goodale EC, White SD, Bizikova P, Borjesson D, Murrell DF, Bisconte A, et al. Open trial of Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitor (PRN1008) in the treatment of canine pemphigus foliaceus. *Vet Dermatol.* (2020) 31:410.e110. doi: 10.1111/vde.12878
- Bilgic Temel A, Murrell DF. Pharmacological advances in pemphigus. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2019) 46:44–9. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2019. 01.001
- 33. Murrell DF, Patsatsi A, Stavropoulos P, Baum S, Zeeli T, Kern JS, et al. Proofof-concept for clinical effects of oral rilzabrutinib, the first Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor for pemphigus vulgaris: the phase 2 BELIEVE study. *Brit J Dermatol.* (2021). doi: 10.1111/bjd.20431. [Epub ahead of print].

Conflict of Interest: AP reports honoraria as a speaker/advisor/investigator from abbvie, Jannsen, Leo Pharma, Pharmaserv—Lilly, Genesis Pharma, Novartis, Pfizer, Principia, Sanofi, UCB. DM reports advisory board and principal investigator roles for Principia Biopharma and Roche; principal investigator for clinical studies/advisor supported by AbbVie, Amgen, ArgenX, AstraZeneca, Botanix, Dermira, Eli Lilly, Galderma, Janssen, Leo, Lilly, Novartis, Pfizer, Regeneron, Sanofi, Sun Pharma, and UCB; patent for EB with topical sirolimus.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Patsatsi and Murrell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Topical Application of the PI3Kβ-Selective Small Molecule Inhibitor TGX-221 Is an Effective Treatment Option for Experimental Epidermolysis Bullosa Acquisita

Hannah Zillikens¹, Anika Kasprick¹, Colin Osterloh¹, Natalie Gross¹, Michael Radziewitz¹, Cindy Hass², Veronika Hartmann¹, Martina Behnen-Härer³, Nancy Ernst¹, Katharina Boch¹, Gestur Vidarsson⁴, Remco Visser⁴, Tamás Laskay³, Xinhua Yu², Frank Petersen², Ralf J. Ludwig¹ and Katja Bieber^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Oleg E. Akilov, University of Pittsburgh, United States

Reviewed by:

Hiroaki Iwata, Hokkaido University, Japan Hiroshi Koga, Kurume University School of Medicine, Japan

*Correspondence:

Katja Bieber katja.bieber@uksh.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Dermatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 22 May 2021 Accepted: 17 August 2021 Published: 07 September 2021

Citation:

Zillikens H, Kasprick A, Osterloh C, Gross N, Radziewitz M, Hass C, Hartmann V, Behnen-Härer M, Ernst N, Boch K, Vidarsson G, Visser R, Laskay T, Yu X, Petersen F, Ludwig RJ and Bieber K (2021) Topical Application of the PI3Kβ-Selective Small Molecule Inhibitor TGX-221 Is an Effective Treatment Option for Experimental Epidermolysis Bullosa Acquisita. Front. Med. 8:713312. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.713312 ¹ Lübeck Institute of Experimental Dermatology and Center for Research on Inflammation of the Skin, University of Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany, ² Priority Area Asthma and Allergy, Research Center Borstel, Airway Research Center North, German Center for Lung Research, Borstel, Germany, ³ Department for Infectious Diseases and Microbiology, University of Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany, ⁴ Sanquin Research and Landsteiner Laboratory, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Class I phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3K) have been implemented in pathogenesis of experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita (EBA), an autoimmune skin disease caused by type VII collagen (COL7) autoantibodies. Mechanistically, inhibition of specific PI3K isoforms, namely PI3Kβ or PI3Kδ, impaired immune complex (IC)-induced neutrophil activation, a key prerequisite for EBA pathogenesis. Data unrelated to EBA showed that neutrophil activation is also modulated by PI3K α and γ , but their impact on the EBA has, so far, remained elusive. To address this and to identify potential therapeutic targets, we evaluated the impact of a panel of PI3K isoform-selective inhibitors (PI3Ki) on neutrophil function in vitro, and in pre-clinical EBA mouse models. We document that distinctive, and EBA pathogenesis-related activation-induced neutrophil in vitro functions depend on distinctive PI3K isoforms. When mice were treated with the different PI3Ki, selective blockade of PI3Kα (alpelisib), PI3Kγ (AS-604850), or PI3Kβ (TGX-221) impaired clinical disease manifestation. When applied topically, only TGX-221 impaired induction of experimental EBA. Ultimately, multiplex kinase activity profiling in the presence of disease-modifying PI3Ki identified unique signatures of different PI3K isoform-selective inhibitors on the kinome of IC-activated human neutrophils. Collectively, we here identify topical PI3Kβ inhibition as a potential therapeutic target for the treatment of EBA.

Keywords: neutrophils, bullous skin diseases, signaling, PI3K, immune-complex induced autoimmunity

INTRODUCTION

Class I phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3Ks) are heterodimers consisting of one regulatory and one homologous p110 catalytic subunit. The p110 α and p110 β isoforms are ubiquitously expressed and mice lacking p110 α or p110 β die during embryonic development (1, 2). The p110 δ subunit is primarily found in leukocytes (3, 4), and has essential roles in development and function of

67

lymphocytes, mast cells and possibly neutrophils (5–7). The p110 γ subunit is highly expressed in the immune system but also in other tissues, including heart and central nervous system (8, 9). Regarding its role in immune homeostasis, aberrant PI3K signaling may lead to hematologic malignancies or chronic inflammatory diseases (10, 11).

In pemphigoid diseases, a group of autoimmune skin diseases, neutrophils are recruited to the sites of autoantibody deposits and are activated by binding to the tissue-bound immune complexes (ICs) (12). Binding to ICs is facilitated by FcyR expressed by neutrophils. Signaling downstream of activating FcyR is initiated by receptor clustering, leading to activation of Src family kinases and subsequently SYK. Next, downstream kinases, including PI3K, are activated (13-15). Neutrophils express all 4 class I PI3K isoforms (16, 17). Of these, PI3K $\beta/\gamma/\delta$, but not p110 α , have been implicated to regulate neutrophil activation. More specifically, PI3K β (16) and PI3K δ (18) were shown to be crucial for IC-induced neutrophil activation, specifically the release of reactive oxygen species (ROS). PI3Ky controls ROS release from fMLP-stimulated human and murine neutrophils (19), as well as neutrophil migration toward GM-CSF (17). PI3K8 inhibition also leads to selective impairment of neutrophil functions, including IC-, C5a-, and fMLP-induced ROS release, while no impact on PMA-induced ROS release is observed. Furthermore, IL-8- or fMLP-induced migration are impaired by PI3K8 inhibition, while C5a-induced migration remains unaffected (18). Furthermore, TNF- and LPS-induced cytokine release from neutrophils (19, 20) and extravasation (7) are controlled by PI3K8.

Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita (EBA) is a chronic autoimmune pemphigoid-like disease characterized and caused by autoantibodies targeting type VII collagen (COL7) (21, 22). Two distinct clinical EBA manifestations have been described: (i) mechano-bullous EBA and (ii) inflammatory EBA. Overall, EBA is notoriously difficult to treat-combined immunosuppressive treatment induces remissions after 9 months (23-25). Therefore, the implementation of novel therapeutic strategies would be of great benefit. Insights from model systems of the disease that reflect the inflammatory variant of EBA (26) showed that IC activation of neutrophils is a key prerequisite to induce tissue pathology in EBA (21). In line with this notion, inhibition of class I PI3K has been shown to dampen clinical disease manifestation in pre-clinical EBA models. More specifically, PI3KB deficient mice are almost completely protected from induction of experimental EBA by transfer of COL7 antibodies (16), and pharmacological PI3K8 inhibition has therapeutic effects in immunization-induced EBA (18). The impact of the PI3Ka and y-isoforms on EBA has, however remained elusive. Systemic blockade of the PI3K signaling pathway is associated with severe adverse events, i.e., neutropenia and pulmonary infections (27). Thus, for the treatment of EBA, topical application of PI3K inhibitors (PI3Ki) would be ideal in terms of efficacy and safety. To address these questions, we here used a panel of 7 PI3Ki with selectivity profiles covering all PI3K isoforms in experimental models of EBA.

Based on the current understanding of autoantibody-induced tissue pathology in the inflammatory variant of EBA (12, 21), where neutrophils migrate form the blood into the skin, form

an immunological synapse by binding to the immune complexes located at the dermal-epidermal junction, and ultimately release ROS, we evaluated the impact of the PI3Ki on (i) IL-8-induced neutrophil migration, (ii) IC-induced neutrophil spreading, and (iii) IC-induced ROS release form neutrophils. For pre-clinical translation, the impact of systemic and topical PI3Ki treatment was evaluated in antibody transfer-induced EBA.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Studies With Human Biomaterial

For isolation of PMNs and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), normal human blood was obtained. Healthy controls gave their written informed consent prior to study participation. All of the experiments using human samples were approved by the local ethics committee (University of Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany, AZ 09-140 and AZ 20-341) and were performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Mice

C57BL/6J mice (Charles River, Sulzfeld, Germany) were bred in a specific pathogen free environment and provided standard mouse chow and acidified drinking water *ad libitum*. Gendermatched mice were used for experimental EBA models at the age of 8–10 weeks. Animal experiments were approved by local authorities of the Animal Care and Use Committee (Kiel, Germany) and performed by certified personnel [AZ122.5(108/08-15)] following the ARIVE guidelines.

Chemicals

If not otherwise stated, all other chemicals were applied from Merck or Sigma. All PI3K blocker were supplied by Selleckchem (Houston, Tx, USA). A list of used drugs including IC_{50} values and concentration of oral administration is prepared as **Supplementary Table 1**. For *in vitro* assays, 10 mM were dissolved in DMSO and further diluted in RPMI media. Final concentration for all *in vitro* assays were 1,000, 100, 10, 1, and 0.1 nM. For all *in vitro* assays, the final DMSO concentration was adjusted to 0.01%. All *in vitro* data were recorded in technical duplicates, and the mean of the results was normalized to the value obtained from stimulated cells without PI3K inhibition.

For *in vivo* experiments (oral administration), PI3K inhibitors were dissolved in 10% DMSO/0.8% methylcellulose/0.1% Tween-80. For topical administration to the ear 100 μ l 0.9 mg/ml PI3K inhibitors in DMSO: Acetone, 1: 25 were administered daily by dropping.

Human Polymorphonuclear (PMN) Purification

For the PamGene analysis, FACS, NET formation, cytokine release, and ROS release assays, human PMNs were isolated from whole blood samples using a PolymorphPrepTM (Progen, Heidelberg, Germany) gradient according to the manufacturer's instructions. The purity of the PMNs was evaluated by flow cytometry (MACSQuant[®] Analyzer 10, Miltenyi) using fluorescent staining with anti-human CD14 (clone HCD14,

Biolegend) and anti-human CD15 antibodies (clone VIMC6, Miltenyi). For all experiments, the purity of PMNs was >85%.

For chemotaxis assay, PMNs were isolated from normal human blood using FicollTM (28). In detail, blood was diluted 1:3 in HES/PBS (1:1) and allowed to sediment for 45 min. Supernatant (20 ml) was slowly added to 8 ml of FicollTM and centrifuged at 850 × g for 25 min (RT) without braking. The sediment (containing granulocytes) was erythrocyte lysed with Aq. dest. for 45 s, and the reaction was stopped with the same volume of 2xPBS After washing, the cells were diluted to 4 × 10^6 /ml in RPMI 1640 (without phenol red) containing 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA).

For spreading assay, human blood is mixed 1: 2 with 1% Polyvinylalcohol at RT, and left at RT for 30–45 min and slowly layered onto Pancoll (PAN biotech, Aidenbach, Germany). The tube is centrifuged for 20 min without brake at $850 \times g$ at RT. The supernatant is discarded and the PMNs are transferred into a fresh 50 ml tube by prior resuspension and erythrocyte lysis with 1 ml of distilled water for a total of 45 s. The lysis is stopped with 2xPBS and the tube is filled up with 1xPBS (without Ca/Mg). After centrifugation, the cell pellet is washed and then resuspended with RPMI 1640 (without phenol red) containing mit Glutamin, 2 g/L NaHCO3,1% FCS, 2 g/L Glucose 25 mM HEPES at a concentration of 2×10^6 cells/ml.

IC-Induced ROS Release From PMNs

A LumiTrackTM high binding 96-well-plate (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) was coated with immunocomplexes (ICs) consisting of human COL7E-F antigen at a final concentration of 2.5 µg/ml and anti-human COL7 IgG1 antibody at a final concentration of 1.8 µg/ml, as described previously (29). A total of 2×10^5 cells were added per well in the presence/absence of PI3K inhibitors at the indicated concentrations. As controls, antigens or antibodies alone were added to the wells. Just before the measurement was taken, luminol was added to the wells, and the chemiluminescence resulting from the ROS production was measured immediately in a luminescence reader (Perkin Elmer GloMax). The ROS release was measured for 1 s per well, sixty-six times for a period of ~2 h at a constant temperature of 37°C (29).

Neutrophil Adhesion and Spreading on IC

A 96-well E-plate (ACEA bioscience, Bremen, Germany) was coated with 0.5 μ g/well mCOL7 and incubated overnight at 4°C. The E-plate is washed with PBS/1%BSA/0.05% Tween20 and dried for 2 h at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Thereafter, the plate was incubated with 1.8 μ g/ml anti mCOL7-IgG for 1 h at 37°C to perform immobilized ICs. The plate is then washed again and incubated with the cell suspension (2 × 10⁶/ml) w/o PI3K inhibitors. IC-stimulated with vehicle cells serve as positive control and the negative control consists of unstimulated cells, antigen or antibodies and cells. Adhesion was measured for 2 h. Neutrophil adhesion was monitored by phase contrast microscopy quantified by real-time impedance measurement by using the xCELLigence system (Roche, Penzberg, Germany) (30). The electrical impedance reflects the surface area covered by cells, and is therefore associated with the immune complex

mediated neutrophil adhesion. It is expressed as cell index in arbitrary units. As microscopic control, cells were stimulated in addition with ICs consisting of human COL7E-F antigen at a final concentration of 2.5 μ g/ml and anti-human COL7 IgG1 antibody at a final concentration of 1.8 μ g/ml for 2 h at 37°C and treated w/o 10 μ M of the respective PI3K inhibitors.

IC-Induced Stimulation of PMNs and Determination of Cytokine Concentrations and Toxicity

A high binding 96-well-plate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was coated with ICs consisting of human COL7E-F antigen at a final concentration of 2.5 µg/ml and anti-human COL7 IgG1 antibody at a final concentration of $1.8 \,\mu$ g/ml, as described previously (29). A total of 2×10^5 cells were added per well w/o PI3K inhibitors at the indicated concentrations. As controls, antigens or antibodies alone were added to the wells. Cells were incubated for 2 h at 37°C in an atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. The supernatant was analyzed by Legendplex (Biolegend, San Diego, USA) for TNF and IL-6 among others (for a list see Supplementary Table 2) following the manufacturer's protocol. For FACS analysis, single cells were stained for the following surface markers using standard FACS procedures: anti-CD15 (clone VIMC6) and anti-CD45 (clone H130) both from Biolegend or Miltenyi. For live/dead staining, Annexin V and PI were used in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol. Cells were first gated for scatter (SSC-A/FSC-A) and singlets (FSC-H/FSC-A). The CD45+/CD15+ gates were further analyzed for doublepositive staining of PI and Annexin V for the measurement of toxicity/survival (CD15posCD45posPInegAnnexin Vneg cells are identified as live cells). Measurements were performed on a Miltenyi MacsQuant10, and data were analyzed with the MACSQuantifyTM Software (Version 2.11).

IL-8-Induced Neutrophil Chemotaxis

Chemotaxis was measured using a 48-well Boyden chamber (NeuroProbe Inc., Cabin John, MD) as described previously (31). The chamber was pretreated as described in the manufacturer's protocol. The bottom wells were blocked for 1 h with blocking buffer (1% BSA in 0.1 M NaHCO₃/0.1 M Na₂CO₃, pH = 9) at 37°C. The buffer was carefully removed, and the chamber was dried at 37°C. The bottom wells were filled with 30 µl of 6–12 nmol/L human IL-8 (Peprotech, Hamburg, Germany) in 0.5% BSA/PBS (with Ca/Mg). The chambers were covered with a polycarbonate membrane (pore size, 3 µm; Costar Nucleopore GmbH, Tübingen, Germany) and incubated for 30 min at 37°C. Finally, the top wells received 50–80 µl of the isolated PMNs containing the appropriate concentrations of PI3K inhibitors and were incubated for 1 h at 37°C in an atmosphere containing 5% CO₂.

The assay was stopped by replacing the cell suspension in the upper well for another 5 min to completely detach migrated cells from the bottom side of the filters. Then, filters were removed, and the migrated cells were transferred from the bottom wells to a microtiter plate. Residual cells in the bottom wells were lysed by adding 25 μ l of 0.2% hexadecyltrimethylammonium

bromide/0.1% BSA in PBS, and were combined with the cells transferred to the microtiter plate; cell lysis was continued for 15 min. Then, 50 μ l of TMB solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was added until a color reaction was visible, and the enzymatic reaction was stopped by adding 50 μ l 1 M H₂SO₄. The color reaction was determined at 450 nm in a microplate reader. The number of migrated cells was calculated from a standard of lysed cells run in parallel.

Measurement of C5a and IL-8 Release From Keratinocytes

Affinity purified antibodies against hCOL7 E-F (EBA) were isolated from patient immunapheresis material as described (32, 33). Briefly, antigen stock solutions were prediluted to a concentration of 1.5 mg/ml in stock solvent (PBS), then further diluted 1:3 in 0.1 M Borat buffer (pH 9.5) (final volume 12 ml). Antigens were subsequently coupled to NHS-Sepharose Fast Flow⁴ columns (GE Healthcare, Chicago, USA) following manufacturer's instructions. Patient immunapheresis material was added to the corresponding column and incubated for 30 min at 4°C. Afterwards, the column was washed with PBS until OD₂₈₀ of the flow through was lower than 0.01, and the bound antibody was eluted in glycine buffer (pH 2.8). The eluate was adjusted to pH 7 using 1M tris base solution (pH 9.0).

HaCaT cells (34) were grown to confluency in 48-well plates in keratinocyte growth medium-2 (KGM-2) (PromoCell GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany) supplemented with medium supplement and calcium chloride solution provided by the supplier at 37° , 5% CO₂. After confluence was reached, cells were incubated with different PI3Ki for 5 min. After incubation, 4 0µg/ml of EBA antibody solutions was added to the designated wells for 24 h. The following controls were included (antibody only, antibody/vehicle, normal human IgG only (Intratect 50 g/L, Biotest AG, Dreieich, Germany, the IgG was re-buffered before use to PBS using Amicon[®] Ultra-15 Centrifugal Filters), and normal human IgG/vehicle. Cells from two different passages were used and EBA-IgG from 2 donors each, leading to 4 data points.

The C5a content of the supernatants was measured using the Human Complement Component C5a DuoSet ELISA (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, USA) according to manufacturer instructions, with changes to detection using TMB One solution (Promega Corporation, Wisconsin, USA) and 0.9 M H₂SO₄ to stop the color reaction. IL-8 release was measured using the ELISA MAXTM human IL-8 standard set (Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA) according to manufacturer instructions.

PamGene Measurement

Kinase activity profiles were determined using the PamChip[®] 4 protein tyrosine (PTK) peptide microarray system from PamGene International B.V. (BJ's-Hertogenbosch, The Netherlands). Human PMNs were diluted to a final concentration of 6.7×10^6 cells/ml in RPMI 1640 (without phenol red) containing 5% FCS and pre-incubated with a final concentration of $5\,\mu$ M AS-604850, $1\,\mu$ M alpelisib, $10\,\mu$ M TGX or vehicle (RPMI 1640 without phenol red/ 5%FCS, 0.1% DMSO) for 5 min (RT). These concentrations were selected as

they led to a 50% reduction of ROS release in IC-stimulated PMNs. Flat bottom 6-well-plates were coated with immune complexes consisting of human COL7E-F antigen at a final concentration of 10 µg/ml and anti-human COL7 IgG1 antibody at a final concentration of $2 \mu g/ml$ (29), and 10^7 PMNs/1.5 ml per well (containing the respective inhibitors or vehicle) were added. The plates were incubated at 37%, 5% CO2 for 0, 2, 8, or 15 min, respectively. After incubation, the plates were placed on ice immediately, and the cell solution from each well was transferred to a separate 15 ml tube. Each well was also flushed with 1 ml of ice cold DPBS to detach cells adhered to the plate surface. The cell solutions were centrifuged for 5 min at 700 \times g (4°C). The supernatant was discarded, and the cell pellet used to prepare lysates as described in the protocol provided by PamGene (Protocol #1160 for preparation of Lysates of Cell Lines or Purified Cells) (100 µl of lysis buffer per pellet). Protein concentrations in the lysates (above the recommended level $>0.5 \ \mu g/\mu L$) were determined using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Waltham, MA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions (microplate procedure).

The Serine-Threonine Kinase (STK) and Protein Tyrosine Kinase (PTK) microarray assays were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Samples originating from the same donor and experimental setup (n = 3) were placed on the same microarray chip to enable more accurate comparisons. A FITC-conjugated anti-phosphotyrosine antibody was used for visualization during and after the pumping of lysates through the three-dimensional surface of the array. The capture of substrate phosphorylation signals was enabled by a computercontrolled CCD camera and measured repeatedly during a 1-h kinetic protocol using the Evolve software (PamGene International B.V.). The 1-h kinetic protocol showed a linear increase in the signal intensity for the majority of the peptide substrates, indicating that kinome profiling was run without methodological complications. The analysis of the images was performed using the BioNavigator Software (Ver. 6.3), with the predesigned protocols "STK Image Analysis," "PTK Image Analysis," "STK Basic Processing," and "PTK Basic Processing." Additional applications used were "Fit and apply a combat model", "STK upstream kinase analysis," and "PTK upstream kinase analysis." After visual check and quality control, endpoint signal intensities minus background signals were calculated by BioNavigator for each spot representing each kinase peptide substrate per array. Subsequently, the data were log₂-transformed before mean replicate signal intensity within each experiment was calculated for each peptide substrate. A kinase was considered to be modulated (either activated or inhibited) if it had a mean specificity score (= negative decadic logarithm of the likelihood of obtaining a higher difference between the groups when assigning peptides to kinases randomly) of 1 (p = 0.1) and a significance score (= likelihood of obtaining a higher difference for random assignment of values to treatment- and control groups) of 0.5 (p = 0.32). To detect changes caused by the tested compounds, samples for each timepoint and compound were compared with the control samples for the same timepoint. To ascertain the impact of the stimulation itself, control samples from before stimulation were compared to control samples at each timepoint (2, 8, and 15 min). The mean kinase statistic (= calculated by averaging the difference between the signal intensity of a sample and its control value, normalized against a pooled estimate of the standard deviation in each sample, for each peptide assigned to a specific kinase) was used for further analysis:

Kinome Trees were created using Coral (35). Venn diagram analyses were performed in Venny2.0 (https://bioinfogp.cnb. csic.es/tools/venny/). Heatmaps were created using in R studio (Ver. 1.3.1093) the heatmap package ("pheatmap" Ver. 1.0.12). Enrichment analysis was performed using Webgestalt Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (36). Settings were as follows: minimum number of genes for a category: 3, maximum: 1000, Significance Level: Top 10. Number of Permutations: 1000. Pathway graphs were created using KEGG Mapper (Ver. 4.2) and sourced from KEGG (Release 95.2) or STRING database (37).

Induction of Experimental EBA in Mice and Treatment Protocol

Rabbits were immunized with a fragment of murine type VII collagen NC1 (mCOL7^C) in CFA/IFA by Eurogentec, Köln, Germany. Specific anti-mCOL7^C IgG from immune serum was isolated as previously described (26, 31, 38). Mice were injected in the ear base once with 30-100 µg of specific rabbit anti-mCOL7 IgG per mouse. The respective dose to induce a disease score of 25-50% of the affected ear surface area was determined in advance. PI3K inhibitors were administered orally (Supplementary Table 1), or topically applied to the ear 1 day prior to the initial anti-mCOL7^C IgG injection and was performed every day (in total 4 times). The ear thickness measurement, using a Mitutoyo 7301 dial thickness gauge (Neuss, Germany), and scoring was performed by a blinded person. For anesthesia, a mixture of $15 \,\mu$ g/g body weight Xylazin and 100 µg/g body weight Ketamin was injected i.p. into mice (26, 39).

Histopathology and Direct Immunofluorescence Staining

Biopsies of lesional and perilesional skin were obtained on day 3 of the antibody transfer-induced EBA and prepared for examination by histopathology and immunofluorescence (IF) microscopy, as described previously (26, 31, 38). In brief, the biopsies collected from mice were fixed in 4% PBS-buffered formalin, and subsequently, sections of paraffin-embedded tissues were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. IgG deposits were detected by direct IF microscopy in frozen sections prepared from tissue biopsies using fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled antibodies specific to rabbit IgG (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) as previously described (40).

Statistical Analysis

Unless otherwise noted, data are presented as the mean \pm SD or Tukey's box-and-whisker plots; the dots represent actual results for each sample. For comparisons of more than 2 groups, ANOVA was used. For equally distributed data, one-way ANOVA followed by a Bonferroni *t*-test for multiple comparisons was used; if the data were non-parametric, ANOVA on ranks

(Kruskal-Wallis) was applied followed by a Bonferroni *t*-test for multiple comparisons. In all tests, p < 0.05 was considered indicative of significance. All statistical analyses were performed using SigmaPlot 13.0 (Systat Software, Erkrath, Germany).

For the *in vivo* studies a sample size calculation was performed. Assuming a minimal detectable difference in means of 0.5, a standard deviation of 0.25, and aiming at a power of 0.8 and an α of 0.05, 8 mice per group have to be included when using ANOVA with an appropriate post-test. Hence, 8 mice per group were included in the *in vivo* studies.

RESULTS

IL-8-Induced Chemotaxis of PMNs Is Mainly Impaired by PI3Ki Selective for the β -, γ -, and δ -Isoforms

The directed chemotaxis of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs) to sites of local inflammation is an early-step in and a key prerequisite for their (patho)-physiological function in EBA (41). Within this multi-step process, cytokines, such as IL-8, are required to facilitate neutrophil extravasation, as well as their activation (42-44). We thus evaluated the impact of inhibition of the selected PI3Ki on IL8-induced PMN chemotaxis. All investigated inhibitors reduced IL-8induced chemotaxis. PI3K inhibitors mainly selective for PI3K8-(AMG319 and IC87114) as well as PI3Ky-selective (AS-604850 and AMG319) and PI3Kβ-selective inhibitors (TGX-221) inhibited chemotaxis at concentrations within the described IC₅₀ values (Figure 1). Of note, the pan-PI3K inhibitor GDC-0941 had the most pronounced inhibitory effects on IL-8-induced neutrophil migration, with an efficacy at 0.1 nM. Also, PI3Kaselective inhibitors (HS-173 and alpelisib) reduced chemotaxis at concentrations above the known IC₅₀ values.

PMN Adhesion and Spreading on ICs Are Predominantly Impaired by PI3K δ - and PI3K β -Selective Inhibitors

In addition to ROS release, FcyR-dependent binding of neutrophils also induces their B2 integrin-dependent spreading and adhesion to IC-coated surfaces. This creates an enclosed space between the neutrophils and the target tissue, allowing a directional release of proteases and ROS. If neutrophil adhesion to IC-coated surfaces is blocked, the tissue is protected from the detrimental effects of proteases and ROS (30). We hence evaluated the impact of the PI3Ki on PMN spreading on ICcoated surfaces. Interestingly, PI3K inhibition had only marginal effects on IC-induced spreading and adhesion. Mostly, inhibitors with a PI3Kδ- and PI3Kβ-selectivity reduced PMN spreading (IC-87114, TGX-221, and AMG319, Figure 2). As AMG319 inhibits also p110y, the effects on spreading could be also partially mediated by PI3Ky. Yet, the second PI3Ky-selective inhibitor (AS-604850) did not have an effect on IC-induced spreading of PMNs within the investigated concentration range. Furthermore, a statistically significant inhibition was observed for the p110a inhibitor HS-173 at concentrations of 0.1 and 1.0 µM. HS-173, GCD-0941 and alpelisib inhibited neutrophil


isoform-selective inhibitors. The attracted cell number during a time period of 60 min is shown. Data were normalized to positive control (chemotaxis induced by IL-8 in the presence of solvent). Data are shown as Tukey's box-and-whisker plots. n = 5. ANOVA on ranks (Kruskal-Wallis) was applied followed by a Bonferroni *t*-test for multiple comparisons. *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001.



FIGURE 2 | IC-induced spreading of PMNs mainly depends on PI3K δ . Freshly isolated human blood PMNs were activated with immobilized ICs in the presence of either one of the PI3K isoform-selective inhibitors. (A) Microscopic appearance of PMNs 2 h after IC-stimulation. IC-stimulated PMNs show clear spreading on surface (arrows). The highest concentration of all inhibitors (1 μ M) reduced the adhesion of PMNs. (B) Spreading was monitored live for 2 h and the area under curve (AUC) was analyzed. Data are shown as Tukey's box-and-whisker plots. n = 4. ANOVA on ranks (Kruskal-Wallis) was applied followed by a Bonferroni *t*-test for multiple comparisons. Data were normalized to IC-stimulated cells. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, **p < 0.001.



immobilized ICs in the presence of either one of the PI3K isoform-selective inhibitors. Release of ROS was tracked for 2 h and the area under curve (AUC) was calculated. Data were normalized to positive control (IC-stimulated PMNs with solvent). Data are shown as Tukey's box-and-whisker plots. n = 6. ANOVA on ranks (Kruskal-Wallis) was applied followed by a Bonferroni *t*-test for multiple comparisons. Data were normalized to stimulated cells. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ****p < 0.001.



FIGURE 4 | as Tukey's box-and-whisker plots. ANOVA on ranks (Kruskal-Wallis) was applied followed by a Bonferroni t-test for multiple comparisons. (**D**) Percentage of ear surface area affected by EBA skin lesions at days 0–3 of the same experiment. Data are shown as mean \pm SD. Two way-ANOVA with Bonferroni post test. (**F**) Relative ear swelling at days 0–3 of the same experiment. Data are normalized to day 0 of the experiment and shown as mean \pm SD. Two way-ANOVA with Bonferroni post test. (**F**) Left panel: Representative H&E stained ear skin at day 3 after IgG-injection. Right panel: Representative direct IF microscopy of a skin biopsy, stained for anti-rabbit IgG (green) and nuclei (DAPI, blue). (**G**) The cumulative histological score index (AUC of skin infiltration, epidermal thickening and split formation at the DEJ) was analyzed in ear skin at day 3 of the experiment. Data are shown as Tukey's box-and-whisker plots. ANOVA on ranks (Kruskal-Wallis) was applied followed by a Bonferroni t-test for multiple comparisons. Data in panels (**C–E,G**) is based on 8 mice/group. (**H**) Schematic illustration of experimental work flow for topical treatment with PI3K isoform-selective inhibitors. Anti-mCOL7 IgG was injected into the ears of C57BL/6J mice and the mice were topically treated daily with the indicated PI3K isoform-selective inhibitors. (**I**) Representative clinical images on day 3 after topical treatment with solvent or TGX-221. (**J**) Cumulative affected ear surface area (AUC of percentage of day 0–3) in mice with topical PI3K inhibitor treatment. Data are shown as Tukey's box-and-whisker plots. ANOVA on ranks (Kruskal-Wallis) was applied followed by a Bonferroni t-test for multiple comparisons. Data in panels (**I,J**) is based on 8 mice/group. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001.

spreading and adhesion only at the 1 μM dose, which are relative high doses (Figure 2).

IC-Induced ROS Release From PMNs Is Sensitive to Blockade of All PI3K Isoforms

Activation of neutrophils and subsequent ROS release by Fc γ Rdependent binding to IC initiates local inflammation across many autoantibody-mediated diseases, including EBA (12, 45, 46). Herein, we thus used IC to activate PMN and evaluated the impact of selective PI3Ki on IC-induced ROS release. Here, all inhibitors, with the exception of PI3K α subclassselective inhibitors, impaired ROS release from IC-activated PMNs at doses close to the reported IC₅₀ (**Figure 3**). The pan-PI3K inhibitor GDC-0941 had the most profound inhibitory effects, with efficacy at 1.0 nM. All effects were independent of any cytotoxic effects on neutrophils as none of the inhibitors effected Annexin V/propidium iodide staining in IC-stimulated neutrophils (**Supplementary Figure 1**).

Selective Pharmacological Inhibition of PI3K Did Not Influence C5a and IL-8 Release From Keratinocytes

So far, we had demonstrated a selective contribution of PI3K to distinct neutrophil functions in vitro. To evaluate possible effects on other disease-relevant cell types, we stimulated human keratinocytes with EBA-IgG. We hence evaluated the impact of the PI3Ki on C5a and IL-8 release after 24h of stimulation (Supplementary Figure 2) as complement activation and IL-8 release are key events in the effector phase of EBA and other pemphigoid diseases (21, 47-49). Compared to normal human IgG, EBA-IgG significantly increased IL-8 and C5a concentrations in the supernatants of HaCaT cells. Yet, none of the analyzed inhibitors had an inhibitory effect on EBA-IgG activated C5a release. Of note, after stimulation with EBA-IgG, several inhibitors (TGX-221, alpelisib, and IC-87115) showed a slight tendency even to increase the C5a release if used in low concentrations. Nevertheless, higher concentrations of the inhibitors did not affect C5a release. Interestingly, release of IL-8 was slightly inhibited by alpelisib at concentrations above the known IC₅₀ values $(1 \,\mu M)$ whereas none of the other inhibitors had any effect.

Selective Pharmacological Inhibition of PI3K Reduced Inflammation in Experimental EBA

So far, we had demonstrated a selective contribution of PI3K to distinct neutrophil functions in vitro. Pathogenesis of inflammation in autoantibody-induced and neutrophildependent diseases, is, however, a multistep process that involves all (if not more) of the above tested steps (12). Furthermore, in vivo pharmacokinetics of the PI3Ki are also key determinants of their potential disease-modifying activity. Thus, prediction which PI3K inhibitor has anti-inflammatory effects in preclinical models of EBA is challenging. To address this, we used the mouse model of antibody transfer-induced EBA, in which disease manifestation depends on the presence of COL7 (auto)antibodies and a subsequent FcyR-dependent neutrophil activation (21). In a first set of experiments, mice, in which EBA was induced by anti-COL7-IgG injection, were orally treated with PI3Kselective inhibitors in a concentration that was recently shown to be effective known effective for other applications (50-56) (Figure 4). The p110 α -selective inhibitor alpelisib and the p110 γ selective inhibitor AS-604850 showed impaired disease induction (ear thickness increase and affected ear surface area) by 50-60% (Figures 4D,E). Treatment with the p110β-selective inhibitor TGX-221 almost completely abolished the pathogenic activity of the anti-mCOL7 antibodies. A minor effect was observed for GDC-0941 and IC-87114 as visible by a reduced affected surface area (Figure 4D). All other tested inhibitors (HS-173 and AMG319) had no effect on clinical disease manifestation at the selected doses (Figures 4A-G).

Topical Application of the PI3Kβ-Selective Inhibitor TGX-221 Impairs Induction of Experimental EBA

As systemic PI3K inhibition in humans may be associated with a relative high number of (serious) adverse events (27, 57), we next evaluated if topical application of the PI3Ki has an impact on disease manifestation in experimental EBA. Of the seven inhibitors, the p110 β -selective inhibitor TGX-221 again profoundly impaired the induction of skin inflammation (**Figures 4H–J**). By contrast, all other PI3Ki did not reduce clinical disease manifestation in experimental EBA at selected concentration. During all experiments in the preclinical EBA mouse model, neither oral nor topical treatment with one of the PI3K inhibitors led to an increased suffering



FIGURE 5 | IC-stimulated kinases (MCL clustering, inflation parameter 3) (D) Venn diagram and summary of the common and uniquely regulated kinase activities after use of three PI3K isoform-selective inhibitors that were effective in experimental EBA (alpelisib, AS-604850 and TGX-221). The comparison was performed for all time points with direct comparison to the kinase activity of ICs activated PMNs treated with solvent. (E) Influence of PI3K inhibition on PI3K/Akt and mTOR pathways, kinases regulated by ICs (cumulative stimulation for 2, 8, and 15 min using PamGene) are shown in bright red. Kinases, that are regulated by the respective kinase inhibitors are marked with a reddish dot (TGX-221), green dot (AS-604850), and purple dot (alpelisib). Data is based on 3 replicates per group.

(weight reduction, general condition and behavior) in the mice (**Supplementary Tables 2, 3**).

Kinome Analysis of Identified Unique Downstream Signaling Pathways of the Different, Disease-Modifying PI3K-Selective Inhibitors

At this point, using the EBA mouse model, we had demonstrated that TGX-221, alpelisib or AS-604850 impaired induction of experimental EBA. To obtain more detailed insights into the orchestration of IC-induced signal transduction pathways selectively inhibited by these 3 therapeutically promising drugs, we performed a multiplex kinase activity profiling using PamGene (58). We incubated human PMNs with PI3Ki (alpelisib, AS-604850 or TGX-221) for 5 min and subsequently stimulated PMNs with IC for 0, 2, 8, or 15 min. As expected, IC-stimulation of PMNs induced, among others, the PI3K/Akt, JAK/STAT and mTOR pathways (Figures 5A,B and Supplementary Table 4). In addition to these known pathways, we found a strong activity of several cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs, Figure 5C). These are enriched in the KEGG pathway for "cellular senescence" (Supplementary Figure 3). Other relevant pathways that were regulated by IC-stimulation are summarized in Supplementary Figures 3, 4 (mTOR signaling, FoxO signaling and FcRy-mediated phagocytosis).

To obtain more detailed insights into the mode of action of the effective inhibitors, we compared the kinase activity in PMNs after PI3K inhibition with the corresponding control time points (Figure 5D). Inhibition of PI3K by TGX-221 (Supplementary Figure 5), alpelisib (Supplementary Figure 6) or AS-604850 (Supplementary Figure 7) led to a decreased activity of Akt1/2 and the downstream kinases SGK, p70S6Kbeta (S6K1) and AMPK (Figures 5D,E). Interestingly, all 3 inhibitors also had unique effects on several kinases and KEGG pathways that were independent of the known PI3K network (Figure 5D). More specifically, inhibition using AS-604850 (Supplementary Figure 7) identified a total of 21 kinases that were exclusively de- or increased in their activity, indicating additional effects on different targets. By contrast, only 5 unique kinases were detected in TGX-221-treated PMN and 4 unique kinases in alpelisib treated PMNs (Figure 5 and Supplementary Tables 5-7).

DISCUSSION

We here systematically investigated the impact of seven PI3Ki with different isoform-selectivity on neutrophil functions *in vitro*, as well as their potential to reduce autoantibody-induced, neutrophil-driven inflammation in preclinical models of EBA.

We demonstrate that the PI3K β -selective TGX-221 has the most pronounced disease-modifying activity, especially when applied topically. Of note, this superior *in vivo* effect of TGX-221 could not be derived from the *in vitro* characterization of the PI3Ki evaluated herein. More specifically, TGX-221 impaired IL-8induced chemotaxis only at relatively high concentrations, while AMG 319 and IC-87114 dose-dependently and at quite low concentrations, reduced PMN chemotaxis. PMN spreading to IC, as well as IC-induced ROS release from PMN was equally well inhibited by HS-173, TGX-221, as well as several more PI3Ki in the IC-induced ROS release. Thus, *in vivo* disease models are required to demonstrate efficacy.

Hence, while this and previous (16, 18) reports demonstrate the fundamental role of PI3K β and PI3K δ in the pathogenesis of skin inflammation in EBA, our data presented here does not rule out that other class I PI3K isoforms contribute to EBA pathogenesis-especially PI3Ka, one PI3Ki selective for this isoform (alpelisib) impaired induction of experimental EBA. Interestingly, alpelisib was blocking chemotaxis and ROS release only if used at rather high concentrations but in contrast reduced IL-8 release from human keratinocytes. Still, the kinase activation profiles indicate a specific inhibition of the PI3K pathway by alpelisib. In addition to these in vitro findings, the in vivo pharmacokinetics of a given drug are crucial for its activity. For alpelisib, over 50% are absorbed, with a T_(max) of 2 h and an elimination half-life from plasma of 13.7 h (59) which indicates a good bioavailability that could contribute to the effectivity of alpelisib in murine experimental EBA.

Dissection of the contribution of different PI3K isoforms to EBA pathogenesis, would require the use of PI3K isoformdeficient mice (1, 2, 60–62). We here, however, specifically focused on pharmacological PI3K inhibition allowing a better clinical translation.

In the pathogenesis of the inflammatory type of EBA, PMNs exert their pathogenic effects in a stepwise manner that is initiated by attracting them into the tissue (chemotaxis) and ultimately results in the release of pro-inflammatory substances, such as ROS (Figure 6). Extravasation of PMNs to sites of inflammation is an early key step driving EBA (63, 64). Within this multi-step process, cytokines, such as IL-8, are required to facilitate neutrophil chemotaxis, as well as activation (42-44). We here demonstrate that PI3K γ - and PI3K δ - selective inhibitors block PMN chemotaxis. By contrast, selective inhibitors of PI3Ka have no major impact on IL-8-induced PMN migration. These findings support earlier notions demonstrating that in fMLPstimulated neutrophils, the PI3K8 inhibitor IC-87114 affected polarized morphology of neutrophils, PIP₃ production and chemotaxis, but did not block F-actin synthesis or neutrophil adhesion (65). Regarding PI3Ky, G-protein-coupled receptor





(GPCR) stimulation of PI3K γ induced PMN migration (and the oxidative burst) (66). Therefore, both PI3K γ and δ seem to be important to mediate PMN chemotaxis across several stimuli.

By creating a protected space between the neutrophil and the target tissue, neutrophil spreading and adhesion to surfaces of IC deposits is a prerequisite for autoantibody-induced tissue damage (30). This process is regulated by PI3K activation (67, 68). Previous data demonstrated that the pan-PI3K inhibitor wortmannin or the PI3K $\alpha/\beta/\delta$ inhibitor LY294002 impaired neutrophil binding to ICAM-1 after fMLP stimulation (69). Other data on the PI3K isoforms involved in these processes is sparse. PI3K γ has been shown to mediate the transition from rolling to firm adhesion, a process depending on $\beta 2$ integrins (70). We here show that $\beta 2$ integrin-dependent neutrophil adhesion to immobilized IC mostly depends on PI3Ky /8.

Regarding ROS release from IC-activated neutrophils, we here show that this requires PI3K β , γ , and δ . These findings are consisted with published data for PI3K β and δ (16, 18), which may even act synergistically in this context (16). Interestingly, while important for TNF/fMLP-induced ROS release from neutrophils (19), as shown here, PI3K γ -selective inhibition only has a marginal impact on IC-induced ROS release. In line with this, pan-PI3K inhibition completely abolished the IC-induced ROS release.

All of the above neutrophil functions contribute to local inflammation in EBA (21). Yet, the in vitro inhibitory effects of PI3K isoform-selective drugs do not allow to predict their impact on the complex disease pathogenesis in vivo. To investigate if inhibition of specific PI3K isoforms has an impact on in vivo inflammation provoked by tissue-bound IC, we used the antibody transfer model of EBA. We specifically selected a skin inflammation mouse model because topical application, which presumably leads to less adverse events, is possible in chronic inflammatory skin diseases. Out of 7 tested PI3K inhibitors, AS-604850 (PI3Kγ-selective), alpelisib (PI3Kα-selective) and TGX-221 (PI3Kß-selective) showed a significant inhibition of ear thickening and led to a more than 50% reduction of the affected ear surface area. One of these inhibitors, TGX-221 was even effective if applied topically. Given that EBA is notoriously difficult to treat, achieving remissions after 9 month of systemic immunosuppressive treatment (23), addition of a (preferably topically applied) PI3Ki could potentially lead to a more rapid induction of remission.

Previously, we had documented that induction of skin inflammation is hampered in PI3K β -deficient mice or in mice treated with a PI3K δ -selective inhibitor (16, 18). Overall, these data and the results presented herein point toward a non-redundant role of these 2 class I PI3K isoforms.

Next, we here evaluated the impact of the three PI3K isoform-specific inhibitors on downstream signaling cascades, allowing detailed insights into PI3K isoform-specific signaling pathways in human PMNs, which may provide additional and more downstream targets to block IC-induced PMN activation. Unbiased analysis of kinase activity in IC-activated PMN treated with either TGX-221, alpelisib or AS-604850 identified a number of shared downstream kinases like Akt1/2 and the downstream kinases SGK, p70S6Kbeta (S6K1) and AMPK. However, the majority of changes in kinase activity after treatment of PMN with either of the compounds was specific for each inhibitor, and most pronounced for AS-604850.

Collectively, we here defined the differential impact of PI3K isoforms on immune complex-induced neutrophil signaling and function, and identify the PI3K β -selective TGX-221 as a potential topical treatment for the inflammatory type of EBA and other autoimmune skin blistering diseases with a similar pathogenesis.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**,

REFERENCES

- Bi L, Okabe I, Bernard DJ, Wynshaw-Boris A, Nussbaum RL. Proliferative defect and embryonic lethality in mice homozygous for a deletion in the p110alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. J Biol Chem. (1999) 274:10963–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.16.10963
- Bi L, Okabe I, Bernard DJ, Nussbaum RL. Early embryonic lethality in mice deficient in the p110beta catalytic subunit of PI 3-kinase. *Mamm Genome*. (2002) 13:169–72. doi: 10.1007/s00335-001-2123-x

further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany, AZ 09-140. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. The animal study was reviewed and approved by Animal Care and Use Committee (Kiel, Germany)—AZ122.5(108/08-15).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RL and KBi: conceptualization and methodology and writing original draft. HZ, AK, NG, CO, CH, MR, VH, NE, and RV: investigation. KBi and CO: data curation. RL: funding acquisition and project administration. RL, GV, FP, TL, and XY: resources. MB-H, XY, FP, RL, and KBi: supervision. HZ, AK, CO, NG, MR, CH, VH, MB-H, NE, KBo, GV, RV, TL, XY, FP, RL, and KBi: writing—review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was funded by Research Training Group Modulation of Autoimmunity (GRK 1727), Clinical Research Unit Pemphigoid Diseases – Molecular Pathways and their Therapeutic Potential (KFO303), and Cluster of Excellence Precision Medicine in Chronic Inflammation (EXC2167), all from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG). RL was supported by the Schleswig-Holstein Excellence-Chair Program (State of Schleswig-Holstein).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Claudia Kauderer, Alexandra Wobig, Daniela Rieck, and Astrid Fischer for their excellent technical support.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.713312/full#supplementary-material

- 3. Chantry D, Vojtek A, Kashishian A, Holtzman DA, Wood C, Gray PW, et al. p110delta, a novel phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase catalytic subunit that associates with p85 and is expressed predominantly in leukocytes. *J Biol Chem.* (1997) 272:19236–41. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.31. 19236
- Vanhaesebroeck B, Welham MJ, Kotani K, Stein R, Warne PH, Zvelebil MJ, et al. P110delta, a novel phosphoinositide 3-kinase in leukocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:4330–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.9. 4330

- Clayton E, Bardi G, Bell SE, Chantry D, Downes CP, Gray A, et al. A crucial role for the p110delta subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3kinase in B cell development and activation. J Exp Med. (2002) 196:753– 63. doi: 10.1084/jem.20020805
- Ali K, Bilancio A, Thomas M, Pearce W, Gilfillan AM, Tkaczyk C, et al. Essential role for the p110delta phosphoinositide 3-kinase in the allergic response. *Nature*. (2004) 431:1007–11. doi: 10.1038/nature02991
- Puri KD, Doggett TA, Douangpanya J, Hou Y, Tino WT, Wilson T, et al. Mechanisms and implications of phosphoinositide 3-kinase delta in promoting neutrophil trafficking into inflamed tissue. *Blood.* (2004) 103:3448–56. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-05-1667
- Vanhaesebroeck B, Stephens L, Hawkins P. PI3K signalling: the path to discovery and understanding. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2012) 13:195– 203. doi: 10.1038/nrm3290
- 9. Nurnberg B, Beer-Hammer S. Function, regulation and biological roles of PI3Kgamma variants. *Biomolecules*. (2019) 9:427. doi: 10.3390/biom9090427
- Hawkins PT, Stephens LR, Suire S, Wilson M. PI3K signaling in neutrophils. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. (2010) 346:183–202. doi: 10.1007/82_2010_40
- Elich M, Sauer K. Regulation of hematopoietic cell development and function through phosphoinositides. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:931. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00931
- Ludwig RJ, Vanhoorelbeke K, Leypoldt F, Kaya Z, Bieber K, Mclachlan SM, et al. Mechanisms of autoantibody-induced pathology. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:603. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00603
- Getahun A, Cambier JC. Of ITIMs, ITAMs, and ITAMis: revisiting immunoglobulin Fc receptor signaling. *Immunol Rev.* (2015) 268:66– 73. doi: 10.1111/imr.12336
- Ludwig RJ. Signalling and targeted therapy of inflammatory cells in epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *Exp Dermatol.* (2017) 26:1179–86. doi: 10.1111/exd.13335
- Samavedam UK, Mitschker N, Kasprick A, Bieber K, Schmidt E, Laskay T, et al. Whole-genome expression profiling in skin reveals SYK as a key regulator of inflammation in experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:249. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00249
- Kulkarni S, Sitaru C, Jakus Z, Anderson KE, Damoulakis G, Davidson K, et al. PI3Kbeta plays a critical role in neutrophil activation by immune complexes. *Sci Signal.* (2011) 4:ra23. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2001617
- Martin KJ, Muessel MJ, Pullar CE, Willars GB, Wardlaw AJ. The role of phosphoinositide 3-kinases in neutrophil migration in 3D collagen gels. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0116250. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116250
- Koga H, Kasprick A, Lopez R, Auli M, Pont M, Godessart N, et al. Therapeutic effect of a novel Phosphatidylinositol-3-Kinase delta inhibitor in experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1558. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01558
- Condliffe AM, Davidson K, Anderson KE, Ellson CD, Crabbe T, Okkenhaug K, et al. Sequential activation of class IB and class IA PI3K is important for the primed respiratory burst of human but not murine neutrophils. *Blood.* (2005) 106:1432–40. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-03-0944
- Fortin CF, Cloutier A, Ear T, Sylvain-Prevost S, Mayer TZ, Bouchelaghem R, et al. A class IA PI3K controls inflammatory cytokine production in human neutrophils. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:1709–19. doi: 10.1002/eji.201040945
- Koga H, Prost-Squarcioni C, Iwata H, Jonkman MF, Ludwig RJ, Bieber K. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita: the 2019 update. *Front Med.* (2018) 5:362. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00362
- Kridin K, Ludwig RJ. The growing incidence of bullous pemphigoid: Overview and potential explanations. *Front Med.* (2018) 8:1752. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00220
- Kim JH, Kim YH, Kim SC. Epidermolysis bullosa acquisita: a retrospective clinical analysis of 30 cases. Acta Derm Venereol. (2011) 91:307– 12. doi: 10.2340/00015555-1065
- Schmidt E, Zillikens D. Pemphigoid diseases. Lancet. (2013) 381:320– 32. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61140-4
- 25. Iwata H, Vorobyev A, Koga H, Recke A, Zillikens D, Prost-Squarcioni C, et al. Meta-analysis of the clinical and immunopathological characteristics and treatment outcomes in epidermolysis bullosa acquisita patients. Orphanet J Rare Dis. (2018) 13:153. doi: 10.1186/s13023-018-0896-1
- Kasprick A, Bieber K, Ludwig RJ. Drug discovery for pemphigoid diseases. Curr Protoc Pharmacol. (2019) 84:e55. doi: 10.1002/cpph.55

- Dreyling M, Santoro A, Mollica L, Leppa S, Follows GA, Lenz G, et al. Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase inhibition by copanlisib in relapsed or refractory indolent lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. (2017) 35:3898–905. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.75.4648
- Skoog WA, Beck WS. Studies on the fibrinogen, dextran and phytohemagglutinin methods of isolating leukocytes. *Blood.* (1956) 11:436–54. doi: 10.1182/blood.V11.5.436.436
- Recke A, Trog LM, Pas HH, Vorobyev A, Abadpour A, Jonkman MF, et al. Recombinant human IgA1 and IgA2 autoantibodies to type VII collagen induce subepidermal blistering *ex vivo. J Immunol.* (2014) 193:1600– 8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400160
- 30. Yu X, Akbarzadeh R, Pieper M, Scholzen T, Gehrig S, Schultz C, et al. Neutrophil Adhesion is a prerequisite for antibody-mediated proteolytic tissue damage in experimental models of epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2018) 138:1990–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2018.03. 1499
- Stussel P, Schulze Dieckhoff K, Kunzel S, Hartmann V, Gupta Y, Kaiser G, et al. Propranolol is an effective topical and systemic treatment option for experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2020) 140:2408–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2020.04.025
- Sitaru C, Schmidt E, Petermann S, Munteanu LS, Brocker EB, Zillikens D. Autoantibodies to bullous pemphigoid antigen 180 induce dermal-epidermal separation in cryosections of human skin. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2002) 118:664– 71. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.2002.01720.x
- Vorobyev A, Ujiie H, Recke A, Buijsrogge JJ, Jonkman MF, Pas HH, et al. Autoantibodies to multiple epitopes on the non-collagenous-1 domain of Type VII collagen induce blisters. J Invest Dermatol. (2015) 135:1565– 73. doi: 10.1038/jid.2015.51
- Boukamp P, Petrussevska RT, Breitkreutz D, Hornung J, Markham A, Fusenig NE. Normal keratinization in a spontaneously immortalized aneuploid human keratinocyte cell line. J Cell Biol. (1988) 106:761– 71. doi: 10.1083/jcb.106.3.761
- Metz KS, Deoudes EM, Berginski ME, Jimenez-Ruiz I, Aksoy BA, Hammerbacher J, et al. Coral: clear and customizable visualization of human kinome data. *Cell Syst.* (2018) 7:347–50 e341. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2018.07.001
- Liao Y, Wang J, Jaehnig EJ, Shi Z, Zhang B. WebGestalt 2019: gene set analysis toolkit with revamped UIs and APIs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2019) 47:W199–205. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkz401
- Szklarczyk D, Gable AL, Lyon D, Junge A, Wyder S, Huerta-Cepas J, et al. STRING v11: protein-protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2019) 47:D607–13. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky1131
- Sitaru C, Mihai S, Otto C, Chiriac MT, Hausser I, Dotterweich B, et al. Induction of dermal-epidermal separation in mice by passive transfer of antibodies specific to type VII collagen. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:870– 8. doi: 10.1172/JCI200521386
- Bieber K, Koga H, Nishie W. In vitro and in vivo models to investigate the pathomechanisms and novel treatments for pemphigoid diseases. Exp Dermatol. (2017) 26:1163–70. doi: 10.1111/exd.13415
- Bieber K, Witte M, Sun S, Hundt JE, Kalies K, Drager S, et al. T cells mediate autoantibody-induced cutaneous inflammation and blistering in epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. Sci Rep. (2016) 6:38357. doi: 10.1038/srep38357
- Hirose, M. BL, Zimmer D, Götz J, Westermann J, Allegretti M, et al. The allosteric CXCR1/2 inhibitor DF2156A improves experimental epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *Genetic Syndromes Gene Therap.* (2013) 2013:9. doi: 10.4172/2157-7412.S3-005
- 42. Rampart M, Van Damme J, Zonnekeyn L, Herman AG. Granulocyte chemotactic protein/interleukin-8 induces plasma leakage and neutrophil accumulation in rabbit skin. *Am J Pathol.* (1989) 135:21–5.
- 43. Mukaida N. Interleukin-8: an expanding universe beyond neutrophil chemotaxis and activation. *Int J Hematol.* (2000) 72:391–8.
- Selvatici R, Brullo C, Bruno O, Spisani S. Differential inhibition of signaling pathways by two new imidazo-pyrazoles molecules in fMLF-OMeand IL8-stimulated human neutrophil. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2013) 718:428– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.07.045
- 45. Kasperkiewicz M, Nimmerjahn F, Wende S, Hirose M, Iwata H, Jonkman MF, et al. Genetic identification and functional validation of FcgammaRIV as

key molecule in autoantibody-induced tissue injury. J Pathol. (2012) 228:8–19. doi: 10.1002/path.4023

- Kovacs B, Tillmann J, Freund LC, Nimmerjahn F, Sadik CD, Bieber K, et al. Fcgamma receptor IIB controls skin inflammation in an active model of epidermolysis bullosa acquisita. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:3012. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03012
- Schmidt E, Reimer S, Kruse N, Brocker EB, Zillikens D. The IL-8 release from cultured human keratinocytes, mediated by antibodies to bullous pemphigoid autoantigen 180, is inhibited by dapsone. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2001) 124:157– 62. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2001.01503.x
- Sitaru C, Chiriac MT, Mihai S, Buning J, Gebert A, Ishiko A, et al. Induction of complement-fixing autoantibodies against type VII collagen results in subepidermal blistering in mice. *J Immunol.* (2006) 177:3461– 8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.5.3461
- Edwards G, Diercks GFH, Seelen M, a.J., Horvath B, Van Doorn MBA, et al. Complement activation in autoimmune bullous dermatoses: a comprehensive review. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1477. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01477
- Camps M, Ruckle T, Ji H, Ardissone V, Rintelen F, Shaw J, et al. Blockade of PI3Kgamma suppresses joint inflammation and damage in mouse models of rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat Med.* (2005) 11:936–943. doi: 10.1038/nm1284
- Junttila TT, Akita RW, Parsons K, Fields C, Lewis Phillips GD, Friedman LS, et al. Ligand-independent HER2/HER3/PI3K complex is disrupted by trastuzumab and is effectively inhibited by the PI3K inhibitor GDC-0941. *Cancer Cell.* (2009) 15:429–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.03.020
- Soond DR, Bjorgo E, Moltu K, Dale VQ, Patton DT, Torgersen KM, et al. PI3K p110delta regulates T-cell cytokine production during primary and secondary immune responses in mice and humans. *Blood.* (2010) 115:2203– 13. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-232330
- Bird JE, Smith PL, Bostwick JS, Shipkova P, Schumacher WA. Bleeding response induced by anti-thrombotic doses of a phosphoinositide 3kinase (PI3K)-beta inhibitor in mice. *Thromb Res.* (2011) 127:560– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2011.02.007
- Son MK, Ryu YL, Jung KH, Lee H, Lee HS, Yan HH, et al. HS-173, a novel PI3K inhibitor, attenuates the activation of hepatic stellate cells in liver fibrosis. *Sci Rep.* (2013) 3:3470. doi: 10.1038/srep03470
- 55. Cushing TD, Hao X, Shin Y, Andrews K, Brown M, Cardozo M, et al. Discovery and *in vivo* evaluation of (S)-N-(1-(7-fluoro-2-(pyridin-2yl)quinolin-3-yl)ethyl)-9H-purin-6-amine (AMG319) and related PI3Kdelta inhibitors for inflammation and autoimmune disease. *J Med Chem.* (2015) 58:480–511. doi: 10.1021/jm501624r
- 56. Yuan Y, Wen W, Yost SE, Xing Q, Yan J, Han ES, et al. Combination therapy with BYL719 and LEE011 is synergistic and causes a greater suppression of p-S6 in triple negative breast cancer. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:7509. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-43 429-7
- 57. Burris, 3rd HA, Flinn IW, Patel MR, Fenske TS, Deng C, Brander DM, et al. Umbralisib, a novel PI3Kdelta and casein kinase-1epsilon inhibitor, in relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and lymphoma: an open-label, phase 1, dose-escalation, first-in-human study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2018) 19:486–96. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30 082-2
- Hilhorst R, Houkes L, Van Den Berg A, Ruijtenbeek R. Peptide microarrays for detailed, high-throughput substrate identification, kinetic characterization, and inhibition studies on protein kinase A. *Anal Biochem.* (2009) 387:150– 61. doi: 10.1016/j.ab.2009.01.022
- James A, Blumenstein L, Glaenzel U, Jin Y, Demailly A, Jakab A, et al. Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion of [(14)C]BYL719 (alpelisib) in healthy male volunteers. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (2015) 76:751–60. doi: 10.1007/s00280-015-2842-4
- 60. Jou ST, Carpino N, Takahashi Y, Piekorz R, Chao JR, Carpino N, et al. Essential, nonredundant role for the phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110delta in signaling by the B-cell receptor complex. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2002) 22:8580– 91. doi: 10.1128/MCB.22.24.8580-8591.2002

- Beer-Hammer S, Zebedin E, Von Holleben M, Alferink J, Reis B, Dresing P, et al. The catalytic PI3K isoforms p110gamma and p110delta contribute to B cell development and maintenance, transformation, and proliferation. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2010) 87:1083–95. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0809585
- Yoshioka K, Yoshida K, Cui H, Wakayama T, Takuwa N, Okamoto Y, et al. Endothelial PI3K-C2alpha, a class II PI3K, has an essential role in angiogenesis and vascular barrier function. *Nat Med.* (2012) 18:1560– 9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2928
- Chiriac MT, Roesler J, Sindrilaru A, Scharffetter-Kochanek K, Zillikens D, Sitaru C. NADPH oxidase is required for neutrophil-dependent autoantibodyinduced tissue damage. J Pathol. (2007) 212:56–65. doi: 10.1002/path.2157
- 64. Sadeghi H, Lockmann A, Hund AC, Samavedam UK, Pipi E, Vafia K, et al. Caspase-1-independent IL-1 release mediates blister formation in autoantibody-induced tissue injury through modulation of endothelial adhesion molecules. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:3656–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402688
- Sadhu C, Masinovsky B, Dick K, Sowell CG, Staunton DE. Essential role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase delta in neutrophil directional movement. J Immunol. (2003) 170:2647–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.5.2647
- 66. Sasaki T, Irie-Sasaki J, Jones RG, Oliveira-Dos-Santos AJ, Stanford WL, Bolon B, et al. Function of PI3Kgamma in thymocyte development, T cell activation, neutrophil migration. *Science*. (2000) 287:1040–6. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5455.1040
- Gao XP, Zhu X, Fu J, Liu Q, Frey RS, Malik AB. Blockade of class IA phosphoinositide 3-kinase in neutrophils prevents NADPH oxidase activation- and adhesion-dependent inflammation. J Biol Chem. (2007) 282:6116–25. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M610248200
- Houslay DM, Anderson KE, Chessa T, Kulkarni S, Fritsch R, Downward J, et al. Coincident signals from GPCRs and receptor tyrosine kinases are uniquely transduced by PI3Kbeta in myeloid cells. *Sci Signal.* (2016) 9:ra82. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aae0453
- Pellegatta F, Radaelli A, Heltai S, Yan L, Chierchia SL, Folli F. Evidence for the involvement of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in fMLP-stimulated neutrophil adhesion to ICAM-1-transfected cells. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. (2001) 37:751–61. doi: 10.1097/00005344-200106000-00013
- Smith DF, Deem TL, Bruce AC, Reutershan J, Wu D, Ley K. Leukocyte phosphoinositide-3 kinase {gamma} is required for chemokine-induced, sustained adhesion under flow in vivo. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2006) 80:1491– 9. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0306227

Conflict of Interest: RL has received honoraria and research grants from the following companies: Admirx, Almirall, Amryth, ArgenX, Biotest, Biogen, Euroimmun, Incyte, Immungenetics, Lilly, Novartis, UCB Pharma, Topadur, True North Therapeutics, and Tx Cell.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zillikens, Kasprick, Osterloh, Gross, Radziewitz, Hass, Hartmann, Behnen-Härer, Ernst, Boch, Vidarsson, Visser, Laskay, Yu, Petersen, Ludwig and Bieber. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





SOCS Proteins in Immunity, Inflammatory Diseases, and Immune-Related Cancer

Mohamed Luban Sobah¹, Clifford Liongue^{1,2} and Alister C. Ward^{1,2*}

¹ School of Medicine, Deakin University, Geelong, VIC, Australia, ² Institue of Mental and Physical Health and Clinical Translation, Deakin University, Geelong, VIC, Australia

Cytokine signaling represents one of the cornerstones of the immune system, mediating the complex responses required to facilitate appropriate immune cell development and function that supports robust immunity. It is crucial that these signals be tightly regulated, with dysregulation underpinning immune defects, including excessive inflammation, as well as contributing to various immune-related malignancies. A specialized family of proteins called suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) participate in negative feedback regulation of cytokine signaling, ensuring it is appropriately restrained. The eight SOCS proteins identified regulate cytokine and other signaling pathways in unique ways. SOCS1–3 and CISH are most closely involved in the regulation of immune-related signaling, influencing processes such polarization of lymphocytes and the activation of myeloid cells by controlling signaling downstream of essential cytokines such as IL-4, IL-6, and IFN- γ . SOCS protein perturbation disrupts these processes resulting in the development of inflammatory and autoimmune conditions as well as malignancies. As a consequence, SOCS proteins are garnering increased interest as a unique avenue to treat these disorders.

lieat linese disoluers.

Keywords: SOCS, cytokine, immunity, inflammation, cancer

CYTOKINE SIGNALING IN IMMUNITY AND ITS REGULATION

Overview

Appropriate immune cell development and function relies on the complex interplay between various cell lineages, much of which is mediated by cytokines. These include the interleukin (IL)-2 family, comprising IL-2, IL-7, IL-9, IL-15, and IL-21, that play important roles in the development of specific lymphoid lineages (1, 2), the IL-3 family, IL-3, IL-5, and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (3) and members of the IL-6 family, especially IL-6, IL-10, and granulocyte-CSF (G-CSF) (4), that regulate myeloid lineage development and also impact on inflammation, as well as the interferons (IFNs), that mediate antiviral responses and modulate immune cell development and inflammation. Signaling by cytokines needs to be tightly controlled in order to ensure the immune system is maintained at homeostatic levels, as this could result in the development of inflammatory conditions, increased susceptibility to infectious disease and for pathologies as well as an increased propensity to develop cancer (5–7).

Cytokine Signaling and Its Control

Cytokines bind to cell surface receptors on responsive cells triggering a series of intracellular events that ultimately alter the state of the cell through the stimulation of important genes

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paul Smith, Incyte, United States

Reviewed by:

Reiko Takahashi, Kitano Hospital, Japan Joseph Larkin, University of Florida, United States

> *Correspondence: Alister C. Ward alister.ward@deakin.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 20 June 2021 Accepted: 16 August 2021 Published: 16 September 2021

Citation:

Sobah ML, Liongue C and Ward AC (2021) SOCS Proteins in Immunity, Inflammatory Diseases, and Immune-Related Cancer. Front. Med. 8:727987. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.727987

SOCS Proteins and Immune Disease

(8). The majority of cytokine receptors utilize the Janus kinase (JAK)/Signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) pathway in order to transmit signals to the nucleus (**Figure 1**) (6). Mammals possess four JAKs (JAK1, JAK2, JAK3, and TYK2) (9) and seven STATs (STAT1, STAT2, STAT3, STAT4, STAT5A, STAT5B, and STAT6) (10), with specific cytokine receptors using a particular combination of these to influence immune cell production and function. In response to cytokine binding to specific receptors, a phosphorylation cascade is initiated resulting in tyrosine phosphorylation, STAT5 found in the cytoplasm (11). Upon phosphorylation, STAT5 dimerize through reciprocal interactions, with STAT dimers subsequently entering the nucleus *via* an active process involving importin proteins (12) and GTPases such as Rac1 and Ran (13, 14), allowing them to initiate transcription of target genes (15).

A variety of proteins are involved in the negative regulation of cytokine receptor signaling through the JAK/STAT pathway such as SH2-containing phosphatases (SHPs), protein inhibitors of activated STATs (PIASs) and suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins (16). Both SHP and PIAS proteins are present in the cytosol prior to the onset of signaling. SHPs regulate signaling through mediating dephosphorylation of various pathway components following recruitment *via* their SH2 domain (17). Alternatively, PIASs inhibit the activity of STATs at various levels and thereby dissipate signaling (17). In contrast, SOCS proteins are negative feedback regulators that are induced directly by STAT proteins and in turn act to negatively regulate the JAK/STAT pathway *via* various mechanisms to ensure appropriate signal dissipation (18).

SOCS PROTEINS

There are eight human SOCS proteins, SOCS1–7 and cytokine inducible SH2-containing protein (CISH) (**Figure 2**) (19). All SOCS proteins show conserved structural similarities and mechanisms of action but with unique aspects for different family members (16, 20), with pairs of SOCS proteins showing greater similarity reflecting their evolutionary history (21). Indeed, there is strong conservation of SOCS proteins, with other mammalian species harboring an equivalent complement and other higher vertebrates having homologs for each, with additional duplicates in teleost fish (22). Invertebrates such as Drosophila also possess multiple SOCS proteins that also participate in the regulation of cytokine and other signaling (23), highlighting the importance of these negative regulators within the cytokine receptor/JAK/STAT pathway.

Structure of SOCS Proteins

All SOCS family members contain two conserved regions organized in a signature arrangement comprising a central Srchomology 2 (SH2) domain and a C-terminal SOCS box domain (**Figure 2**) (24). The SH2 domain allows SOCS proteins to bind target substrates through interactions with phosphorylated tyrosine residues (25). However, unlike the canonical SH2 domain found in many signaling proteins, those of SOCS proteins contain an N-terminal α -helical extension, called the extended SH2 domain (ESS) (26). The SOCS box is able to

assemble components of an E3 ubiquitin ligase complex *via* two motifs, the Elongin B/C (BC) box and the Cullin (Cul) box (27, 28). The largest variability in SOCS protein structure is observed at the N-terminus (19). The N-terminal domains of SOCS1–3 and CISH are of similar length, but those of SOCS4–7 are considerably longer (29). Specialized motifs within the Nterminal domains have been identified in related SOCS proteins. SOCS1 and SOCS3 contain a unique kinase inhibitory region (KIR) that is able to bind and inhibit JAKs (30), while SOCS3 and CISH contain a PEST motif between the SH2 domain and SOCS box (26, 31), with SOCS4 and SOCS5 having a distinct Nterminal conserved region (NTCR), the exact function of which is yet to be determined (29).

Mechanisms of SOCS Action

SOCS proteins regulate cytokine receptor signaling through several different mechanisms such as competitive binding, targeting proteins for degradation/re-routing, and inhibition of kinase activity, which utilize different combinations of protein domains and motifs (**Table 1**). However, in each case the SH2 domain typically allows SOCS proteins to bind to specific components of the cytokine receptor signaling complex or downstream signaling proteins through interactions with appropriate phosphotyrosine containing motifs (**Figure 3**) (7).

Competitive Binding

SOCS proteins are able to bind to receptor complexes and sterically block binding of other molecules. This is generally through interactions of their SH2 domain to phosphotyrosine motifs to impede binding of other SH2 domain-containing proteins, notably including STATs, thereby inhibiting their activation (**Figure 3A**), but other mechanisms also exist (7).

Protein Targeting

SOCS proteins are also able to target proteins, including the receptor and associated JAK and other signaling proteins (24, 53), through formation of an E3 ubiquitin ligase complex (**Figure 3B**). Elongin BC and Cullin 5 are recruited directly to specific motifs in the SOCS box domain as part of a complex containing Ring box protein 2 (Rbx2) and a ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (E2) (54). Once the E3 ubiquitin ligase complex is assembled, target proteins bound through the SH2 domain undergo ubiquitination, leading to their proteasomal degradation or intracellular re-routing (55).

Inhibition of JAK Activity

SOCS1 and SOCS3 can also directly inhibit the kinase activity of receptor-associated JAK proteins thereby suppressing signal propagation (**Figure 3C**) (56). SOCS1 binds to the JAK proteins directly through its SH2 domain (57), whereas SOCS3 instead binds to the associated receptor (57, 58). In each case the respective KIR motif is then able to act as a pseudo-substrate thereby blocking the substrate-binding groove of the JAK kinase domain to inhibit its activity (57).



Regulation of SOCS Proteins

SOCS protein levels have been shown to be regulated by multiple layers of control. At the transcriptional level, SOCS genes particularly *SOCS1*, *SOCS2*, *SOCS3*, and *CISH*—are strongly induced by activated STATs (59), but other transcription factors can additionally mediate this (60). SOCS genes can also repressed by others, as described for *SOCS1* and *SOCS3* by growth factor independence-1 (GFI-1) through promoter binding (61, 62), and can be silenced epigenetically through regulation through methylation of CpG islands or histone deacetylation (63–65). SOCS mRNAs are typically short-lived, with $AU_{2-4}A$ motifs in the 3'UTR linked to stability (31, 66), along with m⁶A methylation (67). Furthermore, the 5'UTR of the SOCS1 mRNA has an inhibitory effect on translation mediated by an upstream open reading frame (68), and can also influence translation of different protein isoforms (69). In addition to this, translation is controlled by a myriad of micro-RNAs (miRNAs) that typically bind to sites located in the 3'UTR (70–74). SOCS proteins are also



relatively unstable, with binding to elongins and phosphorylation of the SOCS box found to influence relative protein stability (75– 77). CISH and SOCS3 also possess a PEST motif adjacent to their SH2 domain, which provides an additional mechanism to impact protein stability (26, 31).

SOCS PROTEINS AS REGULATORS OF IMMUNITY AND ITS PERTURBATION IN DISEASE

SOCS proteins, particularly, SOCS1–3 and CISH are closely involved in the regulation of cytokine receptor signaling (19, 78). Since cytokines play a key role in immune cell development and function, SOCS proteins influence multiple aspects of immune system development and function, notably including helper T (Th) cell differentiation (**Figure 4**) and myeloid cell development and function (**Figure 5**). They are also implicated in a range of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases as well as immunerelated cancers.

SOCS1

SOCS1 is induced by a wide range of cytokines, including IFN- γ *via* STAT1 and those that utilize the IL-2 receptor common gamma chain (the IL-2R γ _c) receptor subunit *via* STAT5 (35). SOCS1 most commonly interacts directly with JAK1, JAK2, and TYK2 including in their dephosphorylated states, with its major mechanism of action being to inhibit the activity of these JAKs through the pseudosubstrate KIR, with the SOCS box of SOCS1 having a poor affinity for E3 ligase components (57). SOCS1 can also bind to phosphotyrosine residues on cytokine receptor chains such as IL-2R β through its SH2 domain (39). Through these mechanisms SOCS1 regulates a raft of cytokines central to the control of immunity and inflammation, including IFN- γ and downstream STAT1 (32) and various IL-2R γ_c subunit utilizing cytokines and downstream STAT5 and STAT6 (38, 79).

Transgenic expression of SOCS1 in T cells resulted in an increased CD4+/CD8+ T cell ratio and peripheral T cell defects, with reduced IFN-y-induced STAT1 activation (80). In contrast, SOCS1^{-/-} mice succumbed to early lethality at 2-3 weeks post-gestation due to pathological inflammation characterized by T cell activation (81, 82), which could be substantially alleviated through injection of anti-IFN- γ or by crossing onto a IFN-y deficient background, suggesting that excessive IFN- γ signaling was largely responsible (32). Transgenic expression of SOCS1 with a deleted SOCS box in the SOCS1^{-/-} mice also facilitated enhanced survival, highlighting the importance of KIR-mediated negative regulation (83). Moreover, the inflammatory phenotype could be mitigated by crossing onto a RAG2 deficient background (81) or in thymocyte-specific SOCS1 knockout mice (84), indicating lymphocytes were responsible for much of the inflammation. However, SOCS1^{-/-} IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice still displayed markedly lower numbers of total T cells, reduced CD4/CD8 T cell ratio, and increased T cell activation (85). The

SOCS protein	Mechanism of action	Cytokine	STAT	References
SOCS1	JAK inhibition	IFN-γ	STAT1	(32)
		IFN-α/β	STAT1/2	(33)
		IL-12	STAT4	(34)
		IL-2,7,15,21	STAT5	(35–37)
		IL-4	STAT6	(38)
	Competitive binding	IL-2,15	STAT5	(39)
SOCS2	JAK inhibition	IL-2,15	STAT5	(40, 41)
		IL-3, GM-CSF	STAT5	(42)
		IL-4	STAT6	(40)
SOCS3	JAK inhibition	IL-6, 23, G-CSF	STAT3	(43–45)
	Degradation/re-routing	IL-12	STAT4	(46)
		G-CSF	STAT3	(47)
CISH	Competitive binding	IL-12	STAT5	(48)
	Degradation/re-routing	IL-15	STAT5	(49)
		IL-3, GM-CSF	STAT5	(50)
	?	IL-4,13	STAT6	(51)
SOCS5	Competitive binding	IL-4	STAT6	(52)
SOCS4,6,7	?	?	?	

?, not known.

T cells in these mice were hypersensitive to a range of cytokines that utilize IL-2R γ_c , including IL-2 and IL-4 and IL-7, resulting in enhanced proliferation and survival (84, 85).

SOCS1 influences the development of CD8+ T cells, with both SOCS1^{-/-} and SOCS1^{-/-}IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice exhibiting a significant increase in CD8+ T cells (86, 87). This was mediated by enhanced signaling by the cytokines IL-7, IL-15, and IL-21 which stimulate CD8+ T cell production (88, 89). In the absence of SOCS1, STAT5 was constitutively activated by IL-7 and IL-15, stimulating pathological generation of CD8+ T cells (79, 86), which was blunted in both SOCS1^{-/-}IL-7^{-/-} and SOCS1^{-/-}IL-15^{-/-} mice (36). The excessive IL-15 signaling also impaired elimination of auto-reactive CD8+ T cells thereby contributing to autoimmunity (79).

SOCS1 has additionally been shown to control the polarization of CD4+ T cells toward their various subtypes (35) (Figure 4). Induction of SOCS1 by IL-4 and IL-6, as well as by IFN-y itself, directly inhibits IFN-y-mediated STAT1 activation that facilitates Th1 differentiation (34, 90). Accordingly, deficiency of SOCS1 in CD4+ T cells resulted in an elevated Th1 response as a direct result of enhanced IFN-y signaling, but also indirectly through reduced IL-6/STAT3-mediated Th1 suppression mediated by enhanced levels of SOCS3 (87). As a corollary, overexpression of SOCS1 in CD4+ T cells suppressed Th1 differentiation (90). SOCS1 can also inhibit both IL-4-mediated STAT6 activation that drives Th2 polarization, and IL-12-mediated STAT4 that drives Th1 polarization, with loss of SOCS1 resulting in enhanced signaling via both pathways and increased Th cell differentiation (91). SOCS1^{-/-} IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$ knockout mice were skewed toward a Th2 response, highlighting the role of SOCS1 in the inhibition of Th2 polarization (92). Loss of SOCS1 in CD4+ T cells additionally suppressed Th17 cell development, with

enhanced IFN- γ signaling antagonizing transforming growth factor (TGF)-\u03b3 mediated SMAD activation and also indirectly blunting IL-6 mediated STAT3 signaling (87). SOCS1 has been further demonstrated to suppress STAT5 activation in response to IL-2, providing an alternative mechanism to inhibit differentiation of Th17 cells (93, 94). SOCS1 is also required for the maintenance and activity of Foxp3+ regulatory T (Treg) cells (95). Interestingly several similarities exist between $SOCS1^{-/-}$ mice and the Treg-deficient scurfy mice, both of which face premature death 2-3 weeks after birth and display inflammatory phenotypes associated with increased IFN-y signals (81, 96). SOCS1 is highly expressed in Treg cells, but T cell-specific over expression of SOCS1 was associated with decreased Treg cells whereas T cell-specific knockout resulted in increased Tregs in the thymus (97). This was due at least partially to the ability of SOCS1 to inhibit IL-2-mediated STAT5 activation that contributes to the proliferation of these cells (97, 98). $SOCS1^{-/-}$ mice were however deficient in peripheral Treg cells despite the enhanced thymocyte development, with adoptive transfer of SOCS1^{+/+} Treg cells able to reduce inflammation and increase survival (99). Treg-specific SOCS1 ablation resulted in a loss of suppressor functions (98). SOCS1^{-/-} Treg cells also showed hyperactivation of STAT1 and STAT3, enhancing the production of IFN- γ and IL-17, respectively, with Foxp3 expression rapidly lost, and these cells converting to Th1- or Th17-like cells (95). This decrease in Foxp3 expression was rescued by deletion of IFN- γ , showing that SOCS1 inhibits IFN- γ mediated STAT1 activation that would otherwise suppress Foxp3 expression (95). In addition, SOCS1 is required in Treg cells to suppress the IL-12-mediated activation of STAT4, which modifies the Treg cells into an inflammatory Th1-like cell (34).

SOCS1^{-/-} mice showed altered natural killer T (NKT) cells, with a decrease in invariant NKT cells but an increased activation



FIGURE 3 | phosphorylated target proteins such as receptor-associated JAK proteins (left) or receptors themselves (right), subsequently assembling components of the E3 ubiquitin ligase complex: elongins B and C binding to the BC box and Cullin 5 binding to the Cul box located within the SOCS box. Other components of the complex such as Rbx2 and E2 are assembled through interactions with Cullin 5. Ubiquitin molecules are transferred from the ligase to the target protein substrates, which signals their degradation along with that of associated proteins within the complex. (C) Inhibition of kinase activity. Both SOCS1 and SOCS3 utilize their SH2 domain to bind to phosphorylated tyrosine residues on either JAKs (left) or receptors (right), respectively. Both then directly inhibit JAK kinase activity via their KIR domain



of conventional NKT cells that supplemented the inflammation and autoimmunity observed in these mice (84). This was due to enhanced IFN- γ activation and IL-2 and IL-15 proliferative signaling (100). NKT cells displayed sustained IFN- γ and IL-4 signaling in the absence of SOCS1, including loss of the crossinhibitory action of IFN- γ on IL-4. This resulted in enhanced NKT cell activation that stimulated inflammation, which could be alleviated either by removing NKT cells or by deletion of STAT1 or STAT6 which are activated by IFN- γ and IL-4, respectively (38). SOCS1 also influences the differentiation and function of dendritic cells (DCs) to suppress systemic autoimmunity and maintain their tolerogenic phenotype. Restoration of SOCS1 expression in T and B cells of $SOCS1^{-/-}$ mice resulted in accumulation of DCs in the thymus and spleen, and pertubed activation of these cells due to hyperresponsiveness to IFN γ and IL-4, which resulted in aberrant B cell expansion and autoreactive antibody production (101). Autoimmunity in $SOCS1^{-/-}$ mice was largely mediated by a specific increase in CD8+ DCs, resulting in increased IFN γ and IL-12 production



(102). DCs from SOCS1^{-/-} mice exhibited stronger Th1 responses, also including increased IFN γ production by T cells (103). The mechanisms by which SOCS1 regulates DC development remain controversial, but SOCS1 expression can block GM-CSF-mediated signaling and differentiation of DCs, with SOCS1 shown to induce the ubiquitin-mediated degradation of the GM-CSF-R β c subunit (104) (**Figure 5**).

 $\rm SOCS1^{-/-}$ mice additionally display increased numbers of eosinophils and macrophages, although this appears to be largely an indirect effect of aberrant T cells in these mice rather than impacts on their development *per se.* SOCS1 is rapidly induced by Toll-like receptors (TLR) in response to ligands such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and has been found to influence the activation and subsequent polarization of macrophages (105). Indeed, $\rm SOCS1^{-/-}$ mice challenged with LPS show

augmented innate immune responses characterized by enhanced macrophage activation, including high levels of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α and IL-12 (106, 107). However, the mechanism of action remains somewhat controversial. Several studies have indicated that the effect is indirect, with the SOCS1 induced by TLRs blocking downstream IFN α/β signaling (33, 108). In contrast, others have shown that SOCS1 can directly negatively regulate TLR signaling through interactions with various adapter proteins that such as IL-1 receptor associated kinase (106) and Mal/TIRAP (109) which are responsible for the induction of inflammatory genes *via* NF-κB. Intriguingly, even in the absence of IFN- γ and STAT1, SOCS1^{-/-} mice were hypersensitive to LPS, showing that this regulation is at least partially distinct from the effect of SOCS1 on IFN signaling (106). Either way SOCS1 plays significant immunosuppressive roles in the myeloid lineage mitigating the development of excessive inflammation (110).

With the strong role of SOCS1 in the regulation of multiple aspects of immunity, it is perhaps not surprising that SOCS1 impacts on a variety of inflammatory diseases. Tand NK-cell specific SOCS1 knockout mice displayed increased sensitivity to ConA-induced hepatitis, due hyperresponsive of these cells to IL-2 and IL-15 (100). $SOCS1^{+/-}$ mice and those with T cell-specific SOCS1 ablation were more susceptible to experimentally-induced colitis due to enhanced IFNy/STAT1mediated suppression of Treg cells (111). SOCS1^{-/-} mice also showed enhanced formation of atherosclerotic plaques due to increased M1 macrophages and neutrophils (112). In contrast, T cell-specific SOCS1 knockout mice were resistant to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in this case a result of enhanced IFNy/STAT1-mediated suppression of Th17 cells that drive this model of autoimmunity (87). Moreover, transgenic SOCS1 expression in T cells resulted in the development of intestinal inflammation (113). Mice with DC-specific SOCS1 ablation, showed a skewed immune response to bacterial antigen, with reduced CD8+ T cells and NK cells but enhanced innate responses (114). Knockdown of SOCS1 in DCs resulted in reduced susceptibility to Candida albicans, with increased phagocytosis and killing by DCs (115), but also increased Th1 cells and elevated serum IFN-y that blunted inflammation during late stages of infection (116). Altered SOCS1 expression has been observed in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (117) and rheumatoid arthritis (118), with SOCS1 polymorphisms demonstrated to predict severity of the latter disease (119). Recently, heterozygous lossof-function germline mutations in SOCS1 have been shown to be associated with early onset human autoimmune diseases, with lymphocytes showing hyperactivation concomitant with increased STAT activation in response to IFN-y, IL-2, and IL-4 that is reverted with a JAK1/2 inhibitor (120).

SOCS1 has additionally been implicated in a variety of immune cell malignancies, with silencing of SOCS1 due to methylation or mutation commonly reported, reflective of the negative regulatory roles played by SOCS1 in the cytokinemediated proliferation, differentiation and survival of immune cells (121, 122). For example, SOCS1 is frequently methylated in cases of acute (AML) and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) (123–125), which is thought to block the ability of SOCS1 to

negatively regulate JAK2 activity through kinase inhibition (126), thereby promoting activation of STAT3 and STAT5 which are major drivers of leukemia development (123). However, SOCS1 deficiency can also impact on therapeutic responses, being associated with poor outcomes to IFN- α treatment in AML (127). In CML, SOCS1 is strongly induced by BCR-ABL, but its role is complex, since it can inhibit both pro-proliferative responses mediated by IL-3 and IL-6, as well as anti-proliferative responses to IFNs. In a mouse model, BCR-ABL-dependent growth was resistant to SOCS1 expression, but a subset of SOCS1expressing mice showed extended disease latency or indeed an absence of disease (128). SOCS1 methylation has also been observed in multiple myeloma, where it correlated with enhanced STAT3 activation and was associated with poorer prognosis (129). Loss-of-function somatic mutations of SOCS1 have also been frequently observed in a range of B cell malignancies. These include Hodgkin's lymphoma (130-132), where they are associated with shorter patient survival (133), SOCS1 deficiency in this disease correlated with hyperactivation of JAK2 and downstream STAT6 leading to excessive proliferation (134), with SOCS1 mutations synergizing with presumed gain-offunction STAT6 mutations (135). Somatic SOCS1 mutations have also been commonly found in diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DLCBL) (131, 136), where they contribute to unrestrained IL-6 signaling (137). Interestingly, patients with such mutations responded less well to anti-CD20 therapy resulting in reduced survival (138). Similar loss-of-function mutations have been reported in gray zone lymphoma (139), primary mediastinal B cell lymphoma (PMBCL) (140) and HIVassociated plasmablastic lymphoma (141). SOCS1 has also been found to be mutated in malignancies involving other lymphoid malignancies, including T cell prolymphocytic leukemia (T-PLL) (142), NK/T cell lymphoma (143), enteropathy-associated T cell lymphoma (EATL) (144), as well as mycosis fungoides, a cutaneous T cell lymphoma (CTCL) (145). Indeed, in CTCL cells, SOCS1 knockdown was shown to increase aggressiveness, with cooperation seen with activating JAK3 mutations (93).

SOCS2

SOCS2 is strongly activated by and in turn negatively regulates STAT5 and to a lesser extent STAT6 and STAT3 (146, 147). The negative regulation is principally mediated by SOCS box-dependent degradation of target substrates (148), including receptors and downstream signaling molecules (149). Intriguingly SOCS2 also regulates other SOCS proteins, particularly SOCS1 and SOCS3 (150, 151), but in a dosedependent manner (152). Through this mechanism SOCS2 can actually indirectly stimulate cytokine-induced STAT activation by removing the negative regulation mediated by those SOCS proteins targeted (151). SOCS2 is primarily involved in regulation of developmental and homeostatic pathways, such as those mediated by growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor and prolactin signaling (153, 154). However, more recent studies have illuminated novel functions of SOCS2 within the immune system.

 $SOCS2^{-/-}$ mice showed no obvious basal defects in T cells (40, 155–157). However, SOCS2 has been demonstrated to

influence lymphoid cell activation and polarization (**Figure 4**). In the absence of SOCS2, TCR stimulation of CD4+ T cells resulted in enhanced levels of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 thereby stimulating the differentiation of Th2 cells at the expense of Th17 cells (40). SOCS2 was also found to be induced by IL-4 and IL-6, with loss of SOCS2 leading to enhanced activation of STAT5 and STAT6 in response to IL-2 and IL-4, respectively, but blunted IL-6-mediated STAT3 activation potentially mediated indirectly by SOCS1 and SOCS3 which were upregulated in SOCS2^{-/-} mice (40). Thymic Foxp3⁺ Treg cells were unaffected in SOCS2^{-/-} mice, but enhanced IL-4-induced STAT6 peripheral inducible Treg cells (iTreg) were observed, resulting in increased levels of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-13 and IFN- γ (156). This suggests that SOCS2 is required to conserve the intrinsic antiinflammatory phenotype of iTreg cells (156).

NK cells were elevated in the bone marrow and spleen of $SOCS2^{-/-}$ mice (41). This was shown to be a cell autonomous effect, with SOCS2 able to inhibit IL-15 signaling specifically through the JAK2/STAT5 pathway, but not the JAK1/STAT3 pathway, mediated *via* direct interaction with JAK2. This caused increased NK cell differentiation and although these cells showed unaltered cytolytic activity and IFN γ secretion, SOCS2^{-/-} mice showed enhanced resistance to melanoma (41). SOCS2 was also found to be induced by IL-15 in human NK cells, although in this case it was found to target phosphorylated proline-rich tyrosine kinase 2 for proteasomal degradation, leading to enhanced cytolytic activity and other effector functions, including secretion of inflammatory cytokines, in these cells (158).

SOCS2 deficiency also impacted on hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) (42). In these cells, SOCS2 was induced by IL-3, GM-CSF, and thrombopoietin (TPO) *via* STAT5 activation in HSCs, with proliferation mediated by these cytokines increased in HSC derived from $SOCS2^{-/-}$ mice. There was also unrestrained myelopoiesis following bone marrow ablation in these mice, which leads to exhaustion of long-term HSC (42).

Expression of SOCS2 has been shown to be markedly increased during maturation of DCs, both mouse (159) and human (160). Even though its role in DC production is unclear, SOCS2 is induced by ligands such as LPS and Lipoxin A4 that signal through TLR4 and TLR2, respectively (161, 162), although this is probably caused by indirect induction of SOCS2 stimulated by type 1 IFNs produced in DCs in response to LPS in a unique autocrine-paracrine loop (161). Indeed, SOCS2 is required for the propagation of MyD88-dependent and -independent signaling pathways downstream of TLR4 (160). As a result, in the absence of SOCS2, LPS induced expression of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α , IL1- β , and IL-6 was markedly diminished (160). However, another study showed SOCS2 suppression in DCs caused hyperphosphorylation of STAT3 resulting in an increase in inflammatory cytokines (163). In contrast, SOCS2 did not influence TLR signaling in mouse macrophages (33).

SOCS2 has been shown to suppress inflammation in a range of disease models, but the cellular mechanism differs substantially depending on the model. Thus, in models of atopic dermatitis and allergen-induced airway inflammation $SOCS2^{-/-}$ mice showed enhanced allergic responses with increased IgE, eosinophilia and inflammatory pathology attributable to

increased Th2 responses, which were also seen following helminth challenge (40). However, in EAE, SOCS2 deficiency resulted in reduced acute phase damage due to increased Th17 and decreased Th1 and Th2 cells, but exacerbated inflammation during the late phase of disease, characterized by increased Th1 cells and decreased Th2 and Treg cells (164). In a mouse model of cerebral malaria SOCS2^{-/-} mice initially showed reduced parasitemia, however at late stages they showed increased parasitemia associated with increased Th1 and Th17 cells and pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-17 with decreased Treg cell activation (165). Interestingly, the aberration in T cell ratios and abnormal cytokine production were alleviated when mice were treated with a nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitor, suggesting a role for SOCS2 in regulating NO synthesis (165). In comparison, $SOCS2^{-/-}$ mice showed reduced parasitemia and decreased IFNy and TNFa following T. cruzi infection, which was associated with increased generation of Treg cells but reduced memory T (Tm) cells (166).

SOCS2 has also been implicated in various malignancies (167, 168), notably including myeloproliferative disorders and leukemias although this can be both pro- and anti- tumorigenic. As a major STAT5 target gene, its expression is strongly increased in a range of myeloproliferative disorders where STAT5 is activated, including BCR/ABL-induced CML (169) and JAK2 V617F-induced disease (170). However, SOCS2 has been shown to be dispensable for the induction and propagation of BCR/ABL-mediated disease (155). In contrast, it was demonstrated to be a negative regulator of JAK2 V617F and was epigenetically downregulated in MPD patients (170). Moreover, SOCS2 expression predicted poor outcomes in pediatric AML (171), while high levels of SOCS2 correlated with progression for both myeloid and lymphoid leukemias (42). In this case SOCS2 expression was under the control of the myocytespecific enhancer factor 2C and was involved in maintaining the stemness of the leukemias (42). SOCS2 has also been identified as a prognostic signature for the development and progression of AML (172). SOCS2 knockdown reduced growth of AML cells in vitro and delayed disease upon transplantation into mouse models, with these cells showing mature myeloid cell markers (172), suggesting a potential oncogenic role for SOCS2.

SOCS3

SOCS3 is principally induced by cytokines that activate STAT3 *via* JAK2, such as those that utilize the GP130 subunit [for example, IL-6, IL-10, and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF)], or related receptor chains (G-CSF and leptin) but also by those that activate STAT1 (such as IFN- γ), and STAT5 [such as erythropoietin (EPO)] (173). The major mechanism of action for SOCS3 is through docking to cytokine receptors *via* its SH2 domain allowing the KIR to inhibit the activity of adjacent JAKs, but it can also compete with STAT docking and mediate proteasomal degradation (174, 175). It plays a particularly important role in immunity and inflammation *via* its negative regulation of members of the IL-6 family of cytokines that act *via* STAT3, notably including IL-6 and G-CSF (58).

SOCS3^{-/-} mice display embryonic lethality (176, 177), principally as a result of placental defects caused by excessive

LIF signaling, with no direct impact on early hematopoiesis (177, 178). Hematopoietic-specific SOCS3 ablation was able to overcome these effects but resulted in the development of a lethal inflammatory disease, characterized by splenomegaly, pericarditis, hepatitis, and neutrophilia (43). This was largely a macrophage and neutrophil-driven process, although non-hematopoietic tissues have also been implicated (179). Hematopoietic-specific SOCS3 knockout mice display elevated IL-6 (43), and are highly susceptible to IL-1 β -mediated inflammation leading to rapid mortality (180). IL-6 deficiency ameliorated the inflammatory disease, including that mediated by IL-1β (179). SOCS3 ablation prolonged STAT3 activation by IL-6 (44, 181), but interestingly also resulted in extended STAT1 activation by IL-6, which promoted a IFN-like response, but IL-10 responses were not surprisingly impacted (181). SOCS3 has been shown to dock directly to the GP130 subunit of the IL-6R to suppress signaling (182), with mice harboring a specific mutation at this site (Y759F) displaying similar splenomegaly, lymphadenopathy, B and T cell defects and autoimmune arthritis to SOCS3-deficient animals (183), highlighting the key role of perturbed IL-6R signaling.

SOCS3 knockout did not affect the overall numbers of CD4+ or CD8+ T cells (45, 184), but SOCS3 is believed to influence the polarization of T helper cells (Figure 4). SOCS3 is able to directly block IL-12-mediated STAT4 activation through competitive binding to STAT4 docking sites on the IL-12Rβ2 subunit (46), with high levels of SOCS3 correlating with reduced activation of STAT4 by IL-12 that induces the production of IFN-y thereby inhibiting Th1 differentiation and favoring Th2 differentiation (184, 185). Enforced expression of SOCS3 impacted T cell development in the thymus and peripheral T cell homeostasis through impaired IL-7-mediated signaling (186), and also inhibited Th cell proliferation (187), presumably through blocking IL-2 production (188, 189). Despite this, T cell specific deletion of SOCS3 was found to suppress production of both Th1 and Th2 cells, as a result of enhanced IL-10 and TGF-B mediated STAT3 activation, producing an antiinflammatory response resulting in an increase in regulatory Th3 and Th17 cells (190). The increased Th17 cells appears to be due to the loss of negative regulation of IL-23 signaling by either a feedback loop (45) or by crosstalk from inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ and LIF (191, 192), as well as ablation of TGF- β -mediated inhibition of IL-6 signaling (193), which each serve to increase STAT3 activation and thus drive Th17 differentiation. Increased expression of pro-inflammatory genes by macrophages from SOCS3-deficient mice further supports Th1 and Th17 differentiation (194). Deletion of SOCS3 in CD4+ T cells revealed an essential role in maintaining the expression of costimulatory molecules CD28 and CTLA-4 and for the induction of IL-2 upon TCR stimulation, that resulted in expansion of Treg cells at the expense of Th17 and Th1 (184). This is consistent with impaired Treg production and immune suppressive capabilities leading to defective selftolerance following overexpression of SOCS3 in Foxp3+ Treg cells (195) as well as in SOCS3 transgenic mice (186). Indeed, SOCS3 was also shown to serve as a negative regulator of Foxp3 expression to directly inhibit Treg function (196). SOCS3 is also expressed in NKT cells, in response to cytotoxic cytokines such as IL-10 (197), playing an immunosuppressive role through regulation of cytokine signaling (198). Finally, SOCS3 expression in thymic stromal cells has also been demonstrated to be important for normal T cell development (199).

SOCS3 also plays a role in DCs to regulate their tolerogenic capabilities. IL-6 was shown to induce the expression of SOCS3 in DCs, with SOCS3-deficient DCs exhibiting enhanced STAT3 activation and increased tolerogenic activity compared to their wildtype counterparts (200). In human DCs, SOCS3 was shown to induce proteasomal degradation of the key enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (201), providing an additional mechanism by which it can suppress tolerogenic activities.

SOCS3 has several important functions within the myeloid lineage, controlling the differentiation and activation of both neutrophils and macrophages (Figure 5) (202). In neutrophils, G-CSF induces SOCS3 via STAT3 activation (203), facilitating negative feedback regulation to maintain G-CSF signaling at homeostatic levels (204). SOCS3 binds directly to the activated G-CSF receptor (G-CSFR) and inhibits signaling through either suppression of JAK2 activity (58) or by ubiquitination of the G-CSFR thereby stimulating the rerouting of the receptor through lysosomes (47). As a consequence, $SOCS3^{-/-}$ mice exhibit excessive G-CSF signaling resulting in neutrophilia (178). HSC-specific SOCS3 ablation resulted in increased colony size in response to G-CSF, whereas neutrophil-specific ablation resulted in neutrophilia, with enhanced and extended G-CSF signaling and increased survival (205). Disruption of SOCS3 in hematopoietic cells also triggered the development of neutrophilia and inflammatory pathologies in later adulthood, including infiltration of neutrophils into multiple tissues such as liver, lung, and muscle tissue accompanied by elevated IL-6 and G-CSF levels. Stimulation of these mice by G-CSF triggered increased progenitor proliferation and enhanced neutrophilia and increased formation of both macrophage and neutrophil colony formation (43). This ultimately resulted in cerebral infiltration by neutrophils hyperactivated by G-CSF (206). Surprisingly, G-CSF increased the formation of both neutrophil and macrophage colonies (43), with the differentiation of progenitors skewed toward macrophages in response to G-CSF or IL-6 (207).

Within the macrophage lineage there is evidence that SOCS3 has both pro-inflammatory as well as anti-inflammatory roles. SOCS3 suppresses the inflammatory activities of macrophages by providing negative feedback regulation of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1β, and IL-12, with myeloid-specific SOCS3 knockouts showing enhanced and prolonged JAK/STAT signaling, increasing the levels of M1 pro-inflammatory genes (194). Furthermore, LPS and TNF- α are also able to induce SOCS3 to provide additional negative regulation of IL-6mediated STAT3 activation (208, 209), with bacterial infections associated with enhanced SOCS3 expression in macrophages, presumably as an alternative mechanism to suppress their inflammatory capabilities (210, 211). Hence, it can be predicted that SOCS3 attenuates STAT3 activation thereby promoting macrophage activation via positive regulation by TGF-B and IL-6 (212). Independent of this pathway, knockdown of SOCS3 in

myeloid cells resulted in an increase in phosphatidyl insotiol-3-kinase (PI3K)-AKT signaling which is known to suppress the production of IL-6 and induction of NF-κB, providing an alternative mechanism for SOCS3 to promote inflammation (212, 213). However, LPS-induced SOCS3 in macrophages also indirectly stimulated the induction of inflammatory genes such as NF-KB, although the mechanism that has not been identified (213, 214). These opposing effects could be attributed to the kinetics of STAT3 signaling, and the antagonistic roles of IL-6 on LPS signaling (211). Lastly, in the absence of SOCS3 the phagocytic abilities of macrophages were found to be heightened, attributed to enhanced IL-6 and IL-12 signaling (215, 216). Intriguingly, PI3K-AKT was found to contribute to the heightened ability of macrophages to undergo phagocytosis by promoting the cytoskeletal rearrangement required for this process, with inhibition of PI3K signaling in SOCS3 silenced cells found to suppress the heighted phagocytic capabilities (217).

A variety of disease models have highlighted critical roles for SOCS3 in both the development and resolution phases of inflammation (218). In mouse models of inflammatory arthritis, SOCS3 deficiency in the hematopoietic compartment caused more severe joint inflammation associated with elevated levels of IL-6 and G-CSF, increased neutrophil numbers and constitutively activated CD4+ T cells and macrophages (180). Mice with myeloid-specific SOCS3 ablation also develop more severe EAE (216, 219) and show enhanced LPS induced sepsis (194) and acute lung injury (220). In addition, they are susceptible to experimentally-induced aortic dissection associated with enhanced STAT3 activation in macrophages and increased inflammation (215). In contrast, CD4+ T cellspecific SOCS3 ablation provided protection from uveitis due to an expansion of Treg cells at the expense of Th17 cells (184). Moreover, acute nephritis was associated with increased SOCS3 activation that facilitated activation of macrophages toward a pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype with increased iNOS production (213). SOCS3 deficiency in either the myeloid or lymphoid lineage independently increased susceptibility to M. tuberculosis (202). Ablation of SOCS3 within myeloid cells resulted in enhanced IL-6 signaling which inhibited the secretion of TNF- α and IL-12 required to mediate the development of a robust CD4+ T cell response against the infection (221), as well as increased production of NOS2 and Arg1, leading to higher bacterial loads and exacerbated pulmonary inflammation (210). DC-specific SOCS3 ablation resulted in increased susceptibility to infection as a result of reduced cross-talk with T cells (218). Separately, SOCS3 deficiency in lymphoid cells resulted in an increase in IL-17 secretion during M. tuberculosis infection, which mediated enhanced neutrophilic inflammation (221). Hematopoietic-specific SOCS3 deficiency also caused increased sensitivity to lymphocytic choriomeningitis virusmediated lethality (179). Finally, in mice models of inflammatory arthritis, SOCS3 induction alleviated bone degradation and significantly suppressed the autoimmune inflammation within the joints (222).

As a corollary, SOCS3 has also been implicated in specific human inflammatory diseases. These include inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and its more severe phenotype, Crohns

disease (223, 224), with SOCS3 responsible for suppressing the activation of inflammatory genes induced by STAT3 during IBD (224). In mice, activation of STAT3 and expression of SOCS3 is characteristic for the development of IBD and colitis, with SOCS3 acting as a regulatory mechanism to limit pathogenesis, which is primarily driven through macrophages (225). In addition, inflamed tissue obtained from IBD patients showed an increase in classically activated inflammatory macrophages, with a large majority of these cells displaying an upregulation of SOCS3, a reflection of the roles played by SOCS3 in macrophage polarization (212, 213). Indeed, increased SOCS3 expression predicts mucosal relapse in ulcerative colitis (226). Similarly, SOCS3 expression in human arthritic chondrocytes contributed to cartilage damage during arthritis (227, 228).

Due to its role in controlling the activation of the STAT3 oncogene, SOCS3 is typically considered a tumor suppressor protein, although this is not always the case in immune cancers (229). Loss of SOCS3 expression, particularly via promoter methylation, has been identified in a variety of hematopoietic malignancies. Thus, SOCS3 methylation occured at high frequency in BCR-ABL-negative chronic myeloproliferative disease (CMPD) and post-CMPD acute myeloid leukemia (230), as well as chronic lymphoproliferative disease of NK cells (CLPD-NK) (231). SOCS3 hypermethylation in multiple myeloma was associated with drastically shortened patient survival, believed to be due to enhanced responsiveness to IL-6, a major driver of this disease (232). SOCS3 expression was also ablated in Lck LSTRA leukemia, with enforced ectopic expression of SOCS3 reducing cell proliferation and increasing apoptosis in Lck-transformed cells (233). Decreased SOCS3 expression due to methylation was detected in a considerable proportion of mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) patients, with a trend for worse outcomes in this cohort. Enforced re-expression of SOCS3 reduced IL-10-mediated STAT3 activation and increased apoptosis (234-236). SOCS3 hypermethylation was also common in idiopathic myelofibrosis, but not other MPDs, although no significant correlation with survival or other clinical parameters was found, whereas SOCS3 expression was increased in JAK2 V617F-positive myeloproliferative disorders (MPDs) (234-236). SOCS3 was consistently down-regulated in CML cell lines and bone marrow nuclear cells (BMNCs) from CML patients, with enforced expression inhibiting growth (237). Moreover, in cases where SOCS3 was expressed, it enhanced cell survival as a result of BCR-ABL-mediated phosphorylation (238). However, constitutive SOCS3 expression in CML conferred resistance to IFNa (239, 240). Similarly, in CTCL constitutive SOCS3 expression was found to play a protective role by blocking IFN-α mediated growth suppression and differentiation without impacting STAT3 activation (241). Indeed overexpression of SOCS3 in the peripheral blood of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) patients correlated with advanced disease and a poor response to treatment (242). In one form of this disease, de novo follicular lymphoma with t(14:18), SOCS3 expression induced by overexpressed BCL2 was associated with poor prognosis (243, 244). Ablation of SOCS3 within the myeloid lineage was found to promote tumor development in mice. This was mediated by tumor-derived G-CSF driven proliferation of myeloid-derived

suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment *via* STAT3, which suppressed CD8+ T cell responses against the tumor (245). In mice models of colitis associated cancer, SOCS3 deletion in intestinal epithelial cells (IEC) exacerbated the development of cancer through constitutive STAT3 activation leading to IEC proliferation (246, 247). Furthermore, downregulation of SOCS3 was also observed in patients where colitis resulted in carcinogenesis, suggesting that loss of inhibition on STAT3 promotes the development of cancer during colitis (248).

CISH

CISH is particularly relevant for cytokines that utilize STAT5, being induced largely by STAT5 and predominantly regulating STAT5 activation (19). CISH has been suggested to play a variety of roles outside the immune system, but more recent studies have identified important roles in the regulation of immune cell development and function (30, 249). Intriguingly it appears to serve as a break on both pathological inflammations, as seen in allergy and arthritis, but also anti-tumor responses (49–51).

CISH participates in T cell development mediated through its negative regulation of, principally IL-2 signaling through STAT5 and IL-4/IL-13 signaling through STAT6. This was evidenced from CISH transgenic mice, which showed increased Th2 polarization proposed to be due to suppressive effects of CISH on IL-2 signaling, including STAT5 activation (250), with CISH able to bind to the IL-2 receptor β chain component, which blocks activation of the associated JAK3 (48). A similar mechanism is likely to explain the heightened embryonic lymphopoiesis observed following knockdown of the zebrafish CISH paralogue Cish.a, which also correlated with enhanced STAT5 activation (251). CISH $^{-/-}$ mice suffered from airway inflammation and progressively developed a pulmonary disease characterized by enhanced eosinophils within the airways and epithelial cell hyperplasia (51). This was due, at least in part, to preferential differentiation of T cells into Th2 and Th9 subsets through enhanced IL-4-mediated STAT6 activation, resulting in excessive production of IL-13 and IL-9 by Th2 and Th9 cells, respectively (51) (Figure 4). CISH suppressed activation of STAT6 and STAT5 in response to IL-4 and IL-2 respectively, both of which drive Th9 and Th2 differentiation (51). IL-9 induced CISH expression in CD4+ T cells but CISH did not significantly effect IL-9 signaling, suggesting that IL-9 stimulates CISH in CD4+ T cells for crosstalk inhibition of other cytokines such as IL-4 (252). This contradicted previous studies where CISH overexpression resulted in elevated Th2 expression, possibly due to differences in methodology (250). Alternatively, this could also be due to compensation by other SOCS proteins in response to CISH ablation, causing an imbalance in Th1/Th2 polarization. Indeed human Th2 cells have been shown to express markedly more CISH compared to Th1 cells, supporting a negative regulatory role (253). Lastly, CISH was also able to inhibit IFN-y signaling to some degree, although this is overshadowed by the much stronger effects of SOCS1 in most lineages, especially CD4+ T cells (254).

CISH also plays important roles in regulating the development of both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells through regulation of Tcell receptor (TCR) signaling, although there is conflicting data regarding the mechanism of action. Enforced expression of CISH in CD4+ T cells markedly increased their proliferation, survival, and activation. This resulted in enhanced MAP kinase activity in response to TCR stimulation, suggesting CISH acts as a positive regulator of TCR signaling, with CISH found to associate with protein kinase C epsilon as a potential mechanism (255). However, deletion of CISH in CD8+ T cells increased their proliferation and activity, including their cytotoxic anti-tumor capabilities (256). This suggested that CISH instead acts as a negative regulator of TCR signaling in these cells, proposed to be mediated by the ability of CISH to degrade the TCR intermediate protein PLC- γ 1 rather than by impacting on STAT5 signaling (256, 257).

CISH serves a major role in controlling NK cell production and function, which is mediated by its negative regulation of IL-15. CISH is induced by IL-15, which strongly activates STAT5, and then targets IL-15R-associated JAK1 to mediate degradation of the receptor complex. In the absence of CISH the maturation and cellular turnover of NK cells in response to IL-15 is enhanced (258). However, additional mechanisms are present in order to prevent accumulation of NK cells in the absence of CISH (258). Despite this, CISH deficient NK cells showed enhanced survival and expansion even with low concentrations of IL-2 and IL-15 (259). The hypersensitivity of $CISH^{-/-}$ mice to IL-15 also enhances the anti-tumor effects of NK cells, suggesting that CISH plays a more significant role in the effector functions of NK cells rather than just their differentiation (49). Indeed, in the absence of CISH, IL-15 stimulated increased cytotoxicity of NK cells through the secretion of IFN- γ (49, 259). CISH^{-/-} NK cells additionally displayed enhanced metabolic fitness attributed to increased mTOR signaling complementing their anti-tumor activities, highlighting the multiple roles played by CISH in NK cells (259).

CISH can also influence both DC and macrophage development, in this case through control of GM-CSF and IL-3 mediated STAT5 activity (**Figure 5**). CISH expression is strongly upregulated during GM-CSF-induced *ex vivo* maturation of bone marrow-derived DC which correlated with high levels of STAT5 activation. Knockdown of CISH in these cells resulted in increased STAT5 activation and enhanced production of DC precursors but impaired maturation of type 1 DCs, which showed reduced ability to stimulate cytotoxic T cells (249). Similarly, in the absence of CISH, GM-CSF stimulated pathological myeloid cell driven inflammation through enhanced responses to inflammatory cytokines while IL-3 stimulated increased myeloid progenitors (50).

CISH has also been implicated in the control of eosinophil function through regulation of IL-13 and IL-5 signaling. CISH was induced by IL-13 in lung fibroblasts *via* STAT6, with CISH ablation leading to increased expression of chemokines such as CCL26 in response to IL-13 to enhance eosinophil migration to the airways (260). Moreover, airway eosinophils expressed CISH at a higher level compared to peripheral blood eosinophils, which correlated with their reduced sensitivity to IL-5 signaling *via* STAT5 (261), with bone marrow cells from CISH^{-/-} mice producing more eosinophils in response to IL-5 (50). It is likely that these effects on eosinophils contributes to the progressive pulmonary disease observed in CISH^{-/-} mice.

CISH has been shown to impact on several models of disease. $CISH^{-/-}$ mice succumbed to experimental allergic asthma at a higher rate than their wildtype counterparts due to enhanced airway inflammation (51). Inflammation was also increased during inflammatory arthritis as well during EAE in CISH^{-/-} mice (50), which also showed resistance to metastasis of tumor cells both in vivo and in vitro (49). Finally, a variety of CISH single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have been associated with increased susceptibility to and/or morbidity from a variety of infectious agents. In particular, CISH SNP-292 (rs414171) has been frequently associated with an increase in susceptibility to pathogens such as hepatitis B virus, malaria and tuberculosis infections (262-264). This SNP reduces the expression of CISH in response to IL-2 and is presumed to result in enhanced IL-2 signaling (264). However, how this results in reduced immunity to such a broad range of pathogens remains to be determined.

Other SOCS Proteins

SOCS4–7 have more pronounced roles outside cytokine signaling (7), particularly in the regulation of receptor tyrosine kinases that mediated the effects of hormones such as insulin and growth factors like epidermal growth factor (EGF) (7).

A specific role for SOCS4 in immune cell development has not been identified, with $SOCS4^{-/-}$ mice showing no significant alterations in steady-state immune cell populations (265). However, these mice were hypersusceptible to influenza virus infection, with delayed viral clearance, impaired trafficking of influenza virus-specific CD8+ T cells and a pathological increase in pro-inflammatory cytokine such as IL-1 β and TNF- α , which resulted in early lethality compared to wild-type counterparts (265). The viral susceptibility was shown to be mediated by cells derived from the hematopoietic compartment (265). However, the $SOCS4^{-/-}$ mice showed no difference in CD8+ memory T cell generation or their efficient recall during subsequent infection (266). Furthermore, a recombinant herpes simplex virus (HSV) expressing SOCS4 caused reduced morbidity and mortality compared to standard HSV, which was associated with reduced levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines released mostly by macrophages during the initial innate immune response (267). This suggests that SOCS4 negatively regulates the innate immune response to viral infection to limit the resultant inflammation, although the mechanism of action remains unclear.

SOCS5 has been shown to be constitutively expressed in both B and T lymphocytes and demonstrated to regulate IL-4 signaling *in vitro* (268). However, SOCS5^{-/-} mice do not display any significant abnormalities in their lymphoid compartments including their CD4+/CD8+ ratio (269). Despite this, SOCS5^{-/-} mice showed heightened susceptibility to influenza virus infection, with increased viral titres and heightened pro-inflammatory cytokines particularly IL-6 and G-CSF, resulting in increased neutrophils and enhanced weight loss (270). This was mediated predominantly through nonhematopoietic tissue, with SOCS5 expression in airway epithelial cells increased following influenza infection. SOCS5^{-/-} mice showed hallmarks of enhanced EGF signaling, with SOCS5 shown to be able to target both EGF receptor and the downstream PI3-K subunits, leading to enhanced Akt and STAT3 activation (270). SOCS5 levels have been found be decreased in patients suffering from chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder (COPD) (270), associated with enhanced levels of pro-inflammatory signaling through cytokines such as IL-1 β and TNF- α (271). Finally, in a mouse model of allergic conjunctivitis constitutive expression of SOCS5 reduced eosinophil infiltration, possibly due to enhanced IL-4 signaling (268).

There is no evidence of SOCS6 being involved in immune cell regulation, with SOCS6^{-/-} mice not showing any significant abnormalities within their immune system (272). However, there is some evidence that SOCS7 might contribute to immune cell control, since SOCS7^{-/-} mice displayed different immune-related phenotypes dependent on their background. On a C57BL/6 background, SOCS7^{-/-} mice showed a minor increase in neutrophils with around half succumbing to hydrocephalus of unknown etiology (273). In contrast, around half of SOCS7^{-/-} mice on a 129/Sv background developed a severe cutaneous disease characterized by increased mast cell activation, upregulation of IgE and IgG, and mast cells showing increased sensitivity to IgE-induced pro-inflammatory cytokines (274). The signaling pathways involved remained to be identified.

THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS

Since SOCS proteins play significant roles in the coordination of the immune system, with functions identified in inflammation and immune-related malignancies, their modulation has clear potential for therapeutic intervention. As such, SOCS proteins in various conformations have been developed with some showing promise in pure clinical models. For example a mimetic peptide of the SOCS1 KIR, Tkip has produced efficacious results in the murine EAE model, with inflammatory phenotypes reduced upon administration (275). Similar to the naturally occurring SOCS1, Tkip was found to inhibit IFN-y signaling and thereby suppress the effector functions of T-cells, ultimately compensating for the low levels of SOCS1 and SOCS3 associated with EAE in mice (275). A different mimetic peptide of SOCS1, R9-SOCS1-KIR was also able to suppress the development of experimental autoimmune uveitis (EAU) in mice with topical administration suppressing the inflammatory activities of IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-17, thereby protecting the mice from ocular pathologies (276). Other SOCS1 mimetic peptides have also shown anti-inflammatory effects in mouse models of chronic intraocular inflammatory disease by suppressing the effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines toward retinal cells (277). A cell penetrating SOCS1 (CP-SOCS1) has been found to suppress the induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines by blocking IFN- γ signaling (278). Similar to the endogenous SOCS1, CP-SOCS1 inhibited IFN-y mediated STAT1 phosphorylation by interacting with IFN- γ pathway components such as JAK2, with the extent of inhibition being dose dependent (278) A cell penetrating SOCS3 (CP-SOCS3) was also developed in order to treat acute liver injury in mice caused by excessive signaling through TNF- α and IFN- γ and found to suppress inflammation driven by inducers such as LPS, limiting the necrosis and apoptosis in the liver (279). CP-SOCS3 was also found to act in a similar manner to its endogenous proteins *in vitro*, although it retained its inhibitory effects for a much longer period of time compared to endogenous SOCS3 (280). Furthermore, deletion of the SOCS box domain in both CP-SOCS1 and CP-SOCS3 further extended their activities and half-life, providing a much more robust antiinflammatory affect compared to their endogenous counterparts (278, 280).

SOCS proteins have also been shown to impact on immune responses relevant to inflammatory diseases and cancer, which has seen applications to immunotherapy approaches. For example, adoptive transfer of SOCS3-deficient DCs reduced the severity EAE (200), while in mice models of asthma this only slightly alleviated the development of immunogenic tolerance (281). Alternatively, adoptive transfer of SOCS3 deficient macrophages was found to exacerbate the development of acute lung injury in mice, emphasizing the multifaceted roles of SOCS3 (220). Lastly, modulation of CISH was found to be effective in protecting against tumor subtypes under the control of NK cells (282). SOCS1 ablation in human DCs was shown to be required to break selftolerance in order to induce anti-tumor responses (283), resulting in enhanced activation of DCs, increased IFN-y and enhanced killing by cytotoxic T cells (284, 285). In addition, treatment with tumor cell-conditioned media was shown to upregulate SOCS1 to suppress DC maturation (286). Furthermore, SOCS1 silencing in macrophages also suppressed tumor development due to enhanced anti-tumor inflammation (287). In contrast, adenovirus delivery of SOCS1 was shown to enhance T cell-mediated anti-tumor immunity (288). Combination therapies involving CISH inhibition, and BRAF as well as MEK inhibitors can extend the anti-tumor effects to additional subtypes, providing additionally opportunities for CISH modulation (282).

REFERENCES

- Ma A, Koka R, Burkett P. Diverse functions of IL-2, IL-15, and IL-7 in lymphoid homeostasis. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2006) 24:657– 79. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090727
- Abbas AK, Trotta E, Simenov DR, Marson A, Bluestone JA. Revisiting IL-2: biology and therapeutic prospects. *Sci Immunol.* (2018) 3:eaat1482. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aat1482
- Dougan M, Dranoff G, Dougan SK. GM-CSF, IL-3, and IL-5 family of cytokines: regulators of inflammation. *Immunity*. (2019) 50:796– 811. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.022
- Unver N, McAllister F. IL-6 family cytokines: Key inflammatory mediators as biomarkers and potential therapeutic targets. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2018) 41:10–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2018.04.004
- Vainchenker W, Constantinescu SN. JAK/STAT signaling in hematological malignancies. Oncogene. (2012) 32:2601–13. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.347
- Aittomäki S, Pesu M. Therapeutic targeting of the JAK/STAT pathway. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. (2014) 114:18–23. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.12164
- Morris R, Kershaw NJ, Babon JJ. The molecular details of cytokine signaling via the JAK/STAT pathway. Protein Sci. (2018) 27:1984– 2009. doi: 10.1002/pro.3519

CONCLUSION

It is evident that SOCS proteins represent an important intrinsic mechanism for maintaining homeostasis especially within the immune system. As such it is unavoidable that their dysregulation significantly affects the delicate and complex processes that govern immunity leading to a variety of diseases particular inflammation, autoimmunity and cancer. Hence, it is vital that the various pathways regulated by SOCS proteins be identified to better understand the conditions caused due to their dysregulation. While linear pathways involving one cytokine and SOCS protein are now well-understood, the complex interplay between multiple pathways which ultimately controls cellular responses awaits considerable further attention. Moreover, it is important to look beyond the initial notions that the influence of SOCS proteins is merely inhibitory as recent evidence suggests that SOCS proteins can also have a stimulatory effect on some pathways. Moreover, the vast majority of studies regarding SOCS proteins have focused on CISH and SOCS1-3, while SOCS4-7 have only been studied in a handful of papers. While CISH and SOCS1-3 are clearly more important with regard to the immune system, recent studies have shown that SOCS4-7 likely also contribute, warranting additional studies on these proteins. Lastly, the targeting of SOCS proteins for therapeutic purposes continues to show promise. Therefore, there remains much work to do to fully understand the SOCS proteins and harness them to fight disease.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS and AW contributed to the conception of the review. MS wrote the first draft of the manuscript and prepared the initial figures with assistance from CL. AW contributed additional material for the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

- Banerjee S, Biehl A, Gadina M, Hasni S, Schwartz DM. JAK-STAT signaling as a target for inflammatory and autoimmune diseases: current and future prospects. *Drugs*. (2017) 77:521–46. doi: 10.1007/s40265-017-0701-9
- Horvath CM, Darnell JE Jr. The state of the STATs: recent developments in the study of signal transduction to the nucleus. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* (1997) 9:233–9. doi: 10.1016/S0955-0674(97)80067-1
- Copeland NG, Gilbert DJ, Schindler C, Zhong Z, Wen Z, Darnell JE Jr, et al. Distribution of the mammalian Stat gene family in mouse chromosomes. *Genomics.* (1995) 29:225–8. doi: 10.1006/geno.1995.1235
- Rawlings JS, Rosler KM, Harrison DA. The JAK/STAT signaling pathway. J Cell Sci. (2004) 117:1281–3. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00963
- McBride KM, Banninger G, McDonald C, Reich NC. Regulated nuclear import of the STAT1 transcription factor by direct binding of importin-α. *EMBO J.* (2002) 21:1754–63. doi: 10.1093/emboj/21.7.1754
- Kawashima T, Bao YC, Nomura Y, Moon Y, Tonozuka Y, Minoshima Y, et al. Rac1 and a GTPase-activating protein, MgcRacGAP, are required for nuclear translocation of STAT transcription factors. *J Cell Biol.* (2006) 175:937–46. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200604073
- Cimica V, Chen H-C, Iyer JK, Reich NC. Dynamics of the STAT3 transcription factor: nuclear import dependent on Ran and importin-β1. *PLoS One.* (2011) 6:e20188. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020188

- Mohr A, Chatain N, Domoszlai T, Rinis N, Sommerauer M, Vogt M, et al. Dynamics and non-canonical aspects of JAK/STAT signalling. *Eur J Cell Biol.* (2012) 91:524–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2011.09.005
- Larsen L, Röpke C. Suppressors of cytokine signalling: SOCS. *APMIS*. (2002) 110:833–44. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0463.2002.1101201.x
- Wormald S, Hilton DJ. Inhibitors of cytokine signal transduction. J Biol Chem. (2004) 279:821–4. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R300030200
- Starr R, Hilton DJ. SOCS: suppressors of cytokine signalling. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. (1998) 30:1081–5. doi: 10.1016/S1357-2725(98)00067-3
- Trengove MC, Ward AC. SOCS proteins in development and disease. Am J Clin Exp Immunol. (2013) 2:1–29.
- Yoshimura A, Naka T, Kubo M. SOCS proteins, cytokine signalling and immune regulation. Nat Rev Immunol. (2007) 7:454–65. doi: 10.1038/nri2093
- Liongue C, O'Sullivan LA, Trengove MC, Ward AC. Evolution of JAK-STAT pathway components: mechanisms and role in immune system development. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e32777. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032777
- Liongue C, Taznin T, Ward AC. Signaling via the CytoR/JAK/STAT/SOCS pathway: emergence during evolution. Mol Immunol. (2016) 71:166– 75. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2016.02.002
- 23. Stec WJ, Zeidler MP. Drosophila SOCS proteins. J Signal Transduct. (2011) 2011:894510. doi: 10.1155/2011/894510
- Linossi EM, Nicholson SE. The SOCS box-adapting proteins for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation. *IUBMB Life.* (2012) 64:316–23. doi: 10.1002/iub.1011
- Kükenshöner T, Schmit NE, Bouda E, Sha F, Pojer F, Koide A, et al. Selective targeting of SH2 domain-phosphotyrosine interactions of Src family tyrosine kinases with monobodies. J Mol Biol. (2017) 429:1364– 80. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2017.03.023
- Babon JJ, McManus EJ, Yao S, DeSouza DP, Mielke LA, Sprigg NS, et al. The structure of SOCS3 reveals the basis of the extended SH2 domain function and identifies an unstructured insertion that regulates stability. *Mol Cell.* (2006) 22:205–16. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.03.024
- Kamura T, Maenaka K, Kotoshiba S, Matsumoto M, Kohda D, Conaway RC, et al. VHL-box and SOCS-box domains determine binding specificity for Cul2-Rbx1 and Cul5-Rbx2 modules of ubiquitin ligases. *Genes Dev.* (2004) 18:3055–65. doi: 10.1101/gad.1252404
- Babon JJ, Sabo JK, Zhang J-G, Nicola NA, Norton RS. The SOCS box encodes a hierarchy of affinities for Cullin5: implications for ubiquitin ligase formation and cytokine signalling suppression. J Mol Biol. (2009) 387:162–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2009.01.024
- Feng Z-P, Chandrashekaran IR, Low A, Speed TP, Nicholson SE, Norton RS. The N-terminal domains of SOCS proteins: a conserved region in the disordered N-termini of SOCS4 and 5. *Proteins Struct Funct Bioinformatics*. (2012) 80:946–57. doi: 10.1002/prot.23252
- Ushiki T, Huntington ND, Glaser SP, Kiu H, Georgiou A, Zhang JG, et al. Rapid Inflammation in mice lacking both SOCS1 and SOCS3 in hematopoietic cells. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0162111. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0162111
- 31. Yoshimura A, Ohkubo T, Kiguchi T, Jenkins NA, Gilbert DJ, Copeland NG, et al. A novel cytokine-inducible gene CIS encodes an SH2-containing protein that binds to tyrosine-phosphorylated interleukin 3 and erythropoietin receptors. *EMBO J.* (1995) 14:2816–26. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb07281.x
- 32. Alexander WS, Starr R, Fenner JE, Scott CL, Handman E, Sprigg NS, et al. SOCS1 is a critical inhibitor of interferon γ signaling and prevents the potentially fatal neonatal actions of this cytokine. *Cell.* (1999) 98:597–608. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80047-1
- Baetz A, Frey M, Heeg K, Dalpke AH. Suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins indirectly regulate toll-like receptor signaling in innate immune cells. J Biol Chem. (2004) 279:54708– 15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M410992200
- Takahashi R, Nakatsukasa H, Shiozawa S, Yoshimura A. SOCS1 is a key molecule that prevents regulatory T cell plasticity under inflammatory conditions. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:149–58. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600441
- 35. Cornish AL, Chong MM, Davey GM, Darwiche R, Nicola NA, Hilton DJ, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 regulates signaling in response to

interleukin-2 and other gamma c-dependent cytokines in peripheral T cells. *J Biol Chem.* (2003) 278:22755–61. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M303021200

- Ramanathan S, Gagnon J, Leblanc C, Rottapel R, Ilangumaran S. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 stringently regulates distinct functions of IL-7 and IL-15 *in vivo* during T lymphocyte development and homeostasis. *J Immunol.* (2006) 176:4029–41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.7.4029
- Gagnon J, Ramanathan S, Leblanc C, Ilangumaran S. Regulation of IL-21 signaling by suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 (SOCS1) in CD8+ T lymphocytes. *Cell Signal*. (2007) 19:806–16. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2006.10.003
- Naka T, Tsutsui H, Fujimoto M, Kawazoe Y, Kohzaki H, Morita Y, et al. SOCS-1/SSI-1-deficient NKT cells participate in severe hepatitis through dysregulated cross-talk inhibition of IFN-γ and IL-4 signaling *in vivo*. *Immunity*. (2001) 14:535–45. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00132-7
- Sporri B, Kovanen PE, Sasaki A, Yoshimura A, Leonard WJ. JAB/SOCS1/SSI-1 is an interleukin-2-induced inhibitor of IL-2 signaling. *Blood.* (2001) 97:221–6. doi: 10.1182/blood.V97.1.221
- Knosp CA, Carroll HP, Elliott J, Saunders SP, Nel HJ, Amu S, et al. SOCS2 regulates T helper type 2 differentiation and the generation of type 2 allergic responses. J Exp Med. (2011) 208:1523–31. doi: 10.1084/jem.20101167
- Kim WS, Kim MJ, Kim DO, Byun JE, Huy H, Song HY, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 2 negatively regulates NK cell differentiation by inhibiting JAK2 activity. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:46153. doi: 10.1038/srep46153
- 42. Vitali C, Bassani C, Chiodoni C, Fellini E, Guarnotta C, Miotti S, et al. SOCS2 controls proliferation and stemness of hematopoietic cells under stress conditions and its deregulation marks unfavorable acute leukemias. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:2387–99. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3625
- Croker BA, Metcalf D, Robb L, Wei W, Mifsud S, DiRago L, et al. SOCS3 is a critical physiological negative regulator of G-CSF signaling and emergency granulopoiesis. *Immunity.* (2004) 20:153–65. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(04)00022-6
- Croker BA, Krebs DL, Zhang J-G, Wormald S, Willson TA, Stanley EG, et al. SOCS3 negatively regulates IL-6 signaling *in vivo*. *Nat Immunol*. (2003) 4:540. doi: 10.1038/ni931
- 45. Chen Z, Laurence A, Kanno Y, Pacher-Zavisin M, Zhu B-M, Tato C, et al. Selective regulatory function of Socs3 in the formation of IL-17-secreting T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2006) 103:8137– 42. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0600666103
- 46. Yamamoto K, Yamaguchi M, Miyasaka N, Miura O. SOCS-3 inhibits IL-12induced STAT4 activation by binding through its SH2 domain to the STAT4 docking site in the IL-12 receptor β2 subunit. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2003) 310:1188–93. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2003.09.140
- Irandoust MI, Aarts LH, Roovers O, Gits J, Erkeland SJ, Touw IP. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 controls lysosomal routing of G-CSF receptor. *EMBO* J. (2007) 26:1782–93. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601640
- Aman MJ, Migone TS, Sasaki A, Ascherman DP, Zhu M, Soldaini E, et al. CIS associates with the interleukin-2 receptor beta chain and inhibits interleukin-2-dependent signaling. J Biol Chem. (1999) 274:30266– 72. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.42.30266
- Delconte RB, Kolesnik TB, Dagley LF, Rautela J, Shi W, Putz EM, et al. CIS is a potent checkpoint in NK cell-mediated tumor immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:816–24. doi: 10.1038/ni.3470
- Louis C, Guimaraes F, Yang Y, D'silva D, Kratina T, Dagley L, et al. NK cell-derived GM-CSF potentiates inflammatory arthritis and is negatively regulated by CIS. J Exp Med. (2020) 217:e20191421. doi: 10.1084/jem.20191421
- Yang XO, Zhang H, Kim B-S, Niu X, Peng J, Chen Y, et al. The signaling suppressor CIS controls proallergic T cell development and allergic airway inflammation. *Nat Immunol.* (2013) 14:732–40. doi: 10.1038/ni.2633
- Seki Y-i, Hayashi K, Matsumoto A, Seki N, Tsukada J, Ransom J, et al. Expression of the suppressor of cytokine signaling-5 (SOCS5) negatively regulates IL-4-dependent STAT6 activation and Th2 differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2002) 99:13003–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.202477099
- Kile BT, Schulman BA, Alexander WS, Nicola NA, Martin HME, Hilton DJ. The SOCS box: a tale of destruction and degradation. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2002) 27:235–41. doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(02)02085-6
- 54. Kamura T, Koepp DM, Conrad MN, Skowyra D, Moreland RJ, Iliopoulos O, et al. Rbx1, a component of the VHL tumor

suppressor complex and SCF ubiquitin ligase. *Science*. (1999) 284:657–61. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5414.657

- Piessevaux J, Lavens D, Peelman F, Tavernier J. The many faces of the SOCS box. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2008) 19:371–81. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2008.08.006
- 56. Waiboci LW, Ahmed CM, Mujtaba MG, Flowers LO, Martin JP, Haider MI, et al. Both the suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS-1) kinase inhibitory region and SOCS-1 mimetic bind to JAK2 autophosphorylation site: implications for the development of a SOCS-1 antagonist. *J Immunol.* (2007) 178:5058–68. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.8.5058
- Liau NPD, Laktyushin A, Lucet IS, Murphy JM, Yao S, Whitlock E, et al. The molecular basis of JAK/STAT inhibition by SOCS1. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:1558. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-04013-1
- Babon JJ, Varghese LN, Nicola NA, editors. Inhibition of IL-6 family cytokines by SOCS3. *Semin Immunol.* (2014) 26:13–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2013.12.004
- O'Sullivan LA, Liongue C, Lewis RS, Stephenson SEM, Ward AC. Cytokine receptor signaling through the Jak-Stat-Socs pathway in disease. *Mol Immunol.* (2007) 44:2497–506. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2006.11.025
- Kazi JU, Kabir NN, Flores-Morales A, Rönnstrand L. SOCS proteins in regulation of receptor tyrosine kinase signaling. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2014) 71:3297–310. doi: 10.1007/s00018-014-1619-y
- Jegalian AG, Wu H. Regulation of Socs gene expression by the proto-oncoprotein GFI-1B. J Biol Chem. (2002) 277:2345– 52. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M105575200
- Rödel B, Tavassoli K, Karsunky H, Schmidt T, Bachmann M, Schaper F, et al. The zinc finger protein Gfi-1 can enhance STAT3 signaling by interacting with the STAT3 inhibitor PIAS3. *EMBO J.* (2000) 19:5845– 55. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.21.5845
- 63. Kim M-H, Kim M-S, Kim W, Kang MA, Cacalano NA, Kang S-B, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) genes are silenced by DNA hypermethylation and histone deacetylation and regulate response to radiotherapy in cervical cancer cells. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10:e0123133. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123133
- Boosani CS, Agrawal DK. Methylation and microRNA-mediated epigenetic regulation of SOCS3. *Mol Biol Rep.* (2015) 42:853– 72. doi: 10.1007/s11033-015-3860-3
- de Andrés MC, Imagawa K, Hashimoto K, Gonzalez A, Goldring MB, Roach HI, et al. Suppressors of cytokine signalling (SOCS) are reduced in osteoarthritis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2011) 407:54– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.02.101
- 66. Ehlting C, Lai WS, Schaper F, Brenndörfer ED, Matthes R-J, Heinrich PC, et al. Regulation of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3) mRNA stability by TNF-α involves activation of the MKK6/p38MAPK/MK2 cascade. J Immunol. (2007) 178:2813–26. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.5.2813
- Li H-B, Tong J, Zhu S, Batista PJ, Duffy EE, Zhao J, et al. m(6)A mRNA methylation controls T cell homeostasis by targeting the IL-7/STAT5/SOCS pathways. *Nature*. (2017) 548:338–42. doi: 10.1038/nature23450
- Gregorieff A, Pyronnet S, Sonenberg N, Veillette A. Regulation of SOCS-1 expression by translational repression. J Biol Chem. (2000) 275:21596– 604. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M910087199
- Klepsch O, Namer LS, Köhler N, Kaempfer R, Dittrich A, Schaper F. Intragenic regulation of SOCS3 isoforms. *Cell Commun Signal*. (2019) 17:1– 15. doi: 10.1186/s12964-019-0379-6
- Wu T, Xie M, Wang X, Jiang X, Li J, Huang H. miR-155 modulates TNFα-inhibited osteogenic differentiation by targeting SOCS1 expression. *Bone*. (2012) 51:498–505. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2012.05.013
- Hu G, Zhou R, Liu J, Gong AY, Chen XM. MicroRNA-98 and let-7 regulate expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling 4 in biliary epithelial cells in response to *Cryptosporidium parvum* infection. *J Infect Dis.* (2010) 202:125– 35. doi: 10.1086/653212
- Collins AS, McCoy CE, Lloyd AT, O'Farrelly C, Stevenson NJ. miR-19a: an effective regulator of SOCS3 and enhancer of JAK-STAT signalling. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e69090. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069090
- Das R, Gregory PA, Fernandes RC, Denis I, Wang Q, Townley SL, et al. MicroRNA-194 promotes prostate cancer metastasis by inhibiting SOCS2. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:1021–34. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2529

- 74. Lin X, Chen H, Zhan X. MiR-203 regulates JAK-STAT pathway in affecting pancreatic cancer cells proliferation and apoptosis by targeting SOCS3. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2019) 23:6906–13. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_201908_18730
- Chen XP, Losman JA, Cowan S, Donahue E, Fay S, Vuong BQ, et al. Pim serine/threonine kinases regulate the stability of Socs-1 protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2002) 99:2175–80. doi: 10.1073/pnas.042035699
- Haan S, Ferguson P, Sommer U, Hiremath M, McVicar DW, Heinrich PC, et al. Tyrosine phosphorylation disrupts elongin interaction and accelerates SOCS3 degradation. J Biol Chem. (2003) 278:31972–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M303170200
- 77. Zhang JG, Farley A, Nicholson SE, Willson TA, Zugaro LM, Simpson RJ, et al. The conserved SOCS box motif in suppressors of cytokine signaling binds to elongins B and C and may couple bound proteins to proteasomal degradation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (1999) 96:2071–6.
- Dodington DW, Desai HR, Woo M. JAK/STAT emerging players in metabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 29:55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2017.11.001
- Davey GM, Starr R, Cornish AL, Burghardt JT, Alexander WS, Carbone FR, et al. SOCS-1 regulates IL-15-driven homeostatic proliferation of antigennaive CD8 T cells, limiting their autoimmune potential. *J Exp Med.* (2005) 202:1099–108. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050003
- Fujimoto M, Naka T, Nakagawa R, Kawazoe Y, Morita Y, Tateishi A, et al. Defective thymocyte development and perturbed homeostasis of T cells in STAT-induced STAT inhibitor-1/suppressors of cytokine signaling-1 transgenic mice. J Immunol. (2000) 165:1799–806. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.4.1799
- Marine JC, Topham DJ, McKay C, Wang D, Parganas E, Stravopodis D, et al. SOCS1 deficiency causes a lymphocyte-dependent perinatal lethality. *Cell.* (1999) 98:609–16. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80048-3
- Starr R, Metcalf D, Elefanty AG, Brysha M, Willson TA, Nicola NA, et al. Liver degeneration and lymphoid deficiencies in mice lacking suppressor of cytokine signaling-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (1998) 95:14395– 9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.24.14395
- Zhang JG, Metcalf D, Rakar S, Asimakis M, Greenhalgh CJ, Willson TA, et al. The SOCS box of suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 is important for inhibition of cytokine action *in vivo*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2001) 98:13261–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.231486498
- Chong MM, Cornish AL, Darwiche R, Stanley EG, Purton JF, Godfrey DI, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 is a critical regulator of interleukin-7-dependent CD8+ T cell differentiation. *Immunity.* (2003) 18:475–87. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00078-5
- Cornish AL, Davey GM, Metcalf D, Purton JF, Corbin JE, Greenhalgh CJ, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 has IFNγ-independent actions in T cell homeostasis. J Immunol. (2003) 170:878–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.2.878
- Ilangumaran S, Ramanathan S, La Rose J, Poussier P, Rottapel R. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 regulates IL-15 receptor signaling in CD8+ CD44high memory T lymphocytes. J Immunol. (2003) 171:2435– 45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.5.2435
- Tanaka K, Ichiyama K, Hashimoto M, Yoshida H, Takimoto T, Takaesu G, et al. Loss of suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 in helper T cells leads to defective Th17 differentiation by enhancing antagonistic effects of IFN-γ on STAT3 and Smads. *J Immunol.* (2008) 180:3746–56. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.6.3746
- Davey G, Heath W, Starr R. SOCS1: a potent and multifaceted regulator of cytokines and cell-mediated inflammation. *Tissue Antigens*. (2006) 67:1– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2005.00532.x
- Croom HA, Izon DJ, Chong MM, Curtis DJ, Roberts AW, Kay TW, et al. Perturbed thymopoiesis *in vitro* in the absence of suppressor of cytokine signalling 1 and 3. *Mol Immunol.* (2008) 45:2888–96. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2008.01.024
- Diehl S, Anguita J, Hoffmeyer A, Zapton T, Ihle JN, Fikrig E, et al. Inhibition of Th1 differentiation by IL-6 is mediated by SOCS1. *Immunity*. (2000) 13:805–15. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00078-9
- 91. Fujimoto M, Tsutsui H, Yumikura-Futatsugi S, Ueda H, Xingshou O, Abe T, et al. A regulatory role for suppressor of cytokine

signaling-1 in Th polarization *in vivo. Int Immunol.* (2002) 14:1343–50. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxf094

- Lee C, Kolesnik TB, Caminschi I, Chakravorty A, Carter W, Alexander W, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signalling 1 (SOCS1) is a physiological regulator of the asthma response. *Clin Exp Allergy.* (2009) 39:897– 907. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2009.03217.x
- Ehrentraut S, Schneider B, Nagel S, Pommerenke C, Quentmeier H, Geffers R, et al. Th17 cytokine differentiation and loss of plasticity after SOCS1 inactivation in a cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:34201– 16. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.9077
- 94. Adler EM. IL-2 antagonizes Th17 differentiation. Sci Signal. (2007) 2007:103. doi: 10.1126/stke.3792007tw103
- 95. Takahashi R, Nishimoto S, Muto G, Sekiya T, Tamiya T, Kimura A, et al. SOCS1 is essential for regulatory T cell functions by preventing loss of Foxp3 expression as well as IFN- γ and IL-17A production. *J Exp Med.* (2011) 208:2055–67. doi: 10.1084/jem.20110428
- Ramsdell F, Ziegler SF. FOXP3 and scurfy: how it all began. Nat Rev Immunol. (2014) 14:343–9. doi: 10.1038/nri3650
- Lu L-F, Thai T-H, Calado DP, Chaudhry A, Kubo M, Tanaka K, et al. Foxp3-dependent microRNA155 confers competitive fitness to regulatory T cells by targeting SOCS1 protein. *Immunity*. (2009) 30:80– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.010
- Lu L-F, Boldin MP, Chaudhry A, Lin L-L, Taganov KD, Hanada T, et al. Function of miR-146a in controlling Treg cell-mediated regulation of Th1 responses. *Cell.* (2010) 142:914–29. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.08.012
- 99. Collins EL, Jager LD, Dabelic R, Benitez P, Holdstein K, Lau K, et al. Inhibition of SOCS1^{-/-} lethal autoinflammatory disease correlated to enhanced peripheral Foxp3+ regulatory T cell homeostasis. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:2666–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003819
- Hashimoto M, Hiwatashi K, Ichiyama K, Morita R, Sekiya T, Kimura A, et al. SOCS1 regulates type I/type II NKT cell balance by regulating IFNγ signaling. *Int Immunol.* (2011) 23:165–76. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxq469
- 101. Hanada T, Yoshida H, Kato S, Tanaka K, Masutani K, Tsukada J, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 is essential for suppressing dendritic cell activation and systemic autoimmunity. *Immunity*. (2003) 19:437– 50. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00240-1
- 102. Tsukada J, Ozaki A, Hanada T, Chinen T, Abe R, Yoshimura A, et al. The role of suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 as a negative regulator for aberrant expansion of CD8α+ dendritic cell subset. *Int Immunol.* (2005) 17:1167–78. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxh294
- 103. Hanada T, Tanaka K, Matsumura Y, Yamauchi M, Nishinakamura H, Aburatani H, et al. Induction of hyper Th1 cell-type immune responses by dendritic cells lacking the suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 gene. J Immunol. (2005) 174:4325–32. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.7.4325
- Bunda S, Kommaraju K, Heir P, Ohh M. SOCS-1 mediates ubiquitylation and degradation of GM-CSF receptor. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e76370. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076370
- 105. Kinjyo I, Hanada T, Inagaki-Ohara K, Mori H, Aki D, Ohishi M, et al. SOCS1/JAB is a negative regulator of LPS-induced macrophage activation. *Immunity.* (2002) 17:583–91. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00446-6
- 106. Nakagawa R, Naka T, Tsutsui H, Fujimoto M, Kimura A, Abe T, et al. SOCS-1 participates in negative regulation of LPS responses. *Immunity.* (2002) 17:677–87. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00449-1
- 107. Fujimoto M, Naka T. SOCS1, a negative regulator of cytokine signals and TLR responses, in human liver diseases. *Gastroenterol Res Pract.* (2010) 2010:470468. doi: 10.1155/2010/470468
- 108. Gingras S, Parganas E, de Pauw A, Ihle JN, Murray PJ. Re-examination of the role of suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1) in the regulation of toll-like receptor signaling. J Biol Chem. (2004) 279:54702– 7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M411043200
- 109. Mansell A, Smith R, Doyle SL, Gray P, Fenner JE, Crack PJ, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 negatively regulates Toll-like receptor signaling by mediating Mal degradation. *Nat Immunol.* (2006) 7:148– 55. doi: 10.1038/ni1299
- Naka T, Fujimoto M, Tsutsui H, Yoshimura A. Negative regulation of cytokine and TLR signalings by SOCS and others. *Adv Immunol.* (2005) 87:61–122. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2776(05)87003-8

- 111. Horino J, Fujimoto M, Terabe F, Serada S, Takahashi T, Soma Y, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 ameliorates dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice. *Int Immunol.* (2008) 20:753–62. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxn033
- 112. Grothusen C, Schuett H, Hillmer A, Lumpe S, Grote K, Ballmaier M, et al. Role of suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 in murine atherosclerosis. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e51608. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051608
- 113. Inagaki-Ohara K, Sasaki A, Matsuzaki G, Ikeda T, Hotokezaka M, Chijiiwa K, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signalling 1 in lymphocytes regulates the development of intestinal inflammation in mice. *Gut.* (2006) 55:212–9. doi: 10.1136/gut.2004.062653
- 114. Alice AF, Kramer G, Bambina S, Baird JR, Bahjat KS, Gough MJ, et al. Amplifying IFN- γ signaling in dendritic cells by CD11c-specific loss of SOCS1 increases innate immunity to infection while decreasing adaptive immunity. *J Immunol.* (2018) 200:177–85. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700909
- 115. Shi D, Li D, Yin Q, Qiu Y, Yan H, Shen Y, et al. Silenced suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1) enhances the maturation and antifungal immunity of dendritic cells in response to *Candida albicans in vitro*. *Immunol Res.* (2015) 61:206–18. doi: 10.1007/s12026-014-8562-8
- 116. Shi D, Li D, Wang Q, Kong X, Mei H, Shen Y, et al. Silencing SOCS1 in dendritic cells promote survival of mice with systemic *Candida albicans* infection *via* inducing Th1-cell differentiation. *Immunol Lett.* (2018) 197:53– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2018.03.009
- 117. Chan HC, Ke LY, Chang LL, Liu CC, Hung YH, Lin CH, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 gene expression and polymorphisms in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*. (2010) 19:696–702. doi: 10.1177/0961203309357437
- 118. Isomäki P, Alanärä T, Isohanni P, Lagerstedt A, Korpela M, Moilanen T, et al. The expression of SOCS is altered in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*. (2007) 46:1538–46. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kem198
- 119. Lamana A, Villares R, Seoane IV, Andrés N, Lucas P, Emery P, et al. Identification of a human SOCS1 polymorphism that predicts rheumatoid arthritis severity. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:1336. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01336
- Hadjadj J, Castro CN, Tusseau M, Stolzenberg M-C, Mazerolles F, Aladjidi N, et al. Early-onset autoimmunity associated with SOCS1 haploinsufficiency. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18925-4
- Ilangumaran S, Bobbala D, Ramanathan S. SOCS1: regulator of T cells in autoimmunity and cancer. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2017) 410:159– 89. doi: 10.1007/82_2017_63
- 122. Liang Y, Xu WD, Peng H, Pan HF, Ye DQ. SOCS signaling in autoimmune diseases: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:1265–75. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344369
- 123. Zhang XH, Yang L, Liu XJ, Zhan Y, Pan YX, Wang XZ, et al. Association between methylation of tumor suppressor gene SOCS1 and acute myeloid leukemia. Oncol Rep. (2018) 40:1008–16. doi: 10.3892/or.2018.6508
- 124. Chen C-Y, Tsay W, Tang J-L, Shen H-L, Lin S-W, Huang S-Y, et al. SOCS1 methylation in patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*. (2003) 37:300–5. doi: 10.1002/gcc.10222
- 125. Guillem V, Amat P, Cervantes F, Alvarez-Larrán A, Cervera J, Maffioli M, et al. Functional polymorphisms in SOCS1 and PTPN22 genes correlate with the response to imatinib treatment in newly diagnosed chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia. *Leuk Res.* (2012) 36:174–81. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2011.06.011
- 126. Rottapel R, Ilangumaran S, Neale C, La Rose J, Ho JM, Nguyen MH, et al. The tumor suppressor activity of SOCS-1. Oncogene. (2002) 21:4351– 62. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1205537
- 127. Roman-Gomez J, Jimenez-Velasco A, Castillejo JA, Cervantes F, Barrios M, Colomer D, et al. The suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 is constitutively expressed in chronic myeloid leukemia and correlates with poor cytogenetic response to interferon-alpha. *Haematologica*. (2004) 89:42–8.
- 128. Demirel Ö, Balló O, Reddy PN, Vakhrusheva O, Zhang J, Eichler A, et al. SOCS1 function in BCR-ABL mediated myeloproliferative disease is dependent on the cytokine environment. *PLoS One.* (2017) 12:e0180401. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180401
- 129. Martínez-Baños D, Sánchez-Hernández B, Jiménez G, Barrera-Lumbreras G, Barrales-Benítez O. Global methylation and promoter-specific methylation of the P16, SOCS-1, E-cadherin, P73 and SHP-1 genes and their expression

in patients with multiple myeloma during active disease and remission. *Exp Ther Med.* (2017) 13:2442–50. doi: 10.3892/etm.2017.4274

- 130. Weniger M, Melzner I, Menz C, Wegener S, Bucur A, Dorsch K, et al. Mutations of the tumor suppressor gene SOCS-1 in classical Hodgkin lymphoma are frequent and associated with nuclear phospho-STAT5 accumulation. Oncogene. (2006) 25:2679–84. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209151
- Mellert K, Martin M, Lennerz JK, Lüdeke M, Staiger AM, Kreuz M, et al. The impact of SOCS1 mutations in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Br J Haematol.* (2019) 187:627–37. doi: 10.1111/bjh.16147
- 132. Desch A-K, Hartung K, Botzen A, Brobeil A, Rummel M, Kurch L, et al. Genotyping circulating tumor DNA of pediatric Hodgkin lymphoma. *Leukemia*. (2020) 34:151–66. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0541-6
- 133. Lennerz JK, Hoffmann K, Bubolz A-M, Lessel D, Welke C, Rüther N, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 gene mutation status as a prognostic biomarker in classical Hodgkin lymphoma. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:29097. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4829
- 134. Mottok A, Renné C, Willenbrock K, Hansmann ML, Bräuninger A. Somatic hypermutation of SOCS1 in lymphocyte-predominant Hodgkin lymphoma is accompanied by high JAK2 expression and activation of STAT6. *Blood.* (2007) 110:3387–90. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-03-082511
- 135. Tiacci E, Ladewig E, Schiavoni G, Penson A, Fortini E, Pettirossi V, et al. Pervasive mutations of JAK-STAT pathway genes in classical Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood.* (2018) 131:2454–65. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-11-814913
- 136. Juskevicius D, Jucker D, Klingbiel D, Mamot C, Dirnhofer S, Tzankov A. Mutations of CREBBP and SOCS1 are independent prognostic factors in diffuse large B cell lymphoma: mutational analysis of the SAKK 38/07 prospective clinical trial cohort. J Hematol Oncol. (2017) 10:1– 10. doi: 10.1186/s13045-017-0438-7
- 137. Hashwah H, Bertram K, Stirm K, Stelling A, Wu CT, Kasser S, et al. The IL-6 signaling complex is a critical driver, negative prognostic factor, and therapeutic target in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2019) 11:e10576. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201910576
- 138. Lacy SE, Barrans SL, Beer PA, Painter D, Smith AG, Roman E, et al. Targeted sequencing in DLBCL, molecular subtypes, and outcomes: a Haematological Malignancy Research Network report. *Blood.* (2020) 135:1759–71. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019003535
- Sarkozy C, Hung SS, Chavez EA, Duns G, Takata K, Chong LC, et al. Mutational landscape of gray zone lymphoma. *Blood.* (2021) 137:1765– 76. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007507
- 140. Duns G, Viganò E, Ennishi D, Sarkozy C, Hung SS, Chavez E, et al. Characterization of DLBCL with a PMBL gene expression signature. *Blood.* (2021) 138:136–48. doi: 10.1182/blood.202000 7683
- 141. Liu Z, Filip I, Gomez K, Engelbrecht D, Meer S, Lalloo PN, et al. Genomic characterization of HIV-associated plasmablastic lymphoma identifies pervasive mutations in the JAK-STAT pathway. *Blood Cancer Discov.* (2020) 1:112–25. doi: 10.1158/2643-3249.BCD-20-0051
- 142. Wahnschaffe L, Braun T, Timonen S, Giri AK, Schrader A, Wagle P, et al. Jak/Stat-activating genomic alterations are a hallmark of T-PLL. *Cancers* (*Basel*). (2019) 11:1833. doi: 10.3390/cancers11121833
- 143. Song TL, Nairismägi M-L, Laurensia Y, Lim J-Q, Tan J, Li Z-M, et al. Oncogenic activation of the STAT3 pathway drives PD-L1 expression in natural killer/T-cell lymphoma. *Blood.* (2018) 132:1146– 58. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-01-829424
- 144. Moffitt AB, Ondrejka SL, McKinney M, Rempel RE, Goodlad JR, Teh CH, et al. Enteropathy-associated T cell lymphoma subtypes are characterized by loss of function of SETD2. J Exp Med. (2017) 214:1371– 86. doi: 10.1084/jem.20160894
- 145. Bastidas Torres AN, Cats D, Mei H, Szuhai K, Willemze R, Vermeer MH, et al. Genomic analysis reveals recurrent deletion of JAK-STAT signaling inhibitors HNRNPK and SOCS1 in mycosis fungoides. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer.* (2018) 57:653–64. doi: 10.1002/gcc.22679
- 146. Minamoto S, Ikegame K, Ueno K, Narazaki M, Naka T, Yamamoto H, et al. Cloning and functional analysis of new members of STAT induced STAT inhibitor (SSI) family: SSI-2 and SSI-3. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (1997) 237:79–83. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1997.7080
- 147. Greenhalgh CJ, Bertolino P, Asa SL, Metcalf D, Corbin JE, Adams TE, et al. Growth enhancement in suppressor of cytokine signaling

2 (SOCS-2)-deficient mice is dependent on signal transducer and activator of transcription 5b (STAT5b). *Mol Endocrinol.* (2002) 16:1394–406. doi: 10.1210/mend.16.6.0845

- Greenhalgh CJ, Rico-Bautista E, Lorentzon M, Thaus AL, Morgan PO, Willson TA, et al. SOCS2 negatively regulates growth hormone action *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:397–406. doi: 10.1172/JCI200522710
- Letellier E, Haan S. SOCS2: physiological and pathological functions. Front Biosci. (2016) 8:189–204. doi: 10.2741/e760
- Pezet A, Favre H, Kelly PA, Edery M. Inhibition and restoration of prolactin signal transduction by suppressors of cytokine signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (1999) 274:24497–502. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.35.24497
- 151. Tannahill GM, Elliott J, Barry AC, Hibbert L, Cacalano NA, Johnston JA. SOCS2 can enhance interleukin-2 (IL-2) and IL-3 signaling by accelerating SOCS3 degradation. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2005) 25:9115–26. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.20.9115-9126.2005
- 152. Dif F, Saunier E, Demeneix B, Kelly PA, Edery M. Cytokine-inducible SH2containing protein suppresses PRL signaling by binding the PRL receptor. *Endocrinology*. (2001) 142:5286–93. doi: 10.1210/endo.142.12.8549
- 153. Dey BR, Spence SL, Nissley P, Furlanetto RW. Interaction of human suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS)-2 with the insulin-like growth factor-I receptor. J Biol Chem. (1998) 273:24095–101. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.37.24095
- 154. Hansen JA, Lindberg K, Hilton DJ, Nielsen JH, Billestrup N. Mechanism of inhibition of growth hormone receptor signaling by suppressor of cytokine signaling proteins. *Mol Endocrinol.* (1999) 13:1832–43. doi: 10.1210/mend.13.11.0368
- 155. Hansen N, Ågerstam H, Wahlestedt M, Landberg N, Askmyr M, Ehinger M, et al. SOCS2 is dispensable for BCR/ABL1-induced chronic myeloid leukemia-like disease and for normal hematopoietic stem cell function. *Leukemia*. (2013) 27:130–5. doi: 10.1038/leu.2012.169
- 156. Knosp CA, Schiering C, Spence S, Carroll HP, Nel HJ, Osbourn M, et al. Regulation of Foxp3+ inducible regulatory T cell stability by SOCS2. J Immunol. (2013) 190:3235–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201396
- 157. Metcalf D, Greenhalgh CJ, Viney E, Willson TA, Starr R, Nicola NA, et al. Gigantism in mice lacking suppressor of cytokine signalling-2. *Nature*. (2000) 405:1069–73. doi: 10.1038/35016611
- 158. Lee SH, Yun S, Piao Z-H, Jeong M, Kim DO, Jung H, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 2 regulates IL-15-primed human NK Cell function via control of phosphorylated Pyk2. J Immunol. (2010) 185:917– 28. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000784
- 159. Jackson SH, Yu C-R, Mahdi RM, Ebong S, Egwuagu CE. Dendritic cell maturation requires STAT1 and is under feedback regulation by suppressors of cytokine signaling. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:2307– 15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.4.2307
- Hu J, Winqvist O, Flores-Morales A, Wikström AC, Norstedt G. SOCS2 influences LPS induced human monocyte-derived dendritic cell maturation. *PLoS One.* (2009) 4:e7178. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007178
- 161. Hu J, Lou D, Carow B, Winerdal ME, Rottenberg M, Wikström A-C, et al. LPS regulates SOCS2 transcription in a type I interferon dependent autocrine-paracrine loop. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e30166. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030166
- 162. Machado FS, Johndrow JE, Esper L, Dias A, Bafica A, Serhan CN, et al. Antiinflammatory actions of lipoxin A4 and aspirin-triggered lipoxin are SOCS-2 dependent. *Nat Med.* (2006) 12:330–4. doi: 10.1038/nm1355
- 163. Posselt G, Schwarz H, Duschl A, Horejs-Hoeck J. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 2 is a feedback inhibitor of TLR-induced activation in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Immunol. (2011) 187:2875– 84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003348
- 164. Cramer A, de Lima Oliveira BC, Leite PG, Rodrigues DH, Brant F, Esper L, et al. Role of SOCS2 in the regulation of immune response and development of the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2019) 2019:1872593. doi: 10.1155/2019/1872593
- 165. Brant F, Miranda AS, Esper L, Gualdrón-López M, Cisalpino D, de Souza DDG, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 2 modulates the immune response profile and development of experimental cerebral malaria. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2016) 54:73–85. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.01.002
- 166. Esper L, Roman-Campos D, Lara A, Brant F, Castro LL, Barroso A, et al. Role of SOCS2 in modulating heart damage and function in a

murine model of acute Chagas disease. Am J Pathol. (2012) 181:130-40. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.03.042

- 167. Hoefer J, Kern J, Ofer P, Eder IE, Schäfer G, Dietrich D, et al. SOCS2 correlates with malignancy and exerts growth-promoting effects in prostate cancer. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. (2014) 21:175–87. doi: 10.1530/ERC-13-0446
- Iglesias-Gato D, Chuan Y-C, Wikström P, Augsten S, Jiang N, Niu Y, et al. SOCS2 mediates the cross talk between androgen and growth hormone signaling in prostate cancer. *Carcinogenesis*. (2013) 35:24– 33. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt304
- 169. Schultheis B, Carapeti-Marootian M, Hochhaus A, Weiβer A, Goldman JM, Melo JV. Overexpression of SOCS-2 in advanced stages of chronic myeloid leukemia: possible inadequacy of a negative feedback mechanism. *Blood.* (2002) 99:1766–75. doi: 10.1182/blood.V99.5.1766
- Quentmeier H, Geffers R, Jost E, MacLeod R, Nagel S, Röhrs S, et al. SOCS2: inhibitor of JAK2 V617F-mediated signal transduction. *Leukemia*. (2008) 22:2169–75. doi: 10.1038/leu.2008.226
- 171. Laszlo GS, Ries RE, Gudgeon CJ, Harrington KH, Alonzo TA, Gerbing RB, et al. High expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling-2 predicts poor outcome in pediatric acute myeloid leukemia: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. *Leuk Lymphoma*. (2014) 55:2817– 21. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2014.893305
- 172. Nguyen CH, Glüxam T, Schlerka A, Bauer K, Grandits AM, Hackl H, et al. SOCS2 is part of a highly prognostic 4-gene signature in AML and promotes disease aggressiveness. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:9139. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-45579-0
- White CA, Nicola NA. SOCS3: An essential physiological inhibitor of signaling by interleukin-6 and G-CSF family cytokines. *JAK-STAT.* (2013) 2:e25045. doi: 10.4161/jkst.25045
- 174. Kershaw NJ, Murphy JM, Liau NP, Varghese LN, Laktyushin A, Whitlock EL, et al. SOCS3 binds specific receptor-JAK complexes to control cytokine signaling by direct kinase inhibition. *Nat Struct Mol Biol.* (2013) 20:469–76. doi: 10.1038/nsmb. 2519
- 175. Babon JJ, Kershaw NJ, Murphy JM, Varghese LN, Laktyushin A, Young SN, et al. Suppression of cytokine signaling by SOCS3: characterization of the mode of inhibition and the basis of its specificity. *Immunity.* (2012) 36:239–50. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.12.015
- 176. Marine J-C, McKay C, Wang D, Topham DJ, Parganas E, Nakajima H, et al. SOCS3 I is essential in the regulation of fetal liver erythropoiesis. *Cell.* (1999) 98:617–27. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80049-5
- 177. Roberts AW, Robb L, Rakar S, Hartley L, Cluse L, Nicola NA, et al. Placental defects and embryonic lethality in mice lacking suppressor of cytokine signaling 3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. (2001) 98:9324– 9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.161271798
- Takahashi Y, Carpino N, Cross JC, Torres M, Parganas E, Ihle JN. SOCS3: an essential regulator of LIF receptor signaling in trophoblast giant cell differentiation. *EMBO J.* (2003) 22:372–84. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg057
- Croker BA, Kiu H, Pellegrini M, Toe J, Preston S, Metcalf D, et al. IL-6 promotes acute and chronic inflammatory disease in the absence of SOCS3. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2012) 90:124–9. doi: 10.1038/icb.2011.29
- 180. Wong PK, Egan PJ, Croker BA, O'Donnell K, Sims NA, Drake S, et al. SOCS-3 negatively regulates innate and adaptive immune mechanisms in acute IL-1-dependent inflammatory arthritis. J Clin Invest. (2006) 116:1571– 81. doi: 10.1172/JCI25660
- 181. Lang R, Pauleau A-L, Parganas E, Takahashi Y, Mages J, Ihle JN, et al. SOCS3 regulates the plasticity of gp130 signaling. *Nat Immunol.* (2003) 4:546–50. doi: 10.1038/ni932
- 182. Nicholson SE, De Souza D, Fabri LJ, Corbin J, Willson TA, Zhang J-G, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 preferentially binds to the SHP-2-binding site on the shared cytokine receptor subunit gp130. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2000) 97:6493–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.10013 5197
- 183. Ohtani T, Ishihara K, Atsumi T, Nishida K, Kaneko Y, Miyata T, et al. Dissection of signaling cascades through gp130 *in vivo*: reciprocal roles for STAT3-and SHP2-mediated signals in immune responses. *Immunity*. (2000) 12:95–105. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80162-4
- 184. Yu C-R, Kim S-H, Mahdi RM, Egwuagu CE. SOCS3 deletion in T lymphocytes suppresses development of chronic ocular inflammation via

upregulation of CTLA-4 and expansion of regulatory T cells. J Immunol. (2013) 191:5036–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301132

- 185. Egwuagu CE, Yu C-R, Zhang M, Mahdi RM, Kim SJ, Gery I. Suppressors of cytokine signaling proteins are differentially expressed in Th1 and Th2 cells: implications for Th cell lineage commitment and maintenance. *J Immunol.* (2002) 168:3181–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.7.3181
- 186. Luckey MA, Kim T-H, Prakhar P, Keller HR, Crossman A, Choi S, et al. SOCS3 is a suppressor of γc cytokine signaling and constrains generation of murine Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2020) 50:986– 99. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948307
- 187. Yu C-R, Mahdi RM, Ebong S, Vistica BP, Gery I, Egwuagu CE. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 regulates proliferation and activation of T-helper cells. J Biol Chem. (2003) 278:29752–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300489200
- Banerjee A, Banks AS, Nawijn MC, Chen XP, Rothman PB. Cutting edge: Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 inhibits activation of NFATp. *J Immunol.* (2002) 168:4277–81. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.9.4277
- 189. Owaki T, Asakawa M, Kamiya S, Takeda K, Fukai F, Mizuguchi J, et al. IL-27 suppresses CD28-mediated [correction of medicated] IL-2 production through suppressor of cytokine signaling 3. J Immunol. (2006) 176:2773– 80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.5.2773
- 190. Kinjyo I, Inoue H, Hamano S, Fukuyama S, Yoshimura T, Koga K, et al. Loss of SOCS3 in T helper cells resulted in reduced immune responses and hyperproduction of interleukin 10 and transforming growth factor-β1. *J Exp Med.* (2006) 203:1021–31. doi: 10.1084/jem.2005 2333
- 191. Liu X, Ren S, Qu X, Ge C, Cheng K, Zhao RCH. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit Th17 cells differentiation via IFN-γ-mediated SOCS3 activation. Immunol Res. (2015) 61:219–29. doi: 10.1007/s12026-014-8612-2
- 192. Cao W, Yang Y, Wang Z, Liu A, Fang L, Wu F, et al. Leukemia inhibitory factor inhibits T helper 17 cell differentiation and confers treatment effects of neural progenitor cell therapy in autoimmune disease. *Immunity.* (2011) 35:273–84. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.06.011
- 193. Qin H, Wang L, Feng T, Elson CO, Niyongere SA, Lee SJ, et al. TGF-β promotes Th17 cell development through inhibition of SOCS3. J Immunol. (2009) 183:97–105. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0801986
- 194. Qin H, Holdbrooks AT, Liu Y, Reynolds SL, Yanagisawa LL, Benveniste EN. SOCS3 deficiency promotes M1 macrophage polarization and inflammation. *J Immunol.* (2012) 189:3439–48. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201168
- 195. Pillemer BBL, Xu H, Oriss TB, Qi Z, Ray A. Deficient SOCS3 expression in CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ regulatory T cells and SOCS3mediated suppression of Treg function. *Eur J Immunol.* (2007) 37:2082– 9. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737193
- 196. Lan F, Zhang N, Zhang J, Krysko O, Zhang Q, Xian J, et al. Forkhead box protein 3 in human nasal polyp regulatory T cells is regulated by the protein suppressor of cytokine signaling 3. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2013) 132:1314–21.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.06.010
- 197. Braunschweig A, Poehlmann TG, Busch S, Schleussner E, Markert UR. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) and suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS3) balance controls cytotoxicity and IL-10 expression in decidual-like natural killer cell line NK-92. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2011) 66:329–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2011.00989.x
- 198. Nakaya M, Hashimoto M, Nakagawa R, Wakabayashi Y, Ishizaki T, Takada I, et al. SOCS3 in T and NKT cells negatively regulates cytokine production and ameliorates ConA-induced hepatitis. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:7047– 53. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900547
- 199. Gao Y, Liu R, He C, Basile J, Vesterlund M, Wahren-Herlenius M, et al. SOCS3 expression by thymic stromal cells Is required for normal T cell development. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:642173. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.642173
- 200. Matsumura Y, Kobayashi T, Ichiyama K, Yoshida R, Hashimoto M, Takimoto T, et al. Selective expansion of Foxp3-positive regulatory T cells and immunosuppression by suppressors of cytokine signaling 3-deficient dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* (2007) 179:2170–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.4.2170
- 201. Trabanelli S, Očadlíková D, Ciciarello M, Salvestrini V, Lecciso M, Jandus C, et al. The SOCS3-independent expression of IDO2 supports the homeostatic generation of T regulatory cells by human dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:1231–40. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300720

- Carow B, Rottenberg ME. SOCS3, a major regulator of infection and inflammation. Front Immunol. (2014) 5:58. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00058
- 203. Lee C-k, Raz R, Gimeno R, Gertner R, Wistinghausen B, Takeshita K, et al. STAT3 is a negative regulator of granulopoiesis but is not required for G-CSF-dependent differentiation. *Immunity.* (2002) 17:63–72. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00336-9
- 204. Shimozaki K, Nakajima K, Hirano T, Nagata S. Involvement of STAT3 in the granulocyte colony-stimulating factor-induced differentiation of myeloid cells. J Biol Chem. (1997) 272:25184–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.40.25184
- 205. Kimura A, Kinjyo I, Matsumura Y, Mori H, Mashima R, Harada M, et al. SOCS3 is a physiological negative regulator for granulopoiesis and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptor signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2004) 279:6905–10. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C300496200
- 206. Yan Z, Yang W, Parkitny L, Gibson SA, Lee KS, Collins F, et al. Deficiency of Socs3 leads to brain-targeted EAE via enhanced neutrophil activation and ROS production. JCI Insight. (2019) 5:e126520. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.126520
- 207. Croker BA, Mielke LA, Wormald S, Metcalf D, Kiu H, Alexander WS, et al. Socs3 maintains the specificity of biological responses to cytokine signals during granulocyte and macrophage differentiation. *Exp Hematol.* (2008) 36:786–98. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2008.02.008
- 208. Bode JG, Nimmesgern A, Schmitz J, Schaper F, Schmitt M, Frisch W, et al. LPS and TNF α induce SOCS3 mRNA and inhibit IL-6-induced activation of STAT3 in macrophages. *FEBS Lett.* (1999) 463:365–70. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(99)01662-2
- 209. Aziz M, Jacob A, Matsuda A, Wu R, Zhou M, Dong W, et al. Pretreatment of recombinant mouse MFG-E8 downregulates LPS-induced TNF-α production in macrophages via STAT3-mediated SOCS3 activation. PLoS One. (2011) 6:e27685. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027685
- 210. Schmok E, Abad Dar M, Behrends J, Erdmann H, Rückerl D, Endermann T, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 in macrophages prevents exacerbated interleukin-6-dependent arginase-1 activity and early permissiveness to experimental tuberculosis. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1537. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01537
- 211. Yasukawa H, Ohishi M, Mori H, Murakami M, Chinen T, Aki D, et al. IL-6 induces an anti-inflammatory response in the absence of SOCS3 in macrophages. *Nat Immunol.* (2003) 4:551–6. doi: 10.1038/ni938
- 212. Liu Y, Stewart KN, Bishop E, Marek CJ, Kluth DC, Rees AJ, et al. Unique expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 is essential for classical macrophage activation in rodents *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Immunol. (2008) 180:6270–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.6270
- 213. Arnold CE, Whyte CS, Gordon P, Barker RN, Rees AJ, Wilson HM. A critical role for suppressor of cytokine signalling 3 in promoting M1 macrophage activation and function *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Immunology*. (2014) 141:96–110. doi: 10.1111/imm.12173
- 214. Chaves de Souza JA, Nogueira AVB, Chaves de Souza PP, Kim YJ, Silva Lobo C, Pimentel Lopes de Oliveira GJ, et al. SOCS3 expression correlates with severity of inflammation, expression of proinflammatory cytokines, and activation of STAT3 and p38 MAPK in LPS-induced inflammation. *Mediat Inflamm.* (2013) 2013:650812. doi: 10.1155/2013/650812
- 215. Ohno-Urabe S, Aoki H, Nishihara M, Furusho A, Hirakata S, Nishida N, et al. Role of macrophage SOCS3 in the pathogenesis of aortic dissection. J Am Heart Assoc. (2018) 7:e007389. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.007389
- 216. Qin H, Yeh WI, De Sarno P, Holdbrooks AT, Liu Y, Muldowney MT, et al. Signal transducer and activator of transcription-3/suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 (STAT3/SOCS3) axis in myeloid cells regulates neuroinflammation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2012) 109:5004–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1117218109
- 217. Gordon P, Okai B, Hoare JI, Erwig LP, Wilson HM. SOCS3 is a modulator of human macrophage phagocytosis. J Leukoc Biol. (2016) 100:771– 80. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3A1215-554RR
- 218. Gao Y, Zhao H, Wang P, Wang J, Zou L. The roles of SOCS3 and STAT3 in bacterial infection and inflammatory diseases. *Scand J Immunol.* (2018) 88:e12727. doi: 10.1111/sji.12727
- 219. Stumhofer JS, Laurence A, Wilson EH, Huang E, Tato CM, Johnson LM, et al. Interleukin 27 negatively regulates the development of interleukin 17producing T helper cells during chronic inflammation of the central nervous system. *Nat Immunol.* (2006) 7:937–45. doi: 10.1038/ni1376

- 220. Jiang Z, Chen Z, Li L, Zhou W, Zhu L. Lack of SOCS3 increases LPS-induced murine acute lung injury through modulation of Ly6C(+) macrophages. *Respir Res.* (2017) 18:217. doi: 10.1186/s12931-017-0707-6
- 221. Carow B, Reuschl A-K, Gavier-Widén D, Jenkins BJ, Ernst M, Yoshimura A, et al. Critical and independent role for SOCS3 in either myeloid or T cells in resistance to mycobacterium tuberculosis. *PLoS Pathog.* (2013) 9:e1003442. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003442
- 222. Shouda T, Yoshida T, Hanada T, Wakioka T, Oishi M, Miyoshi K, et al. Induction of the cytokine signal regulator SOCS3/CIS3 as a therapeutic strategy for treating inflammatory arthritis. *J Clin Invest.* (2001) 108:1781– 8. doi: 10.1172/JCI13568
- 223. Strober W, Fuss I, Mannon P. The fundamental basis of inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Invest. (2007) 117:514–21. doi: 10.1172/JCI30587
- 224. Li Y, de Haar C, Peppelenbosch MP, van der Woude CJ. SOCS3 in immune regulation of inflammatory bowel disease and inflammatory bowel disease-related cancer. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2012) 23:127– 38. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2012.04.005
- 225. Suzuki A, Hanada T, Mitsuyama K, Yoshida T, Kamizono S, Hoshino T, et al. CIS3/SOCS3/SSI3 plays a negative regulatory role in STAT3 activation and intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med. (2001) 193:471–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.4.471
- 226. Li Y, Nuij VJ, Baars JE, Biermann K, Kuipers EJ, Peppelenbosch MP, et al. Increased suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 expression predicts mucosal relapse in ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2013) 19:132– 40. doi: 10.1002/ibd.22992
- 227. Smeets RL, Veenbergen S, Arntz OJ, Bennink MB, Joosten LA, van den Berg WB, et al. A novel role for suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 in cartilage destruction *via* induction of chondrocyte desensitization toward insulin-like growth factor. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2006) 54:1518–28. doi: 10.1002/art.21752
- 228. van de Loo FA, Veenbergen S, van den Brand B, Bennink MB, Blaney-Davidson E, Arntz OJ, et al. Enhanced suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 in arthritic cartilage dysregulates human chondrocyte function. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2012) 64:3313–23. doi: 10.1002/art.34529
- 229. Yin Y, Liu W, Dai Y. SOCS3 and its role in associated diseases. *Hum Immunol.* (2015) 76:775–80. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2015.09.037
- 230. Capello D, Deambrogi C, Rossi D, Lischetti T, Piranda D, Cerri M, et al. Epigenetic inactivation of suppressors of cytokine signalling in Philadelphia-negative chronic myeloproliferative disorders. *Br J Haematol.* (2008) 141:504–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07072.x
- 231. Pastoret C, Desmots F, Drillet G, Le Gallou S, Boulland M-L, Thannberger A, et al. Linking the KIR phenotype with STAT3 and TET2 mutations to identify chronic lymphoproliferative disorders of NK cells. *Blood.* (2021) 137:3237–50. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020006721
- 232. Wilop S, van Gemmeren TB, Lentjes MHFM, van Engeland M, Herman JG, Brümmendorf TH, et al. Methylation-associated dysregulation of the suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 gene in multiple myeloma. *Epigenetics*. (2011) 6:1047–52. doi: 10.4161/epi.6.8.16167
- Cooper JC, Shi M, Chueh F-Y, Venkitachalam S, Yu C-L. Enforced SOCS1 and SOCS3 expression attenuates Lck-mediated cellular transformation. *Int J Oncol.* (2010) 36:1201–8. doi: 10.3892/ijo_00000603
- Molavi O, Wang P, Zak Z, Gelebart P, Belch A, Lai R. Gene methylation and silencing of SOCS3 in mantle cell lymphoma. *Br J Haematol.* (2013) 161:348–56. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12262
- 235. Liang P, Cheng SH, Cheng CK, Lau KM, Lin SY, Chow EY, et al. Platelet factor 4 induces cell apoptosis by inhibition of STAT3 via up-regulation of SOCS3 expression in multiple myeloma. *Haematologica*. (2013) 98:288– 95. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2012.065607
- 236. Fourouclas N, Li J, Gilby DC, Campbell PJ, Beer PA, Boyd EM, et al. Methylation of the suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 gene (SOCS3) in myeloproliferative disorders. *Haematologica*. (2008) 93:1635– 44. doi: 10.3324/haematol.13043
- 237. Liu Y-x, Wang L, Liu W-j, Zhang H-t, Xue J-h, Zhang Z-w, et al. MiR-124-3p/B4GALT1 axis plays an important role in SOCS3-regulated growth and chemo-sensitivity of CML. J Hematol Oncol. (2016) 9:69. doi: 10.1186/s13045-016-0300-3
- 238. Qiu X, Guo G, Chen K, Kashiwada M, Druker BJ, Rothman PB, et al. A requirement for SOCS-1 and SOCS-3 phosphorylation in BCR-ABL-induced Tumorigenesis. *Neoplasia*. (2012) 14:547–58. doi: 10.1596/neo.12230

- Sakai I, Takeuchi K, Yamauchi H, Narumi H, Fujita S. Constitutive expression of SOCS3 confers resistance to IFN-α in chronic myelogenous leukemia cells. *Blood.* (2002) 100:2926–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-01-0073
- 240. Takeuchi K, Sakai I, Narumi H, Yasukawa M, Kojima K, Minamoto Y, et al. Expression of SOCS3 mRNA in bone marrow cells from CML patients associated with cytogenetic response to IFN-α. *Leuk Res.* (2005) 29:173– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2004.06.006
- Brender C, Nielsen M, Kaltoft K, Mikkelsen G, Zhang Q, Wasik M, et al. STAT3-mediated constitutive expression of SOCS-3 in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Blood.* (2001) 97:1056–62. doi: 10.1182/blood.V97.4.1056
- 242. Attia FM, Hassan AM, El-Maraghy NN, Ibrahium GH. Clinical significance of suppressor of cytokines signalling-3 mRNA expression from patients with non-Hodgkin lymphoma under chemotherapy. *Cancer Biomark.* (2012) 11:41–7. doi: 10.3233/CBM-2012-0262
- 243. Vanasse GJ, Winn RK, Rodov S, Zieske AW, Li JT, Tupper JC, et al. Bcl-2 overexpression leads to increases in suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 expression in B cells and *de novo* follicular lymphoma. *Mol Cancer Res.* (2004) 2:620–31.
- 244. Krishnadasan R, Bifulco C, Kim J, Rodov S, Zieske AW, Vanasse GJ. Overexpression of SOCS3 is associated with decreased survival in a cohort of patients with *de novo* follicular lymphoma. *Br J Haematol.* (2006) 135:72– 5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06248.x
- 245. Yu H, Liu Y, McFarland BC, Deshane JS, Hurst DR, Ponnazhagan S, et al. SOCS3 deficiency in myeloid cells promotes tumor development: involvement of STAT3 activation and myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2015) 3:727–40. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0004
- 246. Bollrath J, Phesse TJ, von Burstin VA, Putoczki T, Bennecke M, Bateman T, et al. gp130-mediated Stat3 activation in enterocytes regulates cell survival and cell-cycle progression during colitis-associated tumorigenesis. *Cancer Cell.* (2009) 15:91–102. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.01.002
- 247. Rigby RJ, Simmons JG, Greenhalgh CJ, Alexander WS, Lund PK. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3) limits damage-induced crypt hyperproliferation and inflammation-associated tumorigenesis in the colon. *Oncogene*. (2007) 26:4833–41. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210286
- 248. Li Y, de Haar C, Chen M, Deuring J, Gerrits MM, Smits R, et al. Diseaserelated expression of the IL6/STAT3/SOCS3 signalling pathway in ulcerative colitis and ulcerative colitis-related carcinogenesis. *Gut.* (2010) 59:227– 35. doi: 10.1136/gut.2009.184176
- 249. Miah MA, Yoon CH, Kim J, Jang J, Seong YR, Bae YS. CISH is induced during DC development and regulates DC-mediated CTL activation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:58–68. doi: 10.1002/eji.201141846
- 250. Matsumoto A, Seki Y, Kubo M, Ohtsuka S, Suzuki A, Hayashi I, et al. Suppression of STAT5 functions in liver, mammary glands, and T cells in cytokine-inducible SH2-containing protein 1 transgenic mice. *Mol Cell Biol.* (1999) 19:6396–407. doi: 10.1128/MCB.19.9.6396
- 251. Lewis RS, Noor SM, Fraser FW, Sertori R, Liongue C, Ward AC. Regulation of embryonic hematopoiesis by a cytokineinducible SH2 domain homolog in zebrafish. J Immunol. (2014) 192:5739–48. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301376
- Lejeune D, Demoulin J-B, Renauld J-C. Interleukin 9 induces expression of three cytokine signal inhibitors: cytokine-inducible SH2-containing protein, suppressor of cytokine signalling (SOCS)-2 and SOCS-3, but only SOCS-3 overexpression suppresses interleukin 9 signalling. *Biochem J.* (2001) 353:109–16. doi: 10.1042/bj3530109
- 253. Anderson P, Sundstedt A, Li L, O'Neill EJ, Li S, Wraith DC, et al. Differential activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)3 and STAT5 and induction of suppressors of cytokine signalling in Th1 and Th2 cells. *Int Immunol.* (2003) 15:1309–17. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxg130
- 254. Dalpke AH, Eckerle S, Frey M, Heeg K. Triggering of Toll-like receptors modulates IFN-y signaling: involvement of serine 727 STAT1 phosphorylation and suppressors of cytokine signaling. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:1776–87. doi: 10.1002/eji.200323621
- 255. Li S, Chen S, Xu X, Sundstedt A, Paulsson KM, Anderson P, et al. Cytokineinduced Src homology 2 protein (CIS) promotes T cell receptor-mediated proliferation and prolongs survival of activated T cells. *J Exp Med.* (2000) 191:985–94. doi: 10.1084/jem.191.6.985

- Palmer DC, Guittard GC, Franco Z, Crompton JG, Eil RL, Patel SJ, et al. CISH actively silences TCR signaling in CD8+ T cells to maintain tumor tolerance. *J Exp Med.* (2015) 212:2095–113. doi: 10.1084/jem.20150304
- 257. Guittard G, Dios-Esponera A, Palmer DC, Akpan I, Barr VA, Manna A, et al. The Cish SH2 domain is essential for PLC-γ1 regulation in TCR stimulated CD8(+) T cells. Sci Rep. (2018) 8:5336. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-23549-2
- Delconte RB, Guittard G, Goh W, Hediyeh-Zadeh S, Hennessy RJ, Rautela J, et al. NK cell priming from endogenous homeostatic signals is modulated by CIS. Front Immunol. (2020) 11:75. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00075
- 259. Zhu H, Blum RH, Bernareggi D, Ask EH, Wu Z, Hoel HJ, et al. Metabolic reprograming via deletion of CISH in human iPSC-derived NK cells promotes in vivo oersistence and enhances anti-tumor activity. Cell Stem Cell. (2020) 27:224–37.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2020.05.008
- 260. Takeshima H, Horie M, Mikami Y, Makita K, Miyashita N, Matsuzaki H, et al. CISH is a negative regulator of IL-13-induced CCL26 production in lung fibroblasts. *Allergol Int.* (2019) 68:101–9. doi: 10.1016/j.alit.2018.08.005
- 261. Burnham ME, Koziol-White CJ, Esnault S, Bates ME, Evans MD, Bertics PJ, et al. Human airway eosinophils exhibit preferential reduction in STAT signaling capacity and increased CISH expression. J Immunol. (2013) 191:2900–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300297
- 262. Zhao L, Chu H, Xu X, Yue J, Li H, Wang M. Association between single-nucleotide polymorphism in CISH gene and susceptibility to tuberculosis in Chinese Han population. *Cell Biochem Biophys.* (2014) 68:529–34. doi: 10.1007/s12013-013-9733-2
- 263. Tong HV, Toan NL, Song LH, Kremsner PG, Kun JF, Velavan T. Association of CISH-292A/T genetic variant with hepatitis B virus infection. *Immunogenetics.* (2012) 64:261–5. doi: 10.1007/s00251-011-0584-y
- 264. Khor CC, Vannberg FO, Chapman SJ, Guo H, Wong SH, Walley AJ, et al. CISH and susceptibility to infectious diseases. N Engl J Med. (2010) 362:2092–101. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0905606
- 265. Kedzierski L, Linossi EM, Kolesnik TB, Day EB, Bird NL, Kile BT, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 4 (SOCS4) protects against severe cytokine storm and enhances viral clearance during influenza infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2014) 10:e1004134. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004134
- 266. Kedzierski L, Clemens EB, Bird NL, Kile BT, Belz GT, Nicola NA, et al. SOCS4 is dispensable for an efficient recall response to influenza despite being required for primary immunity. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2015) 93:909– 13. doi: 10.1038/icb.2015.55
- 267. Ren S, Chen X, Huang R, Zhou GG, Yuan Z. SOCS4 expressed by recombinant HSV protects against cytokine storm in a mouse model. Oncol Rep. (2019) 41:1509–20. doi: 10.3892/or.2018.6935
- Ozaki A, Seki Y, Fukushima A, Kubo M. The control of allergic conjunctivitis by suppressor of cytokine signaling SOCS3 and SOCS5 in a murine model. J Immunol. (2005) 175:5489–97. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.8.5489
- 269. Brender C, Columbus R, Metcalf D, Handman E, Starr R, Huntington N, et al. SOCS5 is expressed in primary B and T lymphoid cells but is dispensable for lymphocyte production and function. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2004) 24:6094–103. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.13.6094-6103.2004
- 270. Kedzierski L, Tate MD, Hsu AC, Kolesnik TB, Linossi EM, Dagley L, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling SOCS5 ameliorates influenza infection *via* inhibition of EGFR signaling. *Elife.* (2017) 6:e20444. doi: 10.7554/eLife.20444
- Diao X, Zhou J, Wang S, Ma X. Upregulation of miR-132 contributes to the pathophysiology of COPD via targeting SOCS5. Exp Mol Pathol. (2018) 105:285–92. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2018.10.002
- 272. Krebs DL, Uren RT, Metcalf D, Rakar S, Zhang J-G, Starr R, et al. SOCS-6 binds to insulin receptor substrate 4, and mice lacking the SOCS-6 gene exhibit mild growth retardation. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2002) 22:4567– 78. doi: 10.1128/MCB.22.13.4567-4578.2002
- 273. Krebs DL, Metcalf D, Merson TD, Voss AK, Thomas T, Zhang J-G, et al. Development of hydrocephalus in mice lacking SOCS7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2004) 101:15446–51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0406870101
- 274. Knisz J, Banks A, McKeag L, Metcalfe DD, Rothman PB, Brown JM. Loss of SOCS7 in mice results in severe cutaneous disease and increased mast cell activation. *Clin Immunol.* (2009) 132:277–84. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2009.04.003
- 275. Jager LD, Dabelic R, Waiboci LW, Lau K, Haider MS, Ahmed CM, et al. The kinase inhibitory region of SOCS-1 is sufficient to inhibit T-helper 17

and other immune functions in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol. (2011) 232:108–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.10.018

- Ahmed CM, Massengill MT, Brown EE, Ildefonso CJ, Johnson HM, Lewin AS. A cell penetrating peptide from SOCS-1 prevents ocular damage in experimental autoimmune uveitis. *Exp Eye Res.* (2018) 177:12– 22. doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2018.07.020
- 277. He C, Yu C-R, Mattapallil MJ, Sun L, Larkin Iii J, Egwuagu CE. SOCS1 mimetic peptide suppresses chronic intraocular inflammatory disease (uveitis). *Mediators Inflamm.* (2016) 2016:2939370. doi: 10.1155/2016/2939370
- DiGiandomenico A, Wylezinski LS, Hawiger J. Intracellular delivery of a cell-penetrating SOCS1 that targets IFN-gamma signaling. *Sci Signal.* (2009) 2:ra37. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.1162191
- Jo D, Liu D, Yao S, Colins RD, Hawiger J. Intracellular protein therapy with SOCS3 inhibits inflammation and apoptosis. *Nat Med.* (2005) 11:892– 8. doi: 10.1038/nm1269
- Fletcher TC, DiGiandomenico A, Hawiger J. Extended antiinflammatory action of a degradation-resistant mutant of cellpenetrating suppressor of cytokine signaling 3. J Biol Chem. (2010) 285:18727–36. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.095216
- 281. Xu K, Wu N, Min Z, Li Z, Zhu T, Liu C, et al. Adoptive transfer of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) alleviates OVA-induced allergic airway inflammation in asthmatic mice. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:1– 12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-70467-3
- 282. Putz EM, Guillerey C, Kos K, Stannard K, Miles K, Delconte RB, et al. Targeting cytokine signaling checkpoint CIS activates NK cells to protect from tumor initiation and metastasis. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1267892. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1267892
- Evel-Kabler K, Song X-T, Aldrich M, Huang XF, Chen S-Y. SOCS1 restricts dendritic cells' ability to break self tolerance and induce antitumor immunity by regulating IL-12 production and signaling. *J Clin Invest.* (2006) 116:90– 100. doi: 10.1172/JCI26169
- 284. Zhang J, Yu J, Yang L, Li H, Wei F, Zhao H, et al. Enhanced activation of human dendritic cells by silencing SOCS1 and activating TLRs simultaneously. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2012) 61:1653– 61. doi: 10.1007/s00262-012-1218-4

- 285. Yuan Y, Li GY, Ji M, Zhang Y, Ding YP, Qi XC. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1) silencing and Hep-2 sensitizing dendritic cell vaccine in laryngocarcinoma immunotherapy. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2019) 23:5958–66. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_201907_18342
- 286. He M, Chen X, Luo M, Ouyang L, Xie L, Huang Z, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 inhibits the maturation of dendritic cells involving the nuclear factor kappa B signaling pathway in the glioma microenvironment. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2020) 202:47–59. doi: 10.1111/cei.1 3476
- 287. Hashimoto M, Ayada T, Kinjyo I, Hiwatashi K, Yoshida H, Okada Y, et al. Silencing of SOCS1 in macrophages suppresses tumor development by enhancing antitumor inflammation. *Cancer Sci.* (2009) 100:730–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01098.x
- 288. Nakagawa S, Serada S, Kakubari R, Hiramatsu K, Sugase T, Matsuzaki S, et al. Intratumoral delivery of an adenoviral vector carrying the SOCS-1 gene enhances T-cell-mediated antitumor immunity by suppressing PD-L1. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2018) 17:1941–50. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0822

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Sobah, Liongue and Ward. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Gene Expression Analysis in Four Dogs With Canine Pemphigus Clinical Subtypes Reveals B Cell Signatures and Immune Activation Pathways Similar to Human Disease

Haya S. Raef^{1,2}, Cesar Piedra-Mora³, Neil B. Wong¹, Diana Junyue Ma¹, Clement N. David⁴, Nicholas A. Robinson^{3†}, Ramón M. Almela^{3*} and Jillian M. Richmond^{1*}

¹ Department of Dermatology, UMass Medical School, Worcester, MA, United States, ² Tufts University School of Medicine,

Boston, MA, United States, ³ Clinical Sciences Department, Tufts Cummings School of Veterinary Medicine, Grafton, MA,

United States, ⁴ NanoString Technologies Inc., Seattle, WA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Kyle T. Amber, Rush University, United States

Reviewed by:

Takashi Hashimoto, Osaka City University, Japan Marian Dmochowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

*Correspondence:

Jillian M. Richmond jillian.richmond@umassmed.edu Ramón M. Almela ramon.almela@tufts.edu

[†]Present address:

Nicholas A. Robinson, bluebird bio, Cambridge, MA, United States

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Dermatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 11 June 2021 Accepted: 06 September 2021 Published: 29 September 2021

Citation:

Raef HS, Piedra-Mora C, Wong NB, Ma DJ, David CN, Robinson NA, Almela RM and Richmond JM (2021) Gene Expression Analysis in Four Dogs With Canine Pemphigus Clinical Subtypes Reveals B Cell Signatures and Immune Activation Pathways Similar to Human Disease. Front. Med. 8:723982. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.723982

Pemphigus is a group of autoimmune-mediated mucocutaneous blistering diseases characterized by acantholysis. Pemphigus has also been recognized in dogs and shares similar clinical characteristics and variants with human pemphigus. While relationships between human and canine pemphigus have been reported, gene expression patterns across species have not been described in the literature. We sought to perform gene expression analysis of lesional skin tissue from four dogs with various forms of pemphigus to examine gene expression during spontaneous disease in dogs. We found increased T and B cell signatures in canine pemphigus lesions compared to controls, as well as significant upregulation of CCL3, CCL4, CXCL10, and CXCL8 (IL8), among other genes. Similar chemokine/cytokine expression patterns and immune infiltrates have been reported in humans, suggesting that these genes play a role in spontaneous disease. Direct comparison of our dataset to previously published human pemphigus datasets revealed five conserved differentially expressed genes: CD19, WIF1, CXCL10, CD86, and S100A12. Our data expands our understanding of pemphigus and facilitates identification of biomarkers for prediction of disease prognosis and treatment response, which may be useful for future veterinary and human clinical trials.

Keywords: canine (dog), pemphigus, autoimmune blistering diseases, gene expression, NanoString, cytokine, skin, comparative immunology

INTRODUCTION

Pemphigus is a group of potentially life-threatening autoimmune blistering diseases characterized by acantholysis. In these diseases, IgG autoantibodies target intraepithelial adhesion molecules resulting in epidermal splitting and blister formation (1). The incidence of pemphigus varies substantially around the world and is estimated to range between 0.75 and 5 new cases per million (2, 3).

Pemphigus can be categorized into different subtypes including pemphigus vulgaris and pemphigus foliaceus, depending on the level of blistering in the epidermis. In pemphigus foliaceous, the disease is restricted to the upper part of the epidermis, whereas in pemphigus vulgaris,

106

deeper layers of the epidermis are involved resulting in a more erosive presentation (4, 5). In the United States, pemphigus vulgaris is the most common subtype, primarily affecting women between 50 and 60 years of age (2, 6). Pemphigus vulgaris is thought to result from autoantibody action against desmosomal components, primarily desmoglein (Dsg) 1 and Dsg 3, leading to acantholysis (7).

Pemphigus has also been recognized in dogs and shares similar clinical characteristics and variants with human pemphigus (8). While pemphigus vulgaris is the most prevalent subtype of pemphigus in humans, it is uncommon in dogs (9). Pemphigus foliaceus is believed to be the most common variant in dogs (9). It is most often caused by autoantibodies targeting desmocollin-1 (10), which is in contrast to human pemphigus foliaceus disease, in which desmoglein-1 (DSG1) represents the major autoimmune target (1, 11). In canine pemphigus foliaceus, but less commonly in humans, transient pustules develop, which rapidly evolve into yellowish crusts and erosions due to neutrophilic infiltration that precedes acantholysis (8, 12). In dogs, lesions are often localized to the face or footpad, and later progress into generalized distribution. Pemphigus erythematosus is considered a variant of pemphigus foliaceus, with overlapping immunologic and clinical features of both lupus and pemphigus entities (13). Canine pemphigus erythematous lesions are characterized by acantholytic pustules along with a lichenoid interface dermatitis that is commonly restricted to the face.

While similarities between human and canine pemphigus have been reported, gene expression patterns across species have not been described in the literature. An advantage of studying spontaneous pemphigus in dogs is that it eliminates the layer of potential bias inherent in constructing an inducible animal model. We analyzed lesional skin tissue using NanoString technology from four dogs with various forms of pemphigus who presented to community veterinary clinics and were biopsied for diagnostic purposes. We present gene expression analyses from this case series, providing further evidence that canine pemphigus closely mimics the human condition. Our goal is to help identify novel target genes for further study as both biomarkers and drivers of pathogenesis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Clinical Samples

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at the Tufts University Cummings School of Veterinary Medicine. Specimens from veterinary patients were collected when seen at the Cummings School of Veterinary Medicine, and stored in the biorepository after obtaining written consent from owners.

Skin biopsies demonstrating "pustular dermatitis" or "acantholytic dermatitis" between 2011 and 2019 were drawn from the biorepository, and potential cases were submitted to a veterinary dermatologist and pathologist for categorization into their appropriate diagnoses. Inclusion criteria for pemphigus samples included clinical presentation compatible with pemphigus disease, with morphological diagnoses of subcorneal, intragranular or subgranular acantholytic neutrophilic or mixed neutrophilic/eosinophilic pustules, and absence of proteolytic acantholytic dermatoses (staphylococcal and pustular dermatophyte infections of the skin) after histochemical stains (PAS and/or Gram). The different pemphigus subtypes were classified as follows:

- Pemphigus Foliaceous: Pustules rapidly evolving into shallow erosions and crusts with predominance to the face and feet. Histopathologic findings must include superficial epidermal, or follicular pustules rich in neutrophils with clustered acantholytic keratinocytes. Other acantholytic neutrophilic pustular diseases must be ruled out.
- Pemphigus Vulgaris: A clinical presentation that includes mucosal and/or cutaneous vesicles, bullae, deep erosions, or ulcers. Histopathology must show suprabasal epidermal, mucosal, or follicular acantholysis.
- Pemphigus Erythematosus: Pustules, erosions, and crusts localized to the face and pinnae, along with depigmentation, erythema, and erosion/ulceration of the nasal planum and dorsal muzzle. Histology morphological diagnosis should reveal intragranular to subcorneal neutrophilic and eosinophilic acantholytic pustules with a lichenoid interface dermatitis.

Immunologic tests were not performed on these animals; therefore, diagnoses were based principally on clinico-pathological grounds in accordance with Olivry et al. (8).

Control tissue were also obtained from the biorepository. These tissue samples were derived from canine healthy margin skin from leg amputations. The surgeons routinely excise an extra margin of tissue to look for malignancy, necrosis, etc. Histopathologic data from all cases were reexamined and validated by a board-certified veterinary pathologist and dermatologist (NAR, RMA). A summary of the clinical characteristics is included in the Case Presentations section.

Isolation of RNA From Formalin-Fixed, Paraffin-Embedded (FFPE) Blocks

FFPE blocks were sectioned into $30 \,\mu$ m thick curls and stored in Eppendorf tubes at ambient temperature. RNA extraction and purification from FFPE blocks was conducted using the Qiagen FFPE RNeasy kit, according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, razor blades were treated with RNase, excess paraffin was trimmed, and tissues were sliced into thin $5\,\mu$ m section before treatment with deparaffinization solution (Qiagen). RNA was assessed for quantity using a NanoDrop Spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, USA), which measures RNA concentration by calculating UV absorbance.

Nanostring Cartridge, Processing, and Analysis

We quantified gene expression from canine pemphigus patients using a custom NanoString canine gene panel comprised of 160 genes involved in various immune pathways and skin homeostasis. We used *B2m*, *Rpl13a*, *cg14980*, and *hprt* as housekeeping genes. RNA hybridization was carried out using a BioRad C1000 touch machine. The hybridized samples were then
loaded into NanoString cartridges and analyzed with a Sprint profiler. Data analysis was performed using nSolver software (14) and raw counts and DEGs were plotted using GraphPad Prism v9. Raw data are shared on Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) Database under accession #GSE171079.

H&E and IHC

Biopsy samples were formalin fixed and paraffin wax-embedded. Five-micron sections were either stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) on an automated slide stainer (Sakura Tissue-Tek DRS), or stained for immunohistochemistry using rabbit anti-canine CXCL10 (US Biological, 1:100) using an automated staining machine (Dako EnVision + Dual Link System-HRP). Staining was visualized using a HRP conjugated secondary anti-rabbit antibody. Images were captured using an Olympus BX51 microscope equipped with Nikon NIS Elements software version 3.10.

Canine and Human Dataset Comparison

To determine the number of conserved genes between human and canine pemphigus, we compared our dog NanoString dataset to a human pemphigus microarray dataset available on GEO database [GSE53873; (14)]. We first found the common denominator genes from both datasets using the "MATCH" function in Microsoft Excel, then truncated the datasets to reflect shared transcripts covered in each study (total 156 genes). We next examined the differentially expressed genes (DEGs) in each dataset with p < 0.05. To determine total overlap of significant DEGs shared by both human and canine pemphigus disease, we compared the DEG lists of both species and generated a Venn diagram using the BioVenn web application (15).

Statistics

We performed statistical analysis to compare healthy to pemphigus lesional skin using nSolver software (NanoString, Seattle, WA) and GraphPad Prism software (version 9.0, GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA). Shapiro-Wilk tests were performed to check for normality. Data were analyzed with the two-tailed student's *t*-test if data were determined to be normally distributed, or with the two-tailed Mann Whitney *U*-test for nonnormally distributed data. P < 0.05 were considered significant, and P < 0.01 were considered highly significant.

CASE PRESENTATIONS

Case 1

Ten-year-old spayed female Miniature Schnauzer that presented with a 3-week history of nasal discharge and a 10-day history of right front limb lameness. On physical examination, ulcerative lesions on the left nasal planum and right paw pad were observed, along with swelling of the tongue and palate. Biopsy of the hard palate, nasal planum and tongue demonstrated mucosal hyperplasia with suprabasilar clefting, focal ulceration and mild lymphoplasmacytic interface inflammation. Moreover, there was marked pigmentary incontinence in the nasal planum. These findings were most consistent with pemphigus vulgaris.

Case 2

A 9-year-old spayed female Labrador Cross with a history of ulcerative stomatitis presented to the emergency room due to difficulty prehending food. On physical exam, ulcerations were noted along the face, ears, and inguinal skin. The area was very sensitive to touch. A skin biopsy was taken, revealing a thickened epidermis with acanthosis. In the stratum spinosum and stratum granulosum, there were ragged and ruptured foci and clear spaces, suggestive of vesicle formation. Along the dermo-epidermal junction, there was edema, pigmentary incontinence, and moderate inflammatory interface dermatitis. These findings were consistent with pemphigus erythematosus.

Case 3

Seven-year-old female spayed German Shepherd Cross presented with a 1.5 year history of nasal and periocular depigmentation and crusting. Physical examination demonstrated thick yellow crusting on the ear flaps, around both eyes, above the nasal planum, and in multifocal areas along her flanks. She has previously responded well to steroids but has discontinued due to adverse side effects. Histopathologic evaluation showed moderate lymphoplasmacytic interface dermatitis with pigmentary incontinence. Moreover, marked eosinophilic and neutrophilic, subcorneal and exudative dermatitis with infrequent *ghost* acantholytic cells were observed. Clinical and histologic findings were consistent with pemphigus erythematosus.

Case 4

Twelve-year-old male neutered Portugese Water dog presented with a 10 month history of nasal crusting, ulceration and allergic rhinitis. On physical exam, crusting was observed on the nasal planum with erosion and depigmentation. The canine patient was initially diagnosed with mucocutaneous pyoderma, however his condition was unresponsive to antibiotic treatments and later progressed to involve the foot pads. Histopathologic evaluation demonstrated suprabasilar neutrophilic pustules with rafts of acantholytic keratinocytes. Additionally, there was superficial dermal and interface inflammatory infiltrate composed of lymphocytes and plasma cells. These findings were consistent with pemphigus foliaceous disease.

RESULTS

Key Immune Genes Are Upregulated in Canine Pemphigus vs. Healthy Controls

To begin to characterize gene expression in canine pemphigus, we isolated RNA from archival skin biopsies from four canine pemphigus patients, and five healthy controls. We used NanoString technology to analyze RNA from these samples as it quantifies genes without the needs of amplification and is useful for measuring the gene expression of difficult samples which cannot be easily amplified in PCR. It also has a considerable fast turnaround time and offers robust data.

Utilizing the high-fidelity NanoString nCounter platform, we analyzed 160 sets of canine genes to compare gene expression patterns between pemphigus and healthy canine patients (H&E from cases presented in **Figure 1A**). Agglomerative clustering of



FIGURE 1 | H&E staining of canine pemphigus and healthy canine skin reveals histopathologic features of pemphigus variants. (A) All cases revealed interface dermatitis, edema, and pigmentary incontinence at the dermo-epidermal junction (black arrows indicate interface dermatitis). Case 1, pemphigus vulgaris, and case 4, pemphigus foliaceous, revealed epidermal sloughing (black stars). Polymorphonuclear cells were noted in all biopsies (white arrows). Scale bars black = $100 \,\mu$ m, gray = $200 \,\mu$ m. (B) Volcano plot of differential gene expression (DEG) analysis in canine pemphigus vs. healthy skin margins using BY adjusted *P*-values or (C) raw *P*-values (*n* = 4 pemphigus cases and 5 healthy margin controls).

the comprehensive set of genes discriminates between healthy and pemphigus canine skin (**Supplementary Figure 1**). Principal component analysis (PCA) showed that the transcriptomic profiles of pemphigus cases are distinguishable from healthy cases (**Supplementary Figure 2**). Out of the 160 genes, 43 genes were differentially expressed, using a Benjamini-Yekutieli (BY) adjusted P < 0.05 (**Figure 1B**). Nine of these genes had a negative log2 fold change (downregulated compared to healthy), and the remaining 34 genes had a positive log2 fold change (upregulated compared to healthy). We also examined genes that were trending toward significance, as these might provide insights into additional genes driving pathogenesis of canine pemphigus, but were under-powered in our study of four cases (**Figure 1C**). Ninety-four genes had a raw P < 0.05. Forty-six of these genes were upregulated with a log fold change of >2. Sixteen genes were downregulated with a log fold change <-1.5.

To understand the immunopathogenesis of canine pemphigus, we performed more detailed analysis on subsets of genes based on known cellular functions and previously published gene expression analyses of human pemphigus. First, we examined cytokines and chemokines. We found significant upregulation of the chemokines *CCL3*, *CCL4*, *CXCL10*, and *CXCL8* (*IL8*) (**Figure 2A**). There was also significantly increased *TNF*, *IFNG*, and *IL21R* (though not *IL21* cytokine) expression compared to healthy controls (**Figure 2B**). Many of these cytokines or cytokine families have been previously reported to



be induced in blistering disorders (16). There was a trend toward increased *IL1* expression, but this was not statistically significant by two tailed student's *t*-test (**Figure 2B**).

CXCL10 Is Highly Expressed at the Protein Level in Canine Pemphigus Lesions

To confirm translation of key genes identified in our NanoString codeset, IHC was performed for CXCL10. Results showed that lesional skin biopsies from dogs demonstrated increased expression of CXCL10 compared to isotype and healthy controls (**Figure 2C**). CXCL10 was expressed throughout the epidermis and has been implicated in the pathogenesis of human pemphigus.

Skin Homeostatic Genes Are Downregulated in Canine Pemphigus

We examined genes related to skin homeostasis, as well immune regulatory and neuroendocrine genes in as our canine dataset to understand more about the skin tissue microenvironment. Analysis of neuroendocrine genes revealed that ADRB1, MCR5, and CYP1B1 were significantly downregulated in pemphigus vs. healthy controls (Supplementary Figure 3). IGFBP5, which is known to mediate fibrosis, and FOXO1, which is associated with adipogenesis, were significantly downregulated in lesional skin (Supplementary Figure 3). Several other skin homeostatic genes, including WIF1, EDA, RXRG, and TGFB2, were significantly decreased in pemphigus cases. The keratinocyte differentiation marker, involucrin *IVL*, was significantly enriched in pemphigus lesions. *KRT14*, a marker of keratinocytes, was significantly higher, and *PECAM1*, a marker of endothelial cells, was significantly lower in pemphigus cases vs. controls (**Supplementary Figure 3**).

Cell Type Analysis Reveals Infiltration of Activated Lymphocytes and Granulocytes in Canine Pemphigus Lesions

There was a significant increase of CD45+ immune cells in the skin of canine pemphigus patients compared to controls (Figure 3A). To begin to characterize this inflammatory infiltrate, we used NanoString Advanced Analysis, a method that has been previously validated with flow cytometry, to determine which cellular gene signatures were present in canine pemphigus (17) (Figure 3B). Cell type enrichment analysis revealed that T cells, including cytotoxic T cells are highly significantly increased in canine pemphigus compared to healthy controls, with a log2 cell type enrichment score of P < 0.01 (Figure 3C). We examined expression of the transcription factor FOXP3, which serves as important master regulator of regulatory T cell (Treg) differentiation and found that it was upregulated in pemphigus compared to controls (Figure 3C). Mast cells, B cells, and Neutrophils each had a log2 cell type enrichment score of P = 0.05, which means their presence in tissue has a moderate



FIGURE 3 analysis with high confidence of prediction (P < 0.01) demonstrating significant increases in T cells (*CD3E, SH2D1A, CD6, TRAT1* composite score), cytotoxic cells (*GZMA, KLRK1, PRF1, GZMB, KLRB1, KLRD1, CTSW* composite score), and Tregs (*FOXP3*) in canine pemphigus skin compared to healthy controls. (**D**) B cell (*CD19, MS4A1, BLK, FCRL2, TNFRSF1* composite score), neutrophil (*CEACAM1, S100A12, CSF3R* composite score) and Mast cell (*HDC, MS4A2, CPA3* composite score) cell type analysis scores had P < 0.05, indicating moderate confidence for prediction. B cells and neutrophils were significantly increased in canine pemphigus compared to healthy controls (n = 4 pemphigus cases and 5 healthy controls, two tailed student's *t*-tests significant as indicated).

accuracy for prediction. B cells and neutrophils were increased in canine pemphigus skin (**Figure 3D**).

Comparative Analysis of Canine and Human Pemphigus Reveals Shared Differentially Expressed Genes

We next examined shared gene expression patterns between human and canine pemphigus. We selected all untreated samples from dataset GSE53873 (16), which included skin biopsies from human pemphigus vulgaris and foliaceous patients with both localized and generalized disease, as our four canine cases also exhibited clinical heterogeneity. We first truncated both datasets to a list of common denominator gene transcripts that were captured in both platforms, which yielded a list of 156 genes. Next, we examined which of these common denominator genes were differentially expressed in each species, and then used BioVenn software to compare the significant DEGs for human and canine. Our analysis demonstrated five DEGs that are conserved in all clinical subtypes of human and canine pemphigus disease: CD19, WIF1, CXCL10, CD86, and S100A12. CYP1B1 and PECAM1, which were trending toward significance in our canine dataset using raw P < 0.05 from differential expression analysis, were significant DEGs in the human dataset. Differentially expressed genes in humans and canine pemphigus are summarized in Figure 4A.

To determine if any clinical subtypes share common genes, we next used the human pemphigus subtype DEGs from GSE53873 generated using the GEO2R Venn Diagram function, and we determined which, if any, DEGs were contained in the canine codeset with P < 0.05. We found that genes enriched in localized human pemphigus foliaceous compared to pemphigus vulgaris, including *CCL5* and *CYP1B1* were also captured in the canine DEGs when examined by two-tailed student's *t*-tests (**Figure 4B**). *TAC1* (substance *P* gene) was enriched in human pemphigus vulgaris compared to generalized pemphigus foliaceous, and this was also a DEG in our canine dataset. Generalized human pemphigus variants, though this may be due to our limited sample size or the clinical subtypes we examined.

DISCUSSION

The goals of our study were to examine immune and skin gene expression in canine pemphigus to (1) better map immunopathogenesis in veterinary patients and (2) compare to human pemphigus to understand conserved drivers of disease. Our data showed that 94 out of the 160 quantified genes demonstrated statistically significant altered mRNA expression between pemphigus and healthy canine skin. The functions of these genes vary but include both immunological and skin barrier function. We found increased expression of genes encoding T and B cell associated cytokines, chemokines, neutrophil attractants, and immune mediators.

Pemphigus is caused by autoantibodies directed against selfproteins in the skin. These autoantibodies are thought to be generated by autoreactive B cells following T cell help. As in human pemphigus, we observed both CD3+ T cells and CD19+ B cells are increased in canine pemphigus lesions (18, 19). It has been suggested that pemphigus is a T helper (Th) type 2-dependent disorder (20, 21). Other T-cell subsets, including CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and Th17 cells, have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of pemphigus (22, 23). FOXO1, a known immunoregulatory gene, was decreased in our canine cases compared to healthy controls, which may indicate reduced ability of Tregs to function to suppress autoreactive T cells in pemphigus lesions. T follicular helper cells (Tfh) have been recently reported to be critically involved in the pathogenesis of pemphigus by facilitating B-cell activation and promoting autoantibody production (24, 25). Further studies are needed to confirm if similar T-cell subset patterns exist in canine pemphigus patients.

Additionally, we noted a trend toward increased mast cells in canine pemphigus skin lesions. Increased numbers of mast cells have been detected in a prior study in the skin of pemphigus vulgaris and bullous pemphigoid patients (26–28). While the role of mast cells in the pathogenesis of pemphigus is not entirely clear, it has been suggested that mast cells may contribute to acantholysis by inducing release of esterases. Moreover, high concentrations of Dsg3-reactive IgE and intercellular IgE deposits in pemphigus vulgaris patients have been reported, further supporting the involvement of mast cells in pemphigus (29).

Recent studies have suggested a critical role for IL-17 in the pathogenesis of human pemphigus disease (19, 24). IL-17 is produced by Th17 cells and is commonly associated with the development of autoimmune conditions (30–32). While we noted increased mRNA expression of *IL17* in only one canine pemphigus case (case 4), we did note increased *IL21R*. IL-21 cytokine is directly associated with the Th17 pathway, and prior studies have demonstrated increased levels of IL-21 in human pemphigus disease. IL-21 is a cytokine secreted mainly by Tfh and Th17 cells and has been suggested to stimulate B-cell activation and differentiation, leading to pathogenic autoantibody production in pemphigus lesions (19, 33). It is possible that the signal of *IL17* and/or *IL21* from T cells is diluted by analyzing bulk mRNA from skin tissue. Therefore, future studies immunophenotyping canine pemphigus T cells by flow



determined using GEO2R Venn Diagram function revealed that canine pemphigus captures elements of both human localized pemphigus foliaceous and pemphigus vulgaris, but not generalized pemphigus foliaceous. (B) Canine RNA counts for DEGs shared by both species are presented, including *CYP1B1* and *PECAM1*, which were trending toward significance in the overall canine differential expression analysis. **CYP1B1* and *PECAM1* are significant when directly compared between canine pemphigus and healthy margins using two-tailed student's *t*-tests (Gen PF, generalized pemphigus foliaceous; Loc PF, localized pemphigus foliaceous; PV, pemphigus vulgaris; DEGs, differentially expressed genes).

cytometry, single cell RNA sequencing, spatial transcriptomics or similar enrichment approaches is warranted.

We also found significant upregulation of chemokines *CXCL8* and *CXCL10* compared with the normal skin controls. *CXCL8* and *CXCL10* mediate recruitment of leukocytes to the skin from the blood (34, 35), and have been implicated in the pathogenesis of human pemphigus (36, 37). CXCL10 has been shown to be highly expressed in human bullous pemphigoid disease, and is

suggested to induce matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP), which is a key proteinase in the pathologic process associated with blister formation (36). Similarly, *CXCL8* has been hypothesized to recruit neutrophils to the epidermis and contribute to the blistering process (38).

Consistent with human studies (37, 39), *TNF* was also upregulated in pemphigus lesional skin. TNF functions to regulate acute phase proteins and induces secretion of several cytokines and chemokines (37). It also stimulates T-cells, modulates differentiation of B cells, and promotes endothelial cells to secrete neutrophil chemotactic factor to increase neutrophil migration into tissues (40–42). Thus, TNF may play a mediator role in pemphigus lesions by increasing epithelial damage.

We also examined skin-specific genes that are associated with skin biology. We found that lesional skin from dogs with pemphigus exhibited downregulation of genes involved in skin homeostasis and immune tolerance. We observed decreased *WIF-1* expression in pemphigus skin which was conserved across both canine and human datasets. The Wnt proteins have been shown to have a fundamental role in tissue homeostasis, including development of hair follicles and initiation of the anagen phase (43). Impaired Wnt signaling has been reported in psoriatic skin disease (44).

Limitations in our study include the small sample size, and number of genes analyzed (160 genes). Future studies should include larger scale comparative analyses and whole transcriptome sequencing to allow for a better understanding of the pathogenesis of pemphigus across species. Despite these limitations, we observed many differentially expressed genes that match previously published literature regarding potential drivers of pemphigus immunopathogenesis. To our knowledge, this is the first study that provides gene expression analysis for canine pemphigus immune and skin transcripts. We have shown that dogs capture features of human disease, which may benefit patient care by providing additional predictive models for human disease mechanisms. In light of the fact that CAR-T clinical veterinary and human trials are in development, we hope that our study will add potential biomarkers that could mutually benefit both species.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/geo/, GSE171079.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Tufts Cummings School of Veterinary Medicine IACUC. Written informed consent was obtained from

REFERENCES

- Kasperkiewicz M, Ellebrecht CT, Takahashi H, Yamagami J, Zillikens D, Payne AS, et al. Pemphigus. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2017) 3:17026. doi: 10.1038/Nrdp.2017.26
- Alpsoy E, Akman-Karakas A, Uzun S. Geographic variations in epidemiology of two autoimmune bullous diseases: pemphigus and bullous pemphigoid. *Arch Dermatol Res.* (2015) 307:291–8. doi: 10.1007/S00403-014-1531-1
- Bystryn J-C, Rudolph JL. Pemphigus. Lancet. (2005) 366:61– 73. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66829-8

the owners for the participation of their animals in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JR: conceptualization, project administration, and funding acquisition. NR and JR: methodology and resources. CD: software. RA and CP-M: validation. HR, NW, and JR: formal analysis. RA, CP-M, NR, DM, JR, and CD: investigation. NR, CP-M, RA, and JR: data curation. HR: writing–original draft. HR, CP-M, NW, and JR: visualization. JR, NR, and RA: supervision. All authors writing–review and editing.

FUNDING

JR was supported by a Career Development Award from the Dermatology Foundation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Yu Liu and Colton Garelli from UMass, and Linda Wrijil and Gina Scariglia from Tufts for technical assistance. We thank the Finberg lab at UMass for use of their microscope. Immunohistochemistry studies were performed in collaboration with the UMass DERC morphology core. The NanoString Sprint profiler is maintained by the Silverman lab in the UMass Department of Medicine.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.723982/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Heatmap of all samples. Rows are centered; unit variance scaling is applied to rows. Both rows and columns are clustered using correlation distance and average linkage. 160 rows, 8 columns.

Supplementary Figure 2 | PCA plot of samples. Unit variance scaling is applied to rows; SVD with imputation is used to calculate principal components. X and Y axis show principal component 1 and principal component 2 that explain 36.8 and 29.3% of the total variance, respectively. Prediction ellipses are such that with probability 0.95, a new observation from the same group will fall inside the ellipse. N = 8 data points.

Supplementary Figure 3 Skin and immune homeostatic genes are decreased in canine pemphigus compared to healthy control skin. Gene expression of skin and immune homeostatic genes in cases compared to controls (Mann-Whitney U-tests (non-normally distributed data) or two tailed student's *t*-tests (normally distributed data) significant as indicated; n = 4 pemphigus and 5 healthy margins).

- 4. Tham HL, Linder KE, Olivry T. Deep pemphigus (pemphigus vulgaris, pemphigus vegetans and paraneoplastic pemphigus) in dogs, cats and horses: a comprehensive review. BMC Vet Res. (2020) 16:457. doi: 10.1186/S12917-020-02677-W
- Amagai M, Tsunoda K, Zillikens D, Nagai T, Nishikawa T. The clinical phenotype of pemphigus is defined by the anti-desmoglein autoantibody profile. J Am Acad Dermatol. (1999) 40:167– 70. doi: 10.1016/S0190-9622(99)70183-0
- 6. Shah AA, Seiffert-Sinha K, Sirois D, Werth VP, Rengarajan B, Zrnchik W, et al. Development of a disease registry for autoimmune bullous diseases:

initial analysis of the pemphigus vulgaris subset. Acta Derm Venereol. (2015) 95:86–90. doi: 10.2340/00015555-1854

- Stanley JR, Amagai M. Pemphigus, bullous impetigo, and the staphylococcal scalded-skin syndrome. N Engl J Med. (2006) 355:1800–10. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra061111
- Olivry T. A review of autoimmune skin diseases in domestic animals: I - superficial pemphigus. *Vet Dermatol.* (2006) 17:291–305. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3164.2006.00540.x
- Scott DW, Walton DK, Slater MR, Smith CA, Lewis RM. Immunemediated dermatoses in domestic animals: ten years after. II. In: *The Compendium on Continuing Education for the Practicing Veterinarian (USA).* (1987). Available online at: https://agris. fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=US875386988 (accessed September 14, 2021).
- 10. Goodale E. Pemphigus foliaceous. Can Vet J. (2019) 60:311-13.
- Olivry T, Linder KE. Dermatoses affecting desmosomes in animals: a mechanistic review of acantholytic blistering skin diseases. *Vet Dermatol.* (2009) 20:313–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3164.2009.00821.x
- Wurm S, Mattise AW, Dunstan RW. Comparative pathology of pemphigus in dogs and humans. *Clin Dermatol.* (1994) 12:515-24. doi: 10.1016/0738-081x(94)90218-6
- Amerian ML, Ahmed AR. Pemphigus erythematosus. Senear-usher syndrome. Int J Dermatol. (1985) 24:16– 25. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-4362.1985.Tb05349.x
- Malheiros D, Panepucci RA, Roselino AM, Araújo AG, Zago MA, Petzl-Erler ML. Genome-wide gene expression profiling reveals unsuspected molecular alterations in pemphigus foliaceus. *Immunology*. (2014) 143:381– 95. doi: 10.1111/imm.12315
- Hur B, Kang D, Lee S, Moon JH, Lee G, Kim S. Venn-DiaNet: Venn diagram based network propagation analysis framework for comparing multiple biological experiments. *BMC Bioinformatics*. (2019) 20:667. doi: 10.1186/S12859-019-3302-7
- Ferrigno A, Hoover K, Blubaugh A, Rissi D, Banovic F. Treatment of exfoliative cutaneous lupus erythematosus in a German shorthaired pointer dog with mycophenolate mofetil. *Vet Dermatol.* (2019) 30:350e102. doi: 10.1111/vde.12747
- Danaher P, Warren S, Dennis L, D'Amico L, White A, Disis ML, et al. Gene expression markers of tumor infiltrating leukocytes. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2017) 5:18. doi: 10.1186/S40425-017-0215-8
- Rico MJ, Benning C, Weingart ES, Streilein RD, Hall RP 3rd. Characterization of skin cytokines in bullous pemphigoid and pemphigus vulgaris. *Br J Dermatol.* (1999) 140:1079–86. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.1999. 02907.x
- Yuan H, Zhou S, Liu Z, Cong W, Fei X, Zeng W, et al. Pivotal role of lesional and perilesional T/B lymphocytes in pemphigus pathogenesis. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2017) 137:2362–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.05.032
- Rizzo C, Fotino M, Zhang Y, Chow S, Spizuoco A, Sinha AA. Direct characterization of human T cells in pemphigus vulgaris reveals elevated autoantigen-specific Th2 activity in association with active disease. *Clin Exp Dermatol.* (2005) 30:535–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2230.2005. 01836.x
- Veldman CM, Gebhard KL, Uter W, Wassmuth R, Grötzinger J, Schultz E, et al. Cell recognition of desmoglein 3 peptides in patients with pemphigus vulgaris and healthy individuals. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:3883– 92. doi: 10.4049/Jimmunol.172.6.3883
- Asothai R, Anand V, Das D, Antil PS, Khandpur S, Sharma VK, et al. Distinctive treg associated CCR4-CCL22 expression profile with altered frequency of Th17/Treg cell in the immunopathogenesis of pemphigus vulgaris. *Immunobiology.* (2015) 220:1129–35. doi: 10.1016/j.Imbio.2015.06.008
- Xu R-C, Zhu H-Q, Li W-P, Zhao X-Q, Yuan H-J, Zheng J, et al. The imbalance of Th17 and regulatory T cells in pemphigus patients. *Eur J Dermatol.* (2013) 23:795–802. doi: 10.1684/ejd.2013.2177
- Holstein J, Solimani F, Baum C, Meier K, Pollmann R, Didona D, et al. Immunophenotyping in pemphigus reveals a TH17/TFH17 cell-dominated immune response promoting Desmoglein1/3-specific autoantibody production. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2021) 147:2358–69. doi: 10.1016/j.Jaci.2020.11.008

- Hennerici T, Pollmann R, Schmidt T, Seipelt M, Tackenberg B, Möbs C, et al. Increased frequency of T follicular helper cells and elevated interleukin-27 plasma levels in patients with pemphigus. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0148919. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148919
- Levi-Schaffer F, Klapholz L, Kupietzky A, Weinrauch L, Shalit M, Okon E. Increased numbers of mast cells in pemphigus vulgaris skin lesions. A histochemical study. *Acta Derm Venereol.* (1991) 71:269–71.
- 27. Goldstein SM, Wasserman SI, Wintroub BU. Mast cell and eosinophil mediated damage in bullous pemphigoid. *Immunol Ser.* (1989) 46:527–45.
- Burd PR, Thompson WC, Max EE, Mills FC. Activated mast cells produce interleukin 13. J Exp Med. (1995) 181:1373–80. doi: 10.1084/jem.181.4.1373
- Nagel A, Lang A, Engel D, Podstawa E, Hunzelmann N, de Pita O, et al. Clinical activity of pemphigus vulgaris relates to IgE autoantibodies against desmoglein 3. *Clin Immunol.* (2010) 134:320–30. doi: 10.1016/j.Clim.2009.11.006
- Teunissen MBM, Bos JD, Koomen CW, de Waal Malefyt R, Wierenga EA. Interleukin-17 and interferon-γ synergize in the enhancement of proinflammatory cytokine production by human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol. (1998) 111:645–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.1998.00347.x
- Ziolkowska M, Koc A, Luszczykiewicz G, Ksiezopolska-Pietrzak K, Klimczak E, Chwalinska-Sadowska H, et al. High levels of IL-17 in rheumatoid arthritis patients: IL-15 triggers *in vitro* IL-17 production via cyclosporin A-sensitive mechanism. *J Immunol.* (2000) 164:2832–8. doi: 10.4049/Jimmunol.164.5.2832
- Matusevicius D, Kivisäkk P, He B, Kostulas N, Ozenci V, Fredrikson S, et al. Interleukin-17 mRNA expression in blood and CSF mononuclear cells is augmented in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (1999) 5:101– 4. doi: 10.1177/135245859900500206
- Ettinger R, Kuchen S, Lipsky PE. The role of IL-21 in regulating B-cell function in health and disease. *Immunol Rev.* (2008) 223:60– 86. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065x.2008.00631.x
- Lee EY, Lee Z-H, Song YW. CXCL10 and autoimmune diseases. Autoimmun Rev. (2009) 8:379–83. doi: 10.1016/j.Autrev.2008.12.002
- Barker JN, Jones ML, Mitra RS, Crockett-Torabe E, Fantone JC, Kunkel SL, et al. Modulation of keratinocyte-derived interleukin-8 which is chemotactic for neutrophils and T lymphocytes. *Am J Pathol.* (1991) 139:869–76.
- 36. Riani M, Le Jan S, Plée J, Durlach A, Le Naour R, Haegeman G, et al. Bullous pemphigoid outcome is associated with CXCL10induced matrix metalloproteinase 9 secretion from monocytes and neutrophils but not lymphocytes. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 139:863–72.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.Jaci.2016.08.012
- Kowalski EH, Kneibner D, Kridin K, Amber KT. Serum and blister fluid levels of cytokines and chemokines in pemphigus and bullous pemphigoid. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2019) 18:526–34. doi: 10.1016/j.Autrev.2019.03.009
- O'toole EA, Mak LL, Guitart J, Woodley DT, Hashimoto T, Amagai M, et al. Induction of keratinocyte IL-8 expression and secretion by IgG autoantibodies as a novel mechanism of epidermal neutrophil recruitment in a pemphigus variant. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2000) 119:217– 24. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2000.01104.x
- Lopez-Robles E, Avalos-Diaz E, Vega-Memije E, Hojyo-Tomoka T, Villalobos R, Fraire S, et al. TNFalpha and IL-6 are mediators in the blistering process of pemphigus. *Int J Dermatol.* (2001) 40:185–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-4362.2001.01083.x
- Strieter RM, Kunkel SL, Showell HJ, Marks RM. Monokine-Induced Gene Expression of a Human Endothelial Cell-Derived Neutrophil Chemotactic Factor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (1988) 156:1340–5. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291x(88)80779-4
- Jelinek DF, Lipsky PE. Enhancement of human B cell proliferation and differentiation by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin 1. *J Immunol.* (1987) 139:2970–6.
- Zucali JR, Elfenbein GJ, Barth KC, Dinarello CA. Effects of human interleukin 1 and human tumor necrosis factor on human T lymphocyte colony formation. J Clin Invest. (1987) 80:772–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI113133
- Schneider MR, Schmidt-Ullrich R, Paus R. The hair follicle as a dynamic miniorgan. Curr Biol. (2009) 19:R132–42. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2008.12.005
- Gudjonsson JE, Johnston A, Stoll SW, Riblett MB, Xing X, Kochkodan JJ, et al. Evidence for altered wnt signaling in psoriatic skin. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2010) 130:1849–59. doi: 10.1038/jid.2010.67

Conflict of Interest: JR is an inventor on use patents for targeting CXCR3 (0#15/851, 651) and IL15 (# 62489191) for the treatment of vitiligo. NR is an employee of bluebird bio. CD is an employee of NanoString.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Raef, Piedra-Mora, Wong, Ma, David, Robinson, Almela and Richmond. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Human CLA⁺ Memory T Cell and Cytokines in Psoriasis

Carmen de Jesús-Gil¹, Lídia Sans-de San Nicolàs¹, Irene García-Jiménez¹, Marta Ferran², Ramon M. Pujol² and Luis F. Santamaria-Babí^{1*}

¹ Translational Immunology, Department of Cellular Biology, Physiology and Immunology, Faculty of Biology, Universitat de Barcelona, Parc Científic de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, ² Department of Dermatology, Hospital del Mar (Institut Hospital del Mar d'Investigacions Mèdiques), Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

Psoriasis is a common inflammatory skin condition resulting from the interplay between epidermal keratinocytes and immunological cellular components. This sustained inflammation is essentially driven by pro-inflammatory cytokines with the IL-23/IL-17 axis playing a critical central role, as proved by the clinical efficacy of their blockade in patients. Among all the CD45R0⁺ memory T cell subsets, those with special tropism for cutaneous tissues are identified by the expression of the Cutaneous Lymphocyte-associated Antigen (CLA) carbohydrate on their surface, that is induced during T cell maturation particularly in the skin-draining lymph nodes. Because of their ability to recirculate between the skin and blood, circulating CLA⁺ memory T cells reflect the immune abnormalities found in different human cutaneous conditions, such as psoriasis. Based on this premise, studying the effect of different environmental microbial triggers and psoriatic lesional cytokines on CLA⁺ memory T cells, in the presence of autologous epidermal cells from patients, revealed important IL-17 cytokines responses that are likely to enhance the pro-inflammatory loop underlying the development of psoriatic lesions. The goal of this mini-review is to present latest data regarding cytokines implicated in plaque and guttate psoriasis immunopathogenesis from the prism of CLA⁺ memory T cells, that are specifically related to the cutaneous immune system.

Keywords: psoriasis, CLA⁺ T cell, IL17A, interleukins, IL17F, IL-9, IL-15

INTRODUCTION

The regulation of cytokine production and signaling in chronic cutaneous inflammation is influenced by genetic and environmental factors. This minireview focuses on human psoriasis, both plaque and guttate forms of the disease, and the cytokine production by human circulating CLA⁺ memory T cells, a relevant subset of memory T cells associated to the regional cutaneous immune system. In translational research in dermatology, there is a need to develop new approaches beyond animal models and *in vitro* studies (1, 2), since the results in those models are not always translated into the clinic (3). For instance, excellent basic science results in the field of cytokines in psoriasis have been generated for IFN- α , IFN- γ , IL-20, or IL-22, but their *in vivo* neutralization with monoclonal antibodies in clinical trials did not improve psoriasis severity (4–7), indicating that those cytokines, despite their presence in the lesions, are not suitable for patients' treatment.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paul Smith, Connect Biopharma, United States

Reviewed by:

Marina Venturini, Civil Hospital of Brescia, Italy Eva Reali, University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy

> *Correspondence: Luis F. Santamaria-Babí luis.santamaria@ub.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Dermatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 28 June 2021 Accepted: 08 October 2021 Published: 29 October 2021

Citation:

de Jesús-Gil C, Sans-de San Nicolàs L, García-Jiménez I, Ferran M, Pujol RM and Santamaria-Babí LF (2021) Human CLA⁺ Memory T Cell and Cytokines in Psoriasis. Front. Med. 8:731911. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.731911

When studying human chronic cutaneous inflammatory diseases, an alternative approach focused on the human regional cutaneous immune system in disease would allow to focus more closely on the immunological mechanism of disease that takes place within the skin, the proper organ where the pathological process is carried out. The presence of the skin associated lymphoid tissue (SALT) was proposed by J. Wayne Streilein based on the existence of some T cells with special function related only to the skin (8). The Cutaneous Lymphocyte-associated Antigen (CLA) identifies the subset of effector memory T cells with skin tropism that recirculates between skin and blood during cutaneous inflammation and reflects immunological abnormalities present in the skin. The CLA molecule is a carbohydrate modification of the platelet selectin ligand-1 (PSGL-1) (9), which binds both endothelial cell and platelet selectins (E-selectin and P-selectin) molecules expressed on post-capillary venules in the skin. Its expression is induced on CD45R0⁺ memory T cells at skin draining lymph nodes (10) and it is present in more than 90% of cutaneous infiltrating T cells but in <20% of T cells in other peripheral tissues. Interestingly, a proportion of CLA-expressing T cells can be also found in circulation, representing around 15% of human circulating T cells (10). Indeed, the fact that CLA⁺ memory T cells recirculate between skin and blood was evidenced by action of efalizumab (a monoclonal antibody targeting the CD11a subunit of LFA-1 molecule that blocked lymphocyte extravasation toward the skin) in psoriasis (11) and atopic dermatitis (12) patients, which proved clinical improvement but also resulted in a lymphocytosis effect of CLA⁺ T cells that caused relapses after treatment discontinuation (13). The recirculating capacity of CLA⁺ memory T cells is key to their value in translational research, due to their ability to reflect the immune abnormalities found in numerous human cutaneous conditions such as psoriasis, atopic dermatitis, contact dermatitis, drug-induced allergic reactions, vitiligo, herpes simplex, rosacea, cutaneous T cell lymphoma, or alopecia areata (14, 15).

In order to properly study the regional cutaneous immune system in psoriasis, the use of clinical material from nontreated patients provides clear advantages as it is commented below. With this purpose, we have established a new ex vivo coculture model made of lymphoid and epidermal cells from the same patient (16) that integrates relevant elements of psoriasis immunopathology: skin-associated memory T cells (CLA+ T cells) isolated from blood samples, autologous lesional epidermal cells disaggregated from biopsies from the same patient and a clinically relevant trigger of the disease and flares (such as Streptococcus pyogenes). When circulating CLA⁺ T cells and autologous lesional epidermal cells cocultures are activated by Streptococcus pyogenes extract (SE), specific Th17/Th1/Th22 responses occurs, together with production of disease relevant chemokines (CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11), which is not the case in CLA⁻ T cells cocultures or in unstimulated basal conditions. Interestingly, the levels of IL-17A and other cytokines expressed by CLA⁺ T cells in response to SE are highly correlated with serum anti-Streptolysin O antibody titer (ASO), that is commonly used to assess patients recent infection by S. pyogenes in daily clinical practice. The fact that ASO levels and CLA+

T cells-dependent IL-17A, IFN- γ , and IL-22 production are directly associated shows how these cytokines can be measured *ex vivo* and integrated with the patient clinical features and environmental exposure to *S. pyogenes*.

In the following subsections, information on cytokines in psoriasis immunopathology is provided from the prism of T cells that are related to the cutaneous immune system. These results have been generated using clinical material (blood and skin biopsies) from non-treated psoriasis patients.

INFLUENCE OF PSORIATIC INFLAMMATORY ENVIRONMENT ON CLA-DEPENDENT IL-17A AND IL-17F PRODUCTION

Memory T cells present in the psoriatic lesion are exposed to the cytokine inflammatory environment and this may influence the effector functions of the IL-17 cytokines, that are clinically relevant mediators in psoriasis. Since peripheral CLA⁺ memory T cells recirculate between skin and blood during psoriasis and reflect the immunological abnormalities present in the skin, they can be used to study the lesional inflammatory environmental cytokines. The presence of IL-15 and IL-23 is increased in lesional skin from psoriasis patients. Psoriatic epidermal keratinocytes show increased expression of both IL-15 and IL-15R (17). Similarly, injured keratinocytes but also dendritic cells have been proved to produce increased amounts of IL-23 in psoriatic lesions (18). Besides, both pro-inflammatory cytokines are linked to Th17 biology. IL-15 is known to induce IL-17 secretion by T cells and to be critical for maintaining memory Th17 cells (19), whilst IL-23 is considered the "master regulator" of Th17 cell differentiation and development. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) associated with psoriasis have been also described for both IL-15 and IL-23 (20-22). However, despite their known connection to psoriasis pathogenesis, it was not until recently that the cooperation between these two cytokines has been addressed. Our group has shown that IL-15 and IL-23 act synergistically on cocultures of CLA⁺ memory T cells and autologous epidermal cells to produce significantly increased levels of IL-17F and IL-17A in psoriasis when compared to CLA⁻ T cells cocultures (23). Importantly, this synergy was not observed for lesional resident memory T cells or in cocultures from healthy individuals, pointing out the relevance of circulating CLA⁺ T cells in psoriasis pathogenesis. Altogether, it is a clear example of how the proinflammatory milieu in psoriatic lesions influences specifically skin-tropic memory T cells and induces a Th17 response contributing to the maintenance of the disease.

CLA⁺ T CELLS IN PSORIASIS PRODUCE MORE IL-17F THAN IL-17A

The IL-17 family comprises six structurally related members (named from A to F) that act as homodimers, except for IL-17A and IL-17F that can form heterodimers together. In psoriasis, IL-17A is pointed out as the most important mediator

(24), which is supported by the effectiveness of its blockade in patients. However, its principal homolog, IL-17F, has been also proved to be increased in lesional skin and blood from psoriasis patients (25-27). From our experience, circulating CLA⁺ memory T cells activated with a relevant disease trigger, such as Streptococcus pyogenes, and in the presence of lesional epidermal cells, secrete a higher amount of IL-17F than IL-17A in vitro (28, 29). Similarly, increased CLA⁺ memory T cell-dependent IL-17F response was observed when stimulating the cocultures with Candida albicans (30) or the combination of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-15 and IL-23 (23). As such, CLA⁺ memory T cells should be considered an important source of IL-17F in psoriasis. Because IL-17A and IL-17F homodimers and heterodimer share their signaling receptor, constituted by the IL-17RA and IL-17RC subunits, they induce similar gene expression patterns. Nonetheless, the relevance of IL-17F in psoriasis pathogenesis has been shown in patients and animal models. For example, IL-17F knock-out (KO) mice are more resistant to imiquimod-induced psoriasiform inflammation than the IL-17A KO counterparts (31). In humans, the rapid clinical efficacy achieved by brodalumab, a monoclonal antibody targeting the IL-17RA subunit (that is part of the receptor for IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-17A/F heterodimer, and IL-25) first showed the advantages of targeting beyond IL-17A (32, 33). Most importantly, the promising results of the phase 2 and phase 3 clinical trials studying the nanobody sonelokimab and the monoclonal antibody (mAb) bimekizumab, respectively, both of which target IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-17A/F, further highlight the clinical relevance of IL-17F in psoriasis patients (34, 35).

IL-9 IS NOT PRODUCED TRANSIENTLY BY CLA⁺ T CELLS IN HUMAN PSORIASIS

In humans, IL-9-secreting CD4⁺ T cells, namely Th9, have been described as a distinct T cell population with preferential skin tropism (36). In this work, CLA⁺ Th9 cells were transiently induced by *Candida albicans*-pulsed monocytes particularly but also after non-physiological polyclonal activation, supporting the association of Th9 cells to the skin regardless of their antigen specificity and using lymphocytes from healthy subjects. This transitory Th9 induction peaked just before the increase of IL-17 and IFN- γ induction, suggesting a paracrine regulation by IL-9 that was further confirmed by its own neutralization. More interestingly, a significant increase of IL-9⁺ cells, mostly CD3⁺ CD4⁺ T cells, was found in lesional psoriatic skin compared to atopic dermatitis and healthy cutaneous tissue.

However, when studying the functional role of IL-9 in psoriasis patients (plaque and guttate forms) in our coculture model (29), we found that, after *S. pyogenes* activation, the kinetic of IL-9 production measured in CLA⁺ T cells and epidermal cells coculture supernatants was similar to those of IL-17A and IFN- γ , progressively increasing over time and dependent on MHC class I and class II presentation, which contrasted with the transient IL-9 induction reported before (36). Interestingly, IL-9 partially enhanced SE-induced IL-17A, but not IFN- γ , secretion by CLA⁺ T cells, as well as it promoted the survival of the skin-homing T cell subset in psoriasis.

Using well-defined clinical samples also allows obtaining information on the relationship of cytokines with patient clinical status. CLA^+ T cells-derived cytokines are associated with clinical features of skin diseases because they represent a subset of memory T cells that are involved in the regional cutaneous immune system. To support the relevance of our findings regarding the role of IL-9 in psoriasis, it was observed that SE-induced CLA^+ T cells-dependent IL-9 correlated with psoriasis severity (measured as Psoriasis Area Severity Index, PASI) in patients. Moreover, in guttate psoriasis, the peak in IL-9 production was found on patients having the highest ASO levels indicating higher exposure to *S. pyogenes*.

GUTTATE PSORIASIS: WHERE GENETIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS INTERACT PRODUCING TH17 RESPONSE BY CLA⁺ T CELLS

Guttate psoriasis is a form of psoriasis that is strongly associated with the genetic predisposing allele HLA-Cw6 and is commonly triggered by Streptococcus pyogenes throat infections (37). This situation has provided a good opportunity to study genetic and environmental factors influence on cytokine production by CLA⁺ T cells in psoriasis (28). The coculture of CLA⁺ T cells activated with S. pyogenes clearly demonstrated that non-treated guttate psoriasis patients produced significantly more IL-17A/F cytokines than IFN-y. However, the most interesting finding was that guttate psoriasis patients carrying the HLA-Cw6 allele and/or whose flare was produced by S. pyogenes pharyngitis, in comparison to guttate psoriasis patients that did not fulfill those criteria, significantly produced more IL-17A/F by CLA⁺ T cells. Similar dominant IL-17 response also induced genes that belong to the IL-17 transcriptome in keratinocytes such as DEFB4, LCN2, IL-8, but no to the IFN-y (CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11). Such influence of genetic and microbe infection on IL-17 response in guttate psoriasis patients has been clarified by analyzing CLA⁺ T cells.

PLAQUE PSORIASIS: IL-17 PRODUCTION AND PATIENTS HETEROGENEITY

Chronic plaque psoriasis, or *psoriasis vulgaris*, is the most common form of psoriasis that is generally diagnosed based on the shape and location of the lesions and the persistent duration of the disease. Heterogeneity among plaque psoriasis patients has been suggested (38) but it is still not well-characterized. Nowadays, plaque psoriasis is considered a single entity in most of the clinical studies yet. However, recent results have suggested that the IL-17 cytokines responses by CLA⁺ T cells may be differentially influenced by environmental factors, particularly by exposure to microbes that could favor IL-17 production in chronic plaque psoriasis.

Streptococcus pyogenes-induced IL-17 response by CLA⁺ T cells in psoriasis patients is higher when patients present higher



T cells are key responders to lesional pro-inflammatory cytokines and relevant microbes that induce important type 17 responses, therefore contributing to the pro-inflammatory cytokines and relevant microbes that induce important type 17 responses, therefore contributing to the pro-inflammatory loop leading to the appearance of psoriatic lesions. (A) IL-15 and IL-23, which are mainly produced by keratinocytes as well as epidermal and dermal dendritic cells, synergistically activate CLA^+ CD4⁺ memory T cells from psoriasis patients leading to an increased induction of IL-17F and IL-17A cytokines, whereas IFN- γ secretion is likely mediated by CLA⁺ CD8⁺ memory T cells in psoriasis but also in healthy controls. (B) *S. pyogenes* and *C. albicans* antigens, presented by epidermal antigen presenting cells, have been proved to induce significantly higher IL-17A/F and IL-9 responses by CLA⁺ memory T cells in psoriasis patients, compared to CLA⁻ T cells. Besides, *S. pyogenes*-induced IL-9 has shown to enhance IL-17A responses, further reinforcing the pro-inflammatory loop underlying psoriasis lesions. CLA, cutaneous leukocyte-associated antigen; KCs, keratinocytes; LCs, Langerhans cells; dDCs, dermal dendritic cells; APCs, antigen presenting cells. This figure was created using Servier Medical Art (smart) images.

titer of immunoglobulin A against S. pyogenes extract (39). We reported that anti-SE IgA values in psoriasis patients (both plaque and guttate forms) are higher than in atopic dermatitis and healthy controls. But, most importantly, we found that increased mucosal exposure to S. pyogenes was present in chronic plaque psoriasis patients despite negative ASO titer and no clear association of the current flare with Streptococcal infection. This finding is of special interest since there may be multiple cases of plaque psoriasis where the implication of Streptococcus pyogenes has been discarded, but the bacteria may still be present at the tonsils and contribute to recurrent flares in those patients. In this regard, a recent population-based cohort study has reported how tonsillectomy diminished the risk of developing psoriasis (40). Future studies should confirm how such heterogeneity may influence the natural history of psoriasis disease and/or how different patients respond to specific treatments.

Moreover, chronic plaque psoriasis patients also present increased exposure to *Candida albicans* (CA) (41, 42), that is a

potent inducer of IL-17 cytokines in humans (43). Importantly, immune response against this fungus is mainly mediated by CLA⁺ memory T cells, further supporting the pro-inflammatory loop present at cutaneous lesions in psoriasis patients (30). Interestingly, non-treated chronic plaque psoriasis patients, without clinical signs of candidiasis, present increased levels of both IgA and IgG specific for C. albicans in plasma. In particular, CLA-dependent IL-17A and IL-17F responses correlated with Candida-specific IgA, but not IgG, only in chronic plaque psoriasis. Additionally, a proteomic study of plasma samples from 114 non-treated plaque psoriasis patients revealed that, those with higher anti-Candida IgA levels presented increased levels of proteins involved in antimicrobial humoral response, especially proteins showing anti-candida activity [such as eosinophil cationic protein (ECP/RNASE3), Chitinase-3-like protein 1 (CHI3L1) or azurocidin]. These findings point out the implication of Candida albicans in chronic plaque psoriasis, a matter that we believe should be further explored in the clinic.

Altogether, these results support the existence of heterogeneity among chronic plaque psoriasis patients that can influence IL-17 production and, thus, the evolution of the course of psoriasis disease.

DISCUSSION

In plaque and guttate forms psoriasis, the IL-17 response derived from CLA⁺ T cells is clearly influenced by different factors that are related to patient features and that can be studied ex vivo using circulating memory T cells belonging to the regional cutaneous immune system (Figure 1). Using clinical samples from non-treated patients has allowed relating in vitro cytokine responses with clinical data in a translational way. For example, these studies reported increased production of IL-17F over IL-17A by skin associated T lymphocytes, which is reflected in the clinic as the greatest response of bimekizumab (neutralizing both IL-17A/F) (34). Also, this approach has shown that guttate psoriasis patients positive for the HLA-C predisposing allele and/or the ASO perform increased cutaneous pro-inflammatory response by CLA⁺ T cells. In the end, how CLA⁺ memory T cells are the link between relevant disease triggers and the increased IL-17 response observed in psoriatic skin.

Mouse models or complex *in vitro* systems, although they are key to study basic pathogenic mechanisms, do not integrate elements that can influence IL-17 responses in patients such as the genetic background or their exposure to microbes able to induce IL-17 responses. How these factors may influence patients response to treatment, the natural history of disease or the existence of psoriasis endotypes, if any, is still an open question in

REFERENCES

- Eyerich K, Brown SJ, Perez White BE, Tanaka RJ, Bissonette R, Dhar S, et al. Human and computational models of atopic dermatitis: A review and perspectives by an expert panel of the International Eczema Council. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2019) 143:36–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.10.033
- Florian P, Flechsenhar KR, Bartnik E, Ding-Pfennigdorff D, Herrmann M, Bryce PJ, et al. Translational drug discovery and development with the use of tissue-relevant biomarkers: towards more physiological relevance and better prediction of clinical efficacy. *Exp Dermatol.* (2020) 29:4– 14. doi: 10.1111/exd.13942
- Krueger JG. A welcome surprise in psoriasis. Nat Med. (2012) 18:1750– 1. doi: 10.1038/nm.3025
- Bissonnette R, Papp K, Maari C, Yao Y, Robbie G, White WI, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase I study of MEDI-545, an anti-interferon-alfa monoclonal antibody, in subjects with chronic psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2010) 62:427–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2009.05.042
- Harden JL, Johnson-Huang LM, Chamian MF, Lee E, Pearce T, Leonardi CL, et al. Humanized anti-IFN-γ (HuZAF) in the treatment of psoriasis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2015) 135:553–6.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.05.046
- Gottlieb AB, Krueger JG, Lundblad MS, Gothberg M, Skolnick BE. First-inhuman, phase 1, randomized, dose-escalation trial with recombinant anti-IL-20 monoclonal antibody in patients with psoriasis. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0134703. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0134703
- Tsai Y-C, Tsai T-F. Anti-interleukin and interleukin therapies for psoriasis: current evidence and clinical usefulness. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis.* (2017) 9:227–94. doi: 10.1177/1759720X17735756
- Wayne Streilein J. Skin-Associated lymphoid tissues (SALT): origins and functions. J Invest Dermatol. (1983) 80:S12–6. doi: 10.1038/jid.1983.4

this field. In this regard, the possible role of CLA⁺ memory T cells in the development of psoriatic arthritis (PsA) was early explored but discarded, due to the absence of CLA⁺ memory lymphocytes within synovial tissue (44, 45). The relevance of heterogeneity in chronic plaque psoriasis due to different immunoglobulins specific for microorganisms and CLA⁺ T cells-dependent IL-17A/F responses is particularly interesting since these cytokines, in contrast to others that are also increased in lesions, are validated as safe and clinically effective targets by the use of neutralizing monoclonal antibodies (46).

Nonetheless, this review presents some limitations, as other types of psoriasis (pustular, palmoplantar or inverse), have not been addressed and the study of additional relevant cytokines that are present within psoriatic lesions, such as TNF- α or IL-36, in the context of CLA⁺ memory T cells remains underexplored. Eventually, these limitations evidence how much research is still needed to completely unveil the intricate between cytokines and the cutaneous immune system in the context of psoriasis. Any translational approach that helps to better characterize cytokine biology in the context of the cutaneous immune response will be essential to fully understand patients responses to current therapies and to continue developing novel strategies in the future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CJ-G: writing and figure design. LS, IG-J, MF, and RP: writing. LS-B: IP project founding, writing, and manuscript conceptualization. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Fuhlbrigge RC, David Kieffer J, Armerding D, Kupper TS. Cutaneous lymphocyte antigen is a specialized form of PSGL-1 expressed on skin-homing T cells. *Nature*. (1997) 389:978–81. doi: 10.1038/40166
- Picker LJ, Treer JR, Ferguson-Darnell B, Collins PA, Bergstresser P, Terstappen LW. Control of lymphocyte recirculation in man. II. Differential regulation of the cutaneous lymphocyte-associated antigen, a tissue-selective homing receptor for skin-homing T cells. J Immunol. (1993) 150:1122–36.
- Vugmeyster Y, Kikuchi T, Lowes MA, Chamian F, Kagen M, Gilleaudeau P, et al. Efalizumab (anti-CD11a)-induced increase in peripheral blood leukocytes in psoriasis patients is preferentially mediated by altered trafficking of memory CD8+ T cells into lesional skin. *Clin Immunol.* (2004) 113:38– 46. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2004.06.001
- Harper EG, Simpson EL, Takiguchi RH, Boyd MD, Kurtz SE, Bakke AC, et al. Efalizumab therapy for atopic dermatitis causes marked increases in circulating effector memory CD4+ T cells that express cutaneous lymphocyte antigen. J Invest Dermatol. (2008) 128:1173–81. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5701169
- Johnson-Huang LM, Pensabene CA, Shah KR, Pierson KC, Kikuchi T, Lentini T, et al. Post-therapeutic relapse of psoriasis after CD11a blockade is associated with T cells and inflammatory myeloid DCs. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e0030308. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030308
- Ferran M, Romeu ER, Rincón C, Sagristà M, Giménez Arnau AM, Celada A, et al. Circulating CLA+ T lymphocytes as peripheral cell biomarkers in T-cell-mediated skin diseases. *Exp Dermatol.* (2013) 22:439– 42. doi: 10.1111/exd.12154
- de Jesús-Gil C, Sans-de San Nicolàs L, García-Jimnénez I, Ferran M, Celada A, Chiriac A, et al. The translational relevance of human circulating memory CLA + T cells in inflammatory skin disorders. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:652613. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.6 52613

- Ferran M, Galván AB, Rincón C, Romeu ER, Sacrista M, Barboza E, et al. Streptococcus induces circulating CLA+ memory T-cell-dependent epidermal cell activation in psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol. (2013) 133:999– 1007. doi: 10.1038/jid.2012.418
- Villadsen LS, Schuurman J, Beurskens F, Dam TN, Dagnæs-Hansen F, Skov L, et al. Resolution of psoriasis upon blockade of IL-15 biological activity in a xenograft mouse model. J Clin Invest. (2003) 112:1571– 80. doi: 10.1172/JCI200318986
- Piskin G, Sylva-Steenland RMR, Bos JD, Teunissen MBM. In vitro and in situ expression of IL-23 by keratinocytes in healthy skin and psoriasis lesions: enhanced expression in psoriatic skin. J Immunol. (2006) 176:1908– 15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1908
- Chen Y, Chauhan SK, Tan X, Dana R. Interleukin-7 and-15 maintain pathogenic memory Th17 cells in autoimmunity. *J Autoimmun*. (2017) 77:96– 103. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2016.11.003
- Weger W, Hofer A, Wolf P, El-Shabrawi Y, Renner W, Kerl H, et al. Role of the interleukin 15 96516A > T and IL15 96330C > A gene polymorphisms in caucasian patients with chronic plaque psoriasis. *J Dermatol Sci.* (2008) 51:147–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2008.02.010
- Zhang XJ, Yan KL, Wang ZM, Yang S, Zhang GL, Fan X, et al. Polymorphisms in interleukin-15 gene on chromosome 4q31.2 are associated with psoriasis vulgaris in Chinese population. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2007) 127:2544– 51. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5700896
- Filiz B, Yildirim M, Hekimler Öztürk K, Sirin FB, Çelik S, Erturan I, et al. Evaluation of interleukin-23 receptor (II-23r) gene polymorphisms and serum il-23 levels in patients with psoriasis. *Turkish J Med Sci.* (2019) 49:1386– 94. doi: 10.3906/sag-1904-48
- de Jesús-Gil C, Ruiz-Romeu E, Ferran M, Sagristà M, Chiriac A, García P, et al. IL-15 and IL-23 synergize to trigger Th17 response by CLA+ T cells in psoriasis. *Exp Dermatol.* (2020) 29:630–8. doi: 10.1111/exd.14113
- Brembilla NC, Senra L, Boehncke WH. The IL-17 family of cytokines in psoriasis: IL-17A and beyond. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1682. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01682
- Johansen C, Usher PA, Kjellerup RB, Lundsgaard D, Iversen L, Kragballe K. Characterization of the interleukin-17 isoforms and receptors in lesional psoriatic skin. *Br J Dermatol.* (2009) 160:319–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08902.x
- 26. Kolbinger F, Loesche C, Valentin MA, Jiang X, Cheng Y, Jarvis P, et al. β-Defensin 2 is a responsive biomarker of IL-17A-driven skin pathology in patients with psoriasis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 139:923– 32.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.06.038
- 27. Soderstrom C, Berstein G, Zhang W, Valdez H, Fitz L, Kuhn M, et al. Ultra-Sensitive measurement of IL-17A and IL-17F in psoriasis patient serum and skin. *AAPS J.* (2017) 19:1218–22. doi: 10.1208/s12248-017-0094-4
- Ruiz-Romeu E, Ferran M, Sagristà M, Gómez J, Giménez-Arnau A, Herszenyi K, et al. Streptococcus pyogenes-induced cutaneous lymphocyte antigen-positive T cell-dependent epidermal cell activation triggers TH17 responses in patients with guttate psoriasis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2016) 138:491–9.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.02.008
- Ruiz-Romeu E, Ferran M, de Jesús-Gil C, García P, Sagristà M, Casanova JM, et al. Microbe-Dependent induction of IL-9 by CLA+T cells in psoriasis and relationship with IL-17A. J Invest Dermatol. (2018) 138:580–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.08.048
- 30. De Jesús-Gil C, Sans-de San Nicolàs L, Ruiz-romeu E, Ferran M, Soriamartínez L, García-jiménez I, et al. Interplay between humoral and CLA + T cell response against *Candida albicans* in psoriasis. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:1–14. doi: 10.3390/ijms22041519
- 31. Pantelyushin S, Haak S, Ingold B, Kulig P, Heppner FL, Navarini AA, et al. Ror γ t + innate lymphocytes and γ \delta T cells initiate psoriasiform plaque formation in mice. *J Clin Invest.* (2012) 122:2252–6. doi: 10.1172/JCI61862
- Foulkes AC, Warren RB. Brodalumab in psoriasis: evidence to date and clinical potential. *Drugs Context*. (2019) 8:212570. doi: 10.7573/dic.212570
- 33. Warren RB, Hansen JB, Reich K, Paul C, Puig L. Complete clearance and psoriasis area and severity index response for brodalumab and ustekinumab in AMAGINE-2 and -3. J Eur Acad Dermatology Venereol. (2021) 35:450– 7. doi: 10.1111/jdv.16816

- 34. Reich K, Papp KA, Blauvelt A, Langley RG, Armstrong A, Warren RB, et al. Bimekizumab versus ustekinumab for the treatment of moderate to severe plaque psoriasis (BE VIVID): efficacy and safety from a 52-week, multicentre, double-blind, active comparator and placebo controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:487–98. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00125-2
- Papp KA, Weinberg MA, Morris A, Reich K. IL17A/F nanobody sonelokimab in patients with plaque psoriasis: a multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2b study. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:1564–75. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00440-2
- 36. Schlapbach C, Gehad A, Yang C, Watanabe R, Guenova E, Teague JE, et al. Human TH9 cells are skin-tropic and have autocrine and paracrine proinflammatory capacity. *Sci Transl Med.* (2014) 6:219ra8. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3007828
- Wisenseel P, Laumbacher B, Besgen P, Ludolph-Hauser D, Herzinger T, Roecken M, et al. Streptococcal infection distinguishes different types of psoriasis. J Med Genet. (2002) 39:767–8. doi: 10.1136/jmg.39.10.767
- Swindell WR, Xing X, Stuart PE, Chen CS, Aphale A, Nair RP, et al. Heterogeneity of inflammatory and cytokine networks in chronic plaque psoriasis. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e34594. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 34594
- De Jesús-Gil C, San Nicolás LS, Ruiz-Romeu E, Ferran M, Soria-Martinez L, Chiriac A, et al. Specific IgA and CLA+ T-cell IL-17 response to *Streptococcus pyogenes* in psoriasis. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2020) 140:1364– 70. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2019.12.022
- Chen ML, Ku YH, Yip HT, Wei JCC. Tonsillectomy and the subsequent risk of psoriasis: a nationwide population-based cohort study. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2021) 21:S0190–9622. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2021.01.094
- Fry L, Baker BS. Triggering psoriasis: the role of infections and medications. *Clin Dermatol.* (2007) 25:606–15. doi: 10.1016/j.clindermatol.2007.08.015
- Pietrzak A, Grywalska E, Socha M, Roli J, Franciszkiewicz-pietrzak K, Rudnicka L, et al. Prevalence and possible role of candida species in patients with psoriasis : a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Mediat Inflamm.* (2018) 2018:9602362. doi: 10.1155/2018/96 02362
- Kashem SW, Kaplan DH. Skin immunity to Candida albicans. Trends Immunol. (2016) 37:440–50. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.04.007
- 44. Jones SM, Dixey J, Hall ND, McHugh NJ. Expression of the cutaneous lymphocyte antigen and its counter-receptor E-selectin in the skin and joints of patients with psoriatic arthritis. Br J Rheumatol. (1997) 36:748– 57. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/36.7.748
- 45. Pitzalis C, Cauli A, Pipitone N, Smith C, Barker J, Marchesoni A, et al. Cutaneous lymphocyte antigen-positive T lymphocytes preferentially migrate to the skin but not to the joint in psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* (1996) 39:137–45. doi: 10.1002/art.1780390118
- Martins C, Darrigade AS, Jacquemin C, Barnetche T, Taieb A, Ezzedine K, et al. Phenotype and function of circulating memory T cells in human vitiligo. *Br J Dermatol.* (2020) 183:899–908. doi: 10.1111/bjd.18902

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 de Jesús-Gil, Sans-de San Nicolàs, García-Jiménez, Ferran, Pujol and Santamaria-Babí. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Crosstalk Between ER Stress, Autophagy and Inflammation

Sandhya Chipurupalli^{1*†}, Unni Samavedam^{2*} and Nirmal Robinson^{1*}

¹ Cellular-Stress and Immune Response Laboratory, Center for Cancer Biology, University of South Australia and SA Pathology, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ² College of Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, United States

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is not only responsible for protein synthesis and folding but also plays a critical role in sensing cellular stress and maintaining cellular homeostasis. Upon sensing the accumulation of unfolded proteins due to perturbation in protein synthesis or folding, specific intracellular signaling pathways are activated, which are collectively termed as unfolded protein response (UPR). UPR expands the capacity of the protein folding machinery, decreases protein synthesis and enhances ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD) which degrades misfolded proteins through the proteasomes. More recent evidences suggest that UPR also amplifies cytokines-mediated inflammatory responses leading to pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases. UPR signaling also activates autophagy; a lysosome-dependent degradative pathwaythat has an extended capacity to degrade misfolded proteins and damaged ER. Thus, activation of autophagy limits inflammatory response and provides cyto-protection by attenuating ER-stress. Here we review the mechanisms that couple UPR, autophagy and cytokine-induced inflammation that can facilitate the development of novel therapeutic strategies to mitigate cellular stress and inflammation associated with various pathologies.

Keywords: autophagy, unfolded protein response, ER-stress, cytokines, inflammation

INTRODUCTION

Inflammation is the primary defense mechanism mounted to protect the host against infection when cells sense pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) through the pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). Inflammation can also be triggered when the immune system senses substances released by damaged cells known as damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) which are also recognized by PRRs. Profound and chronic inflammation is damaging hence, associated with pathological conditions such as intestinal bowel disorder (IBD), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), diabetes, obesity, cardiovascular diseases, multiple sclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis. On the other hand, there is epidemiological, clinical andexperimental evidence that inflammation can be triggered in the absence of PRR-mediated sensing and -signaling through cellular stress, wherein biological processes within cellsare impaired resulting in increased inflammation linked to the above-mentioned pathologies (1).

When cells are stressed, they trigger signaling pathways which enable the cells to adapt to the changes caused by the stress. For a cell, these perturbations can be either life-enhancing or life-threatening (2). Likewise, any chronic perturbations disturbing the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) homeostasis results in ERstress. ERstress is characterized by the accumulation of aberrant proteins which influence the protein folding capacity of the ER (3). The cell responds to ER stress by initiating unfolded protein response (UPR), which is aimed at increasing the ability

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Vincenzo Desiderio, Second University of Naples, Italy

Reviewed by:

Virginia Tirino, Università degli Studi della Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Sanjiv Dhingra, University of Manitoba, Canada

*Correspondence:

Sandhya Chipurupalli sandhyach2304@gmail.com Unni Samavedam samavedam.unni@gmail.com Nirmal Robinson nirmal.robinson@unisa.edu.au

[†]Present address:

Sandhya Chipurupalli, Departments of Pediatrics & Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Translational Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 13 August 2021 Accepted: 14 October 2021 Published: 05 November 2021

Citation:

Chipurupalli S, Samavedam U and Robinson N (2021) Crosstalk Between ER Stress, Autophagy and Inflammation. Front. Med. 8:758311. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.758311

123

of ER to fold proteins properly, regulate protein translation and induce cell death if everything fails. Interestingly, UPR proteins also regulate inflammation associated with diseases (4). Autophagy is another process which is activated upon cellular stress to reestablish homeostasis. It aids in the lysosomal degradation of damaged organelles, denatured proteins and pathogens. Autophagy also plays a critical role in regulating inflammation by promoting the immune cell-survival and regulating the expression and secretion of inflammatory cytokines (5). Intriguingly, the UPR pathways that regulate inflammation also intersect with mechanisms that regulate autophagy and together govern the outcome of inflammatory diseases. Therefore, in this review we describe the molecular links between UPR, autophagy and inflammation and their involvement in some of inflammatory diseases.

ER STRESS AND UPR MECHANISMS

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is responsible for major cellular functions such as protein folding, synthesis of lipids, sterols and calcium storage (2, 6). ER function can be influenced by a wide variety of factors. For instance, hypoxia, glucose deprivation, hyperthermia, acidosis, calcium levels, altered metabolism, infections, mutations in secretory proteins and inflammation can disturb appropriate functioning of the ER, impacting protein folding (7). This causes an imbalance between the demand for protein folding and the capacity of the ER for protein folding resulting in the accumulation of misfolded/unfolded proteins (2, 6, 7). This condition is termed as "ER stress" which has been implicated in various inflammatory conditions associated with cardiovascular, neurodegenerative and metabolic diseases (8).

In response to ER stress, unfolded protein response (UPR) is activated (9, 10). UPR comprises of three distinct signal transduction arms mediated through, protein kinase RNA (PKR)-like ER kinase (PERK), inositol-requiring protein-1 (IRE1) and activating transcription factor-6 (ATF6). Each UPR activator protein consists of three domains; ER luminal domain (LD), a single membrane-spanning domain, and a cytosolic domain (CD). Under physiological conditions, PERK, IRE1 and ATF6 are bound via their LD to binding immunoglobulin (BiP) and remain in inactive state (11, 12). BiP is the most abundant Hsp70-type ER chaperone and a direct ER stress sensor (12, 13). Upon accumulation of misfolded/unfolded proteins, BiP then initiates UPR by sequestering away from the luminal domains of PERK, IRE1 and ATF6 and binds to nascent polypeptidesto chaperone proper folding andattain native conformation (13). Dissociation of BiP from IRE1, PERK and ATF6activates the three distinct UPR branches (14). Subsequently, UPR regulates the rate of protein synthesis, translocation of proteins into the ER, chaperoning the misfolded proteins, and protein trafficking (15). Thus, UPR signal transducers are critical for ER quality control and maintaining ER homeostasis.

ER STRESS INDUCED AUTOPHAGY

Increased presence of misfolded/unfolded protein load in the ER is harmful to cells and therefore cells have evolved mechanisms

that can detect, unfold and refold the misfolded/unfolded proteins (6). However, the misfolded proteins that cannot be repaired are eliminated from the cell through the specialized processes, ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD) and autophagy (7, 15). ERAD involves recognition of aberrant proteins by the molecular chaperones and translocation of those damaged proteins from the ER back into the cytoplasm, where they are delivered to the proteasome for degradation (7, 16). However, ERAD has been extensively reviewed elsewhere and is not the prime focus of this review (16, 17). Moreover, excessive or sustained ER stress triggers apoptosis to remove the affected cell (18, 19). However, when these mechanisms remain unsuccessful to restore ER homeostasis or recover ER, other stress-response pathways such as autophagy (macroautophagy) may be initiated to selectively eliminate the misfolded/unfolded proteins and damaged ER.

Autophagy is the major lysosomal degradation pathway characterized by the sequestration of the damaged cytoplasmic components by double-membrane bounded vacuoles called autophagosomes (20, 21). This process has been extensively reviewed by others (22, 23) and therefore the fundamental steps in the formation and maturation of autophagosomes are not discussed here in detail. Nevertheless, the association between autophagy and ER stress is not yet fully understood. Therefore, in this review, we have summarized the current findings that integrate the signaling pathways linking autophagy and ER stress.

Each arm of the UPR regulates autophagy in different ways during ER stress. Upon ER-stress, IRE1dissociates from BiP and gets activated (11, 24), which then recruits tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2)and apoptosis signal-regulating kinase-1 (ASK1) resulting in the activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs). Active JNK mediates the phosphorylation of Bcl-XL/Bcl-2, leading to the release of Beclin-1 (BECN1) and enhanced basal autophagy (11, 25). PERK arm of UPR also regulates autophagy through the activation of ATF4 and CHOP, which drives the expression of autophagy proteins, autophagy-related (ATG)-12 and ATG5, respectively. ATG12 and ATG5 complex with ATG16L to initiate the formation of autophagosomes (26). CHOP also activates tribbles-homolog3(TRIB3) which inhibits AKT/mechanistic-target-of-rapamycin (mTOR) signaling leading to the induction of autophagy (27). Additionally, calcium released from the ER activates enzymes such as death-associated protein kinase (DAPK), protein-kinase-C0 (PKC0) or AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), which positively regulate autophagy by inhibiting mTOR (21). However, these signaling pathways have been implicated under different stress conditions, thus they could be functioning in a context-dependent manner.

ER STRESS AND INFLAMMATION OR INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE REGULATION UNDERLIES ER STRESS

A well-regulated protein homeostasis is crucial for better execution of basic cellular functions. ER plays a significant role

in folding and modifying the secretory as well as membrane proteins, thus maintaining proteostasis (28). Perturbations in protein homeostasis lead to ER stress, which activates UPR and inflammation even in the absence of infection (29). However, ER stress-induced inflammation associated with pathologies such as diabetes, obesity, atherosclerosis, and cancer has been shown to be detrimental. Thus, the destructive or protective nature of ER-stress regulated inflammation depends on the intensity, and type of immune response. Acute induction of ER stress and inflammation safeguard the cell viability and functions while chronic induction can be destructive. Thus, ER stress and ER stress-induced inflammation act in a context-dependent manner. ER stress-induced UPR signaling is coupled with the activation of pro-inflammatory pathways, mediated by nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) (4). All the three ER stress sensors; IRE1, PERK and ATF6 induce inflammation by activating NF-kB via different mechanisms leading to the transcription of genes that encode for inflammatory cytokines (29, 30). Under basal conditions, NF-KB forms a complex with inhibitor kappa B (IkB) which prevents the translocation of NFκB and subsequent transcriptional function. Upon activation of PRR signaling, IKB is phosphorylated and degraded by proteasomes allowing NF-KB to translocate into nucleus and induce the expression of cytokines (31).

IRE1, the evolutionarily conserved signal transducer of the UPR plays a significant role in basic cellular functions and in various pathological conditions associated with inflammation (32). Upon activation of UPR, IRE1 is phosphorylated resulting in the recruitment of TRAF2 and ASK-1 which subsequently activates JNK and NF-KB, leading to the production of inflammatory cytokines. Additionally, IRE1/TRAF2/ASK1 complex activates inhibitory kappa B kinase (IKK), which phosphorylates IkB, allowing the translocation of NF-kB into the nucleus where cytokine gene expression is induced. PERK is also shown to activate NF-KB triggering persistent inflammatory response through the expression of genes that encode inflammatory cytokines like interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α). PERK also regulates NF- κ B and apoptosis through the activation of eIF2a-ATF4-CHOP axis of UPR. Activation of PERK downregulates global protein translation, which preferentially affects IkB expression over NF-kB as IkB has a shorter half-life, enabling NF-KB to translocate. ATF6 also positively affects NF-KB activation via mTOR/AKT signaling. Furthermore, reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated because of calcium dysregulation during ER-stress could activate inflammation through NF-KB dependent or independent mechanisms.

Transcription factors such as activator-protein-1 (AP-1) regulated by mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK) such as p38 work in concert with NF- κ B to induce cytokines. Interestingly, IRE1, PERK and ATF6 have been reported to induce inflammation by promoting extracellular-signal-regulated kinase (ERK) and p38. UPR is also known to activate cytokines such as interferon- β (IFN- β) through interferon-responsive-factor-3 (IRF3). Although the precise mechanism remains elusive, stimulator-of-interferon-gene

(STING) activation due to calcium disruption induces ERstress (33, 34). Mitochondrial-DNA released as a result of ER-stress induced mitochondrial damage is also known to activate STING (35). As noted, certain types of ER stress mobilize STING translocation and STING-dependent IFN-I production (33).

In addition to UPR activating inflammatory transcription factors NF- κ B and IRF3, UPR arms directly regulate cytokine expression (**Figure 1**). Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) analyses have revealed the binding of XBP1 to the promoters of the IL-6, TNF- α and IFN- β encoding genes (36, 37). Similarly, ATF4 (38) and CHOP (39) bind to IL-6 and IL-23a promoters, respectively.

ER-stress pathways are also known to directly impact on pattern-recognition-receptors (PRRs). ER stress results in inflammasome activation and IL-1ß production possibly resulting in pyroptosis. IRE1 and PERK are also known to upregulate thioredoxin-interacting-protein (TXNIP) (40-42) by abrogating micro-RNA (miR)-17. However, PERK directly increases TXNIP expression through ATF5 (41). TXNIP regulates NLRP3 inflammasome, a multicomponent complex that contains caspase-1 and induces the caspase-1-dependent secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1β and IL-18. TXNIP dependent inflammasome activation occurs on mitochondria resulting in mitochondrial damage and further increase in inflammation. IRE1 is also shown to stimulate nucleotide-binding oligomerization domaincontaining protein 1/2 (NOD1/2)-mediated production of inflammatory cytokine IL-6 during Brucella abortus infection (43). IRE1a also contributes to the lipid-induced activation of NLR family pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome (32). This could be inhibited using tauroursodeoxycholic acid (TUDCA) and the IRE1 kinase inhibitor, KIRA6. Furthermore, IRE1 regulates IL-1 β and IL-18 expression through the activation of glycogen-synthase-kinase-3β (GSK3β). ER stress may also enable cells to produce IL-1ß in response to TLR4 ligation in a TRIF (TIR domain containing adaptor protein inducing interferon beta)-dependent and caspase 8-dependent, but XBP1 and CHOP independent manner (44). Although PRR and ERstress can induce inflammation directly, PRR stimulation after ER-stress synergistically induces profound inflammation which has been demonstrated using pharmacologic UPR inducers and XBP1 over-expression (36, 39, 45, 46).

On the other hand, PERK, another ER stress sensor is also shown to activate the downstream signaling pathways leading to the dissociation of NF- κ B from IkB and its subsequent translocation into the nucleus. This triggers persistent inflammatory responses by activating the expression of genes that encode inflammatory cytokines like IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α . Additionally, PERK activates its downstream signaling eIF2a-ATF4-CHOP pathway and NF- κ B which initiates inflammation and apoptosis. ERS leads to dissociation of TRAF from TRAF2-procaspase 12 complex, which is located on the ER membrane, leading to activation of caspase 12. The ATF6 pathway also activates NF- κ B, further intensifying the expression of inflammatory genes, which secrete more cytokines.



CROSSTALK BETWEEN ER is STRESS-AUTOPHAGY-INFLAMMATION IN to DISEASE PROGRESSION

PRR induced-inflammation is beneficial in mounting an immune response against microbes. However, profound inflammation in the absence of infection is pathologic which is supported by the clinical use of antibodies against inflammatory cytokines to treat diseases such as intestinal bowel disease, rheumatoid arthritis, and multiple sclerosis.As discussed above, UPR signaling and autophagy are intertwined with inflammation (**Figure 2**). Therefore, UPR has been linked with several inflammatory diseases and some of which has been reviewed here below.

Intestinal Bowel Disease

Intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) are constantly exposed to microbiota, metabolites and toxins which force them to produce large amounts of cytokines and various other proteins resulting in ER-stress. Although, UPR helps in resolving ER-stress, continued ER-stress and disruptions in the UPR mechanism can result in chronic inflammation. Therefore, it is no surprise that studies have associated UPR dysregulation with Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerativecolitis (UC), two major types of IBDs (47, 48). IBD is also one of the first polygenic disease to be genetically linked to UPR components (47). Intestinal inflammation is primarily linked to IRE1-XBP1 arm of the UPR pathway because mice deleted of the IRE1 gene in mouse intestinal epithelium are more susceptible to dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis (49). Similarly, mice deficient in XBP-1 in the intestine develop spontaneous intestinal inflammation and immune infiltration resembling IBD (50).

The barrier between microbial flora of the gut and IECs is maintained by the secretion of mucin2 (*MUC2*). "Winnie" and "Eeyore"mice engineered with a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) expresses misfolded MUC2 resulting in strong UPR induction, and gut inflammation (51, 52). UPR and intestinal inflammation has been also linked in humans. For instance, anterior gradient 2 (AGR2) encoding a protein-disulfideisomerase which enables protein folding and orosomucoid-like 3 (ORMDL3), which regulates ER calcium have been shown to induce UPR (53–55). Interestingly, $Agr2^{-/-}$ mice develop severe ileo-colitis which is associated with misfolded mucin induced-ER stress (56). Furthermore, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have mapped the XBP-1 gene locus as an IBD susceptibility region (57, 58). As described before, UPR interacts with autophagy pathways at multiple levels. UPR



induces autophagy and reciprocally, autophagy may limit UPR by reducing ER-stress (59). Interestingly, a core autophagy effector protein ATG16L is associated with IBD in humans. Consistently, mice deficient in ATG16L1 in IECs develop Crohn's like disease (60–62). Furthermore, deletion of ATG16L1 and XBP1 in IECs results in more severe IBD suggesting that autophagy and UPR synergizes in regulating intestinal inflammation (61).

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

UPR is also associated with the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). External stimulants such as cigarette smoke induces ROS production which disturbs the redox environment thus preventing proper protein folding by modulating the protein-disulfide-isomerase (PDI) (63). Dysregulation of protein folding in lung and bronchial epithelial cells induces UPR (64, 65). Furthermore, oxidative damage of proteins caused by cigarette smoke leads to impaired degradation of misfolded, non-functional proteins triggering UPR (66). Cigarette smoke induced-UPR is characterized by PERK-eIF2a-mediated CHOP induction (64, 66-68). On the other hand, cigarette smoke also activates ERK1/2 and NF-kB regulated inflammation (69, 70). Impaired autophagy has been linked to cigarette smoke induced inflammation. On the contrary, activating autophagy using mTOR inhibitor rapamycin results in increased apoptosis and inflammation (71). Interestingly, another form of autophagy known as chaperonemediated autophagy (CMA), which is LAMP2A facilitated selective degradation of proteins containing Lys-Phe-Gln-Arg-Gln (KFERQ) in the lysosomes mitigates cigarette smoke induced UPR and apoptosis (72).

Neurodegenerative Disorders Multiple Sclerosis

MS is an autoimmune disorder in which the T-cells target myelin sheath (73). ER-stress induced UPR is found to be a hallmark of MS (74). It is proposed that autophagy-induced cell death could be a possible mechanism by which UPR resolves ER-stress. Hence, autophagy is elevated in MS-lesions resulting in demyelination and neuro-inflammation. PERK and CHOP activation has been found to be consistent with upregulation of BAX and BCL2 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). However, the molecular mechanisms integrating UPR, autophagy and inflammation has not been completely understood (3).

Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's Disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disease and numerous evidences suggest that inflammation exacerbates the disease (75). Reports have also linked the role of ER-stress in the pathogenesis of PD using neurotoxic models of PD.

UPR-Autophagy-Inflammation

Interestingly, depletion of CHOP protects dopaminergic neurons against hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) indicating the involvement of ER-stress in PD (76). Similarly, silencing XBP1 another UPR arm results in chronic ER stress and dopaminergic neuron degeneration (77). Parkin an E3 ubiquitin ligase implicated in Parkinson's disease is a key regulator of mitochondria-specific autophagy (mitophagy). Interestingly, ATF4 upregulates parkin by directly binding to the promoter region upon ER stress (78). Although, studies addressing the cross talk between ER stress, autophagy and inflammation in PD are limited, UPR can coregulate inflammation and autophagy as discussed above.

Cardiovascular Diseases

Inflammation and autophagy are known to play a key role in the progression of cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) such as atherosclerosis, ischemia and/or reperfusion. Intriguingly, ER stress that is implicated in inflammation and autophagy has been currently coupled with the pathophysiological aspects of the cardiovascular system (CVS) (79). Upregulation of UPR is observed in cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure. Inflammation and ER stress within the CVS are connected through various regulators such as NF-KB, JNK, spliced XBP-1 and ROS (80-82). As discussed in earlier sections of this review, UPR activation leads to recruitment of TRAF2 by IRE1 which interacts with JNK and IkB resulting in the activation of downstream inflammatory signaling and cytokine production. Additionally, IRE1 auto-phosphorylates and splices its downstream XBP-1 which stimulates the production of inflammatory cytokines by enhancing Toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling (32, 83). ATF6 activation also results in transcriptional activation of inflammatory proteins like C-reactive protein (CRP) which fosters the expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and contributes to inflammation (84, 85). Furthermore, ATF6 phosphorylates AKT and activates NF-kB which stimulates the expression of various cytokines (86). Similarly, PERK also triggers NF-κB-induced cytokine signaling by activating IκB (87).

It is well-established that ER stress is also implicated in atherosclerosis where UPR activation is observed in macrophage-derived and smooth muscle cell (SMC)-derived foam cells (79, 88). The plaque deposition in the arterial walls triggers infiltration of macrophages and neutrophils leading to production of IL-1 and IL-6 (89). Additionally,

REFERENCES

- Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature. (2006) 444:860-7. doi: 10.1038/nature05485
- Schröder M, Kaufman RJ. ER stress and the unfolded protein response. *Mut Res Fund Mol Mech Mutagen*. (2005) 569:29– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2004.06.056
- Andhavarapu S, Mubariz F, Arvas M, Bever Jr C, Makar TK. Interplay between ER stress and autophagy: a possible mechanism in multiple sclerosis pathology. *Exp Mol Pathol.* (2019) 108:183–90. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2019. 04.016
- Zhang K, Kaufman RJ. From endoplasmic-reticulum stress to the inflammatory response. *Nature*. (2008) 454:455–62. doi: 10.1038/nature 07203

ROS is induced resulting in UPR activation which can further enhance inflammation and tissue damage (89). Inflammation induced mitochondrial damage and ROS can in turn induce autophagy (90). A weak association between autophagy and plaque formation has been reported based on the expression of autophagy markers (91, 92). However, whether autophagy is beneficial or detrimental in atherosclerosis is poorly understood.

CONCLUSION

Traditionally, engagement of PRRs with PAMPs has been considered the primary trigger for inflammation. However, changes in intracellular functions causing cellular stress have been lately recognized to play a key role in inflammation associated with pathologies. Thus, ER stress-induced inflammation has been implicated in several inflammatory diseases. Although response to ER-stress (UPR) aids in mitigating ER-stress, UPR pathways also promote inflammation and diseases such as diabetes, obesity, IBD, inflammatory lung disorders, cardiovascular diseases and cancer. Moreover, UPR pathways are interlinked with other cellular-stress response mechanisms such as autophagy which can potentially mitigate inflammation and disease progression. Conversely, activation of cellular homeostasis mechanisms such as autophagy can be an impediment to treat diseases such as cancer. However, UPR induced inflammation and autophagy vary between diseases and is cell type dependent. Although, inflammation and autophagy have been reported during ER-stress, it is correlative. Therefore, molecular mechanisms that integrate UPR, autophagy and inflammation need to be elucidated which is crucial for therapeutic targeting.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SC: prepared the manuscript draft and figures. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Research in the laboratory of NR was supported by funds from the Center for Cancer Biology, University of South Australia and Neurosurgical Research Foundation, Adelaide, Australia.

- Matsuzawa-Ishimoto Y, Hwang S, Cadwell K. Autophagy and inflammation. Ann Rev Immunol. (2018) 36:73– 101. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-042617-053253
- Lin JH, Walter P, Yen TB. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in disease pathogenesis. *Annu Rev Pathol Mech Dis.* (2008) 3:399–425. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pathmechdis.3.121806.151434
- Schönthal AH. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: its role in disease and novel prospects for therapy. *Scientifica*. (2012) 2012:857516. doi: 10.6064/2012/857516
- 8. Ghemrawi R, Battaglia-Hsu S-F, Arnold C. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in metabolic disorders. *Cells.* (2018) 7:63. doi: 10.3390/cells7060063
- Ron D, Walter P. Signal integration in the endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2007) 8:519–29. doi: 10.1038/nrm2199

- Malhotra JD, Kaufman RJ. The endoplasmic reticulum and the unfolded protein response. Semin Cell Dev Biol. (2007) 18:716–31. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2007.09.003
- Chipurupalli S, Kannan E, Tergaonkar V, D'Andrea R, Robinson N. Hypoxia induced ER stress response as an adaptive mechanism in cancer. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:749. doi: 10.3390/ijms20030749
- Kopp MC, Larburu N, Durairaj V, Adams CJ, Ali MM. UPR proteins IRE1 and PERK switch BiP from chaperone to ER stress sensor. *Nat Struct Mol Biol.* (2019) 26:1053–62. doi: 10.1038/s41594-019-0 324-9
- Adams CJ, Kopp MC, Larburu N, Nowak PR, Ali MM. Structure and molecular mechanism of ER stress signaling by the unfolded protein response signal activator IRE1. *Front Mol Biosci.* (2019) 6:11. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2019.00011
- 14. Parmar VM, Schröder M. Sensing Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Self and Nonself. New York, NY: Springer (2012). p. 153-68.
- Hetz C, Zhang K, Kaufman RJ. Mechanisms, regulation and functions of the unfolded protein response. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2020) 21:421– 38. doi: 10.1038/s41580-020-0250-z
- Vembar SS, Brodsky JL. One step at a time: endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2008) 9:944–57. doi: 10.1038/nrm2546
- 17. Tepedelen BE, Kirmizibayrak PB. Endoplasmic Reticulum-Associated Degradation (ERAD). In Endoplasmic Reticulum. London: Intechopen. (2019).
- Xu C, Bailly-Maitre B, Reed JC. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: cell life and death decisions. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:2656–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI26373
- Tsai YC, Weissman AM. The unfolded protein response, degradation from the endoplasmic reticulum, and cancer. *Genes Cancer*. (2010) 1:764– 78. doi: 10.1177/1947601910383011
- Mizushima N, Levine B, Cuervo AM, Klionsky DJ. Autophagy fights disease through cellular self-digestion. *Nature.* (2008) 451:1069–75. doi: 10.1038/nature06639
- Verfaillie T, Salazar M, Velasco G, Agostinis P. Linking ER stress to autophagy: potential implications for cancer therapy. *Int J Cell Biol.* (2010) 2010:930509. doi: 10.1155/2010/930509
- Glick D, Barth S, Macleod KF. Autophagy: cellular and molecular mechanisms. J Pathol. (2010) 221:3–12. doi: 10.1002/path.2697
- Dikic I, Elazar Z. Mechanism and medical implications of mammalian autophagy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2018) 19:349– 64. doi: 10.1038/s41580-018-0003-4
- Bertolotti A, Zhang Y, Hendershot LM, Harding HP, Ron D. Dynamic interaction of BiP and ER stress transducers in the unfolded-protein response. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2000) 2:326–32. doi: 10.1038/35014014
- Corazzari M, Rapino F, Ciccosanti F, Giglio P, Antonioli M, Conti B, et al. Oncogenic BRAF induces chronic ER stress condition resulting in increased basal autophagy and apoptotic resistance of cutaneous melanoma. *Cell Death Different*. (2015) 22:946–58. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2014.183
- 26. B'chir W, Maurin A-C, Carraro V, Averous J, Jousse C, Muranishi Y, et al. The eIF2 α /ATF4 pathway is essential for stress-induced autophagy gene expression. *Nucl Acids Res.* (2013) 41:7683–99. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt563
- B'chir W, Chaveroux C, Carraro V, Averous J, Maurin A-C, Jousse C, et al. Dual role for CHOP in the crosstalk between autophagy and apoptosis to determine cell fate in response to amino acid deprivation. *Cell Sign.* (2014) 26:1385–91. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2014.03.009
- Chaudhari N, Talwar P, Parimisetty A, Lefebvre d'Hellencourt C, Ravanan P. A molecular web: endoplasmic reticulum stress, inflammation, oxidative stress. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2014) 8:213. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00213
- Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, Agostinis P. ER stress-induced inflammation: does it aid or impede disease progression? *Trends Mol Med.* (2012) 18:589–98. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2012.06.010
- Pahl HL. Activators and target genes of Rel/NF-κB transcription factors. Oncogene. (1999) 18:6853–66. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1203239
- Chen ZJ. Ubiquitin signalling in the NF-κB pathway. Nat Cell Biol. (2005) 7:758–65. doi: 10.1038/ncb0805-758
- 32. Riaz TA, Junjappa RP, Handigund M, Ferdous J, Kim H-R, Chae H-J, et al. Role of endoplasmic reticulum stress sensor ire1 α in cellular physiology, calcium, ROS signaling, and metaflammation. *Cells.* (2020) 9:1160. doi: 10.3390/cells9051160

- Liu Y-P, Zeng L, Tian A, Bomkamp A, Rivera D, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress regulates the innate immunity critical transcription factor IRF3. J Immunol. (2012) 189:4630–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.11 02737
- Smith JA. Regulation of cytokine production by the unfolded protein response; implications for infection and autoimmunity. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:422. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00422
- West AP, Khoury-Hanold W, Staron M, Tal MC, Pineda CM, Lang SM, et al. Mitochondrial DNA stress primes the antiviral innate immune response. *Nature*. (2015) 520:553–7. doi: 10.1038/nature14156
- Martinon F, Chen X, Lee A-H, Glimcher LH. TLR activation of the transcription factor XBP1 regulates innate immune responses in macrophages. *Nat Immunol.* (2010) 11:411. doi: 10.1038/ni.1857
- 37. Zeng L, Liu Y-P, Sha H, Chen H, Qi L, et al. XBP-1 couples endoplasmic reticulum stress to augmented IFN-β induction via a cis-acting enhancer in macrophages. J Immunol. (2010) 185:2324–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903052
- Iwasaki Y, Suganami T, Hachiya R, Shirakawa I, Kim-Saijo M, Tanaka M, et al. Activating transcription factor 4 links metabolic stress to interleukin-6 expression in macrophages. *Diabetes*. (2014) 63:152–61. doi: 10.2337/db13-0757
- Goodall JC, Wu C, Zhang Y, McNeill L, Ellis L, Saudek V, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced transcription factor, CHOP, is crucial for dendritic cell IL-23 expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:17698– 703. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1011736107
- Lerner AG, Upton, J.-P., Praveen P, Ghosh R, Nakagawa Y, et al. IRE1α induces thioredoxin-interacting protein to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome and promote programmed cell death under irremediable ER stress. *Cell Metab.* (2012) 16:250–64. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.07.007
- 41. Oslowski CM, Hara T, O'Sullivan-Murphy B, Kanekura K, Lu S, Hara M, et al. Thioredoxin-interacting protein mediates ER stress-induced β cell death through initiation of the inflammasome. *Cell Metab.* (2012) 16:265–73. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.07.005
- Dong D, Fu N, Yang P. MiR-17 downregulation by high glucose stabilizes thioredoxin-interacting protein and removes thioredoxin inhibition on ASK1 leading to apoptosis. *Toxicol Sci.* (2016) 150:84–96. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfv313
- Keestra-Gounder AM, Byndloss MX, Seyffert N, Young BM, Chávez-Arroyo A, Tsai AY, et al. NOD1 and NOD2 signalling links ER stress with inflammation. *Nature*. (2016) 532:394–7. doi: 10.1038/nature17631
- 44. Shenderov K, Riteau N, Yip R, Mayer-Barber KD, Oland S, Hieny S, et al. Cutting edge: endoplasmic reticulum stress licenses macrophages to produce mature IL-1β in response to TLR4 stimulation through a caspase-8–and TRIF-dependent pathway. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:2029– 33. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302549
- 45. Smith JA, Turner MJ, DeLay ML, Klenk EI, Sowders DP, Colbert RA. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the unfolded protein response are linked to synergistic IFN-β induction via X-box binding protein 1. *Eur J Immunol.* (2008) 38:1194–203. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737882
- Hu F, Yu X, Wang H, Zuo D, Guo C, Yi H, et al. ER stress and its regulator X-box-binding protein-1 enhance polyIC-induced innate immune response in dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:1086–97. doi: 10.1002/eji.2010 40831
- Kaser A, Lee, A.-H., Franke A, Glickman JN, Zeissig S, et al. XBP1 links ER stress to intestinal inflammation and confers genetic risk for human inflammatory bowel disease. *Cell.* (2008) 134:743–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.021
- McGovern DP, Gardet A, Törkvist L, Goyette P, Essers J, Taylor KD, et al. Genome-wide association identifies multiple ulcerative colitis susceptibility loci. Nat Gen. (2010) 42:332–7. doi: 10.1038/ng.549
- Bertolotti A, Wang X, Novoa I, Jungreis R, Schlessinger K, Cho JH, et al. Increased sensitivity to dextran sodium sulfate colitis in IRE1β-deficient mice. *J Clin Invest.* (2001) 107:585–93. doi: 10.1172/JCI11476
- Lin JH, Li H, Yasumura D, Cohen HR, Zhang C, Panning B, et al. IRE1 signaling affects cell fate during the unfolded protein response. *Science*. (2007) 318:944–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1146361
- 51. Heazlewood CK, Cook MC, Eri R, Price GR, Tauro SB, Taupin D, et al. Aberrant mucin assembly in mice causes endoplasmic reticulum stress and

spontaneous inflammation resembling ulcerative colitis. *PLoS Med.* (2008) 5:e54. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0050054

- Wenzel UA, Jonstrand C, Hansson GC, Wick MJ. CD103+ CD11b+ dendritic cells induce T h 17 T cells in muc2-deficient mice with extensively spread colitis. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0130750. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130750
- Zheng W, Rosenstiel P, Huse K, Sina C, Valentonyte R, Mah N, et al. Evaluation of AGR2 and AGR3 as candidate genes for inflammatory bowel disease. *Genes Immunity*. (2006) 7:11–18. doi: 10.1038/sj.gene.63 64263
- Barrett JC, Hansoul S, Nicolae DL, Cho JH, Duerr RH, Rioux JD, et al. Genome-wide association defines more than 30 distinct susceptibility loci for Crohn's disease. *Nat Gen.* (2008) 40:955–62. doi: 10.1038/ ng.175
- Cantero-Recasens G, Fandos C, Rubio-Moscardo F, Valverde MA, Vicente R. The asthma-associated ORMDL3 gene product regulates endoplasmic reticulum-mediated calcium signaling and cellular stress. *Human Mol Gen.* (2010) 19:111–21. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp471
- Zhao F, Edwards R, Dizon D, Afrasiabi K, Mastroianni JR, Geyfman M, et al. Disruption of paneth and goblet cell homeostasis and increased endoplasmic reticulum stress in Agr2–/– mice. *Dev Biol.* (2010) 338:270– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.12.008
- Hampe J, Schreiber S, Shaw SH, Lau KF, Bridger S, Macpherson AJ, et al. A genomewide analysis provides evidence for novel linkages in inflammatory bowel disease in a large European cohort. *Am J Human Gen.* (1999) 64:808– 16. doi: 10.1086/302294
- Barmada MM, Brant SR, Nicolae DL, Achkar, J.-P., Panhuysen CI, et al. A genome scan in 260 inflammatory bowel disease-affected relative pairs. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2004) 10:15–22. doi: 10.1097/00054725-200401000-00002
- Deegan S, Saveljeva S, Gorman AM, Samali A. Stress-induced selfcannibalism: on the regulation of autophagy by endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2013) 70:2425–41. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1173-4
- Rioux JD, Xavier RJ, Taylor KD, Silverberg MS, Goyette P, Huett A, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for Crohn disease and implicates autophagy in disease pathogenesis. *Nat Gen.* (2007) 39:596–604. doi: 10.1038/ng2032
- Adolph TE, Tomczak MF, Niederreiter L, Ko, H.-J., Böck J, et al. Paneth cells as a site of origin for intestinal inflammation. *Nature*. (2013) 503:272– 6. doi: 10.1038/nature12599
- Tschurtschenthaler M, Adolph TE, Ashcroft JW, Niederreiter L, Bharti R, Saveljeva S, et al. Defective ATG16L1-mediated removal of IRE1α drives Crohn's disease–like ileitis. J Exp Med. (2017) 214:401–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.20160791
- Kenche H, Baty CJ, Vedagiri K, Shapiro SD, Blumental-Perry A. Cigarette smoking affects oxidative protein folding in endoplasmic reticulum by modifying protein disulfide isomerase. *FASEB J.* (2013) 27:965– 77. doi: 10.1096/fj.12-216234
- Kelsen SG, Duan X, Ji R, Perez O, Liu C, Merali S. Cigarette smoke induces an unfolded protein response in the human lung: a proteomic approach. *Am J Resp Cell Mol Biol.* (2008) 38:541–50. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2007-0221OC
- 65. Geraghty P, Wallace A, D'Armiento JM. Induction of the unfolded protein response by cigarette smoke is primarily an activating transcription factor 4-C/EBP homologous protein mediated process. *Int J Chronic Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2011) 6:309. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S19599
- Min T, Bodas M, Mazur S, Vij N. Critical role of proteostasis-imbalance in pathogenesis of COPD and severe emphysema. J Mol Med. (2011) 89:577– 93. doi: 10.1007/s00109-011-0732-8
- Jorgensen E, Stinson A, Shan L, Yang J, Gietl D, Albino AP. Cigarette smoke induces endoplasmic reticulum stress and the unfolded protein response in normal and malignant human lung cells. *BMC Cancer.* (2008) 8:1– 30. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-8-229
- Malhotra D, Thimmulappa R, Vij N, Navas-Acien A, Sussan T, Merali S, et al. Heightened endoplasmic reticulum stress in the lungs of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the role of Nrf2regulated proteasomal activity. *Am J Resp Crit Care Med.* (2009) 180:1196– 207. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200903-0324OC
- 69. Martey CA, Pollock SJ, Turner CK, O'Reilly KM, Baglole CJ, Phipps RP, et al. Cigarette smoke induces cyclooxygenase-2 and microsomal prostaglandin

E2 synthase in human lung fibroblasts: implications for lung inflammation and cancer. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2004) 287:L981– 91. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00239.2003

- 70. Szulakowski P, Crowther AJ, Jiménez LA, Donaldson K, Mayer R, Leonard TB, et al. The effect of smoking on the transcriptional regulation of lung inflammation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Resp Crit Care Med.* (2006) 174:41–50. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200505-725OC
- Yoshida T, Mett I, Bhunia AK, Bowman J, Perez M, Zhang L, et al. Rtp801, a suppressor of mTOR signaling, is an essential mediator of cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary injury and emphysema. *Nat Med.* (2010) 16:767. doi: 10.1038/nm.2157
- Hosaka Y, Araya J, Fujita Y, Kadota T, Tsubouchi K, Yoshida M, et al. Chaperone-mediated autophagy suppresses apoptosis via regulation of the unfolded protein response during chronic obstructive pulmonary disease pathogenesis. J Immunol. (2020) 205:1256–67. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.2000132
- Matute-Blanch C, Montalban X, Comabella M. Multiple sclerosis, and other demyelinating and autoimmune inflammatory diseases of the central nervous system. *Handbook Clin Neurol.* (2018) 146:67–84. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-804279-3.00005-8
- Lin W, Stone S. The unfolded protein response in multiple sclerosis. Front Neurosci. (2015) 9:264. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00264
- Collins LM, Toulouse A, Connor TJ, Nolan YM. Contributions of central and systemic inflammation to the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease. *Neuropharmacology*. (2012) 62:2154– 68. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.01.028
- Silva RM, Ries V, Oo TF, Yarygina O, Jackson-Lewis V, Ryu EJ, et al. CHOP/GADD153 is a mediator of apoptotic death in substantia nigra dopamine neurons in an in vivo neurotoxin model of parkinsonism. *J Neurochem.* (2005) 95:974–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.0 3428.x
- Valdés P, Mercado G, Vidal RL, Molina C, Parsons G, Martinez A, et al. Control of dopaminergic neuron survival by the unfolded protein response transcription factor XBP1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:6804– 9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1321845111
- Bouman L, Schlierf A, Lutz A, Shan J, Deinlein A, Kast J, et al. Parkin is transcriptionally regulated by ATF4: evidence for an interconnection between mitochondrial stress and ER stress. *Cell Death Differen.* (2011) 18:769– 82. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2010.142
- Hotamisligil GS. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the inflammatory basis of metabolic disease. *Cell.* (2010) 140:900–17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.034
- Deng J, Lu PD, Zhang Y, Scheuner D, Kaufman RJ, Sonenberg N, et al. Translational repression mediates activation of nuclear factor kappa B by phosphorylated translation initiation factor 2. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2004) 24:10161– 8. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.23.10161-10168.2004
- Cullinan SB, Diehl JA. Coordination of ER and oxidative stress signaling: the PERK/Nrf2 signaling pathway. *Intern J Biochem Cell Biol.* (2006) 38:317– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2005.09.018
- Hu P, Han Z, Couvillon AD, Kaufman RJ, Exton JH. Autocrine tumor necrosis factor alpha links endoplasmic reticulum stress to the membrane death receptor pathway through IRE1α-mediated NF-κB activation and down-regulation of TRAF2 expression. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2006) 26:3071– 84. doi: 10.1128/MCB.26.8.3071-3084.2006
- Kolattukudy PE, Niu J. Inflammation, endoplasmic reticulum stress, autophagy, and the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1/CCR2 pathway. *Circ Res.* (2012) 110:174–89. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.2 43212
- Montecucco F, Steffens S, Burger F, Pelli G, Monaco C, Mach F. Creactive protein (CRP) induces chemokine secretion via CD11b/ICAM-1 interaction in human adherent monocytes. *J Leukocyte Biol.* (2008) 84:1109– 19. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0208123
- Ridker PM. Inflammation, C-reactive protein, and cardiovascular disease: moving past the marker versus mediator debate. *Circ Res.* (2014) 114:594–5. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.303215
- Yamazaki H, Hiramatsu N, Hayakawa K, Tagawa Y, Okamura M, Ogata R, et al. Activation of the Akt-NF-κB pathway by subtilase cytotoxin through the ATF6 branch of the unfolded protein response. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:1480– 7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900017

- Janssens S, Pulendran B, Lambrecht BN. Emerging functions of the unfolded protein response in immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:910– 9. doi: 10.1038/ni.2991
- Tabas I. The role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in the progression of atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* (2010) 107:839– 50. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.224766
- Frostegård J. Immunity, atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease. BMC Med. (2013) 11:1–13. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-117
- Martinet W, De Meyer GR. Autophagy in atherosclerosis: a cell survival and death phenomenon with therapeutic potential. *Circ Res.* (2009) 104:304–17. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.1 88318
- Mei Y, Thompson MD, Cohen RA, Tong X. Autophagy and oxidative stress in cardiovascular diseases. *Bio Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* (2015) 1852:243– 51. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.05.005
- Zhang C, Syed TW, Liu R, Yu J. Role of endoplasmic reticulum stress, autophagy, and inflammation in cardiovascular disease. *Front Cardiovasc* Med. (2017) 4:29. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00029

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chipurupalli, Samavedam and Robinson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





mmu-miR-145a-5p Accelerates Diabetic Wound Healing by Promoting Macrophage Polarization Toward the M2 Phenotype

Yanhui Hao^{1†}, Leilei Yang^{1†}, Ying Liu², Yumeng Ye¹, Jiayu Wang¹, Chao Yu¹, Hua Yan¹, Yuan Xing¹, Zhaoqian Jia¹, Cuicui Hu³, Hongyan Zuo^{1*} and Yang Li^{1,3*}

¹ Beijing Institute of Radiation Medicine, Academy of Military Medical Sciences (AMMS), Beijing, China, ² Department of Basic Medicine, Chengde Medical College, Chengde, China, ³ Academy of Life Sciences, Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ralf J. Ludwig, University of Lübeck, Germany

Reviewed by:

Christoph G. S. Nabzdyk, Mayo Clinic, United States Giuseppe Cappellano, University of Eastern Piedmont, Italy

*Correspondence:

Hongyan Zuo zuohy2005@126.com Yang Li leeyoung109@hotmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Dermatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 14 September 2021 Accepted: 22 November 2021 Published: 21 December 2021

Citation:

Hao Y, Yang L, Liu Y, Ye Y, Wang J, Yu C, Yan H, Xing Y, Jia Z, Hu C, Zuo H and Li Y (2021) mmu-miR-145a-5p Accelerates Diabetic Wound Healing by Promoting Macrophage Polarization Toward the M2 Phenotype. Front. Med. 8:775523. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.775523

Diabetic wounds are recalcitrant to healing. One of the important characteristics of diabetic trauma is impaired macrophage polarization with an excessive inflammatory response. Many studies have described the important regulatory roles of microRNAs (miRNAs) in macrophage differentiation and polarization. However, the differentially expressed miRNAs involved in wound healing and their effects on diabetic wounds remain to be further explored. In this study, we first identified differentially expressed miRNAs in the inflammation, tissue formation and reconstruction phases in wound healing using Illumina sequencing and RT-gPCR techniques. Thereafter, the expression of musculus (mmu)-miR-145a-5p ("miR-145a-5p" for short) in excisional wounds of diabetic mice was identified. Finally, expression of miR-145a-5p was measured to determine its effects on macrophage polarization in murine RAW 264.7 macrophage cells and wound healing in diabetic mice. We identified differentially expressed miRNAs at different stages of wound healing, ten of which were further confirmed by RT-qPCR. Expression of miR-145a-5p in diabetic wounds was downregulated during the tissue formation stage. Furthermore, we observed that miR-145a-5p blocked M1 macrophage polarization while promoting M2 phenotype activation in vitro. Administration of miR-145a-5p mimics during initiation of the repair phase significantly accelerated wound healing in db/db diabetic mice. In conclusion, our findings suggest that rectifying macrophage function using miR-145a-5p overexpression accelerates diabetic chronic wound healing.

 $Keywords: mmu-miR-145a-5p, \, diabetes, \, wound \, healing, \, macrophage, \, inflammation$

INTRODUCTION

Wound healing is a complex process involving a variety of cell types and the coordination of various cytokines to regulate wound repair. Macrophages tightly participate in and regulate the entire process of wound healing, and their numbers increase during the inflammation phase, peak during the tissue formation phase, and gradually decline during the maturation phase (1, 2). Generally, macrophages are divided into M1 (classical activation) and M2 (alternative activation) phenotypes. M1 macrophages phagocytize pathogens and necrotic tissues and secrete inflammatory factors, while M2 macrophages help to relieve inflammation and promote angiogenesis by releasing anti-inflammatory factors and growth factors. Diabetic patients experience wounds characterized by

a prolonged inflammatory state, with overactivated M1-like macrophages and elevated levels of proinflammatory factors with inadequately activated M2 phenotypes and impaired expression of growth factors (3, 4). Because macrophages are an important target for the treatment of chronic diabetic wounds, studying the regulation of macrophage polarization may uncover therapeutic avenues to accelerate wound repair in diabetes.

miRNAs, 20–24 nucleotide (nt) non-coding RNAs, have the ability to regulate gene expression and the network of cellular processes. One miRNA can regulate the expression of multiple target genes, while genes involved in the same physiological or pathological process may be regulated by a single or a few miRNAs. Accordingly, miRNAs have advantages over conventional genes when used as therapeutic targets in diseases (5). Many studies have determined that miRNAs are important in regulating macrophage polarization (6, 7). Furthermore, M1 and M2 phenotypes play distinctive roles in the progression of refractory diabetic wounds. Thus, miRNAs might affect the repair of diabetic wounds by regulating the conversion between M1 and M2 macrophages.

In the present study, we determined the miRNA expression profiles in different stages of wound healing using Illumina sequencing and real-time quantitative reverse transcript polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) techniques. Furthermore, overexpression of mmu-miR-145a-5p using mimics inhibited M1 polarization and promoted M2 polarization *in vitro*. Administration of miR-145a-5p mimics during the initiation of the repair phase also significantly accelerated wound healing in diabetic mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

BKS-Lepr^{em2Cd479}/Nju (db/db) diabetic mice (male, 8–10-weekold) were purchased from the Peking University Experimental Animal Center (Beijing, China). The measured blood glucose value of the db/db mice was 23.86 \pm 2.07 mmol/L while the normal was ~6 mmol/L, indicating that the diabetic mouse models were successfully established. Normal C57BL/6J mice (male, 8–10-week-old) were purchased from Weitonglihua Co., Ltd. (Beijing, China). All animals were maintained in an animal facility, where the temperature was 22 \pm 2°C and the humidity 55 \pm 10% on a 12h light-dark cycle. Food and water were freely available.

Wound Healing Model

Mice were anesthetized with pentobarbital (i.p., 80 mg/kg). The dorsal surface was then shaved and cleaned with 75% ethanol. Two round wounds with a diameter of 5 mm were made on each side of the midline of the shaved dorsum using a punch biopsy tool (Miltex, USA). The wounds were left undressed, and all mice were housed separately thereafter. The wounds were imaged using a high-resolution camera, the sizes of which were calculated using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, USA). Biopsies were harvested on postoperative days 0, 1, 3, 5, 7, 15, 19, and 21.

RNA Isolation and Library Preparation

During the inflammation, tissue formation, and tissue reconstruction phases of skin wound healing in control mice, namely, at 0, 1, 3, and 7 days post-operation, the wounds and a 5 mm unwounded skin border were harvested and stored at -80° C until further processing. Total RNA was isolated using the miRNeasy Serum/Plasma Kit (Qiagen, USA). The A (260/280) absorbance ratio of isolated RNA was 1.8–2.0, while the A (260/230) absorbance ratio was >1.6. Integrity of total RNA was determined using formaldehyde denaturing gel electrophoresis. The libraries were constructed from total RNA using the Illumina TruSeq Small RNA Sample Preparation kit (Illumina, USA). Single-stranded cDNA was created by reverse transcription reactions with the ligation products. The cDNA was amplified by PCR. Finally, Illumina sequencing technology was used to sequence these prepared samples.

Illumina Sequencing and RT-QPCR Validation

Raw sequences were processed using the Illumina pipeline program. Clean reads were filtered, and contaminated reads were removed. Secondary structure prediction of individual miRNAs was performed using Mfold software. Clean sequence reads were mapped using miRBase 20.0, and a mismatch of 1-2 nucleotide bases was allowed. All data were transformed to log base 2. Differences between the samples were analyzed using chi-square and Fisher's exact tests. miRNAs with a fold difference N2.0 and P < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. miRNAs with high expression abundance and significant differences (fold change >4) in each phase of skin trauma were verified using RT-qPCR with Applied Biosystems TaqManTM MGB (minor groove binder) probes (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The experiment was performed in strict accordance with the reagent instructions. All samples were analyzed in triplicate. The specificity of each PCR product was validated by melting curve analysis at the end of PCR cycles, and the cycle threshold (Ct) value was defined as the number of cycles required for the fluorescent signal to reach the threshold. Relative expression levels of miRNAs in wound samples were calculated using the 2- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct formula, where $\Delta\Delta$ Ct = [Ct (target, test) – Ct (ref, test)] - [Ct (target, calibrator) - Ct (ref, calibrator)]. All primers used were obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA).

Transfection of miR-145a-5p Mimics and Negative Control

RAW 264.7 macrophage cells were grown in Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium (RPMI) 1640 (Gibco, USA) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco), penicillin (100 U/mL), and streptomycin (100 μ g/mL) at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. Macrophage polarization was induced with 1 μ g/ml lipopolysaccharide (LPS, Sigma, L2880) or 20 ng/ml interleukin-4 (IL-4, Proteintech, 214-14). The cells were then transfected with 4 nM miR-145a-5p mimics (4464066, MC11480, Thermo Fisher Scientific) and negative control (4464059, Thermo Fisher Scientific) using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX (Invitrogen) according to the instructions and were harvested 48 h later. Three repeats were performed for each group.

For the *in vivo* study, miR-145a-5p mimics and negative control were diluted to 4 nM in autoclaved phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and injected subcutaneously around the wound at a volume of 4 μ L in each quadrant. The injections were repeated every 3 days for 2 weeks.

Quantitative Real-Time PCR

At predetermined time points, total RNA was isolated from skin tissues and RAW 264.7 macrophage cells using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen). Thereafter, complementary DNAs (cDNAs) were synthesized using the RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The resulting cDNAs were amplified with 40 cycles by RT-qPCR using Power SYBR[@] Green PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Each sample was analyzed three times and normalized to β -actin as the internal control. Primer sequences for RT-qPCR are listed in **Table 1**.

Histological Analysis and Immunohistochemistry

The wounds and a 5 mm unwounded skin border were harvested from mice and processed for histological analysis. Wound widths were measured as the distance between wound margins. Wound areas were determined using image analysis (measured below the clot and above the panniculus muscle). Re-epithelialization was defined as the percentage of distance migrated by the neoepidermis compared to the upper wound width. Immunohistochemistry analysis was performed on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded 5- μ m sections. The primary antibodies used in this study were against keratin 14 (K14, 1:1000, Covance, Princeton, NJ, USA), Ki67 (1:1000, Covance) and CD206 (1:500, Novus Biologicals, CO, USA). To quantify CD206 expression, ImageJ 1.50d (USA) was used to analyze the integrated optical density.

Bioinformatics Analysis of Downstream Target Genes of mmu-miR-145a-5p

To predict target genes of mmu-miR-145a-5p, TargetScan (5.0), miRanda (3.3a), and PITA (1.0) analyses were conducted and the default thresholds were targetscan_score \geq 50, miranda_Energy < -10, and ddG <-5. Thereafter, the intersections of the three databases were selected as candidate downstream miRNAs of mmu-miR-145a-5p for further analysis. Functional enrichment analysis of the target genes of miR-145a-5p was conducted using clusterProfiler with Gene Ontology.db. (GO) and the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes.db. (KEGG). Significance was assessed using hypergeometric tests and Benjamini-Hochberg correction, with a significance threshold of p < 0.05 (8, 9).

Statistical Analysis

All results are presented as the mean \pm SD. All experiments were performed with a minimum of three independent replicates. One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni *post-hoc* tests were

performed to analyze multiple groups and unpaired Student's *t*-test was performed to analyze two parallel groups, using SPSS software (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). Differences were considered significant at two-sided p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Differentially Expressed miRNAs During Wound Healing in Mice

High-throughput miRNA sequencing (miRNA-Seq, 10 million reads/sample) was performed on unharmed skin tissues (D0) and during inflammation (postinjury day 1, D1), tissue formation (postinjury day 3, D3) and tissue reconstruction (postinjury day 7, D7) phases during wound healing in normal male C57BL/6J mice. Table 2 shows the total number of differentially expressed miRNAs between different groups (fold change ≥ 2 and $P \leq 0.01$). The miRNAs with high expression abundance and significant differences (a fold change >4) in each phase of skin trauma were verified using real-time PCR with the probe method. The verification results for 10 miRNAs were consistent with the sequencing results, and expression levels of mmu-miR-183a-5p, mmu-miR-143-3p, mmu-miR-145a-5p, mmu-miR-let-7c, mmumiR-26a-5p, mmu-miR-27a-3p, mmu-miR-30e-5p, mmu-miR-1a-3p, mmu-miR-1b-5p, and mmu-miR-let-7b were significantly downregulated 1-7 days after trauma (Figure 1). These results suggest that miRNAs participate in the regulation of different stages of wound healing and might be potential therapeutic targets in diseases related to abnormal wound repair.

An Excessive Inflammatory Response and Insufficient Growth Factor Secretion During the Formation Phase of Skin Trauma Causes Delayed Wound Healing in Diabetic Mice

Next, we examined the changes in wound repair and the inflammatory state in diabetic mice. The wound closure speed in the db/db mice was dramatically lower than that in the control group (Figure 2A). We also determined cytokine expression in wound tissues and found that expression levels of the proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and interleukin-1alpha (IL-1 α) in db/db mice were downregulated on days 1 and 3 and elevated on day 7 postinjury, suggesting insufficient activation of M1 macrophages during the inflammatory stage of the wounds but overreaction during the tissue formation stage (Figures 2B,C). Quite a number of studies have reported the abnormal inflammation in chronic diabetic wound, which is characterized by the upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF-a, IL-1α, IL-1β, and IL-6 (10–13). Shang et al. found the increased M1-like macrophages on d7 in diabetic mice, which were believed to be closely related to the expression of pro-inflammatory factors (14). In addition, the growth factors transforming growth factor beta 2 (TGFβ2) and Smad5 in the db/db mice decreased significantly at different time points post-injury, indicating reduced polarization of M2 macrophages in all stages of diabetic wound healing (Figures 2D,E). Collectively, the failure of transformation from

Genes	Forward primer (5 [′] -3 [′])	Reverse primer (5 [′] -3 [′])	
TNF-α	CAGGCGGTGCCTATGTCTC		
IL-1α	CGAAGACTACAGTTCTGCCATT	GACGTTTCAGAGGTTCTCAGAG	
TGF-β2	TCGACATGGATCAGTTTATGCG	CCCTGGTACTGTTGTAGATGGA	
Smad5	GAGCCATCACGAGCTAAAACC	ACTGGAGGTAAGACTGGACTCT	
CD86	GGTGGCCTTTTTGACACTCTC	TGAGGTAGAGGTAGGAGGATCTT	
CD206	CTCTGTTCAGCTATTGGACGC	CGGAATTTCTGGGATTCAGCTTC	
Arg-1	TGACTGAAGTAGACAAGCTGGGGAT	CGACATCAAAGCTCAGGTGAATCGG	
β-Actin	GGCTGTATTCCCCTCCATCG	CCAGTTGGTAACAATGCCATGT	

TABLE 1 | Primers for RT-qPCR analysis in mice.

TABLE 2 | Total number of differentially expressed miRNAs (fold change ≥ 2 and $\mathcal{P} \leq 0.01$).

DEG sample	Total miRNAs	Down regulated miR NO.	Up regulated miR NO.	Total DEmiR
D1 vs. D0	1141	48	60	108 (9.47%)
D3 vs. D0		118	97	215 (18.84%)
D7 vs. D0		110	98	208 (18.23%)
D3 vs. D1		107	66	173 (15.16%)
D7 vs. D1		100	97	197 (17.27%)
D7 vs. D3		25	46	71 (6.22%)

M1 macrophages to M2 phenotypes during the tissue formation stage might be an important mechanism of delayed wound healing in diabetes mellitus.

miR-145a-5p Promotes Macrophage Polarization Toward M2 *in vitro*

miR-145a-5p was one of the differentially expressed miRNAs during wound healing identified by microarray and RT-qPCR. Many studies have reported the regulatory effects of miR-145a-5p on cell differentiation, such as myoblasts, adipocytes, and microglia (15-17). Whether miR-145a-5p affects the polarization of macrophages in diabetic wound healing greatly excited our interest. First, we studied the expression of miR-145a-5p in wound tissues of db/db mice and found that expression levels of miR-145a-5p increased on days 0, 1, and 15 but were significantly decreased on day 7 after the operation (Figure 3A). miR-145a-5p was involved in the regulation of inflammation (18), and the higher expression level of miR-145a-5p in db/db mice than in control mice on day 0 might be explained by diabetic microangiopathy and inflammation. These results suggest that miR-145a-5p is involved in the pathophysiological process of diabetic wound healing.

To further clarify the effects of miR-145a-5p on macrophage polarization, we transfected miR-145a mimics or the related negative control (NC) in RAW 264.7 macrophage cells pretreated with LPS or IL-4. Transfection of miR-145a-5p mimics into RAW 264.7 cells increased the expression levels of miR-145a-5p > 1000-fold compared to that of the NC group (**Figure 3B**). Generally, CD86 and tumor necrotic factor- α (TNF- α) are used as biomarkers generated by M1 macrophages, while CD206 and arginase 1 (Arg-1) are accepted markers of the M2 phenotype (19, 20). miR-145a-5p mimic transfection dramatically downregulated expression of CD86 and TNF- α in RAW 264.7 macrophages pretreated with LPS, suggesting that miR-145a-5p abolished M1 polarization induced by LPS (**Figures 3C,D**). On the other hand, miR-145a-5p overexpression caused increased expression of CD206 and Arg-1 in macrophages pretreated with LPS or IL-4, indicating the roles played by miR-145a-5p in facilitating M2 polarization (**Figures 3E,F**). These results demonstrate that miR-145a-5p promotes macrophage polarization toward M2.

miR-145a-5p Mimics Accelerate Wound Healing in db/db Mice

miR-145a-5p mimics were administered locally to assess their therapeutic effect on diabetic trauma. The wound closure rate in db/db mice treated with miR-145a-5p mimics was dramatically higher than that in the control group (Figures 4A,B). Histological analysis revealed that wounds in the miR-145a-5p mimic group healed at a faster rate than those in the control group (Figure 5A). Immunohistochemistry of K14 showed that the neoepithelial lengths were longer in the healing skin of db/db mice transfected with miR-145a-5p mimics than in those treated with negative control miRNAs, and enhanced expression of Ki67 on postoperative day 7 suggested an increased number of proliferative cells during the tissue formation stage when miR-145a-5p was overexpressed (Figures 5B,C). Importantly, miR-145a-5p mimics increased the expression of CD206 in diabetic wounds, suggesting the ability of miR-145a-5p to promote M2 polarization in vivo (Figures 5D,E). These results show that overexpression of miR-145a-5p accelerates diabetic wound healing and increases M2 phenotypes in diabetic wounds.

Go and KEGG Functional Enrichment Analysis of miR-145a-5p Downstream Genes

In the present study, we screened the downstream genes of miR-145a-5p using 3 databases, including TargetScan, miRanda,







and PITA. Subsequently, 2,473 target genes of miR-145a-5p predicted by all three databases were selected. GO and KEGG functional enrichment analyses revealed that miR-145a-5p is involved in regulating many biological processes, including signal transduction, cell differentiation, apoptotic processes, etc. (**Figure 6**).

DISCUSSION

The normal wound healing response is characterized by progression from clot formation to an inflammatory phase, a repair phase, and finally remodeling. Macrophages have been verified to be important in the inflammatory phase of tissue repair, where their dynamic plasticity allows these cells to mediate both tissue-destructive and tissue-reparative functions (10). In diabetic chronic wounds, an extended inflammatory phase stemming from macrophage functional disturbance halts this progression (21, 22). The phagocytosis rate of M1 macrophages in the diabetic state is >5 times slower than normal, which may lead to slower clearance of wound necrotic tissue and apoptotic cells and sustained release of inflammatory factors. The blocked transformation from the M1 to M2 phenotype and the insufficient secretion of anti-inflammatory factors and growth factors lead to failure of normal tissue formation and eventually prolonged healing in diabetic trauma by regulating the macrophage-mediated inflammatory response and have achieved positive effects, suggesting macrophages as a potential





therapeutic target in refractory wounds in diabetic mellitus (25– 30). Our research group has been committed to investigating wound healing mechanisms and therapy and previously found that knockdown of casein kinase 2-interacting protein 1 (CKIP-1) in macrophages inhibited M1-type activation and slowed the wound healing rate (31). However, innovative methods still need to be explored to regulate the macrophage response during wound healing. In this study, we identified miR-145a-5p as one of the differentially expressed miRNAs between db/db diabetic mice and controls. miR-145a-5p has been demonstrated to play important regulatory roles in cell differentiation and polarization, such as myoblasts, adipocytes, and microglia (15–17). Therefore, the regulation of miR-145a-5p on the macrophage response and its effect on diabetic wound healing aroused our interest.



miRNAs are a class of endogenous RNAs of ~22 nucleotides in length produced by dicer 1, ribonuclease III (Dicer) processing single-stranded RNA precursors of ~70–90 bases (32). miRNAs bind to the corresponding 3['] untranslated region (3[']UTR) of the target mRNA through complete or incomplete pairing, preventing its translation or disrupting its stability to regulate gene expression (33). miRNAs regulate 30% of all human genes and have extensive regulatory functions in life activities and profound effects on gene expression, growth, and behavior (34, 35). miRNAs are widely involved in various skin wound healing processes (36). miR-125b regulates leukocyte aggregation and activation by inhibiting TNF- α expression (37). miR-125b inhibits keratinocyte proliferation by downregulating fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 (FGFR2) (38). In ischemic trauma, hypoxia in the wound site and high miR-210 expression reduce keratinocyte proliferation by inhibiting E2F transcription factor 3 (E2F3) expression (39). miR-483-3p depresses keratinocyte proliferation and migration by downregulating mitogenactivated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 (MAPKAPK2, or MK2), Ki67, and Yes-associated protein 1 (YAP1) (40). miR-203 regulates keratinocyte proliferation and migration at the wound margin by affecting RAN and Ras association (RalGDS/AF-6) and pleckstrin homology domain 1 (RAPH1) (41). miR-205 promotes keratinocyte migration by inhibiting inositol polyphosphate phosphatase-like 1 (SHIP2) (42, 43). miR-21 downregulates tissue metalloproteinase inhibitor 3 (TIMP3) and T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis 1 (TIAM1) to promote keratinocyte migration (44). miR-21 is elevated in



the skin of diabetic mice and regulates wound contraction and collagen deposition (45, 46). miR-27b inhibits mouse mesenchymal stem cell migration to burn sites by silencing C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 12 (SDF-1A), which slows wound healing (47). Members of the miR-199 family are involved in the regulation of wound healing through the AKT/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway (48). let-7c overexpression inhibits the M1 macrophage phenotype and promotes the M2 phenotype (49). LPS-pretreated mesenchymal cells secrete let-7b from exosomes, promoting macrophage secretion of anti-inflammatory factors and targeting M2 differentiation, while miR-130b inhibits M2 macrophage activation by targeting peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR γ) (50). In conclusion, miRNAs are intimately involved in the

regulation of wound healing. In this study, we screened out miRNAs related to the traumatic inflammatory response, tissue formation, and tissue remodeling by chip and finally verified 10 differentially expressed miRNAs (high expression and significant difference) using RT-qPCR. Among these miRNAs, miR-145a-5p was selected for further study due to its potential to regulate macrophage polarization.

In this study, we found that local application of miR-145a-5p dramatically promoted wound healing in db/db mice. K14 is an intermediate filament protein that is mainly expressed in epithelial cells, which are generally used as a research biomarker of epidermal skin (51). Ki67 is universally expressed among proliferating cells, but is absent from quiescent cells (52). miR-145a-5p was found to facilitate diabetic wound



healing, of which the indicators were chiefly the accelerated repair, the larger K14 positive area, as well as the increased Ki67 positive cells. Macrophage dysfunction is an important characteristic of delayed wound healing in diabetes mellitus (21, 22). In this study, functional experiments revealed that miR-145-5p overexpression inhibited M1 macrophage polarization while promoting M2 polarization in RAW 264.7 macrophage cells. Importantly, the overexpression of miR-145-5p increased the number of M2 macrophages (CD206⁺) in diabetic wound. It has been demonstrated that macrophages of M2 facilitate the resolution of inflammation and promote tissue remodeling by releasing growth cytokines and antiinflammatory cytokines (10, 11). Therefore, the polarization of macrophage toward the M2 phenotype mediated by miR-145a-5p might be an important mechanism responsible for its therapeutic effects on diabetic wound repair. Additionally, the bioinformatics analysis of the downstream miRNAs of miR-145a-5p suggested that miR-145a-5p was involved in the regulation of signal transduction, cell differentiation, apoptosis, cell cycle, lipid metabolic process, etc. Wang et al. found that miR-145a-5p regulated microglial polarization and the production of inflammatory cytokines, in which the NF-KB pathway might be involved (17). Chen et al. reported that miR-145a-5p modulated the polarization of M2 macrophage by targeting PAK7 and regulating β -catenin signaling in hyperlipidemia (53). Moreover, miR-145a-5p regulates the differentiation of myoblasts, adipocytes, and T cells (15, 16, 54). However, the underlying mechanisms by which miR-145a-5p regulates macrophage polarization have not been elucidated. More work is needed to verify the downstream genes and related signaling pathways of miR-145a-5p in regulating macrophage polarization.

The other differentially expressed miRNAs identified in our study, such as miR-183-5p, miR-143-3p, miR-let-7c, miR-26a-5p, miR-27a-3p, miR-30e-5p, and miR-let-7b, were mainly involved in the regulation of cellular proliferation and inflammation. The functions of these miRNAs were found to be chiefly as follows: First, miR-183-5p transferred to macrophages by exosomes promoted the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines (55); second, miR-143-3p participated in the regulation of LPS induced inflammation (56); third, miR-let-7c inhibited proinflammatory cytokine production in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts (57); fourth, miR-26a-5p was capable of protecting against retinal neuronal impairment in diabetic mice by down-regulating phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) (58); fifth, miR-27a-3p attenuated LPS-induced HK-2 cell apoptosis by downregulating the protein levels of TLR4 and NFkappaB (59, 60); sixth, miR-30e-5p alleviated inflammation and cardiac dysfunction after myocardial infarction through targeting PTEN (61, 62); and seventh, miR-let-7b regulated the expression of inflammation-associated genes in monocytes, macrophages, and neutrophil (63, 64). The literature on the biological roles of miR-1a-3p and miR-1b-5p has been scanty. While these miRNAs might play important roles in the process of wound healing through the regulation of inflammation and cell proliferation, the effects of these identified miRNAs on wound healing as well as the underlying mechanisms remain to be further explored, where potential therapeutic targets, for instance, diabetic trauma, are expected to be pinpointed for chronic wound healing.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and

accession number(s) can be found at: https://datadryad.org/ stash/dataset/, doi: 10.5061/dryad.n5tb2rbwx.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Beijing Institute of Radiation Medicine.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YLi and LY: conceptualization. YH, HZ, YLiu, YY, CY, HY, YX, ZJ, and CH: methodology. YH and JW: formal analysis and writing—original draft preparation. YLi: writing—review and

REFERENCES

- Martin P, Leibovich SJ. Inflammatory cells during wound repair: the good, the bad and the ugly. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2005) 15:599–607. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2005.09.002
- Eming SA, Hammerschmidt M, Krieg T, Roers A. Interrelation of immunity and tissue repair or regeneration. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* (2009) 20:517– 27. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2009.04.009
- Loots MA, Lamme EN, Zeegelaar J, Mekkes JR, Bos JD, Middelkoop E. Differences in cellular infiltrate and extracellular matrix of chronic diabetic and venous ulcers versus acute wounds. *J Invest Dermatol.* (1998) 111:850– 7. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.1998.00381.x
- Eming SA, Krieg T, Davidson JM. Inflammation in wound repair: molecular and cellular mechanisms. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2007) 127:514– 25. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5700701
- Choi PJ, Oskouian RJ, Tubbs RS. The current understanding of microRNA's therapeutic, diagnostic, and prognostic role in chordomas: a review of the literature. *Cureus*. (2018) 10:e3772. doi: 10.7759/cureus.3772
- Essandoh K, Li Y, Huo J, Fan GC. MiRNA-mediated macrophage polarization and its potential role in the regulation of inflammatory response. *Shock.* (2016) 46:122–31. doi: 10.1097/SHK.000000000000604
- Roy S. miRNA in macrophage development and function. Antioxid Redox Signal. (2016) 25:795–804. doi: 10.1089/ars.2016.6728
- Yu G, Wang LG, Han Y, He QY. clusterProfiler: an R package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. OMICS. (2012) 16:284– 7. doi: 10.1089/omi.2011.0118
- Kanehisa M, Goto S. KEGG: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. Nucleic Acids Res. (2000) 28:27–30. doi: 10.1093/nar/28.1.27
- Boniakowski AE, Kimball AS, Jacobs BN, Kunkel SL, Gallagher KA. Macrophage-mediated inflammation in normal and diabetic wound healing. J Immunol. (2017) 199:17–24. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700223
- Aitcheson SM, Frentiu FD, Hurn SE, Edwards K, Murray RZ. Skin wound healing: normal macrophage function and macrophage dysfunction in diabetic wounds. *Molecules*. (2021) 26:4917. doi: 10.3390/molecules26164917
- Kim SY, Nair MG. Macrophages in wound healing: activation and plasticity. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2019) 97:258–67. doi: 10.1111/imcb.12236
- Zhao R, Liang H, Clarke E, Jackson C, Xue M. Inflammation in chronic wounds. Int J Mol Sci. (2016) 17:2085. doi: 10.3390/ijms17122085
- Shang W, Chen G, Li Y, Zhuo Y, Wang Y, Fang Z, et al. Static magnetic field accelerates diabetic wound healing by facilitating resolution of inflammation. J Diabetes Res. (2019) 2019:5641271. doi: 10.1155/2019/56 41271
- Du J, Li Q, Shen L, Lei H, Luo J, Liu Y, et al. miR-145a-5p promotes myoblast differentiation. *Biomed Res Int.* (2016) 2016:5276271. doi: 10.1155/2016/52 76271
- Du J, Cheng X, Shen L, Tan Z, Luo J, Wu X, et al. Methylation of miR-145a-5p promoter mediates adipocytes differentiation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2016) 475:140–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.05.057

editing and supervision. LY: project administration and funding acquisition. All authors have read and agreed to the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was funded by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, grant number 81272104.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.775523/full#supplementary-material

- Wang H, Liao S, Li H, Chen Y, Yu J. Long non-coding RNA TUG1 sponges mir-145a-5p to regulate microglial polarization after oxygen-glucose deprivation. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2019) 12:215. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2019.00215
- Ramelli SC, Comer BS, McLendon JM, Sandy LL, Ferretti AP, Barrington R, et al. Nanoparticle delivery of anti-inflammatory LNA oligonucleotides prevents airway inflammation in a HDM model of asthma. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids*. (2020) 19:1000–14. doi: 10.1016/j.omtn.2019.12.033
- Lisi L, Ciotti GM, Braun D, Kalinin S, Curro D, Dello Russo C, et al. Expression of iNOS, CD163 and ARG-1 taken as M1 and M2 markers of microglial polarization in human glioblastoma and the surrounding normal parenchyma. *Neurosci Lett.* (2017) 645:106– 12. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2017.02.076
- 20. Xu HT, Lee CW Li MY, Wang YF, Yung PS, Lee OK. The shift in macrophages polarisation after tendon injury: a systematic review. *J Orthop Translat.* (2020) 21:24–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jot.2019.11.009
- Jawerbaum A, Gonzalez E. Diabetic pregnancies: the challenge of developing in a pro-inflammatory environment. *Curr Med Chem.* (2006) 13:2127– 38. doi: 10.2174/092986706777935302
- Acosta JB. del Barco DG, Vera DC, Savigne W, Lopez-Saura P, Guillen Nieto G, et al. The pro-inflammatory environment in recalcitrant diabetic foot wounds. *Int Wound J.* (2008) 5:530–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-481X.2008.00457.x
- Arya AK, Tripathi R, Kumar S, Tripathi K. Recent advances on the association of apoptosis in chronic non healing diabetic wound. *World J Diabetes*. (2014) 5:756–62. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v5.i6.756
- Mirza RE, Koh TJ. Contributions of cell subsets to cytokine production during normal and impaired wound healing. *Cytokine*. (2015) 71:409– 12. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2014.09.005
- Zhang Q, Oh JH, Park CH, Baek JH, Ryoo HM, Woo KM. Effects of dimethyloxalylglycine-embedded poly(epsilon-caprolactone) fiber meshes on wound healing in diabetic rats. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces. (2017) 9:7950– 63. doi: 10.1021/acsami.6b15815
- 26. Yu T, Gao M, Yang P, Liu D, Wang D, Song F, et al. Insulin promotes macrophage phenotype transition through PI3K/Akt and PPAR-gamma signaling during diabetic wound healing. J Cell Physiol. (2019) 234:4217– 31. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27185
- 27. Lee J, Rodero MP, Patel J, Moi D, Mazzieri R, Khosrotehrani K. Interleukin-23 regulates interleukin-17 expression in wounds, and its inhibition accelerates diabetic wound healing through the alteration of macrophage polarization. *FASEB J.* (2018) 32:2086–94. doi: 10.1096/fj.201700773R
- Di G, Du X, Qi X, Zhao X, Duan H, Li S, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells promote diabetic corneal epithelial wound healing through TSG-6-dependent stem cell activation and macrophage switch. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* (2017) 58:4344–54. doi: 10.1167/iovs.17-21506
- Boniakowski AM, denDekker AD, Davis FM, Joshi A, Kimball AS, Schaller M, et al. SIRT3 regulates macrophage-mediated inflammation in diabetic wound repair. J Invest Dermatol. (2019) 139:2528–37 e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2019.05.017

- Ishida Y, Kuninaka Y, Nosaka M, Furuta M, Kimura A, Taruya A, et al. CCL2-mediated reversal of impaired skin wound healing in diabetic mice by normalization of neovascularization and collagen accumulation. J Invest Dermatol. (2019) 139:2517–27 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2019.05.022
- Zhang L, Xia X, Zhang M, Wang Y, Xing G, Yin X, et al. Integrated analysis of genomics and proteomics reveals that CKIP-1 is a novel macrophage migration regulator. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2013) 436:382–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.05.109
- Lee RC, Feinbaum RL, Ambros V. The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell.* (1993) 75:843–54. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)90529-y
- Reinhart BJ, Slack FJ, Basson M, Pasquinelli AE, Bettinger JC, Rougvie AE, et al. The 21-nucleotide let-7 RNA regulates developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature*. (2000) 403:901–6. doi: 10.1038/35002607
- Bartel DP. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell.* (2004) 116:281–97. doi: 10.1016/S0092-867400045-5
- Filipowicz W, Bhattacharyya SN, Sonenberg N. Mechanisms of posttranscriptional regulation by microRNAs: are the answers in sight? *Nat Rev Genet.* (2008) 9:102–14. doi: 10.1038/nrg2290
- Banerjee J, Chan YC, Sen CK. MicroRNAs in skin and wound healing. *Physiol Genomics*. (2011) 43:543–56. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00157.2010
- Tili E, Michaille JJ, Gandhi V, Plunkett W, Sampath D, Calin GA. miRNAs and their potential for use against cancer and other diseases. *Future Oncol.* (2007) 3:521–37. doi: 10.2217/14796694.3.5.521
- Xu N, Brodin P, Wei T, Meisgen F, Eidsmo L, Nagy N, et al. MiR-125b, a microRNA downregulated in psoriasis, modulates keratinocyte proliferation by targeting FGFR2. J Invest Dermatol. (2011) 131:1521– 9. doi: 10.1038/jid.2011.55
- Biswas S, Roy S, Banerjee J, Hussain SR, Khanna S, Meenakshisundaram G, et al. Hypoxia inducible microRNA 210 attenuates keratinocyte proliferation and impairs closure in a murine model of ischemic wounds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2010) 107:6976–81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1001653107
- Bertero T, Gastaldi C, Bourget-Ponzio I, Imbert V, Loubat A, Selva E, et al. miR-483-3p controls proliferation in wounded epithelial cells. *FASEB J.* (2011) 25:3092–105. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-168401
- Viticchie G, Lena AM, Cianfarani F, Odorisio T, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, Melino G, et al. MicroRNA-203 contributes to skin re-epithelialization. *Cell Death Dis.* (2012) 3:e435. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2012.174
- Yu J, Ryan DG, Getsios S, Oliveira-Fernandes M, Fatima A, Lavker RM. MicroRNA-184 antagonizes microRNA-205 to maintain SHIP2 levels in epithelia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2008) 105:19300–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803992105
- Yu J, Peng H, Ruan Q, Fatima A, Getsios S, Lavker RM. MicroRNA-205 promotes keratinocyte migration via the lipid phosphatase SHIP2. FASEB J. (2010) 24:3950–9. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-157404
- 44. Yang X, Wang J, Guo SL, Fan KJ, Li J, Wang YL, et al. miR-21 promotes keratinocyte migration and re-epithelialization during wound healing. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2011) 7:685–90. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.7.685
- Madhyastha R, Madhyastha H, Nakajima Y, Omura S, Maruyama M. MicroRNA signature in diabetic wound healing: promotive role of miR-21 in fibroblast migration. *Int Wound J.* (2012) 9:355–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-481X.2011.00890.x
- 46. Wang T, Feng Y, Sun H, Zhang L, Hao L, Shi C, et al. miR-21 regulates skin wound healing by targeting multiple aspects of the healing process. Am J Pathol. (2012) 181:1911–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.08.022
- 47. Lu MH, Hu CJ, Chen L, Peng X, Chen J, Hu JY, et al. miR-27b represses migration of mouse MSCs to burned margins and prolongs wound repair through silencing SDF-1a. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e68972. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068972
- Jin Y, Tymen SD, Chen D, Fang ZJ, Zhao Y, Dragas D, et al. MicroRNA-99 family targets AKT/mTOR signaling pathway in dermal wound healing. *PLoS* ONE. (2013) 8:e64434. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064434
- Banerjee S, Xie N, Cui H, Tan Z, Yang S, Icyuz M, et al. MicroRNA let-7c regulates macrophage polarization. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:6542– 9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202496
- Ti D, Hao H, Tong C, Liu J, Dong L, Zheng J, et al. LPS-preconditioned mesenchymal stromal cells modify macrophage polarization for resolution of chronic inflammation via exosome-shuttled let-7b. *J Transl Med.* (2015) 13:308. doi: 10.1186/s12967-015-0642-6

- Toivola DM, Boor P, Alam C, Strnad P. Keratins in health and disease. Curr Opin Cell Biol. (2015) 32:73–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2014.12.008
- Weigel MT, Dowsett M. Current and emerging biomarkers in breast cancer: prognosis and prediction. *Endocr Relat Cancer.* (2010) 17:R245– 62. doi: 10.1677/ERC-10-0136
- Chen H, Gao J, Xu Q, Wan D, Zhai W, Deng L, et al. MiR-145-5p modulates lipid metabolism and M2 macrophage polarization by targeting PAK7 and regulating β-catenin signaling in hyperlipidemia. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol.* (2021) 99:857–63. doi: 10.1139/cjpp-2020-0539
- Zhong W, Yan J, Wang Z, Liang Y. [CD137 signaling regulates the expression of nuclear factor of activated T cells c1 through miR-145a-5p in ApoE(-)/(-) mice]. *Zhonghua Xin Xue Guan Bing Za Zhi.* (2015) 43:887–93. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0253-3758.2015.10.010
- 55. Guo J, Duan Z, Zhang C, Wang W, He H, Liu Y, et al. Mouse 4T1 breast cancer cell-derived exosomes induce proinflammatory cytokine production in macrophages via miR-183. J Immunol. (2020) 205:2916– 25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1901104
- Wang S, Tan Y, Yang T, Liu C, Li R. Pulmonary AngII promotes LPSinduced lung inflammation by regulating microRNA-143. *Cytotechnology*. (2021) 73:1–10. doi: 10.1007/s10616-021-00493-0
- Law YY, Lee WF, Hsu CJ, Lin YY, Tsai CH, Huang CC, et al. miRlet-7c-5p and miR-149-5p inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. *Aging.* (2021) 13:17227–36. doi: 10.18632/aging.203201
- Shi R, Liu DD, Cao Y, Xue YS. microRNA-26a-5p prevents retinal neuronal cell death in diabetic mice by targeting PTEN. *Curr Eye Res.* (2021):1– 9. doi: 10.1080/02713683.2021.1975760
- Hu M, Wei J, Yang L, Xu J, He Z, Li H, et al. Linc-KIAA1737-2 promoted LPSinduced HK-2 cell apoptosis by regulating miR-27a-3p/TLR4/NF-κB axis. J Bioenerg Biomembr. (2021) 53:393-403. doi: 10.1007/s10863-021-09897-1
- Chen L, Lu Q, Chen J, Feng R, Yang C. Upregulating miR-27a-3p inhibits cell proliferation and inflammation of rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts through targeting toll-like receptor 5. *Exp Ther Med.* (2021) 22:1227. doi: 10.3892/etm.2021.10661
- Raga-Cervera J, Bolarin JM, Millan JM, Garcia-Medina JJ, Pedrola L, Abellán-Abenza J, et al. miRNAs and genes involved in the interplay between ocular hypertension and primary open-angle glaucoma. Oxidative stress, inflammation, and apoptosis networks. J Clin Med. (2021) 10:2227. doi: 10.3390/jcm10112227
- Chen Y, Yin Y, Jiang H. miR-30e-5p alleviates inflammation and cardiac dysfunction after myocardial infarction through targeting PTEN. *Inflammation*. (2021) 44:769–79. doi: 10.1007/s10753-020-01376-w
- 63. Chen B, Han J, Chen S, Xie R, Yang J, Zhou T, et al. MicroLet-7b regulates neutrophil function and dampens neutrophilic inflammation by suppressing the canonical TLR4/NF-κB pathway. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:653344. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.653344
- Marques-Rocha JL, Garcia-Lacarte M, Samblas M, Bressan J, Martínez JA, Milagro FI. Regulatory roles of miR-155 and let-7b on the expression of inflammation-related genes in THP-1 cells: effects of fatty acids. *J Physiol Biochem.* (2018) 74:579–89. doi: 10.1007/s13105-018-0629-x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Hao, Yang, Liu, Ye, Wang, Yu, Yan, Xing, Jia, Hu, Zuo and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ø

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

Contact us: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Frontiers

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network increases your